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with photographs and illustrative materials and placed in The Bancroft Library at the University 

of California, Berkeley, and in other research collections for scholarly use. Because it is primary 

material, oral history is not intended to present the final, verified, or complete narrative of events. 

It is a spoken account, offered by the interviewee in response to questioning, and as such it is 

reflective, partisan, deeply involved, and irreplaceable. 
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Abstract 

Edmund Gerald ñJerryò Brown, Jr. was born 7 April 1938 in San Francisco, California. Brownôs 

father, ñPatò Brown would eventually serve as California Attorney General (1951-1959) and 

Governor (1959-1967). Jerry Brown was educated in Catholic schools and attended Santa Clara 

College before leaving to join Sacred Heart Novitiate as a seminarian, which he left after three 

years. He completed his undergraduate education at the University of California, Berkeley, in 

1961 and then went on to graduate from Yale School of Law in 1964. Brownôs career as an 

elected official began in southern California in 1969 when he was elected to the Los Angeles 

Community College Board of Trustees and then continued for nearly the next fifty years through 

a succession of high offices. He was elected: in 1970 to serve as California Secretary of State; in 

1974 and again in 1978 as California Governor; in 1998 and 2002 as Mayor of Oakland; in 2006 

as California Attorney General; and, finally, in 2010 and 2014 as Governor of California, for a 

third and record fourth term. In the midst of, and in between these offices, he ran three times for 

President of the United States (1976, 1980, and 1992), he once was the Democratic Party 

nominee for the U.S. Senate in California (1982), was elected chair of the California Democratic 

Party (1988), and ran his own non-profit, populist, quasi-political organization We the People out 

of his communal living space in Oakland, California in the 1990s. In this oral history, the 

following topics are discussed at length: family background and upbringing; education, religion, 

and friendships; the political career of Pat Brown; college, seminary, and law school; California 

statewide elected offices, including Governor of California; campaigns for elected office, 

including for US President; election reform; taxation, budgets, and deficits; law, the courts, and 

criminal justice reform; immigration; the environment and climate change; education reform, 

charter schools, and higher education; Oakland, CA; popular culture, journalism, and political 

campaigns; political philosophy, theories of governance, and applied politics. 
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Foreword 

By Governor Gray Davis (Ret.), 37th Governor of California 

Governor Edmund G. (ñJerryò) Brown was the longest serving governor in California history, 

and one of the most consequential. First elected in 1974, he championed a major solar initiative 

(first-ever tax incentive for rooftop solar), and signed legislation prohibiting any new nuclear 

power plants in California until the federal government certified a safe way to dispose of nuclear 

waste. To this day, the Federal Government has yet to do so and no further nuclear plants have 

been approved. 

Governor Brown also negotiated and signed the California Agricultural Labor Relations Act of 

1975, a first of its kind in California and the Nation. Even today, it remains the only law that 

creates and protects the rights of farmworkers to unionize and collectively bargain. None of the 

other 49 states has been able to pass similar protections for some of the most vulnerable workers 

in our country. 

In March of 1976, Jerry announced his run for the presidency and won primaries in California, 

Maryland and Nevada, and accumulated the second highest number of votes going into the 

convention (2,449,374). His late entry into the 1976 democratic presidential primary precluded 

him from catching Jimmy Carter, who accumulated the requisite amount of delegates to secure 

the nomination and become president. 

Jerry Brown left office in 1983 and did not return to the governorship until 2011, 28 years later, 

making him Californiaôs youngest, oldest and longest-serving governor. His third and fourth 

terms featured a remarkable turnaround in the stateôs financial standing. He inherited a $27 

billion deficit but left office with a $29 billion surplus ($14.5 budget surplus and a $14.5 billion 

ñrainy-day fundò). 

In an effort to restore the Stateôs fiscal stability, Jerry sponsored and campaigned for the passage 

of Proposition 30, a voter-approved tax increase that raised $6 billion. Tying his fiscal and 

environmental stewardship together, in 2012 Jerry signed into law the first in the nation 

government run cap-and-trade program, creating in excess of $9.3 billion to fund emission 

reductions and programs that protect the environment and promote public health. 

He left the Governorôs office and public life in early 2019, enjoying a higher approval rating than 

any governor since Ronald Reagan. 

To understand Jerryôs expansive worldview and insatiable curiosity, it is helpful to take stock of 

where he has been and what he has done. The son of a Governor, he lived in the Historic 

Governorôs Mansion, attended parochial high school, studied at Santa Clara University, joined 

the Sacred Heart Jesuit Novitiate seminary, received his Bachelorôs Degree from UC Berkeley 

and his law degree from Yale. In addition, Jerry has practiced private law at Tuttle and Taylor, 

was elected to the Los Angeles Community College Board of Trustees, California Secretary of 

State, California Attorney General and four times as Governor of California. He has run the State 

Democratic Party, served as Mayor of Oakland and ran three times for president. Heôs traveled 
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the world, studied Buddhism, and worked with Mother Teresa at her Home for the Dying in 

India. 

When I was running for governor, people asked me what does it take to be a successful 

governor? My answer (in jest) was ñrain in the north and a strong economy.ò Obviously, the 

governor cannot affect the weather. As for the economy, state tax incentives can only affect the 

economy on the margins. In the main, economic expansions and recessions are a result of the 

business cycle and function largely outside the Governorôs control. 

But that is not how the public sees it. They give great credit to a governor when the economy is 

improving, but hold him fully accountable when the economy is in recession. Every governor 

from Ronald Reagan has experienced a slowdown or recession of some type. Reagan, Jerry 

Brown in his first two terms, Deukmejian, Wilson, myself and Schwarzenegger have 

experienced the ups and downs of the economy. 

But when Jerry Brown was inaugurated for the third time in 2011, the economy turned positive 

and remained positive for his entire eight years. 

That was a great relief to the public whom had experienced an unemployment rate of 10%, the 

loss of thousands of homes to foreclosures and financial downgrades, as conditions deteriorated 

in California. 

This economic rebound was a critical factor in rescuing California from nearly a decade of 

deficits; however, it took more than good luck to turn California around. Jerry Brown brought 

the fiscal discipline necessary to turn the corner. He had reached out to almost every legislator as 

soon as he was elected for the third time, explaining that the path of more borrowing and larger 

deficits was not sustainable.  

Despite hundreds of hours of collaboration with the legislature, their initial budget was a 

disappointment to him and was clearly not in balance. After much deliberation he decided to do 

something that has never happened in California: he didnôt just veto parts of the budget as most 

governors in the past had done, he vetoed the entire budget! 

Sacramento was in shock!  

After a number of heated meetings, he and the legislature produced a second budget with 

numerous reductions that was in balance, and put California back on the path back to 

solvency. As a result of that budget and previous cuts, some 30,000 teachers had been laid off, 

many classes had been canceled as well as almost all after school programs in California. In his 

2012 budget, the governor and legislature restored some, but not all, of the cuts made during the 

previous three years. 

That same year, the Governor gambled that he could persuade voters to pass Prop 30, which 

generated $6 billion additional dollars that paid for these new teachers and professors and 

restored many of the classes that had been eliminated in previous years. In fact, the voters 

believed Jerry Brown when he said California could not cut anymore. They believed him when 
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he said that most of the taxes would fall on the wealthy and that Prop 30 would put California 

back on the path to greatness. 

The voters passed Prop 30 and gave California a fresh start.  

A governor without Governor Brownôs discipline and well-known frugality might not have 

convinced California voters to increase taxes by $6 billion. Without Jerry Brownôs leadership, 

cooperation of the legislature and the strong economy he inherited, California might still be waist 

deep in deficits rather than the 5th largest economy in the world. Jerry Brown exited the stage in 

January 2019. By the time he left, California had new problems, including homelessness and 

poverty; but he and the legislature solved the problems they inherited by righting Californiaôs 

finances and helping rebuild its economy. 

Frugality and Good Fortune 

Before Governor Brown was inaugurated in 1975, he told me he did not want to be driven in a 

limousine, but preferred instead a car normally assigned to a legislator or cabinet officer. When I 

conveyed that message to the director of general services, he told me they had 1974 Plymouths 

available in three colors: gold, white and blue. I opted for blue, envisioning dark blue or royal 

blue.  

After the Governor delivered a 7-minute inaugural address, we started walking across Capitol 

Park for our trip to San Francisco. There was only one car waiting for us ï and it was not the 

dark blue Plymouth I anticipated but a powder blue Plymouth! No California governor has ever 

been a driven around in a powder blue Plymouth. I was beyond embarrassed! 

ñIs that my car?ò Governor Brown asked. ñIôm afraid it is,ò I replied.  

But to the Governorôs great good fortune, the public warmed up to the idea of a powder blue 

Plymouth; they began to take pride that their Governor had chosen a less expensive and less 

imposing looking car as his official vehicle. By the end of Jerryôs second term, the blue 

Plymouth became almost as recognizable as the Governor. 

Another example of the governorôs frugality occurred about three months into his 

administration. We were just finishing our morning meeting, when I mentioned to the governor 

that I had asked General Services to come over and not replace, but repair a 10-00:00:05inch 

hole in the rug adjacent to his desk. ñWhy would you do that?ò he asked. ñBecause itôs unseemly 

to have a hole in the governorôs rug.ò The Governor answered: ñThat hole will save the state at 

least $500 million, because legislators cannot come down and pound on my desk demanding lots 

of money for their pet programs while looking at a hole in my rug!ò 

That told me not only was the governor genuinely frugal, but that he also understood the power 

of his frugality to fight off excessive demands in the budget. It gave him the moral authority to 

ask for big cuts when the state was $27 billion in debt at the start of his third term, and the 

courage to veto the entire budget when they did not make those cuts. 
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Jerry Brown was the best and possibly the only leader who could overcome the challenges that 

California faced in 2011 and lead the state back to the 5th largest economy in the world.  

When he walked out of his office for the last time in January 2019, only the United States, 

China, Japan and Germany had larger economies than California. 
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Interview History  

By Martin Meeker, Charles B. Faulhaber Director, Oral History Center, The Bancroft Library 

There are very few individuals who are what might be called a ñshoe-inò for an Oral History 

Center life history interview. Governor Jerry Brown is one who easily qualifies. Brownôs career 

as an elected official began in Southern California in 1969 when he was elected to the Los 

Angeles Community College Board of Trustees and then continued for nearly the next fifty years 

through a succession of high offices. He was elected: in 1970 to serve as California Secretary of 

State; in 1974 and again in 1978 as California Governor; in 1998 and 2002 as Mayor of Oakland; 

in 2006 as California Attorney General; and, finally, in 2010 and 2014 as Governor of California, 

for a third and record fourth term. In the midst of, and in between these offices, he ran three 

times for President of the United States (1976, 1980, and 1992), he once was the Democratic 

Party nominee for the U.S. Senate in California (1982), was elected chair of the California 

Democratic Party (1989), and ran his own nonprofit, populist, quasi-political organization We 

the People out of a communal living space he custom-built in Oakland, California in the 1990s. 

For the historians at UC Berkeleyôs Oral History Center, the question was not, ñShould this 

interview be done?ò but rather, ñHow might it be done at all?ò 

Edmund Gerald ñJerryò Brown Jr. was born April 7, 1938, in San Francisco, California. At the 

time of his birth, his father, Edmund Brown Sr., whom everyone knew as óPat,ô already was 

deeply involved in the law and politics of San Francisco. He had a thriving law practice and had 

run for San Francisco District Attorney, with assistance from local players including William 

Newsom Sr., grandfather to the stateôs current governor. After initial failures, Brown Sr. was 

elected district attorney (1943), then California Attorney General (in 1950 and 1954), and finally 

Governor of California in 1958 and 1962; he attempted to win a third term, but lost to Ronald 

Reagan in the watershed 1966 state election.  

Pat Brown married Bernice Layne in 1930. Smart and educated at UC Berkeley, Bernice Layne 

Brown gave up an anticipated career in teaching for the roles of wife, mother, and homemaker, 

and was a forceful presence in the family and in the life of her only son, Jerry. Jerry Brown 

described his youth as a world apart from that of adults, not concerned with big issues or the 

problems of the day. Despite this, or perhaps because of it, he developed a yearning for 

something more meaningful in his life as he grew into a young adult. He was educated at 

Catholic parochial schools and after high school choose to attend Santa Clara College (now 

University), a Jesuit school, before abandoning that route in favor of a life in the Catholic 

priesthood. He lived for three years at the Sacred Heart Jesuit Novitiate seminary before then 

wanting a deeper engagement with the world around him, which led him to UC Berkeley in 

1960. He graduated from Berkeley in 1961 and immediately was accepted to Yale Law School, 

which he completed in 1964. Jerry Brown clerked for California State Supreme Court Justice 

Mathew Tobriner while he studied for the California Bar Exam, at the time living in the 

California governorôs mansion near the end of his fatherôs second term. Approaching the age of 

thirty, Jerry Brown moved to Los Angeles, where he joined the Tuttle & Taylor law firm and 

would soon make the initial steps beginning his career in politics. 
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The Oral History Project  

Working as an interviewer with the Oral History Center (OHC) since 2004, I was long aware that 

Jerry Brown had not yet sat for an oral history and that it would eventually need to be done ð I 

might say that it was one of the interviews I personally wanted to work on and see to fruition. 

Then, in 2018, with the end of Jerry Brownôs fourth term as governor in sight, the OHC began 

the planning process, yet still without the necessary financial resources in place to make it 

happen. Because the University of California does not underwrite the Centerôs oral history 

projects, we worked to secure funding for this interview, which clearly was going to be longer 

than most. In this context came a call from Scott Shafer, the senior politics editor with San 

Franciscoôs KQED. Shafer inquired if OHC had begun ñthe governorôsò oral history. Shafer and 

I arranged to speak, during which he shared his hope of producing a multi-episode podcast series 

documenting Brownôs political life (see kqed.org/podcasts/jerrybrown). I was intrigued with the 

notion of partnering with KQED and, especially, with a political reporter whose work I greatly 

admired. I recognized that adding additional people and institutions to the mix might complicate 

the process and potentially change the outcomes, but Shafer and I decided that a partnership 

might be mutually advantageous from several angles, so we drafted a working plan.  

First off, we assembled a project team, the core members of which would be myself, Scott 

Shafer, KQED politics reporter Guy Marzorati, and OHC political historian Todd Holmes. 

Additional KQED staff, most notably Queena Kim, would participate by managing the recording 

of the interviews; OHC staff, most centrally Jill Schlessinger and David Dunham with the 

capable assistance of Berkeley undergraduate JD Mireles managed the production of the final 

transcript and the preservation of the recordings. The project team agreed to schedule all 

meetings and interview sessions at the convenience of the governor with the mutual agreement of 

all interviewers. OHC pledged to manage the paperwork, transcription, editing, reviewing, and 

finalization of the complete interview transcript. OHC, as a research unit within The Bancroft 

Library at UC Berkeley, would also preserve, archive, and provide public access to the transcript 

and audio recordings. It is worth noting that OHC typically video records its oral histories, but in 

a planning meeting with the governor in January 2018, he made it clear that this was to be an 

audio-only ñoralò history. Because KQED needed broadcast-quality recordings for their podcast 

series, KQED assumed responsibility for that portion of the work. 

The project team recognized that a great deal of preparation and background research were going 

to be essential for a successful oral history. OHC oral historians and KQED staff agreed to 

collaborate to develop an overview interview outline at the commencement of the project and 

then, as the project unfolded, interview outlines in advance of each interview session. This 

exchange helped the interviewers establish not only a shared agenda, but also a unique method in 

which two, three, and sometimes even four people were asking questions of the governor. Still, 

we recognized from early on that collaboration was key. While one interviewer might take the 

lead in one portion of the interview or another, overall the research and interviewing 

responsibilities were shared.  

With a general plan in place, the final piece required was the formal agreement of the governor 

to participate in what we anticipated would be multiple recording sessions resulting in roughly a 

forty hour interview. In fall 2018, Shafer and Marzorati worked closely with Evan Westrup, then 

press secretary to the governor, to present our plan. With Brownôs tentative consent to 

https://www.kqed.org/podcasts/jerrybrown
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participate, Shafer, Marzorati, Holmes and I met the governor in the historic mansion on what 

was one of his final days in office. The governorôs schedule was packed with nonstop exit 

interviews but he took the time to meet with us, during which we discovered that, while 

interested, he was not yet quite sold on the idea. He asked several tough questions about the 

process, our agenda, and the anticipated outcomes. He was keenly aware that his father had done 

a life history interview with OHC (then the Regional Oral History Office) which was released in 

1982 ð and he later told us that the existence of that oral history was key in his decision to 

participate in one himself. In the months leading up to the end of his term, Brown proved 

reluctant to discuss his ñlegacy,ò but he ultimately agreed to do the oral history. 

This oral history is appropriately the first interview of the newly relaunched California State 

Government Oral History Program (sos.ca.gov/archives/admin-programs/oral-history). At the 

same time the Brown interview was in the planning stages, we were working with the Center for 

California Studies at Sacramento State, the California State Archives, and the California State 

Librarian to get the state legislature to renew funding for this program. The program first was 

established in 1985 with a vote of the state legislature. The law said, ñThe Secretary of State 

shall conduct under the administration of the State Archives a regular governmental history 

documentation program to provide through the use of oral history a continuing documentation of 

state policy development as reflected in Californiaôs legislative and executive history.ò The 

program was initiated in 1986 and in the ensuing decades scores of elected officials, appointees, 

and key government staff were interviewed. The program continued until 2003, when funding 

was pulled due to the state financial crisis that year and was not immediately restored when the 

state budget returned to balance. For the fiscal year 2018ï2019 state budget, Alex Padilla, 

California Secretary of State, secured funds to relaunch the program administered by the State 

Archives. The reinvestment in the California State Government Oral History Program was 

essential in getting this interview completed and now available as a benefit to the public.  

The formal interview sessions began on February 4, 2019, at the Mountain House III, Jerry 

Brownôs historic ranch in Colusa County, California, which is where all interview sessions 

would be recorded. A total of twenty interview sessions were conducted between February and 

October 2, 2019, when the final session was completed. Sessions ran between, roughly, ninety 

minutes and three hours; on some days two sessions were recorded, one in the morning and the 

other in the afternoon. Typically, the project team convened at the Mountain House on Monday 

mornings, interviewed throughout the day, and then spent the night in the nearby town of 

Williams; we would then record another one or two sessions on Tuesday before returning home 

that afternoon.  

The original plans for the interview called for each main interviewer to focus on distinct chapters 

in the long biography. While this did take place to a certain degree, a variety of factors led to a 

more improvisational structure. Todd Holmes was set to play the lead role for OHC, while 

Shafer was to be the lead interviewer on the KQED team. However, in June 2019, Holmes was 

forced to attend to an ongoing family medical emergency, so his role, unfortunately, became 

more limited in subsequent sessions; while Holmes contributed significantly to the research and 

questioning in the first several sessions, and continued to make important contributions to 

background research, he was unable to attend a number of interview sessions in which he was to 

play a lead role. When Holmes had to step away, fortunately Shafer was able and willing to fill 

in any gaps. My planned role as interviewer for this project was to focus on certain specific 

https://www.sos.ca.gov/archives/admin-programs/oral-history/
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issues such as Brownôs engagement with new ideas and unconventional thinkers, his fiscal 

policies and approaches to taxation, his years relatively out of the spotlight between 1983 and 

1998, and then his terms as Mayor of Oakland and California Attorney General. Shafer 

thusbecame the lead interviewer for this project, asking the majority of questions, pushing the 

governor on issues from election strategy to his relationship with singer Linda Rondstadt. Shafer 

brought his in-depth and on-the-ground knowledge of California politics, particularly of the 

players, the issues, and the trends to this project. Although working largely behind the scenes, 

the role of Guy Marzorati deserves attention: alongside myself and Holmes, Marzorati 

contributed greatly to the extensive research dossiers and interview outlines that guided this 

project. He also conducted numerous background interviews with Brown associates which both 

informed our questions as well as contributed to the KQED podcast series (we anticipate 

including these interviews in the OHC collection at a later date). Readers of the transcript will 

also see occasional contributions from Marzorati as well as Queena Kim and Evan Westrup. I 

also want to acknowledge the good fortune of having Miriam Pawelôs then-just published group 

biography of the Brown family, The Browns of California (2018), as a key resource. 

The KQED team uploaded digital audio files for each interview session and those were shared 

with OHC. OHC then oversaw the transcription of each interview session. Draft transcripts were 

edited by myself and Todd Holmes. When editing the transcript, we kept the governorôs words 

unchanged in most every instance, making only minor edits to fix errors or improve clarity if our 

task was clear. We did edit the transcripts in two more substantive ways: first, the governor 

would sometimes appear to finish a response at which point a question would be asked, but then 

he resumed his original answer; this created a number of unnecessary disjunctures in the 

transcript which were easily resolved with the removal of the out-of-place questions (which were 

subsequently asked, usually verbatim). The second substantive edits came with removing ñoff 

the recordò content or other extraneous conversation: the KQED audio engineer would begin the 

recordings prior to the official beginning of the interview and thus captured some material that 

was not intended for public release, so this was cut; similarly, the interview was sometimes 

interrupted by external sounds (phones ringing, dogs barking, guests arriving), so these were 

deleted from the final transcript as well. 

Edited transcripts then were provided to the governor for review and to approve. Evan Westrup 

took the lead on ensuring the timely and thorough review of these transcripts. The governor 

made very few edits throughout the roughly 800 pages of transcripts. OHC staff then prepared a 

final transcript, which entailed entering Brownôs edits, preparing a discursive table of contents, 

and assembling the additional material included in this document. Former Governor Gray Davis, 

who served as Brownôs chief of staff between 1975 and 1981, generously contributed a 

thoughtful and thorough Foreword to this oral history. Shortly after the release of this transcript, 

it will be cataloged and archived by The Bancroft Library. It will be available on the websites of 

the Oral History Center and the University of California Berkeleyôs online library catalog 

(ucblib.link/OHC-jbrown). We anticipate by late spring 2020, the complete audio recordings of 

the interview (edited to conform to the lightly edited transcript) will be available for users to 

listen to on the OHC website. Moreover, the recordings will be synchronized with the transcript 

to enable users to search full text content in this time-based media. All of the oral history 

materials (recordings and transcripts) will be deposited with the California State Archives and 

available to users through their website as well (sos.ca.gov/archives). 

https://www.sos.ca.gov/archives/
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Considerations of the Interview 

A question often heard by oral historians is: what is the difference between journalism and oral 

history? It is not the easiest question, but there are a few points upon which there is some 

agreement. Oral history interviews are, by definition, recorded, preserved, and made accessible, 

in some fashion and at some date, to the public ð to researchers who may wish to quote from 

the interviews and from other researchers who want to confirm the use and context of those 

quotes. Many oral historians provide the interviewee, or the ñnarrator,ò the opportunity to review 

the interview (recording and/or transcript) prior to its deposit in an archive or release to the 

public. This arrangement allows for candor in an often long-format interview because the 

narrator knows she or he will be able to edit, seal, or otherwise prevent material from public 

release. This is not standard operating procedure for journalists. Although simplifying the matter, 

journalists let those whom they are interviewing know if the conversation is ñon the recordò or 

ñoff the record;ò rarely are interviewees given the opportunity to review and change quotes made 

ñon the record.ò This posed a challenge to the project team at the onset, but an easy compromise 

was made early on: the governor would in fact be given the opportunity to review and correct the 

final transcript, but everything on the recording that was deemed ñon the recordò would stay ñon 

the recordò and thus would be available for KQED to use in their podcast production. This 

created the potential for tricky moments down the road if the governor made substantial edits or 

embargoed portions of his interview. Fortunately, Brown is experienced, to say the least, with 

media engagement and understood that everything recorded was the on record. While he chose 

his words carefully, electing to discuss some issues obliquely or not at all, he remained engaged, 

thoughtful, and largely candid throughout the long interview process. 

One additional way in which oral history methodology and radio journalism ran up against each 

other is the issue of silence. Oral historians are taught time and again to allow potentially 

awkward silence to happen in an interview. We are told: donôt immediately jump to a new 

question after the narrator finishes their response. As a void, silence likes to be filled and it is 

often productive to allow the narrator to fill that silence. Something new, unique, or thoughtful 

might be added. Iôve used this technique many times and it does tend to produce results. Silence 

for radio journalists, however, is the enemy: questions are asked quickly to keep the audience 

engaged and the interviewee talking and, perhaps, a little off balance. Moreover, this oral history 

featured two and often three interviewers. As a result, Jerry Brownôs oral history was in some 

ways more like a lengthy but still rapid-fire radio interview than the kind of collaborative and 

slowly-paced interviews oral historians typically create. So this interview, this transcript is very 

much a hybrid document that resides at the boundaries of radio journalism and oral history.  

As much as the circumstances of this project proved unique for oral history, the narrator himself 

was far out of the ordinary as well. We are fortunate to have a nearly forty-hour interview 

providing ample evidence of the uniqueness of this subject, but Iôll venture a few observations 

here. Jerry Brown, I found, to be a man with a largely unwavering set of core values and 

principles who sometimes appears to choose contradictory ways in which to express those drives. 

I am not the first to observe his belief in the value of frugality and in the virtue of austerity. And 

sure enough, these twin strands are woven throughout this story, from entering the seminary, to 

refusing the usual trappings of office when he became governor (such as limousines), to even 

rejecting (and vetoing) his own partyôs budget when he considered it profligate. Brown 

recognizes at a profound level that we live in a world with limits and therefore it is virtuous to 
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learn to live with those limits, making the most of the precious resources, opportunities, and time 

that we have. There is a very neat intersection then between his Catholicism and his interest in 

and real engagement with Zen Buddhism, which came to a real meeting point in Japan in the 

1980s when he met with Father Lassalle, Jesuit, and Yamada Roshi, a Zen Buddhist leader. At 

the same time, points that might be considered contradictions appear in his narrative. For 

example, Brown himself has expressed great distrust of major social institutions. I think the long-

running distrust between Brown and the faculty and administration of the University of 

California system comes down to the formerôs skepticism about the value and fear of the 

doctrinaire aspects of formal education (along with his suspicion that university professors fail to 

appreciate the value of austerity). Why then would a man so critical of large social institutions 

spend his life seeking to lead them? Brown offers answers to this critical question throughout the 

oral history. Perhaps most important among these is that Brown seems truly comfortable 

inhabiting these apparent contradictions. 

I have conducted hundreds of oral histories, but engaging with Jerry Brown was a new 

experience for me. Partly this was due to the fact that there were often three interviewers in the 

room; partly it was Jerry Brown himself. As a lifelong politician, Brown has ample reason to be 

suspicious of journalists and, based on his wrangling with professors, he feels largely ambivalent 

about academics as well. So while Brown already knew Scott Shafer and he knew of the Oral 

History Center through his fatherôs interview, the interviewing team was still regarded as ñthe 

journalists and the academics.ò As will be evident when reading the interview, Brown sees 

journalists as reducers and simplifiers while academics are mired in their concepts and jargon; 

neither group has a great track record of explaining the world ð especially the world of politics 

as it really is. For example, in session eleven, I made the observation to the governor, ñYou 

certainly had a domestic policy through line in your first two terms of governor.ò He responds 

quickly and dismissively, ñWait, let me just back up to your through lineðthatôs another one of 

your metaphors.ò Yet, then proceeds to offer a very thoughtful answer of the question. This type 

of interplay marked the entire interview process: sometimes it was productive and interesting, 

while at other times it became a little trying. But I think all recognized that this was the way in 

which Brown has always thought and engaged with others, friend and foe alike: not satisfied 

with pablum or fuzzy thinking, vigorous discussion and pointed debate were necessary to push 

any project forward. That spirit certainly reigned in this oral history interview.  

Contributions of this Oral History  

The purpose of oral history interviews is to create, preserve, and make accessible first-person 

accounts of lived history. Although Oral History Center staff regularly offer interpretations and 

analyses of their interviews, the prime goal in this center is to create documents (recordings and 

transcripts) that are not beholden to a single historianôs research objectives but rather attempt to 

seek information and ideas on a wide range of topics relevant to their narratorôs interests and 

expertise. To the extent that this is possible, we like to project and consider things that future 

generations might be interested in, and then ask our narrators to respond. So, any consideration 

of the contributions of a single oral history will be limited knowing its likely contributions today.  
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Speculation of future uses of this oral history aside, there are at least three main areas of study of 

the life of Jerry Brown, and politics much more broadly, that might be impacted by the contents 

of this interview from todayôs vantage point: the historical trajectory of key social and political 

issues; the influence of creative and unique ideas upon Brown and his agenda; and what might be 

called the philosophy of realpolitik ð of how politics really works, at least according to Brown. 

In this oral history, we questioned Jerry Brown about many of the key social and political issues 

of today and of decades past. We explored a variety of issues in the context of his first two terms 

as governor (1975ï1983) and then how those issues disappeared, reappeared, or morphed during 

his second two terms (2007ï2019). A short list of these issues includes: taxation, criminal 

justice, education, the environment, and immigration. One example of a particularly revealing 

exchange comes with Brownôs own narrative of the Peopleôs Initiative to Limit Property Taxes, 

better known as Prop 13 (1978). In his telling, he rebuffs critics from within his own party who 

disliked his embrace of the reform after it was enthusiastically passed by voters, saying, ñI never 

could quite follow that [criticism]. Itôs the law. Now, no one seriously said you should subvert 

the law ð what does that mean?ò He further details what he did to prevent the passage of the 

law but then also the actions he took so that when the law was implemented something other 

than disaster would strike. Secondly, we asked Brown about a variety of esoteric thinkers he has 

engaged with and how those individuals and their ideas influenced his work of governing, a topic 

little explored by historians to date. Stewart Brand, Ivan Illich, Gregory Bateson, Sim Van der 

Ryn, and others appear in this transcript as Brown relishes in their ideas and even explains how 

they were made (or were attempted to be made) into programs and policy. Finally, and I think 

most importantly, this oral history, taken as a whole, represents a kind of philosophy of politics 

and governance. This philosophy manifests in the many pithy phrases he utters (ñIf nobodyôs 

complaining, then thereôs no issue, no one does anythingò) as well as the longer and often 

substantive disquisitions on the central themes and pivotal moments of his half century in public 

service (such as the decision to run for president in 1976 and 1980 and what he learned from 

those defeats).  

This oral history now joins OHCôs already major collection of interviews in California political 

history. In addition to the aforementioned life history with Governor Pat Brown (and the much 

larger ñGoodwin Knight and Edmund G. Brown Gubernatorial Eras in Californiaò project), OHC 

has conducted oral histories with California Governor and US Supreme Court Chief Justice Earl 

Warren, State Assembly Speaker Willie Brown, Secretary of State March Fong Eu, as well as 

major projects on the Ronald Reagan Gubernatorial Era and Women in California Politics. As 

previously mentioned, the Jerry Brown oral history is the first interview of the newly relaunched 

California State Government Oral History Program sponsored by the California Secretary of 

State, State Archives. 



 Oral History Center, The Bancroft Library, University of California, Berkeley 1 

 

Interview 1: February 4, 2019 

01-00:00:00  

Shafer: This is Monday, February 4, 2019, and the first recording with Governor Jerry 

Brown. Weôre at his ranch in Colusa County, right? 

01-00:00:10  

Brown: Yes. 

01-00:00:11  

Shafer: And with Cali and Colusa [Governor Brownôs dogs] outsideðthat we might be 

hearing from time to time. All right, Governor, first of all, I just want to ask you 

just in general, youôve been out of office now a month. How has the transition 

been for you? 

01-00:00:28  

Brown: Excellent! It has been one of the best transitions Iôve ever seen. 

01-00:00:33  

Shafer: How so? 

01-00:00:34  

Brown: [laughing] Well, thereôs not any problems, so thatôs good. 

01-00:00:38  

Shafer: Has it been a period of just sort of letting go then? 

01-00:00:42  

Brown: You know, Iôve been asked that questionðI donôt know quite what that means. 

Because each day seems similar to the previous day. We change only slowly over 

time. So Iôm only going an hour, sixty-five miles, from the capital. I had moved 

from Oakland into the mansion a few years ago, and now weôve moved all our 

stuff from the mansion to the Mountain House. And this is a structure and a home 

we just built, so thereôs a lot of putting things together, and a lot of work to 

complete this house, and it has great historic significance to me, and even, I think, 

to others. So that is exciting in itself, and it requires a lot of work. 

 This thing just didnôt happen. Even to find the place where to build the house took 

a few years, and we had a lot ofðit offered a lot of choices, so all over here, 

twenty-five hundred acres. So we decided to put it exactly where the stagecoach 

hotel was about a hundred yards off in that direction, and there was a barn right 

there, and youôve probably seen the picture. I donôt know whether that picture is 

in here. [Brown looks at photographs in the book: Miriam Pawel, The Browns of 

California: The Family Dynasty that Transformed a State and Shaped a Nation, 

2018.] 

01-00:02:26  

Shafer: Where would it be? 
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01-00:02:27  

Brown: Letôs see if we can find the pictureðit must be in the early part. [leafing through 

book]. All right. Do you see that mountain? 

01-00:02:33  

Shafer: Yeah. 

01-00:02:36  

Brown: Thatôs that mountain right there [pointing to a hill to the northwest of his home]. 

So that barn we burnt down, so weôre like right here. So if you want to call it a 

transition, itôs been a continuous effort for the last five years, but in my mind for 

over twenty years, to do this. And so completing thisðwhich we havenôt 

completed yetðand working on it, is very exciting to me. So itôs hard to think of 

leaving one thing as though thatôs an end, when what Iôm beginning is, in some 

ways, equally as exciting as being governor. Itôs a different experience and 

different reality. 

 But it is reconstituting a place and reinhabiting a place that my great-grandfather 

[August Schuckman]ðand others before himðcame here in the nineteenth 

century. So to be able to give new life to a place with such historic significance is 

very exciting. And itôs exciting because whatever brought people here, there was 

a certain logic. And the logic was that there was a lot of flooding going on in 

Sacramento, so peopleðmy great-grandfather among themðwere seeking higher 

ground. And this was a place where, because it was all done on horseback and 

stagecoach, people stopped to get new horses, fresh horses, and maybe stayed 

overnight on their way to the mines or on their way to spas. And there were a 

great many spas in Colusa and Lake County in the nineteenth century. But then 

that fades away, the spas decline, the mines exhaust themselves, the car replaces 

the horse, and therefore the functioning of a stagecoach disappears, a stagecoach 

stop, and the homesteading declines. The wheat price declines, the soils donôt 

produce the wheat as well as they do, the prices change, and it goes from 

homesteading, with many plots and a lot of activity, a lot of families, a local 

school hereðit goes into pastureland, principally sheep, and now itôs become 

cattle. 

 But there is a certain new vitality. I have a neighbor a mile and a half away, and 

she and her husband are building an organic cheese dairy, which will take many 

years. And so that is also a new beginning, so I really feel Iôm embarked upon 

something new and something exciting, but something thatôs very much rooted in 

the past, in my own family and Californiaôs history. So given all that, I would 

have to say I donôt feel a real change from what I was doing in Sacramento and 

what Iôm doing now. 

01-00:05:56  

Shafer: Well, letôs talk about a different thing. 
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01-00:05:57  

Brown: Oh, there is a change, but itôs not what you would think. You know, itôs not going 

from the important to the trivial, or the unimportant, or the remote. Itôs very much 

in the midst of action and, we can say creativity, in a way that I find very exciting. 

01-00:06:22  

Shafer: Yeah. Well, letôs talk about the beginning of you. Which was, I think, April 7, 

1938? 

01-00:06:27  

Brown: Yeah, I have no recollection of that. 

01-00:06:30  

Shafer: [laughing] Well, others do, fortunately. But you were born toward the middle end, 

beginning of the end maybe, of the Great Depression. You were born a few years 

before World War II began, Pearl Harbor. What are some of your earliest 

memories or your neighborhood and life in Forest Hill on Magellan Ave.? 

01-00:06:52  

Brown: Oh, we didnôt grow up in Forest Hill. When I was born, my parents lived at my 

grandfatherôs house on my motherôs side, Capt. [Arthur D.] Layne.  

 [side conversation deleted] 

01-00:07:03  

Brown: All rig ht. So we lived [in San Francisco] at Seventeenth and Shrader, and that was 

my [grandfather] Capt. Layneôs house. And after his wife died, my mother 

[Bernice E. Layne Brown] and father [Edmund G. ñPatò Brown, Sr.] moved in 

there so my mother could help my grandfather. And we lived there until sometime 

in 1941. My grandfather died in 1940, and so itôs at that point my motherôs sisters 

and brother wanted to sell it, and they didnôt want to sell it to them, so therefore 

they had to sell it on the market. And therefore they had to leave, and so they 

moved to Forest Hill. So I do remember moving to Magellanðthatôs the other 

place I stayed until I left to go to college and then to seminary. But I did like that 

house at Seventeenth and Shrader. I do remember it. I remember my room. Iôve 

been back there since. Itôs kind of a sunroom. I remember my grandfather, Capt. 

Layne. 

01-00:08:13  

Shafer: He was a police officer/a police chief. 

01-00:08:14  

Brown: He was a police captain in the San Francisco Police Department. Other than 

thatðit was a big house, but just a few childhood memories. So then we moved to 

Forest Hill, and it was smaller and probably it was foggy, it had a sense of 

grayness, because it was probably foggy, as it was most of the time. 

01-00:08:40  

Shafer: Yeah, andðas I said, the warðyou moved the year of Pearl Harbor. 
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01-00:08:45  

Brown: I donôt remember Pearl Harbor. Even though December, we moved in in the early 

part of ô41, and I remember that, but I donôt remember Pearl Harbor. 

01-00:08:56  

Shafer: Were there things that your family did that were related either to the war or toð? 

01-00:09:01  

Brown: Well, the air raids, where they put up that special kind of paper that blocks out the 

light. So there would be air raids. We had an air raid warden. He would come 

over, and it was someone who lived on the block and checked to make sure there 

was no light showing, and thereôd be these drills. I do remember that. I remember 

my sisters [see full names below] and mother would play canasta during these 

things, and we had to keep the light from escaping, and so I do remember that. I 

remember rationingðI mean the ration cards. That was interesting. 

01-00:09:39  

Shafer: And did it seem like you were living in a kind ofðI wonôt say deprivation, but 

that you were a part of a larger effort that was with the restð 

01-00:09:48  

Brown: No, no. I did not have that sense at all. I didnôt feel deprived. Although if I 

compare what is available today with then, itôs not even close. Thereôs hundreds 

of thousands of different options and products that you can get in stores. Things 

were a lot simpler. The bread man delivered, the milk man delivered, the ice 

manðwe didnôt have ice, but the people across the street had ice, so an ice truck 

would come by. So it was exciting, it was interestingðthereôs no bombs around, 

thereôs no crime, thereôs no turbulence, so it seemed. Well, it was all that I knew, 

so it seemed completely normal to me. 

 01-00:10:46  

Shafer: You had two older sisters [Cynthia Brown Kelly and Barbara Brown Casey 

Siggins], and eventually a younger sister [Kathleen L. Brown] as well. 

01-00:10:50  

Brown: Yeah. 

01-00:10:52 

Shafer: Were you sort of the favorite kid for a while? 

01-00:10:55  

Brown: No, I wouldnôt say I was the favorite. Maybe somebody thought I was. But I grew 

up in the pre-helicopter-parent environment. So my mother had plenty to do 

taking care of her three children, and then her four children. My father was fully 

engaged in his work, first as a lawyer, then seeking offices. He got elected district 

attorney, and their lives were full of their activitiesðand our lives were the lives 

of children. So we played and we went to school. The only times we were 

together were when weôd have dinner or when weôd take a trip or go on vacation. 

Otherwise, I think there was a prettyðyou know, not an impenetrable lineðbut 

there was a demarcation. Adults had their parties, they had their conversation, and 
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they had their activities, and then thereôs children, and the children went out to 

play and went to school. I donôt think there was a lot of overlap there. 

01-00:12:13  

Shafer: I think your dad became DA in San Francisco in ô43. So you were five or so. 

01-00:12:17  

Brown: In ô43, I was fiveðyeah, well, it was November; I was five. I was in kindergarten. 

01-00:12:22  

Shafer: Yeah, what do you remember? 

01-00:12:23  

Brown: Well, I was in kindergartenðI was in Miss Ponôs class. Miss Pon taught me and 

all three of my sisters. Well, I remember the election. I remember the little cards 

that he would hand out with his picture on it. And I remember going into the 

voting booth, because San Francisco had the electric voting machines, and youôd 

pull the curtain and then youôd move the levers to indicate your vote. I, of course, 

found that interesting. 

 01-00:13:00  

Shafer: What was interesting? 

 01-00:13:01  

Brown: Well, just the machine! I mean there was a curtain. Youôd go intoðsomeone, a 

block away, it was their basement, and people would line up. It happened only on 

Election Day, so that made it interesting. The first election I would probably 

remember would be November of ô43. And I started kindergarten in January 

of ô43, and when my father won, I think, Miss Pon had everyone draw a figure, I 

think maybe of clowns or other things, and she put it together in a booklet, and we 

gave it to my father as kind of his gift for winning. 

01-00:13:53  

Shafer: [laughing] Clowns? [laughter] 

 01-00:13:54  

Brown: Yeah, wellðit might not have beenðthatôs kind of my memory. Just figuresð

people, persons. 

01-00:14:04  

Shafer: Did it seem to you, as a five-year-old, you know, your dadðas you go to the 

voting booth with your father, did it seem to you, and to your siblings, like a big 

deal? What did it seem like? 

01-00:14:15  

Brown: No, I wouldnôt call it a big deal. It was justða deal. It was just a lot of those 

things you do, like go to the grocery store. It was something different. 

 01-00:14:22  

Shafer: But I mean him getting elected. 
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 01-00:14:24  

Brown: Oh, getting electedðI donôt have a great memory of it. He did it again, which I 

remember more of that. I donôt remember the election that much other than his 

little card that he handed out, and I have some of those posters to this day. 

 I remember the swearing-in, which was on January 8, 1944, and we sat on the 

steps inside there on the rotunda. And Mayor [Roger D.] Lapham was being 

sworn in, and my father as well. So I do remember driving to the city hall. I have 

a clear memory of that because I asked my father whether [Matthew A.] Brady, 

Matt Brady, the five-term incumbent that lost, would he be thereðwould he be 

sworn out as my father would be sworn in? So they didnôt call it an inauguration, 

they called it a swearing-in. Actually, I have a picture, not a very distinct picture, 

but you can see all the people gathered in the rotunda in San Francisco City Hall. 

 01-00:15:46  

Shafer: And did it seem to change your status at school? Did your friends treat you any 

differently? 

 01-00:15:52  

Brown: No. 

 01-00:15:53  

Shafer: Not at all? 

01-00:15:54  

Brown: I donôt know that they even knew about itðwell, it certainly was not very salient. 

I think for a five-year-old, who is district attorney is not of significance. [laughter] 

And was not, as far as I can remember. 

 01-00:16:08  

Shafer: Talk about your parents. Your dad, obviously, was running for office, I think by 

the time you were born. 

 01-00:16:15  

Brown: Yeah. 

 01-00:16:16  

Shafer: And your mom was a stay-at-home mom, but she had gone to college also. She 

went to Cal, I think. 

 01-00:16:21  

Brown: Yeah. 

 01-00:16:22  

Shafer: Talk about your two parents and the roles that they played in the family. 

 01-00:16:28  

Brown: Well, they played the roles of husband and wife, and mother and father. My 

mother did the cooking; my father did not spend any time in the kitchen. And 

everything seemed to go along. I think things that interested me was when weôd 

go on vacation to the Russian River or to Yosemite. That was exciting, that we 
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would do as a family. And of course the first few years we did it, there was no 

Kathleenðmy youngest sister. She came along in 1945. So I enjoyed the 

vacations together, otherwise it was just pretty normal. And we had a lot of kids 

on the block. I once counted over, I think, forty-five kids on the block, just on 

Magellan Ave., that one block, the 400 block. So Iôd spend most of my time out 

on the street. 

 But I do remember the trips to Yosemite. I hiked the Ledge Trail, and I think I 

was five that year. And itôs now closed, because itôs too dangerous. Thatôs where 

the Firefallðfrom what is it, Glacier Pt. You go from Camp Curry, and you hike 

straight up the rock. We didnôt intend to, my father justðñLetôs take a walk,ò my 

mother and my father and myself, and we ended up going to the top. And I 

remember that because there was no food. This was during the war, so it might 

have been ô42. So we got up there, and all you could get is peanuts in the 

machine, and then we came down the Four-Mile Trail. But for someone who was 

four or five, itôs about a mile and a half up. My father had to push me up some of 

the trailðit was a little scary. And then we walked down the Four-Mile Trail, 

which was much easier, so I remember that. I remember Yosemite. And I 

remember going to Twain Harte; I learned to swim there. I wasnôt that interested 

in school, so vacation and playing were my principal interests. 

 01-00:18:57  

Shafer: Why werenôt you interested in school? 

 01-00:18:58  

Brown: It wasnôt that interesting.  

 01-00:19:03  

Shafer: And youôre talking about like kindergarten through third grade, or what? 

 01-00:19:07  

Brown: Kindergarten through eighth grade, I think. [Shafer laughs] Or beyond! I mean, it 

was pretty pedestrian and routinized. I wouldnôt use that word at the time, but 

looking back, thereôs not a lot of surprise in school.  

Actually, I liked kindergarten better, because I remember theyôd paint and I liked 

that. You could paint with a little easel, and you had your little things and youôd 

slop it around. That was all right. 

 01-00:19:40  

Shafer: Did you paint anything memorable? 

 01-00:19:42  

Brown: No. I couldnôt paint. I had no talent in that area. 

 01-00:19:46  

Shafer: Yeah, so it sounds like your mom and dad had a, what for the time was a pretty 

traditional relationship.  
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 01-00:19:52  

Brown: It seemed pretty normal to me. 

 01-00:19:55  

Shafer: Yeah, but your mom, as I mentioned, she had gone to university and was very 

smart, I imagine. Did it seem to you either then, or looking back, that she made 

some sacrifices? 

 01-00:20:08  

Brown: That I donôt know. Could be. I mean she didnôt have a career, but I think on the 

whole Magellan Ave., that whole block, if there was one woman that worked, Iôd 

be surprised. 

01-00:20:22  

Shafer: And what about your dad? 

01-00:20:23  

Brown: It was a very differentðthey were all families. I think one, two, a few didnôt have 

children. They were all, with a couple of exceptions, married. So there are no 

single women or single men, so it was a pretty normal, middle class 1940s 

America. 

 01-00:20:50  

Shafer: Do you feel like your mom and your dadðthey obviously played different roles 

in the family. Like how would you say each of them shaped you and your 

siblings? What are the traits? 

 01-00:21:01  

Brown: Oh, just a pretty normal life. My father was at the officeðas he would sayð

making money. I asked him, ñWhat do you do, Dad?ò He said, ñI make money.ò 

One time we were driving by the [San Francisco] Mint, and I said, ñOh, is that 

where Daddy works?ò And she said, ñNo.ò But yeah, so he would come home, 

heôd read his advance law reports, the loose-leaf reports that come out of the 

appellate cases. Heôd read those, or read the paper or magazines. We had 

afternoon papers in those days. And then weôd have dinner and weôd talk, and that 

was pretty ordinary, I would say. 

 01-00:21:46  

Shafer: Did you talk about his day or your day, or did you talk about bigger things? 

01-00:21:48  

Brown: I canôt remember when we did, butð 

 01-00:21:50  

Shafer: No memory, and what about your mom? 

 01-00:21:51  

Brown: Weôd talk about whatôs happening, as the district attorney. There was just general 

conversation about whatôs going onðI mean, no particular topic, but a full 

exchange among my sisters, myself, my mother, and my father. There was no one 

quiet person there that I can think of. 
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 01-00:22:18  

Shafer: Yeah, and do you feel like your momðyou probably spent more time with her, I 

imagine. 

 01-00:22:25  

Brown: Yeah, we didnôt spend time with her. I didnôt stay in the house very often. I was 

out playing or visiting other peopleôs houses. We didnôt just sit around and talk to 

my mother or my sisters, that just wasnôt done. People were doing things. My 

sisters were doing things, and people would be home for dinner. 

 01-00:22:49  

Shafer: I remember my childhood. My dad wasnôt around very much, but I didð 

 01-00:22:53  

Brown: Oh, my father was around! Every night he was there. 

 01-00:22:55  

Shafer: Yeah, but I remember talking to my father about politics. I mean, thatôs one of the 

reasons I got interested in politics. 

 01-00:23:00  

Brown: I donôt remember talking about politics. I might haveðmaybe the district 

attorney, people would call on the telephone, and Iôd pick up the phone, because 

heôd be at the dinner table and he said, ñYou go answer it,ò and then I would go 

tell him whoôs calling. So there would be activities around the DAôs office. There 

were a lot of family welfare issues that he dealt with as district attorney, and weôd 

hear about it. Not the details, but just certain women would call and complain 

about this or that. I do recall that, but I donôt remember any partisan or 

substantive issue. 

 01-00:23:36  

Shafer: And what about religion in the family? Your dad was Catholic; your mom was a 

Protestant. How did that kind ofð? 

 01-00:23:43  

Brown: It didnôt come up very much. I would say there was zero talk of religion. 

 01-00:23:49  

Shafer: What about going to church? 

 01-00:23:50  

Brown: Oh, at some point I know I was at West Portal, so that was only a block and a half 

away. They said, ñNow youôve got to go to catechism class,ò so I started doing 

that. And I canôt remember when we started going to church, but weôd go to 

church every Sunday. My mother would often come, and weôd go to St. Ceciliaôs 

for the most part.  

But thatôs it. Weôd just go to church, and that was it. There was a kind of a 

flamboyant pastor, Msgr. [Harold E.] Collins, and I guess when my father was 
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DA or attorney general, probably DA, he would always tell him to come down 

and sit in the first row, so it was a little bit of a show. 

01-00:24:38  

Shafer: A flamboyantðwhat do you mean? 

01-00:24:40  

Brown: He would just talk. He always said St. Ceciliaôs is the greatest and the best of all 

the other churches, so he was a booster. Maybe thatôs what I would say, not a 

flamboyant, but a booster. And we would sometimes go to St. Brendanôs, 

depending upon the Masses. You could go to the 9:00am Mass; you had a 

10:15am Mass; you had a 12:15pm Mass sometimesðdepending on where it was 

most convenient, and we would drive. 

 01-00:25:10  

Shafer: And did it seem like you were going because your father wanted you to go? Or 

because it was like some politiciansð 

 01-00:25:16  

Brown: No, weôd just go because thatôs what you did. You go to church on Sundayðyou 

go to school, you go to church. 

 01-00:25:26  

Shafer: Oh, so it wasnôt for show, in terms of, like some politicians will go to churchð 

 01-00:25:29  

Brown: Well, it might have been, but it didnôt strike me that way. 

 01-00:25:32  

Shafer: Yeah, and what about catechism class? Obviously, you became more interested in 

Catholicism. 

01-00:25:37  

Brown: Yeah, I would go to St. Brendanôs, in the basement of the church. They had two 

nuns, and they taught catechism class. We had our little Baltimore Catechism, and 

so I remember going through that for a few years. Then, in 1947, I transferred 

from West Portal and went into the fifth grade at St. Brendanôs, so then that ended 

catechism class, because we were in a Catholic school and we had religion every 

day. 

 01-00:26:06  

Shafer: And did you remember that being more interesting, or not? 

 01-00:26:10  

Brown: The biblical storiesðthey had an easel, and they had pictures of the different 

stories from mostly from the New Testament, maybe from the Old TestamentðI 

found that very interesting, yeah. 

 01-00:26:30  

Shafer: Did you find it interesting because the stories were interesting, orðdid you 

believe them as like truth? 



 Oral History Center, The Bancroft Library, University of California, Berkeley 11 

 

 01-00:26:35  

Brown: Yeah, well we believed Adam and Eve were the first parents, and theyôd gottenð

the serpent, the sin, the Garden of Edenðall that, yeah. Mortal sin, venial sin, 

crucifixion, resurrection, grace, communion, confession, seven sacramentsðthe 

whole nine yards. It takes a while to get all that. But from catechism class, starting 

in the 1940s, and then going through high school, Santa Clara, the seminary, up 

until I went to Berkeley in 1960, thatôs probably fifteen years or more of regular 

Catholic religious instruction. 

 01-00:27:25  

Shafer: And weôre going to get to some of those later things in a bit. But do you 

remember, as you were young, going through religious training?  

 01-00:27:35  

Brown: No, we made our first Communion. I remember that. We have pictures of that. 

We went out to Lakeside after that, and we had our little short pants and a little 

white sash on our arm, and we got our rosary beads and a little missal, so I 

remember that. 

 01-00:27:53  

Shafer: But I mean was there a point where as you were studying [snapping fingers] that 

something clicked for you? 

 01-00:27:56  

Brown: No, what do you mean it clicked? It was what it was, so it was part of the 

landscape. It was just part of reality; it didnôt seem separate. 

 01-00:28:08  

Shafer: And did you engage with the church in a different way than your siblings, or not 

really? 

 01-00:28:13  

Brown: I canôt tell. They were a lot older than I wasðI think my sister Barbara is seven 

years older than me, and Cynthia was five years. Thatôs quite a difference. So we 

werenôt sitting around discussing religion or theology or politics. Barbara had her 

friends, Cynthia had her friends, and I had my friends, so a sort of normal 

differentiation. 

 01-00:28:47  

Shafer: Yeah, and your friendsðyou mostly hung out with boys in the neighborhood? 

 01-00:28:51  

Brown: Yeah. 

 01-00:28:52  

Shafer: And who were some of your friends? 

01-00:28:54  

Brown: Well, thereôs Mark McGuinness, Peter Roddy, Markôs brother Michael 

[McGuinness], Charlie Corsiglia, Mitchell Johnson. 
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 01-00:29:08  

Shafer: And what did you guys do when you were hanging out? 

 01-00:29:13  

Brown: Well, we played hide-and-go-seek in the early years, running around to all the 

different houses and backyards around. And then weôd play hockey on the street. 

There werenôt that many cars then on Magellan Ave. You could actually play 

hockey with roller skates. And then weôd play touch football. And then we, at 

some point, rode our bikes and weôd ride different places. And it evolved as we 

grew up. 

 01-00:29:49  

Shafer: Did you consider yourself an athlete or were you interested in sports? 

01-00:29:51  

Brown: No. Well, I mean we playedðthat was sports. West Portal didnôt have any 

organized sports that I knew of, nor did St. Brendanôs. This hyper-sports thing is a 

recent invention. There was the Pop Warner league, which I went one day to try 

out for, but I didnôt have any interest. So normally, you could go to school and 

there was not uniforms orðparents were not taking their kids to games. That 

started in high school. 

01-00:30:31  

Shafer: You were the only boy. You had three sisters. What was that dynamic like, and 

did you wish you had a brother? 

 01-00:30:40  

Brown: Yeah, I did, because there wasnôt a lot to talk about with my sisters. And they 

were older, so they had different activities, certainly, growing up. And I was 

probably not very interesting to them. My friends in the neighborhood were not 

their friends. They had other people they liked to be with. So thereôs quite a 

differentiation. The school creates graded differences, so that when youôre in the 

second grade, youôre different than the third grade and the fourth grade, much less 

eighth grade. So schooling, unlike, I think, being on a farm or being in an earlier 

period in historyðor being on this ranchðyou stick to your grades. At the school 

you didnôt want to talk to the younger ones; you didnôt want to talk to the older 

ones. You knew who they were; you saw them, but that was that. 

I also noticed that the people in schoolðIôve reflected on this recentlyðmost of 

the people I spent time with, they lived in the neighborhood. And weôd go to 

school, and it was rare that somebody just from the school would come over and 

play. That was true at West Portal, and that was true at St. Brendanôs, where I 

went. So school just occupied your time. And in class you didnôt talkðnobody 

talked in class. The teacher talked, or you answered questions or raised your hand. 

And then weôd playðat recess and lunchtime, there would be, obviously, playing 

in the yard. And then when we went home it was more of that. The people that I 

gravitated toward were the people in the neighborhood.  
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Mark McGuinness was on the corner, and they had a little basketball court, and 

Iôd say thatôs a predominant activity after a certain age. 

 01-00:33:14  

Shafer: You said you were reflecting recently on the fact, I think, that the kids all had 

grown up in the neighborhood? Is that what you were referring to? 

01-00:33:19  

Brown: No, I was saying that I didnôt form friendships with people in school, if they 

werenôt living within a block or two of my house. 

 01-00:33:32  

Shafer: As you were reflecting on it, what did you think? 

 01-00:33:36  

Brown: Just that schooling is an odd institution, and it controls and occupies your time 

and forces you into these exercises. And then when you leave it, itôs just there, 

and you pick it up again the next day. So I guess I was reflecting on the fact that 

schooling did not create the conversations or the interaction or the being together 

with, that maybe being at Santa Clara did, where you have a twenty-four-hour 

environment, and you had a chance to eat meals with people, like at Santa Clara 

or in the seminary or at the International House at Berkeley. There was an 

opportunity to have discussions, get acquainted with people, whereas these 

schools, these grammar schools, you just go, and you do your pupil activity, and 

then you go home. And the only real interaction is sometimes you go to school, 

come and go with certain people, or I would get rides with various parents. My 

father and my mother didnôt drive us to school. You could even walkðit was 

only, I donôt know how far, probably less than a mile. But if I could get a ride 

from a neighbor, I would, and then you would talk to people and meet people. 

Otherwise, it was a kind of a controlled existence, in that sense. 

 01-00:35:20  

Shafer: Did you find that confining at all? 

 01-00:35:22  

Brown: I donôt think I really thought about it. I didnôt find it particularly invigorating, 

sitting there in class. It was interesting enough. It was all right. But it seems to be, 

if I can compare, and I donôt know that I can, but it seems like school is a lot more 

important today. I mean, my parents wouldnôt ask me, ñWhat happened at school 

today?ò Maybe they did, but I donôt have a recollection of that. And there wasnôt 

any great emphasis on itðIôd get my report card and theyôd take a look at it, and 

that was that. Today we have all this data collection, and we have a statewide 

computer with all the different performance metrics for all 6 million children. 

And thereôs a band of academics that want to look at this very carefully, and 

people are judging neighborhoods and schools by the metrics on the state exams. 

So thatôs all an invention of more recent decades. 

 01-00:36:27  

Shafer: And you think thatôs a mistake? 
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 01-00:36:29  

Brown: Well, Iôm skeptical that regimentation and standardization is the pathway to 

wisdom, knowledge, and creativity. 

 01-00:36:45  

Shafer: Well, in that regard, I think it was a biography of your dad, youôre described as 

being a rambunctious handful, and I think maybe it was another member of your 

family, maybe your godmother, called youð 

01-00:37:00  

Brown: Not my godmother. That would have been my aunt. 

 01-00:37:04 

Shafer: She called you a hellion. Does that ring true for you at all? [laughing] 

01-00:37:07  

Brown: Oh yeah, because when youôre young, you have a lot of energy. You want to run 

around. You donôt want to sitðso we were always outside running around doing 

one thing or another. 

 01-00:37:18  

Shafer: No more so than the other kids? 

 01-00:37:20  

Brown: No. What are you talking about, five, six, ten, twelve? Youôre in constant motion. 

 01-00:37:28  

Shafer: Whatôs the worst thing you did as a kid, would you say? 

01-00:37:31  

Brown: I donôt think there was anything particularly bad, little notable things. I wrote my 

name in the cement that hadnôt dried yet, down the street from our house. Thrown 

a few dirt clods at neighborsô houses. I hope I can throw it at that house or 

something. Thatôs fun, to provoke people. [laughter] The whole game, the 

challenge is the excitement and to avoid boredom, which school represented in 

some respects. And thatôs why most kids are glad to get out of school and go play. 

Thatôs what childhood used to be. Today it seems like school and sports is the 

controlling mechanism. 

 01-00:38:20  

Shafer: At some point you, I think, got interested in boxing? 

01-00:38:23  

Brown: No, thatôs not true. 

 01-00:38:24  

Shafer: Oh, itôs not true? 
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 01-00:38:24  

Brown: We had senior fight night. My senior year, they had a fight night for seniors. And 

I participated in that, but it was a one-night, three-round experience, and they had 

four or five other fights the same night. 

01-00:38:40  

Shafer: Describe what they were. 

01-00:38:41  

Brown: Oh, itôs a fight, itôs a boxing match. You have these big boxing gloves that kind of 

weigh your hands down, and I was in a three-round match, and I won and that was 

good. But that was my first and last experience as a boxer. [laughter] 

01-00:38:55  

Shafer: So you just had one fight? 

 01-00:38:56  

Brown: Oneðwell, itôs only senior fight night. Itôs like the junior prom or senior fight 

night. Thatôs just one of the things they did in those days. 

 01-00:39:07  

Shafer: And did you have like a good left hook?  

 01-00:39:09  

Brown: I canôt remember. 

01-00:39:10  

Shafer: You donôt remember? 

01-00:39:12 

Brown: Well, no, it wasnôt that sophisticated. 

01-00:39:16  

Shafer: So it was in like a boxing ring with the whole thing? 

01-00:39:18 

Brown: Yeah, in a ring in the gym. 

01-00:39:19  

Shafer: This is a Catholic school campus? 

01-00:39:20  

Brown: In the gym. With all the kids standing by watching. 

01-00:39:24  

Shafer: And the school sponsored that? 

01-00:39:26  

Brown: Yeah, it was at the school, in the school gymnasium, an event called the senior 

fight night. And it was voluntary, of courseðsome people did it, some people 

didnôt. 
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01-00:39:37  

Shafer: Yeah, and your one match, who was that against? 

01-00:39:40 

Brown: Peter Roddy. 

 01-00:39:42 

Shafer: And what happened? 

 01-00:39:44  

Brown: Well, I knocked him down, and I won on points. But he got up, so it wasnôt a 

knock out. But I won. I think that was good. I hadnôt done that before. Beforeðor 

since! 

 01-00:39:59  

Shafer: [laughing] I remember when we talked a few weeks ago, we were chatting about 

the fact that you wished youôd had a brother, or you would have liked to have a 

brother. 

01-00:40:07  

Brown: Well, because itôs kind of boring just being thereðthere wasnôt always somebody 

to play with. That was the big thing. Play was just the name of the gameðand 

who you play with. So I liked to be with others. 

01-00:40:25  

Shafer: You mentioned, I think, going over to Bill [William A.] Newsomôs house, and he 

had a bunch of brothers. 

01-00:40:30  

Brown: Yeah, I went over thereðI think I only went over there once or twice. Well, they 

had six children, as I recall. Three boys and three girls. And they had three stories 

in their house, which I found interesting, because we only had two, so that seemed 

like a big house to me. 

 01-00:40:48  

Shafer: Yeah. Kathleen was born, I think, in ô45. 

 01-00:40:51  

Brown: Yes. 

 01-00:40:52 

Shafer: What do you remember? Did that change? A lot of times in a lot of families, the 

youngest person gets all the attention, so suddenly it was a new youngest person, 

a little infant girl in the family. What did that change? 

 01-00:41:05 

Brown: I donôt know that it changed too much. You know, an infant is an infantða young 

boy is not paying much attention to his baby sister, I can tell you that. [Shafer 

laughs] Weôre out there riding our bicycles or playing touch football or 

basketball. 
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 01-00:41:27  

Shafer: You werenôt doting on your little sister or anything like that? 

01-00:41:29  

Brown: No, no. 

 01-00:41:31  

Shafer: Nothing like that, no. 

01-00:41:32 

Brown: There wasnôt a lot of doting in my family. 

 01-00:41:34 

Shafer: What do you mean? 

 01-00:41:36  

Brown: Well, just what you said. You conjured up an image of doting, and I said thatôs 

not something that I had much experience of. 

 01-00:41:44  

Shafer: Yeah. So talk more, a little bit more about your mom. She was around, and your 

dad was working a lot. What was she like as a mother? 

 01-00:41:52 

Brown: Umðfine! I wasnôt into making any comparisons, so it was fine. We didnôt have 

a lot of fights, things were pretty, you knowðlife was relatively simple. Certainly 

during the war, and afterwards, my mother had her activities. She took care of the 

house. As my sisters got older, they started doing cooking as well, and we had to 

wash the dishes or dry the dishes. Thatôs something that I did somewhat, although 

I wasnôt that diligent. So thatôs all. My mother was in a bridge club with some of 

the women in the general neighborhood, and their husbands were friends of my 

father, and they would have parties occasionally. And thatôs pretty much it, except 

for when we went on vacation, and then weôd go to different places. 

 01-00:43:02  

Shafer: A lot of times in families the one parent will be more strict, or one will beðlike 

whatð? 

 01-00:43:08  

Brown: Oh, I think they were kind of equalðmy mother was around more, so she was 

more of the disciplinarian. But I stayed out of their way, so I didnôt have much 

colliding in terms of, ñdonôt do this,ò or, ñdonôt do that.ò It was a pretty simple 

life. You could go out the door, and youôd run around for hours, and then youôd 

come back and go to dinner and go to bed. There was no television. There was 

maybe aðno, we didnôt listen to records that much. Youôd have the radio; they 

had the 5:00pm programsðTom Mix, and Captain Midnight, and things like that. 

But I would just sit there and listen to it from 5:00 to 6:00. 

01-00:43:53 

Shafer: Do you remember listening to FDRôs fireside chats, or anything like that? 
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 01-00:43:57 

Brown: No, I did not listen to that. I remember the 1948 election, when [Harry S.] Truman 

won. I do remember that, because my father and this fellow Homer Potter, who 

was running the Truman campaign, he lived around the corner. Iôm in touch with 

his son, of the same name. So yeah, I had moments where I paid attention to 

elections. 

 I remember when Roosevelt died. I remember when the atomic bomb went off. I 

just remember that day one of the ladies was walking down the street saying the 

rosary, and Mrs. Potter, as a matter of fact, talking about how Roosevelt died. 

And then the kid across the street, who was a year ahead of me at St. Ignatius, 

came and said they dropped the atomic bomb. I asked him what that wasðI canôt 

remember what he said, but it seemed to be like a big thing. So the big world 

eventsðI remember Manila, I remember the name Manila on the map and then, 

when youôre reading the newspaper, theyôd have the arrows of the armies, in the 

war against Japan, the war against Germany. So I picked up on those things, but it 

was pretty remote. It wasnôt like living in Europe during a time of war. This is a 

very kind of secure, safe, clean, healthy environment, where thereôs no crime, 

death is relatively rare, and everythingôs just fine. So thatôs my childhood, as it 

came up. 

 01-00:45:49  

Shafer: Despite the blackouts of the windows and the drills? 

 01-00:45:51  

Brown: Oh, that was fun! Yeah, the warðthat was fun, and the rationing; the little ration 

cards looked interesting. They had some kind of pictures on themðthey were like 

something you might collect, and just like milk tops were kind of interesting. You 

know, weôd take the milk and collect a certain amount of milk topsðor match 

books. See, life was relatively simple. [laughing] It seems very different than it is 

today. 

 01-00:46:20 

Shafer: You had to find your own fun. 

01-00:46:22  

Brown: Yeah. Now, my neighbors have three children, I think five, seven, and ten. The 

baby was born, I think, just before they bought the ranch. And they work there on 

the ranch. Theyôre homeschooled, and theyôre milking cows and feeding chickens 

and turkeys. And so thatôs another worldða very different world, that I find very 

instructive to how that would work. And Iôm very impressed. I like being here, 

seeing people, and the people in the neighborhood, our neighbor whose cows run 

on our land. A lot of physical work. 

 And I think back when my great-grandfather August Schuckman was here, and 

my grandmother [Ida Schuckman Brown], they had a blacksmithôs shopðthey 

had to make everything. There was no electricity. There was no wellðthey got 

their water from the rain in a cistern. But there was a lot of physical labor. So my 
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experience was much more convenientðjust go to the grocery store. Yeah, there 

were no supermarkets. I can remember when Safeway started, I think after World 

War [II]ðin ô45 or something. It was very simple and limited, compared to what 

it is today, but itôs still extremely easy living, I would say. 

 01-00:48:02  

Shafer: Speaking of which, I seem to remember that your parents, or your momðthe kids 

would get allowance in exchange for chores. 

 01-00:48:13  

Brown: I didnôt get a regular allowance, and I didnôt do regular chores. Whatever my 

sisters didðthat was more the girlsô job, to clean and take care of the house. My 

job was just to play and cause trouble. 

 01-00:48:30  

Shafer: So you didnôt make a decision likeðwell, Iôll forgo the allowance, but then I 

donôt haveð? 

 01-00:48:34  

Brown: No. It wasnôt that well organized. It wasnôt that precise. It was a certain ease, you 

know. It was not a regimented life, letôs put it that way. Even though dinner was a 

regular occurrence and school was a regular occurrence, it was not a regimented 

experience. 

01-00:49:02  

Shafer: Looking back, or even at the time, did you feel lucky that your sisters had to do 

all the cleaning and stuff, when you were out? 

 01-00:49:06 

Brown: No. 

 01-00:49:07  

Shafer: No? 

 01-00:49:08  

Brown: I didnôt think it was a manôs job, a boyôs job in the first place. So it was more 

genderedðour rules were clearly more gendered than they are today. 

 01-00:49:16 

Shafer: What about like taking out the garbage or cutting the lawn? 

 01-00:49:17  

Brown: Oh yeah, taking out the garbageðyeah, you had to do certain things. 

 01-00:49:20  

Shafer: Yeah, yeah. Your dad, during this time, must have run for reelection, like in ô47 

or something? 

 01-00:49:27 

Brown: He ran in ô46 for the attorney general, so it came pretty quickðhe was sworn in 

in January of ô44, and he was running for attorney general in ô46. 



 Oral History Center, The Bancroft Library, University of California, Berkeley 20 

 

 01-00:49:42  

Shafer: And he lost that race. 

 01-00:49:43  

Brown: He lost that race. He won the primary, which was something, because the 

candidate for governor lost the primary, I think, in ô46, because we had cross-

filing. The candidates can run in both parties. 

 01-00:49:55 

Shafer: Do you remember at any point campaigning with your dad? Were you around? 

Would he take you to rallies or stuff? 

 01-00:50:03  

Brown: I think I went to a few events. I remember going to a [Adlai E.] Stevenson event. 

That would have been ô52. I remember a radioðthey used to do live radio 

broadcasts, so I remember that. My world was the childôs world. My father was 

doing his thing, and I knew about it, but it was a different world. It was a different 

domain. My father didnôt come to school, or come and watch me play basketball 

at Mark McGuinnessôs house, or ride a bike, or throw a baseball or something. He 

had his world, I had my world, my mother had her world. It all was integrated, but 

there were different roles. 

 01-00:50:59  

Shafer: And that was just the way families were then. 

01-00:51:00  

Brown: Thatôs the way it was. I think thatôs the way it was for everybody, at least on the 

block as I experienced it. 

 01-00:51:07  

Shafer: Do you remember dinner time? Were there lively discussions? 

 01-00:51:11  

Brown: Yeah, I think I remember that as discussions, talk. I remember more not wanting 

to eat my vegetables than what they were talking at the table. That was a more 

serious matter. 

 01-00:51:25  

Shafer: So did they talk politics and stuff, or not? 

 01-00:51:27  

Brown: Yeah, oh, they talked. Yeah, my father talked about politicsðthatôs what his main 

subject matter was for most of his life, maybe all of his life. 

 01-00:51:37  

Shafer: Really? So that was really his main interest? 

01-00:51:42  

Brown: Yeah, I think. Certainly, there was, whatever it was we were talking about while 

we were eating, like the district attorneys, there were campaigns, and there were 

campaign contributors. There were labor union people, and there were judges and 
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different court cases. Itôs not very precise in my mind, but it all unfolded without 

major events. 

 01-00:52:22  

Shafer: And your dad ran again for AG in 1950? 

 01-00:52:27  

Brown: He ran for AG in ô50, yes, and he won. 

 01-00:52:30  

Shafer: So you would have been twelve or so at that point? 

 01-00:52:35  

Brown: In ô50? Well, yeah, in June, I would have been in the eighth grade. No, I would 

have been the seventh grade. 

Oh yeah, I remember who he ran against. He was defeated by a guy named 

Frederick [N.] Howser. But Howser lost the primary because he got in trouble 

with some gamblers, or a gambling boat, in the vicinity of Catalina, and the LA 

Times jumped on him. So Frederick Napoleon Howser was defeated in the 

primary by a guy named Edward Shattuck, and my father beat him, in ô50. 

 01-00:53:18 

Shafer: And do you remember that being a big deal, or how did you think about it? 

 01-00:53:20  

Brown: Yeah, I guess it was. Yeah. I didnôt go to the swearing-inðI was probably in 

school. Because school was the predominant function. 

 01-00:53:35  

Shafer: Iôm getting that. 

01-00:53:37  

Brown: Yeah. Well, thatôs how they take care of you; thatôs how they occupy your time. 

 01-00:53:41  

Shafer: Yeah, do you feel like you had a good education? If you were in the eighth grade, 

was it more like rote memorization stuff? 

 01-00:53:48 

Brown: I think it was a pretty good education. It was clear. Iôve reflected on the fact that I 

donôt think I ever heard an incorrect English sentence spoken, growing up. My 

parents, their grammar and syntax were without any errors. 

 I had the same nun in the fifth, sixth, and seventh grades, Sr. Roseen, O.P. [Order 

or Preachers, also known as Dominican Order], who I kept in touch with until the 

end of her life, which was only a few years ago, and she had perfect handwriting. 

Youôd use control paper to learn how to write. My handwriting wasnôt that great. 

In fact, I had to work a little extra. It was the Palmer Method in West Portal, and 

then in St. Brendanôs we got control paper, which Iôd never seen before, with 
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three lines. And some [letters] would only go up one line, like a g, small g. But if 

you had a j, it would go up three lines. And so it was all of this lined paperðI do 

recall that. 

 And in the eighth grade we had diagramming sentences, which I was not very 

good at. I didnôt like it. But we knew what the seven parts of speech were, and we 

did our multiplication tables. And in some schools today, they donôt get that, 

some of the lower-performing schools. So I would say, in general, it was a clear, 

coherent education, so that was fine. Yeah, it wasnôt one of these Waldorf schools 

where you get a lot of different experiences and enrichment. These nunsðand 

theyôre all nuns. We had no non-nuns there, and the school was brand new. Fifth 

grade was the first year it opened. It was a brand-new building. They seemed a 

little foreign to me, because they came out from Chicago. They talked a little 

funny from my point of view. It was different than West Portalðit was a little 

oppressive. You asked me if it was good. I think it was a good education, but 

oppressive. They knew if someone caused trouble in the neighborhood, theyôd 

call the nuns, and the nuns would then call you to account in the classroom. So it 

was pretty orderly, and there was no fooling around in the classes that I can 

remember. Yeah, and so it was a good, clear foundation, I would say. 

I mean I always marvel that people donôt know the parts of speechðand today 

theyôve kind of deconstructed that, and they donôt think of it in quite that rigid 

manner, but we had to. 

 01-00:57:14  

Shafer: What are the seven parts? 

 01-00:57:15  

Brown: There are seven. What are they? 

 01-00:57:17  

Shafer: What are they? 

 01-00:57:18  

Brown: You know what they are. [laughter] 

 01-00:57:19  

Shafer: Youôre talking about nouns, verbs, adverbs, something like that? 

 01-00:57:21 

Brown: Yeah, the nouns, pronouns, verbs, adverbs, adjectivesðdid I say adjectives? 

Prepositions, conjunctions, interjections. Is that seven? 

 01-00:57:35  

Shafer: Yeah, very good. 

 01-00:57:36 

Brown: Now, you donôt know that, do you? Did you know the [speaking to Holmes and 

Meeker]ð[laughter] 
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01-00:57:39  

Shafer: Theyôre academics! 

 01-00:57:40 

Meeker: I went to a Catholic high school, so that was drilled into me. 

 01-00:57:43 

Brown: I learned thatðwell, I didnôt remember it, but Iôve looked it up in Google, in 

recent years. So thatôs why I sometimes like to ask people, ñDo you know the 

seven parts of speech?ò 

 01-00:57:54  

Meeker: Because you have smart-alecky interviewers asking you that? [laughing] 

 01-00:57:59 

Brown: But it does give a coherence. And similarly, I think there was a clarity there. I 

have my English text from Santa Clara, Reading for Understanding, edited by Fr. 

[Maurice B.] McNamee, and I look at it from time to time. And I marvel at the, I 

guess clarity is the word, or it was a world view that was coherent and in place, as 

opposed to the kind of postmodernist deconstruction of the world we have today, 

where you donôt have that. We had a world that was clear, and you were right and 

wrong. And you knew what was a venial sin, what was a mortal sin, and you had 

to go to church on Sunday. You didnôt tell lies, youôre not supposed to stealðit 

was a pretty clearðitôs kind of what you think of the 1950s. 

 01-00:59:04  

Shafer: Did you rebel against that at all? 

01-00:59:06  

Brown: No. 

 01-00:59:07  

Shafer: Not at all? 

 01-00:59:08  

Brown: Well, I donôt think rebellion was even in the ballgame. There was no thought of 

that. It was a very stable world, and it just was what it was. The exciting times 

were after school, summer vacationðthat was it. And so I liked summer vacation, 

Christmas vacation, Easter vacation, and recess much better than I liked school. 

So that was just playing. You all go outside and run aroundðyou know, 

exuberance. Sort of like these dogs do [referencing his two dogs.] They donôt like 

to sit around. 

 01-00:59:44  

Shafer: Burn off energy. 

 01-00:59:45  

Brown: Yeah. 

 01-00:59:46  

Shafer: At some point you got interested in debate and elocution, I think, right? 
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 01-00:59:50  

Brown: Well, I was on the debating team. Yeah, I did find that interesting. So in the 

debate team, the National Forensic League, St. Ignatius was there, and weôd go to 

tournaments at various high schools. People from the valleyðMerced, Ripon, 

Bellarmine, Lowellðwere active in all that. 

 01-01:00:16  

Shafer: Do you remember some of the things you debated? 

01-01:00:18  

Brown: Yeah. We debated free trade, we debated universal conscription in a time of war. 

We debated whether NATO should become a federation, which they ultimately 

did in the Common Market, of sortsðnot entirely. I think we debated the 

Electoral College. Each year, in those days, youôd have one topic for the entire 

year, and youôd be given either the affirmative or the negative, and youôd find that 

out a few minutes before you went into the debate. I didnôt go to too many, but I 

went to enough. 

01-01:01:03 

Shafer: How did you prepare for them? 

01-01:01:05  

Brown: I didnôt prepare that much, but you had books, you had magazinesðTime 

magazine, Newsweek. And I also did the freshman elocution contest, which I won, 

and the sophomore oratorical contest, which I won. I still have the medals sitting 

in one of my boxes, one of my 250 boxes. 

01-01:01:27  

Shafer: What does one have to do to win an elocution contest? 

01-01:01:30  

Brown: You have to convince the judges that youôre better than the seven or eight other 

contestants. 

01-01:01:36 

Shafer: But I mean, how do you do that? 

01-01:01:37  

Brown: I donôt knowðI just did it. I practiced, and that was that. But there were far better 

debaters than me at St. Ignatius High School. 

01-01:01:51  

Shafer: Really? 

01-01:01:52  

Brown: Yeah. And Lowell had some good debaters. [Supreme Court Justice] Stephen [G.] 

Breyer was a debater there. The guy I appointed judgeðheôs still a judge, Stu 

[Stuart R.] Pollak, was a debater. And we had people at St. Ignatius. Fr. [John] 

Coleman was a debater. There was a team, with [Marc E.] Leland and Breyer, and 

Lowell. Our team was Coleman and Biancho. There were others that were good. I 

was more back in the pack somewhere. 
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01-01:02:35 

Shafer: [laughing] Thatôs a little surprising. 

01-01:02:37  

Brown: Well, it may be surprising, but itôs true. But I did learn a lot. You learn to express 

yourself. In order to do these topicsðsome of them are alive today, debated 

todayðyou have to read contemporary journals, which I did. At that time I guess 

it was just basically Time and Newsweek. 

01-01:03:04  

Shafer: That was it. 

 01-01:03:06  

Brown: I would think that wasðand Iôm trying to think of what else there was. Oh, U.S. 

News & World Report.  

01-01:03:15  

Shafer: Wasnôt there Look and Life?  

 01-01:03:17  

Brown: Yeah, but they werenôt going to give you arguments. 

 [side conversation deleted] 

 01-01:03:34 

Shafer: So your given name was Edmund G. Brown, Jr. 

 01-01:03:38 

Brown: Right, right. 

01-01:03:39  

Shafer: Everyone calls you Jerry. 

01-01:03:40  

Brown: My mother did. 

 01-01:03:41 

Shafer: How did that come about? 

01-01:03:43  

Brown: I donôt know. I was Jerry when I first became aware of things. I think my mother 

didnôt want me to be called Eddie, so she decided to call me Jerry. 

01-01:03:54 

Shafer: Did people call your dad Eddie? 

01-01:03:56 

Brown: No, no. They called him Pat. My grandmother, his mother, called him Edmund. 

And I think his sisters called him Edmund. Connie [Constance Brown Carlson] 

did, his sister. 
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01-01:04:14 

Shafer: And one other thingðjust sort of random, but I remember reading, I think it was 

from the oral history that your dad didðyou have a distinctive voice. I donôt 

know if youôre aware of that or think about that, but you have a very distinctive 

voiceða little gravelly. And your dad mentioned that you had, I think, polyps or 

something? Were you aware of that? 

01-01:04:34 

Brown: I remember people talked about that, but it didnôt go anywhere. 

01-01:04:38 

Shafer: They talkedð? 

01-01:04:38 

Brown: Well, they didnôt do anything. I always had kind of a husky voice. So, I donôt 

know whether some doctor said, ñYou have polyps in your throat.ò But my father 

didnôt want to have any operations, so I didnôt have any operations growing up. 

01-01:04:59 

Shafer: Yeah, so that was that. 

01-01:05:00 

Brown: That was that. 

 [side conversation deleted] 

01-01:05:02 

Shafer: I think you graduated in ô55 from St. Ignatius [high school]? 

01-01:05:03 

Brown: I did. 

01-01:05:04 

Shafer: Yeah, so talk about that school. Why did you go there? 

01-01:05:07 

Brown: Well, originally I wanted to go to [Archbishop] Riordan [High School], because it 

was a newer school, and some of the kids in my neighborhood were going there. 

But then my father said to me, ñYou canôt go there. You have to go to Lowell.ò I 

said, ñWell, I donôt want to go to Lowell. I want to go to a Catholic school.ò So 

then he said, ñOkay, weôll compromise and youôll go to St. Ignatius, because they 

have more tradition.ò He thought that was important. So I took the exam, and I 

got accepted. So I went to St. Ignatius, and that was over on Turk and Stanyan, so 

it was near where USF is today. So that was that for school. And I found that 

much more interesting than St. Brendanôs. St. Brendanôs did have a sense of 

confinement, so it was strict, and most people were glad to get out, at least at that 

time. But I remember, talking to one of the girls who was a couple of years behind 

me, and she commented how she didnôt like the eighth-grade teacher, Sr. Alice 

Joseph, who I found pleasant enough. But they were strict. I found St. Ignatius 

much more interesting. You had different teachersðwe had only one teacher. I 
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had one teacher, Sr. Roseen, for three years, and I had Sr. Alice Joseph for the 

eighth grade, the final year. But in St. Ignatius, we had many classes. I count more 

than two hundred kids in the class, so itôs bigger. My class was in the twenties, at 

St. Brendanôsðpretty small. It was a new school. 

01-01:07:09 

Shafer: And you just liked what, the diversity ofð? 

01-01:07:11 

Brown: Yeah, well it was more interesting. The ideas were interesting. The Jesuits were 

interesting. The course matter was, there was more intellectual content and more 

stimulation. I liked school better in high school, for sure. 

01-01:07:34 

Shafer: Why didnôt you want to go to Lowell? 

01-01:07:36 

Brown: I wanted to go to a Catholic school. I guess I got that influence at St. Brendanôs, 

and it left its mark.  

01-01:07:45 

Shafer: Despite the confinementð 

01-01:07:49 

Brown: Well, yeah, I donôt think I connected that to high school. 

01-01:07:56 

Shafer: Yeah, so I want to ask you a little bit more about the debate stuff. Youôd 

mentioned some of the topics that you debated, and you said you didnôt find out 

until right before the actual competition which side you were going to debate. Did 

you have a preference?  

01-01:08:12 

Brown: No. I canôt remember. I canôt remember. 

01-01:08:15 

Shafer: But I mean in terms of something you agreed with. Was it more fun to argue a 

position you agreed with or disagreed with? 

01-01:08:21 

Brown: Iôm trying to remember what Iðwhat free trade/reciprocal trade. Those were the 

twoða federation or a confederation for the European nations. The Electoral 

College or not the Electoral College. I donôt know that we were, that that 

particular process led one to a fixed belief in one position or the other. It was 

more figuring out ways of articulating the case, and we always divided the case 

into facts and logic. Logic was the arguments and the coherent thoughts youôd put 

forward, and then facts were usually citations to U.S. News & World Report, or 

something. I donôt think there actually were facts, we called them evidence, thatôs 

itðlogic and evidence. 
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 But as far as having a deeply held opinion of any of those four topicsðeven today 

people talk about the Electoral College, and getting rid of it. I remember the 

arguments that America was founded as a group of states, it wasnôt just the 

peopleðit was the states. Thatôs what the electoral college represents. Of course 

at that time, it wasnôt as it is today, these small statesðat least we didnôt perceive 

it in quite the same way you would today, with the one man/one vote, which we 

didnôt have in those days, so it seems less supportable. But at the time, that wasnôt 

the point. The point was to win the debate! And to win the debate, you had to 

convince the judge you did a better job than your opponent, and this was 

happening frequently. So it wouldnôt be just one debateðit might be three 

different debates on a one-day tournament, or more. I canôt remember now. 

01-01:10:39 

Shafer: Other than the debates, describe what was a day like at SI. 

01-01:10:44 

Brown: A day like at SIðwell, I would go over there. Usually I would hitchhike to 

school, until I got a car I think in my senior year. And you had your Latin, math, 

English, history, religion, public speaking, ROTC in the second year and the third 

year. We had recess, we had lunch, and we came home. Schooling didnôt capture 

my attention all that much. 

01-01:11:19 

Shafer: Even in high school? 

01-01:11:22 

Brown: Yeah. Ohðeven ever. School is a confining experience, because youôre being 

told to think like somebody else is thinking, so I didnôt always respond to that. 

Some teachers did more than others. I had different experiences in different 

classes. So yeah, I found it interesting. I liked algebra, I liked religion, I liked 

chemistry, I liked history, especially world history. So yeah, those were topics I 

liked. 

01-01:12:00 

Shafer: What about student government? Did you ever think aboutð? 

01-01:12:02 

Brown: No. 

01-01:12:03 

Shafer: Not at all? 

01-01:12:03 

Brown: No. I was a yell leader for a couple years. But at that time, I think when I went, 

they said, ñOkay, you want to be a yell leader? Show up at room,ò whatever, and 

like there were two people there. So it wasnôt quite the organized activity that it is 

today. Things were a little looser. I would say that society was more organized, 

but the activities in school were not as regimented as they are today. 

 [side conversation deleted] 
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01-01:12:45 

Shafer: You mentioned your maternal grandfather who was a police captain. 

01-01:12:49 

Brown: Capt. Layne, yeah. 

01-01:12:51 

Shafer: Yeah, and then your paternal grandfather [Edmund Joseph Brown]ðwhole 

different kind ofð 

01-01:12:55 

Brown: Yeah, he was an entrepreneurðbecause he even had a movie theater, had a photo 

arcade studio on Market Street, and he had a couple poker clubs. Different jobs 

over different times in his life. Of course, I didnôt know much about that. He died, 

I think, in ô41. I only saw him once. I knew the other grandfather better, even 

though he died in1940. I was only two and a half, I guess, but I do remember him. 

01-01:13:37 

Shafer: Thereôs a little bit of irony, I guess, that your dad became DA? 

01-01:13:41 

Brown: Right. And they have a story that may be in here, but one of the daily newspapers 

had a big screaming headline that my father had incorporated his fatherôs 

gambling clubs, and I think there was some question as to their legality, although 

they were certainly toleratedðslot machines were tolerated too. When I was a 

little kid, and we went up to Twain Harte and we stopped along [the way], there 

would always be slot machines in the stores, and I think Earl Warren was the one 

who took that out. So I think a poker club certainly was there. And bookmaking 

was clearly illegal, but that was pretty common. These were clubs, so probably it 

was illegal playing for gain, yeah, gambling. But I think it was pretty much 

tolerated. 

01-01:14:44 

Shafer: Was there anyðI donôt know, for lack of a better wordðattitude from your 

motherôs side of the family? 

01-01:14:50 

Brown: Not that I could tell. No, I learned about that really later. I never thought of my 

grandfather as having a gambling club. I think I learned that much later in life. 

01-01:15:03 

Shafer: And then what about your grandmother, [Ida Schuckman Brown] who died, I 

think, in ô74? 

01-01:15:07 

Brown: 1974, yeah, in December. 

01-01:15:09 

Shafer: What was she like? 
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01-01:15:11 

Brown: What was she like? She wasðhard to tell. What are people like. If you ask me 

what are you like, Iôd be hard-pressed to give you an answer. 

01-01:15:23 

Shafer: What do you remember? 

01-01:15:24 

Brown: Or even what is Evan [Westrup] [Westrup, Brownôs communications officer, who 

was in the room] likeðwhat are you like, Evan?  

01-01:15:27 

Westrup: Depends on the day and the company. 

01-01:15:30 

Brown: Evan, what is Evan like? Yeah, he plays a lot with his cell phone. [laughter] 

01-01:15:33 

Westrup: Almost as much as you. 

01-01:15:36 

Brown: Yeah. How many hoursðdid you get your report? 

01-01:15:37 

Westrup: Well, yeah, Iôm sure weôre competing. 

01-01:15:41 

Brown: [laughter] Yeah. So what was my grandmother like? Well, she took care of us. 

She knitted us robes and pajamas, and she would go to her grandchildren, because 

she had four children, and they all had [her] grandchildren. They lived in the Bay 

Area, San Francisco or Marin County. And so she would come to dinners, and she 

would babysit us when we were younger. She liked to clean my fingernails with a 

toothbrush, and I did not care for that. We talked about religion. She was not 

happy with the Catholic Church at all. She was very anti-Catholic, so we would 

argue about that. And when I was very young she used to read me Bible stories, 

and I remember the picturesðMoses in the bulrush[es], and the destruction ofð

with Lotôs wife looking back, Adam and Eve in the garden. I remember all those 

stories, crossing the Red Sea. I liked that very much. I liked the Bible stories. And 

she used to talk about the Mountain House and how wonderful it was, so that left 

an impression on meðalthough she left it when she was eighteen. 

01-01:17:01 

Shafer: Well, I was going to ask about that, yeah. So she went to San Francisco, right? 

01-01:17:03 

Brown: She went to San Francisco. She was the youngest of eight kids. Interestingly 

enough, all eight kids are buried in the Williams cemetery, as is her mother and 

father, August and Augusta [Fiedler] Schuckman. Her sister Emma [Schuckman 

Allen] got marriedðI think was married by eighteenðyeah, was married by then 

and had a child, and they lived around the corner, out about a mile and a half, 

which is still a part of the ranch. Itôs called the Allen Place. Emma married a guy 
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named Rufus [R.] Allen. So sheôs gone. The boys are gone, so she might have had 

to have done more of the workðor maybe there wasnôt much goingðso she 

obviously wanted to get out. But she always told me the Mountain House was 

wonderful, and interesting people would stop by. And Iôm sure if youôre living 

out here, whoever stops by had stories to tell. That would be a very exciting 

experience. But I think the talk of the Mountain House kind of dropped off after I 

was relatively young. I donôt remember it coming up again until my father took 

me. My great-grandfather died in 1907, and his brother Frank had taken over the 

Mountain House.  

 [side conversation deleted] 

01-01:18:30 

Brown: So yeah, Frank [J.] Schuckman took it over. I think he moved out of here 

sometime in the 1920s, maybe after World War I. As soon as the car came, the 

stagecoach stop didnôt work anymoreðand not having any amenities, no 

electricity, no well. They had a big water tank out here, and I saw thatðthat was 

still there in 1960 when I came. But the hotel stoodðnobody was in itðprobably 

empty, from probably the late ô50s or ô60s. And the barns became very graffitied, 

and pretty soon an arsonist in the neighborhood burned it down, in ô71. But I saw 

it in ô60, and my father bought it with his brother and four businesspeople, so that 

became Rancho Venada.  

 [side conversation deleted] 

01-01:19:26 

Brown: That became Rancho Venada, and Harold [Harold C. Brown], my fatherôs brother 

and four guysðso they bought the ranch in 1962 from the estate of Frank 

Schuckman. He had left it to twenty-two heirs, including my grandmother. So 

then they bought it, but they didnôt do anything with it. When we took over the 

records just a few years ago, we calculated from the annual reports that they had 

only invested $1,250 in that period. When they took it over, the blacksmithôs shop 

disappeared. The remnants of the gas station disappeared. The hotel was burned 

down. There were four barns, and this barn was pretty good, but then they started 

stealing the metal off the roof, and because of that it started collapsing, so I 

burned that barn down. But I did get a chance to walk through it and see it. And 

so that was interesting. But this Mountain Houseðit was the second Mountain 

House. My grandmother was in the first Mountain House, and thereôs a picture of 

her. And she scratched her face out of the picture. Sheôs there with her brothers. 

01-01:20:48 

Shafer: This is the grandmother who left? 

01-01:20:50 

Brown: Yeah, thatôs Ida. Thatôs my grandmother. 

01-01:20:52 

Shafer: Why did she scratch her face out [of the picture]? 
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01-01:20:54 

Brown: I donôt know. She probably didnôt want to be seen, maybe she didnôt like it at that 

point. But she did when she talked about it. It was very exciting the way she 

described it. But as I said, that was when I was younger, and we didnôt hear much 

about it until I came and visited in 1960, and then I didnôt really see it again until 

probably the ô90s, when I moved from LA to Oakland and had a chance to come 

up here and visit. But all that was here was the four barns. 

01-01:21:23 

Shafer: You know, earlier I asked you what your grandmother was likeðand I mean the 

fact that she had six siblingsðor seven or eight of them? 

01-01:21:30 

Brown: She had seven siblings. One died young. 

01-01:21:32 

Shafer: Seven siblings, and she was the only one that left. What does that say about her? 

01-01:21:37 

Brown: Well, she was independent. She was independent, and her grandniece, I guess, 

Patricia Schaad, who lives in Williams, told me that her grandmother, Emma, said 

to PatriciaðPatricia was her granddaughter, and she lived out at the Allen place 

and then moved into Williams. And her Grandmother Emma said, ñNow, Patricia, 

you be content with your life.ò And Patricia then said, ñBut Ida always said you 

be discontent with your life.ò So that definitely marked a difference. 

 Ida was an explorer. She went to different lectures and took my father around to 

that, and she had a lively interest in religion. If she was anything, sheôd call 

herself a Unitarian, but she was a free-thinking person. I noticed, when she said 

that in 1948 she voted for Henry Wallace, and I remember there was a proposition 

on the ballot. It was called an anti-feather-bedding initiative. I think it was maybe 

1948 or 1950, and I remember her sitting and talking to my grandmother about it, 

and she said, ñOh no, thatôs a bad thing. This is not good.ò It was the railroadôs 

effort to reduce the number of employees, and it turns out that some of her 

brothers worked for the railroad, and her nephew, Victor [C.] Schuckmanðwho 

later changed his name to Creasonðbut Victor worked on it and lived in 

Dunsmuir. So my grandmother had what Iôd call a liberal perspective. She 

thought the churches should be turned into childcare centers. She didnôt like the 

big Catholic cathedrals and the wealth of the church. So she was a freethinker, 

and I think an inquisitive person. 

01-01:23:45 

Shafer: You said she was upset with the church. Was it for those reasons? 

01-01:23:47 

Brown: I donôt know whether the word is upsetðshe disagreed with the Catholic Church, 

thatôs all. I donôt know the different reasons of why it all happened, maybe going 

back to her husband and whatever the hell it was. But she definitely didnôt like the 

Catholic Church as an idea. She liked religion, but not the church of Rome. 
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01-01:24:17 

Shafer: So you, obviously, had a different point of view. Did she try to talk you out of 

that? 

01-01:24:21 

Brown: No. I tried to talk. I tried to talk her out of her anti-Catholicism, but that didnôt go 

anywhere. 

01-01:24:29 

Shafer: Yeah. You guys want to jump in and ask some things? 

01-01:24:32 

Meeker: Sure. This is Martin Meeker, and Iôm picking up after Scott Shafer. So Governor, 

Iôd like to ask you a little bit more about politics. Was there a point, growing up, 

that you came to realize that your dadôs job was different than others, that it was 

unique in some important ways? 

01-01:24:56 

Brown: I wouldnôt put it that way. 

01-01:24:57 

Meeker: Okay. 

01-01:24:59 

Brown: No, I mean I knew he was the district attorney, and nobody else on Magellan Ave. 

was elected to any office. But no, I donôt know that different wasðit just was. Iôd 

visit him in his office down on Montgomery Street, which was where it was at 

that point. I went to some of the picnics that the district attorneyôs office had, so I 

talked to the deputies. But no, I guess I didnôt know what other people did. I 

mean, I knew that Peter Roddyôs father was in the coffee business, and I knew 

that John Hasterôs father was in the insurance business, and Mitchell Johnsonôs 

father was an assistant chief counsel at the Bank of America, and that Mark 

McGuinnessôs father was a doctor, and that Charlie Corsigliaôs father ran a 

pharmacy. So thatôs just the way it was. I didnôt stand back and frame it in the 

way you described it. 

01-01:26:14 

Meeker: Well, you know, all of your friendsô dads had to do their jobs in order to keep 

their jobs, but your dad was the only one whose fellow citizens could fire him. 

01-01:26:24 

Brown: Yeah, wellðthatôs a nice generalization that youôre making, but itôs not one I 

made as a child. 

01-01:26:29 

Meeker: Okay. 

01-01:26:31 

Brown: Thatôs a little later articulation. 
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01-01:26:34 

Meeker: Well, I think in this day and age, the children of politicians are both highly 

scrutinized, but also shielded in some ways from public scrutiny. 

01-01:26:49 

Brown: Well, first of all, there wasnôt that much public scrutiny in those days. The press is 

a lot nosier today than it used to be. And so we used to get, for example, free 

passes to the theaters and to Whitneyôs at the Beach, and today you wouldnôt do 

thatðand no one thought anything of it. So, I donôt know, it was just normal. A 

district attorney, heôs not president, heôs not a governorðit is an elected position, 

but there were eleven supervisors, thereôs the mayor, thereôs a lot of people in city 

government, so I didnôt distinguish it as anything. The district attorney was the 

DA, that was what that was, and Iôm sure I could frame it in various ways, but it 

seemed fairly ordinary at the time. 

01-01:27:58 

Meeker: Did your mom or dad ever sit you down and say, ñHey, Dadôs job is kind of 

unique. Watch out!ò 

01-01:28:04 

Brown: No, no. Not even close! That kind of a conversation is totally alien to my memory 

of growing up. 

01-01:28:13 

Shafer: I just wonder though, and you were a little older at this point, but I seem to 

remember from your fatherôs oral history, that you wrote him a letter urging him 

to think about running for the senate. 

01-01:28:25 

Brown: Yeah, that was when I was in the seminary. That would have been 1957 or ô58. 

01-01:28:31 

Shafer: Okay, weôll get to that later.  

01-01:28:33 

Meeker: And Iôd also like to ask youð 

01-01:28:34 

Brown: And that reflected my general interest in national/international as opposed to 

local. 

01-01:28:42 

Meeker: A little bit more about SI, and a little more about Catholicism. You said that your 

dad had urged you to go to Lowell, and you wanted to go to SIðor to Riordan. 

01-01:28:52 

Brown: No, I wanted to go to Riordan. We compromised. 

01-01:28:54 

Meeker: The compromise was SI. 
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01-01:28:55 

Brown: I didnôt think of St. Ignatius. By the way, Homer Potter told me, which might 

have influenced meðhe was two years ahead of me, so he was already at 

Riordan. And he said he went to Riordan because they were going to build a 

swimming pool, which, to date, they havenôt built yet. So that might have been 

one of the reasons I wanted to go to Riordan. 

01-01:29:20 

Meeker: Just thinking about Catholic education as opposed to public school, was there 

something that you, in particular, had in your mind? Was it just that it was 

familiar, or was there something else that you can remember aboutð? 

01-01:29:31 

Brown: Well, and a Catholic education presented a Catholic view, which in that pre-

Vatican II, 1950s period was a very comprehensive framework, and it was the 

framework that was something that I had learned, and I thought that was the 

correct way of looking at the world, so I wanted to continue in that tradition, 

under the guidance or auspices of the church. 

01-01:30:14 

Meeker: Can you describe what that framework was, at that time? 

01-01:30:19 

Brown: Well, the Catholic Church was founded by Jesus Christ, who is the son of God, 

and weôve had popes for the last two thousand years. And popes have bishops, 

and bishops have priests, and the priests serve in parishes, and the parishes do 

baptisms and confessions and communion and Mass and the other sacraments, 

and thatôs part of the ritual or the routine of life. So that struck me as an important 

aspect of my reality at that time. So I didnôt see any reason not to follow through 

on that. 

01-01:31:02 

Meeker: Thatôs the superstructure of the church, if you will. 

01-01:31:05 

Brown: Yeah. Well, as opposed toð? 

01-01:31:09 

Meeker: What about the beliefs? What about the doctrine? Were there parts of learning the 

faith at that time that were particularly intriguing or meaningful to you? 

01-01:31:22 

Brown: Noðwell, it was all meaningful. That was a thoroughgoing story of the way 

things are, the way things have unfolded, and so itôs an identity group. A rather 

big identity group and one of long standing, so I think it was very normal. In fact, 

Iôd say most of the kids in my class at St. Brendanôs went to Catholic school, both 

the girls and the boys. So that was the norm.  

And there were parishes. They were very distinct, and the parishes had their local 

Catholic schools, and there was a number of boysô schoolsðthereôs only three 
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really: Riordan, St. Ignatius, Sacred Heart. I think there was another oneðSt. 

Jamesðbut that was not as familiar. And then you had all the girlsô schools, and 

thatôs just the way it went for people who went into the Catholic grammar 

schools. And that was the whole point. The churchðthatôs what their plan was, 

and the plan was executed fairly successfully in the 1950s. 

01-01:32:44 

Meeker: What about distinguishing between good and evil? Was that a big part of 

education? 

01-01:32:49 

Brown: Not good and evil, I think sinðthere was sin, there was grace. You get grace by 

going to Mass and communion. You commit sins by being late for Mass or, you 

know, being disobedient or stealing things or something like that. So yeah, there 

was a rather detailed moral code that was part of the catechism, because we 

studied the catechism, and the catechism is pretty comprehensive. Seven 

sacraments, seven gifts of the Holy Spirit, cardinal virtuesðitôs a pretty detailed 

schema of things, which I think was a good thing, because it gave a framework. 

Itôs not this kind of amorphous floating set of identities that often kids experience 

today. 

01-01:33:53 

Meeker: Did you feel like you lived pretty close to the virtues and to the sacraments? 

01-01:34:02 

Brown: I mean, it was a pretty simple life. I think it was justðit was the norm. So I donôt 

think people thought about being holy or not holy, it was justðthis was reality. 

Just like youôre an American, youôre not an African or Chinese. Youôre not a 

Hindu. Youôre a Christian, and a Roman Catholic at that, so those are the 

identities. So, today we have a lot of different identities, but itôs similar to that. 

01-01:34:45 

Meeker: Was being a Democrat an important identity for you? 

01-01:34:49 

Brown: I donôt know if it was important. It was something that I accepted, that certainly I 

identified with. My eighth-grade nun, Sister Alice Joseph, didnôt like Truman and 

didnôt like [Dean] Acheson, and I think spoke about losing China to the 

Communists. And I disagreed with her on that, basically from my fatherôs talk 

and conversation. So yeah, I had an independent view. Not independent of my 

parents, but independent of the nunsðthis one nun, sheôs the eighth-grade nun, 

what she talked about. The others did not. The other one. There was only two; I 

only had two nuns.  

01-01:35:34 

Meeker: What did it mean to be a Democrat, say in the 1950s, before you head off to 

college? 
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01-01:35:40 

Brown: What did it mean to beðnot for [Thomas E.] Dewey and not for [Dwight D.] 

Eisenhower. So thatðI mean, those were the candidates. 

01-01:35:53 

Meeker: So what did Truman and Stevenson stand for? 

01-01:35:56 

Brown: Well, they were Democrats. 

01-01:35:57 

Meeker: Okay. 

01-01:35:58 

Brown: Yeah, theyôre supposed to be the common man against the big business or 

something, that it was just relatively simple and traditional. 

01-01:36:10 

Meeker: Labor would play a big role in that in the 1950s. 

01-01:36:13 

Brown: It did play a big role, but not in my mind. There were no union members on 

Magellan Ave. If we lived in the Mission, we probably would have seen a lot of 

trade. I mean I knew about trade unions, particularly the building trades, because 

they were active in the campaigns. 

01-01:36:38 

Meeker: So did these professional circles around your dadðand I assume labor unions 

would have played a role in thatðdid those professional circles ever bleed over 

into your own social life growing up? 

01-01:36:53 

Brown: Noðhow? What would that be? I didnôt go to any bar association meetings. We 

used to go to the district attorneys convention, which was heldðI remember 

doing that. That was fun. Yeah, we went to the Tahoe Tavern, went down to the 

Hotel Del [Coronado], so I remembered it more as, in that kind of spirit. Not the 

way DAs perform today, discussing all the different criminal laws that they want 

or want to protect. Thatôs very substantiveðI saw it from the eyes of a young 

person. 

01-01:37:46 

Meeker: It was like a family boondoggle or something, huh? [laughing] 

01-01:37:48 

Brown: Not a boondoggle. The word boondoggle didnôt even show up. Iôm sure I must 

have heard that one later, in college or something. In fact, I donôt know when I 

first heard boondoggle, but I certainly donôt remember it in high school. 

01-01:38:01 

Meeker: You said that there were some debates. 
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01-01:38:05 

Brown: Thatôs much later, that may be kind of anachronistic to apply thatðgrowing up it 

all seemed: this is the way it was, so there wasnôt a lot of discrepancy. 

01-01:38:18 

Meeker: You said that you had debated a little with your grandmother about Catholicism. 

01-01:38:22 

Brown: I wouldnôt say debateðdiscussed. 

01-01:38:26 

Meeker: What were the critiques that she would have had? 

01-01:38:29 

Brown: I think I mentioned those. The money, too much money spent on churchesð 

01-01:38:38 

Meeker: How would you respond? 

01-01:38:40 

Brown: Maybe the intolerance, the dogmaðprobably that would be it. 

01-01:38:43 

Meeker: How would you have responded to those critiques? 

01-01:38:45 

Brown: I donôt think I got into the details, justðCatholicism is the one true religion, and 

there it is. But you donôt argue with your grandmother that much, you know. So 

youôd have a discussion, but itôs not like weôre talking about it now. 

01-01:39:05 

Meeker: So you graduate high school, I believe, in 1955. 

01-01:39:07 

Brown: Yeah. 

01-01:39:10 

Meeker: You know, just kind of at the beginning phase of some of the cultural tumult that 

San Francisco sees in the mid and late 1950s, with the Beats and North Beach. 

01-01:39:21 

Brown: That was not in ô55. That came while I was in the seminary. 

01-01:39:24 

Meeker: Okay, okay. So you werenôt exposed to any of those cracks in theð 

01-01:39:29 

Brown: I did not know that Allen Ginsberg and [Jack] Kerouac were down there on Grant 

Ave. until I left the seminary. 

01-01:39:39 

Meeker: Well, there were some Bohemians down there. Were you ever exposed to any of 

that kind of stuff?  
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01-01:39:44 

Brown: Not until after I came out of the seminary. I did go to the Co-existence Bagel 

Shop in 1960. I went to a jazz poetry club, and I remember going to that, and it 

was kind of the lastðthey were closing down. That must have been very soon 

after I left, in 1960. I donôt know which one it was. I think it was poetry and jazz, 

but it was closing. 

And the Co-Existence Bagel Shop closed very soon afterðmaybe in ô60 or soon 

thereafter. So the longer youôre around, the more you see the passing quality of 

things. They try to keep North Beach alive, but it was a bit more lively in the 

early 1960s and late ô50s. And I got to know Gary Snyder in recent years. Heôs a 

good friend of mineðhe was definitely a part of that scene. Iôve had a chance to 

talk to him about it. 

01-01:40:54 

Meeker: You got to know him after this period of time? 

01-01:40:57 

Brown: I met him first in 1974 at the Zen Center. Dick [Richard D.] Baker had invited 

him for a meeting on energetics, and thatôs when I met Stewart Brand and Gary 

Snyder. 

01-01:41:15 

Meeker: Well, weôll certainly want to ask you about that later. 

01-01:41:21 

Holmes: This is Todd Holmes. Governor, a lot of biographers and historians have written 

that the dinner table discussions in the house, particularly as you were getting into 

your teenage years, sparked your interest in politics. I wanted to ask you, when do 

you recall your engagement with politics beginning to surface? 

01-01:41:43 

Brown: Well, I donôt think I was really engaged in politics. I certainly went to a few 

events of my fatherôs. I went to some Stevenson [eventsðI remember the 

Stevenson campaign. I met Stevenson briefly when he came to speak in San 

Francisco. I liked hearing him speak. I watched his convention speech in 1952. I 

thought it was very exciting, very moving. So that was ô52. So yeah, the 

presidential campaign I noticed. My father ran as a favorite son against [Estes] 

Kefauver, and Kefauver won. So I noticed that part of it, but I wasnôt that 

political. High school was not political. The Jesuits didnôt talk politics in their 

classroom. My history teacher spoke out against farm subsidiesðMr. Corwin. I 

remember thatðitôs probably the most political thing I heard. And then at Santa 

Clara, there wasnôt a lot of politics. You know, the life of a student, a child, a 

teenager, a young man, that has its own fullness without having to get into a lot of 

adult issues. And in fact, even today you find that people can vote at eighteen, but 

not a lot of participation, and thatôs because thereôs a lot of vitality in doing the 

things that you do when youôre sixteen or eighteen or twenty. So I think that my 

interest, I think that came later. 
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01-01:43:44 

Holmes: Would you say during your teenage years, and thinking here particularly in high 

school, did religion engage you more than politics? 

01-01:43:51 

Brown: Yes, I would say so. But basketball engaged me even more. [laughter] 

01-01:43:56 

Holmes: Thatôs fair. What are some of your earliest memories of theð 

01-01:44:02 

Brown: Oh, and the Olympic Club. We used to go down to the Olympic Club, and I guess 

that we played basketball or swam. In those days, you just jumped in the pool and 

splashed around. You didnôt have lanes that you had to stay in, and you had 

diving boards. Youôd jump off the diving boardðthe high dive, the low dive. So 

now itôs a little more regimented. Youôre supposed to do your laps. 

01-01:44:25 

Meeker: The Dons were pretty good back then. Did you go to any USF games? 

01-01:44:28 

Brown: No, but I knew about them. I knew about Russell, [William F.] ñBillò Russell and 

[K.C.] ñCaseyò Jones, [Harold L.] [ñHalò] Perryðwe knew about those guys. 

And I knew about Ollie [G.] Matson, the USF guy that won eleven games. I did 

see a football game at Kezar Stadium. I used to be a fan of St. Maryôs, but they 

were already kind of dying on the vine when I started seeing them. But I was very 

excited about Herman [J.] Wedemeyer. In fact, I even got my mother to give me a 

jersey, a number eleven, so that was exciting football. Although I got interested in 

football from Peter Roddy. Heôs the one who told me about it. And then USFðI 

forget what, it must have been ô50 maybe, when they played their last game. They 

were undefeated. So that was interesting. I never went to a basketball game, but I 

knew about them. They won the NIT, I thinkðNational Invitation Tournamentð

in New York. So that was something. 

 But it isnôt this hysteria that you have todayðeverything is more hyped, because 

of the media, and itôs more saturating of our minds. So that when you read back, 

you know, we did other things. 

01-01:46:00 

Holmes: You went to high school during the 1950s. What are some of your earliest 

memories of the Cold War? 

01-01:46:06 

Brown: Of the Cold Warðwell, I remember the invasion of South Korea. I was at Camp 

Royaneh, not too far from the Russian River, so I remember that. I remember 

following that war, and the Americans almost got pushed out, and then [Douglas] 

MacArthur going in, and then MacArthur getting fired, and the Panmunjom 

discussions. Those were definitely news events that I followed with interest. And 

I remember Eisenhower running and saying he would, I donôt thinkðvisit Korea? 

He said something. And so I did follow those. But I found Stevenson a lot more 
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interesting than Eisenhower at that point. Not only interesting, I found his 

speeches exciting, which I canôt say about any other politician, but definitely 

Stevenson. And Stevenson was the one who helped get the whole movement of 

Democratic clubs started in the 1950s. [Alan] Cranston got his start in that, and 

there were hundreds of Democratic clubs that would endorse in the primary, and 

that got going with Stevenson. A lot of people came into politics through that. 

Now, I wasnôt that active, but I did follow it. Now, thatôd be 1952ðyeah, thatôd 

be ô52. Also Truman was not very popular when I was in grammar school, but we 

knew about Truman. He got a lot of bashing in the general media that I probably 

noticed. 

So I think pretty early on I started following current events, either because of my 

father, what he talked about at the dinner table, or maybe the debate team. You 

had to read papers and magazines to stay on top, because we had not only the 

topic, but we had something called extemporaneous speaking, whichðtheyôd 

give you a topic and youôd have thirty minutes to work it out. So yeah, I was 

interested in current events. Probably a combination of my family, my father, and 

the debate team. The debaters would talk about current events, I would say, more 

than a lot of other people would in the school. That was at St. Ignatius. 

01-01:48:50 

Holmes: To follow up on that, you had to participate in ROTC during high school. 

01-01:48:55 

Brown: Right. 

01-01:48:56 

Holmes: Which was largely standard for both high school and land-grant universities 

during that time. 

01-01:49:00 

Brown: Well, it was mandatory. If you didnôt get Greek, which I didnôt, then you had to 

take ROTC for two years. And I had to take ROTC at Santa Clara. That was 

mandatory then.  

01-01:49:12 

Holmes: What was your experience with that, or impressions? 

01-01:49:16 

Brown: It wasnôt all that serious. We had to wear our uniform, I think, once a week and 

march around. I remember we had to watch some movies the Army put out. We 

studiedðI learned about the M1 rifle, that it weighed 9.5 pounds. I learned about 

the unity of command and different formations that you would proceed in. I 

learned what a squad was, and a battalion. But in general, it was not taken all that 

seriously. It seemed to be a lighter experience than in chemistry or geometry or 

Latin that we had to take at that time. All of our courses were required. We didnôt 

get our first choice until, I think, senior year. We got a choiceðone, I think, one 

choice. We only had one language: Latin. No other language, and we only had 

two sciencesðthat was chemistry and physics. We didnôt have biology, let alone 
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earth sciences. So it was a fairly limited curriculum, but it seemed plenty, full 

enough, from my point of view. 

01-01:50:49 

Holmes: Well, many people sayðand as youôve demonstrated much throughout your 

careerðyouôve been strongly independent and usually donôt like to take orders, 

and so I was just wondering how ROTC fit with that personality? 

01-01:51:00 

Brown: Well, it wasnôt too onerous. It was only like an hour. Youôd have an hourôs class, 

so you sitðitôs no different than any other class. You had, in fact, more discipline 

in the non-ROTC classes than the ROTC classes, so it was not a militaristic spirit, 

in any event. Not as much as the Oakland Military Institute, I think. 

01-01:51:32 

Shafer: Weôll get to that. This is Scott Shafer again. You said when you were talking 

about high school, and somebody wanted you to go to Lowell. 

01-01:51:39 

Brown: Yeah. 

01-01:51:40 

Shafer: And you wanted to go to Riordan, and you ended up at SI. You said that the 

reason was that you thought that the church had the correct way of looking at the 

world.  

01-01:51:49 

Brown: Well, those are my words now. I donôt think those would be my words in 1951, 

when I was thinking about going to high school. 

01-01:51:57 

Shafer: But it must have, in some form, gone through your mind. 

01-01:52:02 

Brown: Well, itôs an identity. So, you know, if you went to Catholic school, youôre more 

likely to root for Notre Dame than for USC. These are just facts. Or youôre more 

likely to root for St. Maryôs than for UC Berkeley. So this was the group that I 

was a part ofðI didnôt stand back and look at it in a sociological sense. It just was 

the world, as I experienced it. 

01-01:52:42 

Shafer: So when you said you didnôt want to go to Lowell, it was because you wanted to 

root for the Catholic teams? 

01-01:52:46 

Brown: Yeah, probably. 

01-01:52:48 

Shafer: Or was it bigger than that? 



 Oral History Center, The Bancroft Library, University of California, Berkeley 43 

 

01-01:52:48 

Brown: Not root for them, but I was using that as a metaphor. I think weôre being much 

more conscious than we are when we just grow upðit just is. Youôre not looking 

at a whole range of alternatives. Even today, when people talk about going to 

college, they apply to ten collegesðsome people apply to twenty. Thatôs unheard 

of. I applied to two: Santa Clara and UCðthat was it. 

01-01:53:20 

Shafer: So when you were talking about, I think, current events, and you said that one of 

the nuns talked about blaming, I guess, the Democrats for losing China? 

01-01:53:29 

Brown: Truman. Acheson, Truman. Yeah, I think so. 

01-01:53:32 

Shafer: And you said you knew about that in talking with your dadðso what other kinds 

of big issues did you talk with your dad about? 

01-01:53:44 

Brown: I donôt think there were any big issues. Itôs more simple: the Democrats versus the 

Republicans. Democrats are the good guys, Republicans are not as good, so itôs 

pretty basic, and not the kind of nuanced slicing and dicing that we are taught to 

notice as we go through the hyper-schooling process that people are now 

subjected to. 

01-01:54:14 

Shafer: Your dad was a Republican, right? 

01-01:54:17 

Brown: He was. I didnôt know that at the time. Yeah, he was a Republican, and changed, I 

think, in ô34, and he talks about that. 

01-01:54:25 

Shafer: All because of FDR? 

01-01:54:27 

Brown: Thatôs what he said. I was not born, and he didnôt talk about it. He didnôt talk 

about being a Republican. 

01-01:54:37 

Shafer: But he must have talked about, I would think, what it meant to him to be a 

Democrat later on? 

01-01:54:42 

Brown: No, I donôt think he didðit was just weôre Democrats. There were a few 

Republicans in the neighborhood. Of course, he was running for a nonpartisan 

office: DA and attorney general. Well, the attorney general was partisan. But it 

didnôt have that flavor, like when youôre governor, or like the legislature. Itôs far 

more partisan. Until 1960, when my father was governor, the rule was cross-

filing. And as a matter of fact, until 1956, when the Democrats got control of the 

legislature, the ballot title didnôt even appear in your name. So you didnôt know 
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whether [Earl] Warren was a Republican or Democrat. He appeared on both 

ballots, as did my father when he ran for attorney general. So this first step was 

putting the name Democrat or Republican underneath the name, and the second 

was abolishing cross-filing. So weôve had an evolution toward a more demarcated 

partisan system. It didnôt exist when I was growing up. 

01-01:55:53 

Shafer: Your dad ran against Estes Kefauver inðwas it ô52 for vice president? 

01-01:55:56 

Brown: Fifty-two. 

01-01:55:56 

Shafer: For vice president? 

01-01:55:57 

Brown: For president. 

01-01:55:58 

Shafer: Oh, for president. 

01-01:55:59 

Brown: He ran as a favorite son. I donôt know if they knew about Stevenson then. Letôs 

see, in June Stevenson really wasnôt the nominee. They were talking about a lot of 

people at that pointðKefauver, even Eisenhower. Well, as the attorney general 

in ô52, he was the only Democrat in office. 

01-01:56:31 

Shafer: And do you remember when he ran and he lost, was it a big deal, or not so much? 

01-01:56:35 

Brown: Not a big deal. No. See, we didnôt have the media that you have today, so the 

newspapers donôt cover it. Well, first of all, a favorite son campaign, what is it? 

Itôs why Kefauver won. Kefauver was a real candidate, and heôd had his Kefauver 

hearings, and he had his coonskin cap and he was around. So he was a national 

figure, had identityðhad face and name recognition. So thatôs why, I think, they 

tend to vote for a real candidate. And the favorite sons, I think, were more in the 

convention states. So it didnôt quite work in the primaryðat least it hasnôt worked 

yet. 

01-01:57:24 

Shafer: Yeah. And then one more follow-up kind of question. Several times, as weôve 

been talking this morning, you talk aboutð"well, thatôs the way it was,ò or ñthat 

was just normal.ò 

01-01:57:35 

Brown: Yeah, well because youôre framing it fifty years later, and using categories that I 

donôt recall as being operative in the same way they might be in 2019. 
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01-01:57:47 

Shafer: But my question is, and maybe itôs the later part of your life, but at what point did 

you stop wanting to conform. 

01-01:57:57 

Brown: I donôt knowðI donôt know that I ever did or didnôt. I mean, I do have a certain 

aversion to dullness and boredom, so that inclined me to seek out a certain 

measure of adventure and excitement. I donôt know that I thought about it. I didnôt 

wear funny-colored socks or something. I was pretty conformist. Iôd say the 1950s 

were very conformist. 

01-01:58:30 

Shafer: Yeah. I think weôre good up to this point. Do we want to keep going? I think the 

next chapter is seminary. Itôs up to you what you want to do. 

[break in recording, side conversation deleted] 

01-01:58:45 

Meeker: So what weôre going to start, just a little bit now, and certainly not finish, is your 

college and then seminary years. So you applied and are admitted to Santa Clara 

University in fallð 

01-01:58:59 

Brown: And UC too, but I chose Santa Clara. 

01-01:59:02 

Meeker: Well, letôs talk about that whole decision-making process. 

01-01:59:06 

Brown: That phrase, decision-making process is again, a recent invention. We didnôt think 

of a decision-making process in 1955. 

01-01:59:16 

Meeker: What was the process then? 

01-01:59:19 

Brown: It wasnôt a process! You could apply hereðand yeah, I want to go here, I donôt 

want to go there. A lot of my friends were going to Santa Clara. I wanted to be 

away from home, but I didnôt want to go that far away. I wanted to go to a 

Catholic college. It was that simple, and a number of my friends went to Santa 

Clara. So today, it seems to be totally different. You know, you want to go to 

some school because theyôre rated highly by U.S. News & World Report or 

theyôre excellent in some field that youôre trying to pursue. You just go to college. 

I thought I might be a lawyer. That was probably an assumption or possibility, but 

beyond that, even what the major would be, I didnôt think about that. The world 

seemed to be simpler. 

 There were fewer people applying to all of these schools. They were a lot cheaper. 

UC was essentially free. Santa Clara was very modest. So it wasnôt as 

momentous, and you didnôt feel like if you donôt make the right decision, your life 
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is going to be affected. It used to be on the basis of making the football team that 

you liked to root for. Or I liked it because Santa Clara had the mission thereðit 

was pretty. It was a pretty campus, and it was close to Santa Cruz. It seemed like a 

good place to go. 

01-02:00:54 

Meeker: Had you yet considered seminary while in high school? 

01-02:00:57 

Brown: I think I had thought about it from time to time. 

01-02:01:01 

Meeker: Had you shared that idea with your family before graduating high school? 

01-02:01:05 

Brown: I donôt know. Possibly, possiblyðyeah, probably did.  

01-02:01:14 

Meeker: So the decision to go to college rather than seminary right after high school. 

01-02:01:21 

Brown: That wasnôt the way I put it. I wanted to go to college. I wanted to go to Santa 

Clara. It seemed like an adventureðthese schools were relatively confining. St. 

Ignatius was less confining than St. Brendanôs, but Santa Clara seemed like a 

much more expansive opportunity. 

01-02:01:40 

Meeker: Did you live in a dorm? 

01-02:01:41 

Brown: Yeah. 

01-02:01:43 

Meeker: Tell me about that. 

01-02:01:45 

Brown: Well, I lived in Kenna Hall, and when I went there, there were two roommates 

with bunk beds, and then a single bed. And youôre assigned your roommate. You 

didnôt pick it. You were not allowed to have a car. You had to have your lights 

out by 10:30pm, and the senior student that lived in the dorm would come around 

and make sure the lights were out. It was all boys. There was about 1,300. It had a 

fair number of priestsðI had a priest for French, I had a priest for religion, and I 

had a priest for English. So yeah, I thought it was pretty exciting to be thereðyou 

eat in the cafeteria, went through the line, and you went to classes. You didnôt 

have as many classes. It wasnôt like being in school for six hours. Youôd go for a 

period, I donôt know how long it wasðmaybe a couple of classes a day. I enjoyed 

it. I liked it. 

01-02:03:17 

Meeker: Did you experience it as a kind of a natural progression from high school? Or did 

it feel like a big break from what your life was like in high school? 
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01-02:03:28 

Brown: I donôt know. Well, it was a breakðI donôt know how to compare those two 

things. Thereôs obviously a break. Youôre not home. Up to that time Iôd lived at 

home, so now Iôm living in a dormitory with a bunch of guys, and that was 

interesting. It was exciting. It was a full-time engagement with ideas, with the 

subject matter, so it was more interesting, I would say, than high school. 

01-02:04:12 

Meeker: Do you remember there being classes or teachers who were exposing you to ideas 

that did seem new to you, that were novel at the time? 

01-02:04:23 

Brown: Well, taking psychology and logic. Those were kind of novel. English, I had a guy 

named Father Perkins. Since I have my textbook I can review what I learned. But 

it was far moreðwell, I donôt know if it was far more orderly, but it seems more 

orderly to me than education. There was a point of view, and it was a Catholic 

point of view. I mean if you have a priest, and heôs teaching you psychology or 

logic, itôs all related. 

 And in one of the essays thatôs in this bookðitôs on my shelf right nowðwas one 

of the chapters from John Cardinal Newmanôs book, The Idea of a University, and 

I always remember that. And they also had, in the same book they have articles by 

[Robert Maynard] Hutchins, who was the boy-wonder chancellor at the 

University of Chicago. And there were essays by Mortimer [J.] Adler, and others: 

ñWhat Does It Mean to Go to College?ò And of course, it meant something. There 

was an idea of college. 

 Cardinal Newman said theology was the queen of the sciences, and everything 

built up in kind of an architectonic framework, with theology being at the top. So 

there was an order, which I think is good. It served me well, having a sense that 

the world hangs together in a certain way, so itôs not quite as episodic as I would 

say postmodernism tends to be. 

01-02:06:35 

Meeker: Was there anything in that first year at Santa Clara where professors might have 

been challenging or questioning Catholic orthodoxy? 

01-02:06:45 

Brown: No. There was no questioning Catholic orthodoxy. That didnôt show up. We had a 

philosophy professorðI didnôt take that, but I heard one of his lectures in the 

evening, named [Frederick D.] Wilhelmsen, and he had a big German accent. He 

later went to teach in Texas, but I found him exciting. And he talked aboutð

ñCelebrate reality. Donôt tinker with existence.ò I just remember that. Iôm just 

listening to him talk. I donôt know if I fully understand what he was talking about, 

but he was exciting.  

01-02:07:25 

Meeker: Can you say that again? Celebrate reality, butð 
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01-02:07:28 

Brown: No, I said it. Youôre recording on your machines. 

01-02:07:30 

Meeker: [laughing] Iôm trying to grapple with it right here though. 

01-02:07:32 

Brown: Well, you donôt have to grapple with it. You can reflect on it later. But it seemed 

exciting at the time, and he had a German accent. So I had never had a teacher 

with a German accent, and I only heard him once, but I recalled it. 

 So all those, the essays, just in this book, the short storiesðthey were interesting, 

and I still remember them. Not all of them, just these are ideas that I live with, I 

came to understand. Mortimer Adler was a Thomist, and he wrote a book called 

The Paideia Project [The Paideia Proposal: An Educational Manifesto], which I 

didnôt know about thenðit didnôt exist. But there was this certain excitement 

there. I read Portrait of [the] Artist [As a Young Man] by James Joyce. So it was 

an intellectual adventure, I would sayðfor me. Not that I was any great studentð

I wasnôt. I didnôt study that much, but I liked it. And I became acquainted with 

Dylan Thomas. So it was intellectually another level up from high school, for 

sure. 

 Now, in todayôs world, it would look very confiningða 1950s all boys, virtually 

all Catholic, with a heavy emphasis on a Catholic perspective in almost 

everythingðthat would be unheard of today. But at the time, that was the norm, 

and it felt right at the time. And I still think it was a very positive thrust for a 

young man in my position. 

01-02:09:37 

Meeker: You said most of your professors were priests? 

01-02:09:39 

Brown: Not most, but more than you have today. Today, itôs virtually none. Then, as I 

saidðI mentioned there were three. 

01-02:09:46 

Meeker: Did you look at priests as a group of people, as more like an intellectual group or 

as spiritual leaders? 

01-02:09:56 

Brown: I think more intellectual probablyðwhatever that means. Because they were in 

class. One was teaching us French, the other was teaching us English, and the 

other one was teaching us psychology one semester and logic the next. So whatôs 

the connection between religion and those courses? Oh yeah, we had another guy 

teach, Father Martin taught religion. So yeah, only in the religion class did you 

get a taste of religion. But I think the coherence of the presentations is more 

noticeable now, looking back, than at the time, when it just seemed thatôs the way 

the world was at a Catholic college, whereas today things are a little more secular, 

more careerist, and more vocationally oriented. Whereas then it was very clear we 
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were getting a liberal education. We were not getting a job. We were learning the 

basics of education. 

 I think thatôs a distinction that was very self-evidentðI mean it was very, very 

clear. This is before Silicon Valley, before computers, before all that stuff. 

Thereôs no Intel, thereôs no Apple. I donôt even think there was an HP at that time. 

This is, you know The Organization Man, by [William H.] Whyte, I think, or Why 

Johnny Canôt Read: [And What You Can Do about It]ðthat was another book in 

the 1950s. Eisenhower is president. Elmer [E.] Robinson is mayor of San 

Francisco. Santa Clara is a Republican county, so itôs a very different world than 

what we have today. 

01-02:12:05 

Meeker: At what point in that first year at Santa Clara did you start considering going into 

seminary? 

01-02:12:10 

Brown: Well, I thought of it during the summer before I went to Santa Clara. I worked in 

Idaho at a lumber company, and I had time to think about things out there in the 

forest. So that inclined me, and then I think sometime during my second semester 

I decided thatôs what I wanted to do. And I visited a novitiate, and I thought it 

looked pretty interesting to me. 

01-02:12:34 

Meeker: Was there a precipitating event or að? 

01-02:12:37 

Brown: Not a precipitating event, just a general sense that I wanted more depth in my life, 

and I thought the seminary would be a path to something deeper and more 

intense, more meaningful. 

01-02:12:55 

Meeker: Was there anything that you were learning, or any people you were engaging with 

at Santa Clara that were kind of sending you in that direction? 

01-02:13:03 

Brown: Noðno, more from the teachers I had at St. Ignatius. The Jesuits were probably 

the only people who had any intellectual depth that I encountered. Everything else 

was rather garden variety, mundane existence, whereas the Jesuitsðthere was a 

point of view. There was an historical thrust to what they were doing. It seemed 

that way to me. So it had more meaning than just the normal get a career, get 

married, make money, die. I mean, I could see that, even thenðthatôs not enough. 

And so the seminary had, as a pathway to the divine or the life of the spirit, 

seemed to me a more profound journey than the one I was on, headed toward 

graduation at Santa Clara. 
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01-02:14:12 

Meeker: Well, this is certainly after-the-fact-type thinking, but thatôs not too far away from 

the way in which people like the Beats, at the same time, were starting to talk 

about the reality of their existence. 

01-02:14:26 

Brown: Yeah. Well, when we were in the seminary, one of the fathersðFather Meehan, 

who was the assistantðhe came in and told us about the Beats in San Francisco. 

And I remember him saying something about gargling with razor blades, and he 

of course put this down. I think he put the emphasis on beat, not beatitudes. But I 

remember even at the time I was interested. The Beats struck me as interesting. 

And later, when I had been in the seminary for a couple years, one of my friends 

in the seminary, Peter Finnegan, who is a friend of mine, he had a visitor. And in 

fact that visitor livesðI was talking to him recentlyðbut he came and he was 

talking about [Albert] Camus and the absurd for an hour. And he talked about it, 

and I found that very exciting too. 

 So one of the first things I did, when I left [seminary] in January, was to go to 

North Beach, and I was interested. That interested me. Not that I followed through 

on it that much, but I remember the poem. I remember, I think in some of Allen 

Ginsbergôs poetry he talks about Robbies [Robbies Cafeteria], so when I was at 

UC, I remember being at Robbieôs, and I would think about Allen Ginsberg, kind 

of in my own mind. I would live those thoughts. 

01-02:15:53 

Meeker: Were you a pretty voracious reader growing up? 

01-02:15:55 

Brown: No, no. I think I read three books, four books when I was in high school. I can 

always remember them: Kristin Lavransdatter, Mr. Blue, Treasure Islandð

maybe another I canôt remember. 

01-02:16:11 

Meeker: Did that change when you went to college? 

01-02:16:13 

Brown: I read more, but basically, you get assignments, little pieces that youôre supposed 

to look at, short stories, and I did that. But no, I wasnôt a big reader. I mean I read 

things, but I wasnôt consuming massive amounts of literature. 

01-02:16:33 

Meeker: What about at seminary? 

01-02:16:35 

Brown: Oh, there we read more. We were in silence the first two years. The first half hour 

we read, after breakfast, was [Fr. Alphonsus] Rodriguez, [Practice of Christian 

and Religious Perfection] In fact, I have the book here. Not a very interesting 

book, by the way, but we had to read that, half an hour a day. And then, in the 

afternoon weôd read fifteen minutes of The Imitation of Christ by Thomas à 

Kempis, which is a very classic book from the fourteenth century. And then we 
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would read a half an hour in the evening, after dinner, which was a little lighter 

readingðbiographies of Jesuits, mostly Jesuit saints. And that was it. But that 

was a solid hour and fifteen minutes every day, without fail. We didnôt have 

television and radio or newspapers, and we didnôt go to movies. With less stimuli, 

reading was more accessible and more attractive. So thatôs definitely a point. The 

more distraction, the harder it is to zero in on a difficult book. 

01-02:17:59 

Meeker: Can you recall for us the conversation that you must have had with your parents 

when you let them know you wanted to leave Santa Clara and go to seminary? 

01-02:18:08 

Brown: Yeah, we had a couple conversations. My father didnôt like it. He was opposed to 

that, but when I was going in, he was off to the convention, Democratic 

Convention of ô56. And I didnôt talk about it that much with my mother, but I 

know she didnôt like it. So it was a little painful to make that break, but I thought 

it was an exciting prospect for me. 

01-02:18:37 

Meeker: The conviction you must possess to make that kind of a leapð 

01-02:18:42 

Brown: Yeah, because you have to have something. I couldnôt say any moreðI did it, and 

thatôs what I wanted to do. And I left with the same zeal that I went in with! 

[laughter] 

01-02:19:09 

Shafer: This is Scott Shafer again. You know, I think weôve all kind of probed to see 

when were you interested in politics, and itôs not entirely clear. But I wonder, like 

a lot of people now, parents and adults will say, ñWell, what do you want to be 

when you grow up?ò Did people ask you that? 

01-02:19:24 

Brown: No. 

01-02:19:25 

Shafer: It wasnôt a thing? 

01-02:19:27 

Brown: I donôt think so. The closest I came to politics was probably the debate team, and 

the necessity for observing current events, and then, of course, the elections. Since 

my father was usually running, I would get the ballot pamphlet, Iôd notice it. So I 

was aware of ballot measures. I was aware of candidacies. I knew who the 

statewide candidates were. I knew Frank Jordan was secretary of state. I noticed 

the judges that were on the ballot in San Francisco. I knew the mayors, from 

Lapham to Robinson to whomever the next ones wereð 

01-02:20:10 

Shafer: [George] Christopherð 
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01-02:20:11 

Brown: [John F. ñJackò] Shelley, maybe, or was it Christopher? 

01-02:20:13 

Shafer: Christopher. 

01-02:20:13 

Brown: Christopher and then Shelleyðso I would follow those things. I had some 

interest, but I didnôt want to run for student government. I was more interested in 

ideas, Iôd say, the ideas that had come up in the courses that I took in college. 

01-02:20:38 

Shafer: So when you get to a certain age and you start to think, ñWell, what am I going to 

do next?ò Obviously, for you, it became the seminary. But did you think beyond 

that, like, ñWhat did you want to be when youð?ò 

01-02:20:48 

Brown: No, that was enough. 

01-02:20:50 

Shafer: You wanted to be a priest. 

01-02:20:52 

Brown: Priest, teacher, Jesuit. So itôs not just a priest, itôs a member of an order that is 

worldwide. Thereôs a general of the Jesuits in Rome, and it has colleges all over 

the world: South America, Asia, Europe, Canadaðall those. And Iôve visited 

many of these colleges, not then, but since. So that was exciting. Itôs a world. And 

in the seminary, of course, youôre looking at history, the history of the Jesuit 

order. When you read Lives of the Saints, St. Ignatius, the other Jesuits, Peter 

Canisiusðthis was during the Reformation, IgnatiusðI think the Jesuits started 

in 1540. Luther was 1517, I think? And so through religious studies, I got a lot of 

European history, and so that was very broadening. So it isnôt just about San 

Francisco and my back yard, itôs history. Francis Xavier went to India, tried to get 

to China, died on an island off China. He was a Jesuit. 

 The narrative, Iôd say, of the Church, of the Jesuits, was intellectually opening 

and illuminating for me. So I think it helped me to transcend my parochial 

perspectives from Magellan Ave. Well, certainly thatôs true in the seminary, and 

that became true at Berkeley, the University of California. 

01-02:22:55 

Shafer: It seems like religion, in a way, was your window out. 

01-02:22:58 

Brown: I would say so. Yeah, you could say I rebelled by a greater conformity, which 

religion is, and which it certainly was in 1956. But it was also, not just 

conformity, it was a depth of ideas and perspectives and historical events that 

gave meaning and shape to reality as I encountered it. So this was not the news of 

the day, which even today I marvel at how the focus is barely at the end of the 

week, let alone the end of the world, which doesnôt exist at all. So the quondam, 
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the trivial, and the banal very much occupy the common imagination, and I have 

found it more to my liking to try to seek out different perspectives and a greater 

depth of understanding. 

 So anyway, college was an opening, and religion was an openingðthe Catholic 

Church, the history of the Catholic Church is very much connected with European 

history and the spreading of the West throughout the world. Now, it was a 

perspective that, in the multicultural age, is completely different today, that kind 

of view. The decolonization of the West, that goes in with the de-evangelizing of 

the Church. So thereôs a decentering now. It isnôt Europe spreading and 

dominating the world, itôs all of these different cultures and countries and 

perspectives vying for attention and influence.  

So even at that level, I suppose thatôs somewhat unusual for me even to think 

about these kinds of things. But Iôve been thinking about themðtheyôre the kind 

of things that show up at high school. Thatôs what some, not all of the teachers, 

but some of the teachers would talk about. And certainly in college, weôre in the 

dormitory and weôre talking all the time. And then in the seminary, we didnôt talk 

a lotðthe first two years we could talk after lunch and after dinner, but what do 

you talk about? You talk about what youôre reading. And weôre reading about 

stuff that is not about being in Santa Clara County. Itôs about the last thousand 

years, two thousand years, or longer, just the whole Biblical and classical 

tradition. 

 The world was very simple in those days. Adam and Eve started it, and along 

came the Hebrews. And then all of a sudden you get Moses and the Promised 

Land. And then we have the rise of Greece, classical culture. Then we get 

Alexander the Great; we get the expansion of Greek culture through Alexandria. 

And then we get Rome, and then Rome falls and we get Christianity. And we get 

the, some people call it the Dark Ages. We were told it was the Golden Ages, 

where Catholicism reigned in all the lives at that time in Europe. And then we get 

the Middle Ages. Then we get the Crusades, then we get the Enlightenment, and 

then we get the Industrial Revolution. Then we get modernityðand here we are. 

[laughter] So the world was very coherent, whereas today, it seems more 

fragmented, for sure, because weôre not looking from one point of view, weôre 

looking at many points of view. And so I think the framework, the curriculum, the 

perspective was very helpful in looking out at a fragmented, confusing world, to 

have an orderliness in oneôs existence. So I find that order is very helpful in the 

face of chaos. 

01-02:27:45 

Shafer: You took psychology in college, you said, right? 

01-02:27:48 

Brown: Yeah. 

01-02:27:50 

Shafer: So what is psychology from a Catholic perspective? 
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01-02:27:54 

Brown: Well, the only thing I remember from Father Behanôs classðFr. Behan, I 

remember himðhe said, ñIntelligence is the ability to perceive relationships.ò So 

I remember things that different teachers say, so I found that very interesting. 

ñAnd how quickly you can see relationships, and the more relationships you see, 

is a measure of how intelligent you are.ò 

01-02:28:24 

Shafer: Give an example. What kinds of relationships? Human relationships? 

01-02:28:28 

Brown: All relationships. Well, Iôd say my wife is very intelligent, and one way that 

manifests itself is when sheôs driving down a block, she will see maybe a block or 

a block and a half ahead, that a car has gotten over in one lane and sheôs already 

shifting to the other lane, so thatôs perceiving the relationship of her with that. 

Now, you can also perceive relationships of ideas. It could be political, it could be 

artistic, it could be human, being able to relate what people do, size them up. So 

that is intelligence. 

 Now, how does religion fit into it? Iôd say at that time the world was very orderly. 

It all fit. Europe was kind of the mother ship as it were, and weôre in America, and 

the Church is going to evangelize the world and weôre kind of waiting for that to 

happen. That does not appear to be the case today. But it was a good base in the 

face of Berkeley, where itôs like a massive supermarket, where you can pick and 

choose, this course, that courseðand there was no defined authority. So most of 

the time growing up, there was an authority for almost everythingðor for 

everything for that matter. So that, I think, has given me a certain confidence to 

size things up. 

01-02:30:06 

Shafer: Just coming back to psychology, is there að? 

01-02:30:11 

Brown: Well, Iôll tell you what he did. He talked aboutðyeah, this is very traditionalð

the cognitive and the appetitive. So the cognitive was your ideas, talk about 

cognitive therapy. The appetitive was the desire. And the conative related to will 

or action. So the education I gotðeverything was in its placeðyou had the will 

and the intellect and the memory. You had these different aspects of the mind, so 

we just had to figure it out. And it was in the book, or the priest knew about it, 

and we could figure it out. Today, we donôt have that same confidence that thereôs 

an orderly substratum that we can all arrive at that will illuminate our lives. Itôs 

much more of aðyou think this, and I think that, and maybe tomorrow weôll 

think something else. So itôs much more in flux. 

01-02:31:24 

Shafer: The idea of sin, I imagine, did not enter into your teaching in psychology.  
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01-02:31:31 

Brown: No, they did not talk about sin. Thatôs an issue, because you have these Jesuits 

who are committed to saving souls and bringing people to the Catholic Church, 

and theyôre just teaching a secular topic. Thatôs true. You could ask why, whatôs 

that all about? In fact, there are many today who think the Jesuits shouldnôt be in 

the universities, they should be out there working with the poor or more social 

action. So they didnôt always connect. In high school we had physics, how did 

that relate? It was pretty religiousðyou have a crucifix in the front of the 

classroom, youôve got a priest whoôs in a Roman collar. So that surrounds you. 

But nevertheless, these are the secular courses. And I suppose as you get through 

it, then youôre into your business, and the more religious aspects fall away for 90 

percent of the people. 

01-02:32:43 

Shafer: Sometimes you hear debates about can you believe in God, and all that goes with 

that, and believe in science? Did you see a conflict in that? 

01-02:32:51 

Brown: No. But that was a debate. When I was in college and in the seminary, there were 

Catholic intellectuals whoôd bemoan the fact that there were so few Catholic 

intellectuals, that itôs an immigrant church. Where were the Catholic writers and 

scientists? But no, they reconciled science with God. There was no debate, since 

weôre in a Catholic school and everybodyôs on boardðthis is something that 

happens later when youôre at a public university. And I suppose today people 

donôt even talk about it. Itôs not as much of an issue. 

01-02:33:43 

Shafer: You said that the first couple of years you spent mostly in silence. 

01-02:33:46 

Brown: Well, yeah. You have silence from the time you get up to the time you go to bed, 

because you have meditation, you have classðyou can talk in class as part of the 

class structure. But thatôs the point. Two years of formation they call it. The 

Jesuits had, then, a fifteen-year formation. You had two years in novitiate, two 

years in the juniorate, which was the beginning of college, then you went to three 

years of philosophy, which gave you your BA and MAðmasterôs degree. Then 

you taught in school, like at a high school for three years, and then you went to 

four years of theology, and you were ordained after the third year, and you then 

completed your fourth, and you went to one more yearðor ten monthsðof 

reflection. And after fifteen years, you were fully cooked, as it were, and out you 

went to the world. [laughter] So today, things have changed quite a lot. So Iôm 

very conscious of the fact that the world has changed. The churches were packed, 

and there was a Mass said at 6:15, 7:00, 8:00, 10:00, and 12:00, so there were five 

Masses in each of these parishes, and they were pretty full. Today, itôs far less 

than that. 

01-02:35:12 

Shafer: So when you were in the seminary, how often did you go to church, so to speak? 
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01-02:35:16 

Brown: Oh, you go to Mass every day. 

01-02:35:17 

Shafer: Just like once a day? 

01-02:35:18 

Brown: Once a day, yeah. 

 [side conversation deleted] 

01-02:35:22 

Shafer: So the Jesuits take vows of poverty, chastity, and obedience. 

01-02:35:27 

Brown: Right. 

01-02:35:29 

Shafer: So which of those was the hardest for you? 

01-02:35:31 

Brown: They werenôt particularly hard. I mean, youôre in the seminaryðitôs all part of the 

program. Itôs totally controlled, so thatôs the norm. So that probably becomes 

more difficult when youôre out there as a priest or a teacher, or something. But the 

order, the bell rang at 5:00am, at 5:30 you started your mediation. An hour later 

you go to Mass. After Mass you go eat, in silence, then you clean up in the 

kitchen. Then you come back, and along your day, every 45 minutes the bell 

rings. Now that was the novitiate. The juniorate, itôs a little looser, because youôre 

going to courses. And thereôs no visitors. So youôre living this worldðwhat other 

world is there? 

01-02:36:27 

Shafer: So obviously, you left the seminary. What was the process of leaving? What was 

it that made you decide to leave? 

01-02:36:34 

Brown: Well, first of all, I think the life itself became less real to me after three years or 

so. I wanted to get out into the world and be part of the more rugged existence of 

being on oneôs own, making money, and living the life of a normal human being. 

This was kind of a hothouse of detachment. And then the doctrines, you know, 

seemed less plausible, so I didnôt want to be part of that. So I just decided Iôm 

going to leave, and I did. 

01-02:37:25 

Shafer: And did anybody try to change your mind? 

01-02:37:28 

Brown: No, no. I think they were glad to see me go, as a matter of fact. [laughter] I was 

sowing a bit of independent inquiry. I did do a lot of thinking and discussing, with 

some, not with everybody. 
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01-02:37:51 

Shafer: And that didnôt go over too well. 

01-02:37:52 

Brown: No, because itôs a very tight, conforming environment, and I appreciate that. It 

can be helpful, but itôs more for a period than for a whole lifetime. Although we 

do have monasteries. Now, we donôt have the monasteries like earlier, you know, 

there were thousands and thousands of monasteries in Europe and Mexico. And 

now theyôre there, but there are very fewðjust like all these great cathedrals. 

Something built those cathedrals. That took a lot of belief; it took a lot of work for 

many, many years, to get a cathedral built. So that was an idea, a faith, a 

collective belief that manifested itself in real action. And now, this change in 

belief is changing the nature of Catholic schools, Catholic life. And so the 

university and the Church itself, theyôre all going through lots of crisis. But so 

also is democratic governance. There was a fellow named Christopher Dawson, 

who we were taught about, and he related Europe to the Church. And I canôt find 

him having said this, but my teacher in the juniorate said, ñThis guy was a great 

Catholic historian in the 1930s,òðand he said that, ñEurope is the Church, and 

the Church is Europe.ò Now, the Church is in crisis, and Europe is in crisis, and 

the Jesuits are in crisis. There is a certain undermining of the hegemony of the 

West and many of its institutions, so I think they can be studied in tandem, as I 

often do. I continue to be interested in the world as I have experienced it earlier in 

life, and how things are going today. 

 And certainly thinking here, sitting here in front of this hill where we have 

pictures of my great-grandfather, I can think of what it took to get here for him, 

what they did, and how the world was a very vital place, and then how it kind of 

disappeared with the car and World War I, and whatever. But in some ways, it can 

be restoredðand Iôm doing that. I donôt think my olive business will compete 

with the stagecoach stop. But he was in the hospitality business, and Iôm 

somewhat in the intellectual hospitality business. 

01-02:40:58 

Shafer: [laughing] What does that mean? 

01-02:40:59 

Brown: Well, I will have people here. Weôre talking today. Weôre discussing serious 

matters. So when they came to get their horses refreshed, Iôm sure they sat around 

the bar a hundred yards from here talking about whatever they talked about. And 

when youôre out here, most people around here are cowboys. They deal with their 

cows, and theyôre very physical and very friendly, and you get to know people. So 

Peter Coyote and othersðI donôt know whether it was Gary Snyder or whatðbut 

there was something called the Reinhabitory Theater. And that was the idea of 

inhabiting, but then reinhabiting. So Iôm reinhabiting this place, where my 

grandmother started. And itôll be something different, but itôs reinvention, itôs 

creation, but anchored in whatôs gone before. So I find that interesting. 
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01-02:42:05 

Shafer: Last question, and this is sort of which of these is different from everything else. 

You mentioned that you worked in a lumber company in Idaho? 

01-02:42:15 

Brown: Oh, the Ohio Match Company. 

01-02:42:16 

Shafer: Yeah. How did that happen? What was that like? 

01-02:42:19 

Brown: Well, my father was a good friend of Norton Simon. They went to Lowell 

together. An entrepreneurða rather well-known oneðand he owned the Ohio 

Match Company. So together with my friend Bart Lally, we went up there in the 

summer of ô55, after graduating from St. Ignatius, and worked a couple months 

out there. 

01-02:42:43 

Shafer: What did you do? 

01-02:42:44 

Brown: Oh, we were kind of helping out with clearing the roads, being kind of assistants. 

We didnôt cut any trees, but we were right there in the lumber camp helping them. 

01-02:42:57 

Shafer: Yeah, was that exciting? 

01-02:42:59 

Brown: No. [Shafer laughs] Itôs not exciting. 

01-02:43:01 

Shafer: Anything else? All right, I think weôre good. 

01-02:43:04 

Marzorati: You now, I wanted just to clarifyðI remember your mother and father talking 

about not giving you a waiver to enter the seminaryð 

01-02:43:11 

Brown: There was no such thing as a waiver. I think thatôs when I was in high school. But 

they kind ofðwhat shall we sayðcharacterized it in later years, maybe that way 

because they were opposed to it. But Iôve never heard the word waiver. 

01-02:43:33 

Shafer: Just one other thing. You obviously left the seminary, but I think it has had an 

impact on you, and I think you would agree. But when you look back, like what 

do you think of those years, that time in your life? 

01-02:43:44 

Brown: Well, everything has had an impact. I did run for the same job my father had, and 

Iôm living in the same place where my grandmother was born and grew up. She 
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wasnôt quiteðshe was born about a mile down the road, a couple miles down the 

road. So thereôs a lot of things that influence. 

01-02:44:02 

Shafer: Sure. But is there something in particular that you think of that you took with you 

from the seminary? 

01-02:44:06 

Brown: Oh, from that oneðbecause I take from a lot of things. I even visited my political 

science professor on my honeymoon. [laughter] Yeah, he lived in Mendocino, 

Sheldon Wolin, so yeahðI do look to the past while Iôm trying to create 

something in the future. 

 So what did I take from the seminary? What did I take? An appreciation for the 

common life. I was interested in intentional communities like Synanon and 

Delancey Street. And my experience at the seminary showed me the value and the 

strength of a common life of people together. In part, creating the Oakland 

Military Institute is a way of combining the military framework with, not the 

religious, but the social. Socializing, of having ritual and common ideas and 

common vocabulary and common gestures and rituals together. So what did I take 

from it? I took a lot from it. And I certainly took friends. Iôm still in touch with a 

number of people who were in the seminary. Some left and some are still there. 

So it leaves an imprint, because itôs an intense experience, maybe analogous to 

being in the army or somethingðor maybe even college, for some people. 

 People whose lives are very individualizedðyou have your one house, your wife 

and your kids and your jobðand every day itôs similar and itôs somewhat 

isolated. But thatôs why people probably like to go on vacations, or they go on 

cruises, because now theyôre in a group. And the seminary is definitely a group. It 

wasnôt very bigðI think there were thirty guys in my class, and there was a class 

behind me of thirty and then above me, so itôs a relatively small, isolated group, 

where you have an intensity, because youôre seeing the same people day in and 

day out. So I appreciate the value of that. 

01-02:46:48 

Shafer: Good. 

01-02:46:49 

Brown: All right? 

01-02:46:50 

Shafer: Very good. 

01-02:46:53 

Brown: All right. 
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Interview 2: March 18, 2019 [morning session] 

02-00:00:24  

Holmes: This is Todd Holmes with the Oral History Center at UC Berkeley. Today is 

March 18, 2019, and we have the pleasure of sitting down for our second session 

with Governor Jerry Brown. We are here at the Brown ranch in Williams, 

California, and I am joined by our partners from KQED: Scott Shafer and Guy 

Marzorati. Governor, thanks for spending another day with us. 

02-00:00:47  

Brown: Sure. 

02-00:00:49  

Holmes: In our last session we ended talking about your time at Santa Clara University. 

And between Santa Clara and going to the seminary, you took a trip to New 

York? 

02-00:01:00  

Brown: Yes. 

02-00:01:02  

Holmes: Can you tell us a little bit about that? 

02-00:01:04  

Brown: Well, I went with two other friends, Frank [C.] Damrell and Peter [M.] Finnegan. 

Peter is now deceased. We went to New York, Washington, and Boston, so we 

visited the capital, we met some friends of Frankôs father, who was a judge in 

Modesto, and we went to New York City. Peter Finnegan knew someone, I think 

at Finch College, and we heard a talk there by Eleanor Roosevelt, in a small living 

room. She stood up and she spoke, and that was very interesting. And then we 

went to Boston, where Frank had an aunt, and then we came back. 

02-00:01:57  

Holmes: Was that your first time on the East Coast? 

02-00:01:59  

Brown: Yes. 

02-00:02:02  

Holmes: How did you think it compared to, say, California. 

02-00:02:06  

Brown: Well, I mean New York was exciting. Also, New York would allow you to 

purchase alcohol at age eighteen, so that was one of the first things we did was to 

buy a few six packs of beer, and we went down to places in Greenwich Village. I 

remember being there and having a beer there, and went to different restaurants. I 

think we might have seen a play. Iôm not sure. But well, New York City is so 

much more dynamic and full of people and cars and tall buildings, thereôs nothing 

like it in California. San Francisco is getting a little more like that, but in 1956, 
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San Francisco and New York were totally different, so the East Coast was very 

interesting to me.  

I think I went up in the Empire State Building too, so that was a thrill, and I think 

we went and climbed the steps at the Statue of Liberty. I remember doing that, 

and I canôt think of another time when I would have, so it was probably then. 

02-00:03:29  

Shafer: Iôm just wondering, youôre sort of on your own really, with your friends, away 

from your family. A lot of kids would kind of go a little wild or beð? 

02-00:03:38  

Brown: No, when I was on my own, going to the Russian River, going to Idaho to work in 

the Ohio Match Company lumber operationðI was essentially on my own at 

Santa Clara. You have your own room and people arenôtðwell, they did check on 

you there. We did have rather closer surveillance than youôd have today. But 

nevertheless, my parents would not be aware of what I was doing. 

 The world has changed. Iôve often remarked on that, because I hear the 

conversations between people who work for me or work with Anne, and itôs 

always very odd to me, these daily conversations. Of course, we didnôt have 

phones. It was a long-distance call from Santa Clara to San Francisco, and youôd 

have to go down and get a pay phone, so it was a little bit more cumbersome. But 

there just wasnôt the connection, and the same was true of high school, or even 

grammar school. Parents, at least my parents, were not involved at allðand most 

parents were not involved. I was a yell leader at St. Ignatius. I guess they called 

them cheerleaders then, and I canôt remember parents at all being there, being at 

the games. I just donôt remember any of them ever being there. 

02-00:05:20  

Shafer: What was Greenwich Village like? 

02-00:05:23  

Brown: Well, it was interesting. Of course it was not as developed. It had fewer people, 

cheaper beer and food, more room. It was 1956, both in Greenwich Village but 

also at Santa Clara, thereôd be a bar or restaurant, kind of an older building, not a 

lot of people in it. I wouldnôt call it run down, but not this kind of modern, shiny 

restaurant/bar look that is more common today. I guess there was more space than 

there were people. And I donôt know that to be the case, but there was some 

reason that rents were cheap, that people could have establishments with a much 

cheaper entry fee. Probably the insurance was minimal, the health inspectionsð

Iôm speculatingðwere not much. So the barrier to entry was much different, and 

therefore very modest people could operate very modest establishments, and I 

certainly found that in Greenwich Village. I just have a memory of being at a bar 

there, and the picture of it looks old fashioned today. 

02-00:06:56  

Shafer: What do you remember about it? 
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02-00:06:57  

Brown: I just remember the tables, the chairs, the bar, just old fashioned. So there are a 

few around San Francisco like that, even today. But not the same way. 

02-00:07:10  

Shafer: Did you hear any music? 

02-00:07:11  

Brown: I did hear music. Not during that trip, but later when I was at Yale I went to 

Greenwich Village, and I think I heard Bob Dylan at Gerdeôs Folk City. I didnôt 

know he was Bob Dylan, but I remember just from what he looked like, and I 

remember he had a little railroad cap on, a little conductorôs cap, and he was 

playingðand Iôm pretty sure it was him.  

 

Holmes: Well, before we leave that section, you said you also went down to Washington, 

DC during that trip? Is that correct? 

02-00:07:58  

Brown: Yes, yes. 

02-00:07:58  

Holmes: What was your impression of DC? That was your first time there, in the nationôs 

capital? 

02-00:08:08  

Brown: Hard to say. I think we went and saw the Senate or the House. We had some 

lobbyist that had taken us around, or a lawyerðI donôt think he was a lobbyist, he 

was a lawyer, kind of an insider. You know, it was a lot of politics, nothing that 

unusual to me. 

02-00:08:34  

Holmes: Okay. So then in August you enrolled there at the Sacred Heart Novitiate? And 

this is founded in 1887 in the Santa Cruz Mountains. Can you discuss, maybe, 

your decision to enroll in the seminary? 

02-00:08:55  

Brown: Yeah, well, Iôd thought about it before, over the years, and I decided to go to 

Santa Clara, and I liked Santa Clara very much. And I would just make a point of 

Santa Clara that I applied to two colleges: UC Berkeley and Santa Clara, and I 

decided to go to Santa Clara. But I would distinguish that from the custom today, 

which is at least five or sixðand maybe ten. And I guess the difference is that 

thereôs more people and not so much college, I guess. And I think that it seems to 

be fewer spaces, fewer seats, relative to the number of the people who want to go, 

and therefore the getting in is, I think, much more difficult than it used to be. 

When I applied, it was just: yeah, you can go to Berkeley if you get fifteen Bs in 

fifteen solid subjects, as they call themðthatôs it. They didnôt have AP then. 

 So I decided I wanted to go to Santa Clara. Some of my classmates were going 

there. I had no idea as to Santa Clara having someðthey were an engineering 
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school, but I was not interested in that. And so I didnôt have a particular course 

matter or particular line of study leading to a particular line of work. I hear a lot of 

young kids today, they say, ñI want to go to this college, because this program is 

the best program.ò So there was no U.S. News & World Report. That didnôt even 

come up. We knew more because Santa Clara used to have a football team. And it 

was a Jesuit school, I knew that, and it was a pretty campus. So I think there were 

maybe twelve, or maybe more, kids from St. Ignatius. So it seemed like a good 

thing to do. They were all going thereðfar more than were going to UC. So I 

only point this out because it seems like the decision to go to college is totally 

different today than it was then. The idea that my mother or my father would take 

me to Santa Clara, much less to Berkeley, and show me around wasnôt a thought 

that even entered anybodyôs head. And so somehow between then and now, these 

notions have evolved and have become standard. So that was the way it was. 

 So I went to Santa Clara. We lived in a dormitory, which I liked. We were 

assigned roommatesðfirst I had three people. And then I was able, after a 

semester, to pick a roommate, and I picked this guy Frank Damrell. So it was, as I 

recall, about 1,300 undergraduates, I think, in the day schoolðall boys, in the day 

schoolðand that seemed like a pretty good-sized school to me. And I did like it, 

but after being there for a whileðand I was thinking Iôd want to be a lawyerðbut 

then I decided no, Iôd rather go to seminary. I met, one of the guys that I was in 

school with had a brother who was at the novitiate  

 [side conversation deleted] 

Yeah, so I went up there one day, and we looked at it. It looked pretty interesting 

to me, and it was a different dimension. I didnôt know quite how different it was, 

but it was the full-time practice of preparing to be a Jesuit priest. Iôd had 

encounters with the priests because of St. Ignatius and then Santa Clara, and that 

idea of the schools was very congenial and it seemed interesting. It seemed 

intellectual, and then the seminary seemed solid. I had a sense that this would be a 

place where I could dig into the deeper meaning of things. I donôt know starting 

when, but certainly when I was at Santa Clara, the reflection on life and what it all 

means, those were important questions to me. And so the material pathways of 

normal living seemed not exciting, and somewhat boring and pedestrian, or 

mundaneðsomething not exciting and not very deep. So I thought the seminary 

would be something different and profound, and so, then I just had the idea thatôs 

what Iôm going to do, so then I did it. 

02-00:14:56  

Shafer: I think you were seventeen when you decided to do that, right? 

02-00:14:57  

Brown: Yes, yeah, probably seventeen. 

02-00:14:58  

Shafer: And I think you had to be eighteen to do it without your parents? 
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02-00:15:01  

Brown: No, we donôt know that to be the case. 

02-00:15:04  

Shafer: Would you have gone into the novitiate faster, orð? 

02-00:15:06  

Brown: No, because you canôtðin those days, the customs were very defined. It took 

fifteen years to complete your training, and the beginning was the novitiateðtwo 

years. And that always began the evening of August 14, and August 15 was the 

Feast of the Assumption of the Blessed Virgin Mary, and thatôs when, two years 

later, you take vows of poverty, chastity, and obedience. So no, thereôs no going 

in before. Today I think thereôs more flexibility. Itôs not fifteen years; itôs a 

shorter period of time. Novices are not right out of high school; theyôre usually in 

their mid-twenties or older. So that too, through the late 1960s, radically changed 

in many, many ways. When I went there, it was up on that hill, [pointing to a 

photograph] as you can see, at the big white building. And when you look back 

into the Santa Clara Valley, in 1956 it looked a lot different than it does today, a 

very vast plain there that you could see, especially from the hills, and we hiked in 

those hills. So that was the story in August of 1956.  

02-00:16:40  

Holmes: What was your parentsô reaction when you told them that you wanted to join the 

seminary? 

02-00:16:41  

Brown: Well, they did not agree. They didnôt like that idea. They wanted me to finish 

college. So we talked about itðnot a great deal. But I decided no, Iôm going, so 

that was that. 

02-00:17:03  

Shafer: You know, just looking at the calendar, it seems like your decision to do that was 

roughly the same time that your dadôs political career was really, you know, 

taking off. He was talked about as a potential candidate for president even orð 

02-00:17:16  

Brown: Well, he ran as a favorite son in 1952 against Kefauver, but it wasnôt that 

successfulðlike Kefauver won two to one, as I recall. And then in ô56, I think 

Stevenson and Kefauver ran. But I think the convention was right around the 

time, right around that time, in August. 

02-00:17:37  

Shafer: I guess Iôm just wondering was your decision maybeð? 

02-00:17:42  

Brown: I donôt think it has anything to do with what my father was doing. Itôs more my 

being in school, in school with Jesuits, having hours and hours of contact and 

conversation. And seeing it as a different way of lifeðit seemed definitely a 

higher-order undertaking than going through school and getting out and getting a 
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job and things. That seemed to me not as interesting. The novitiate was more 

mysteriousðjust a wider horizon in my mind. 

02-00:18:42  

Shafer: Where did you see it leading?  

02-00:18:43  

Brown: Well, learning to be a Jesuit, and that was one of the powerful religious orders in 

Roman Catholicism. And the Jesuits are teachers, missionaries, they go to 

different parts of the world. Theyôre involved in advocating and strengthening 

Christianity in the world. And of course, things were a lot different in 1956 than 

they are todayðor even ten years ago. The missionary spirit is different. And 

now, with decolonization and multiculturalism, the notion that weôre going to 

send some guys from America over to Korea or Burma, or even Africa, and say 

now weôre going to convert everybodyðor try toðthat doesnôt have the same 

resonance. And in fact, thereôs much more of Jesuits and other Catholic 

missionaries just being present and trying to do good works in those countries. 

But I would say that the shift from missionary activity defined as converting the 

pagans, as they often were called, or the unbaptized, and then shifting to well, 

everybody, has a different path and we have to respect that. Thatôs a sea change in 

the way I understand Catholicism.  

02-00:20:36  

Shafer: Youôve mentioned the vows of poverty, obedience andð 

02-00:20:38  

Brown: Chastity. 

02-00:20:38  

Shafer: And chastity. Which of those was the hardest? 

02-00:20:41  

Brown: No. Theyôre not particularly hard, actually, because youôre in a peer-pressure 

environment. Itôs a totally isolated environment, so thereôs no radio, television, 

newspapers, girls, entertainment, you donôt have that. So you have reading, you 

have exhortation, you have meditation, you have the Mass, you have minor bits of 

manual laborðit has a kind of medieval quality, that is quite full in and of itself. 

And so your normal well, what is it like not to go out on Friday night? That 

doesnôt show up, because thatôs the world I was choosing. And so itôs not hard, 

because everybody else is doing it. In fact, to do something else would be to 

depart from the norm. 

02-00:21:48  

Shafer: You know, when I think of the person you became as an adult, questioning 

everything, looking at things in different ways, it seems very different from the 

structured environment. Was there a point where you got tired of that or just felt it 

was too confining? 
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02-00:22:04  

Brown: Well, I think my inquiring mind was evident much earlier than that. In fact, I 

remember one time in my eighth grade, Sister Alice Joseph said to me, after Iôd 

asked her a certain question, she said, ñDo you stay up nights thinking of these 

questions?ò So I guess, from that, I was asking a lot of questions. 

 I donôt know where I got my sense of being able to discern when evidence is not 

present. And I do have that sense that most of the time people are operating on 

belief. Thereôs a lot of talk of evidence-basedðin fact, I was just talking to 

somebody this morning, that thereôs a bill asking for evidence-based, that all 

programs at the Department of Corrections shall only be evidence-based. And Iôm 

very skeptical of that, evidence-based, because itôs just another belief system. So 

we have a lot of beliefs, and itôs not just the fanatics in ISIS that are in belief, 

thereôs a lot of belief in our own society. 

 So I guess I developed that because of the extreme conformity and uniformity of 

beliefs in the seminary. And even there, there was some questioning. Not a lot, 

but of course the nature of religious belief is that itôs not verifiable. The idea of 

ritual is that you perform the same movement or gesture over and over again, for 

hundredsðmaybe thousandsðof years, and that you do it in the group of 

believers and that thereôs no variance. If you think of the Our Father, or you think 

of certain Jewish prayers, they havenôt changed in thousands of years. So the key 

is invariance expressed in a community of believers, and that it not be verifiable. 

 I believe that economic growth will be 4 percent next year. Now, that would be 

verifiable and refutable. I believe in God Almighty, hell and heaven, and the 

saintsðwell, you canôt verify that and you canôt verify that Moses promised to 

make the people his own back there. I was just reading about that in Ur to 

Abraham, that was his compact, give them the land. Well, they got land there and 

thatôs still a controversy. So the belief, the articulation, whether itôs at the Mass or 

what they call litanies, where you have certain responses. Someone says 

something short, a prayer, very short, like a phrase, and then you respondðthose 

are called litanies. So these are things that bind the community together, but 

theyôre not something you question, because thereôs nothing to question. You 

have no basis to question it. So itôs not empirically-based, but through that, I 

certainly did have my questions and my doubts about things as time went on. 

 It was a very intense experience. And I suppose that with all intense experiences 

they tend to wear off, and as then they wear off, that intensity, that fervor, 

diminishes. And then as it diminishes, you see things in a different light. And so 

yeah, I did have that experience, and thatôs probably the essential reason why I 

left. But I also have carried that spirit with me. So when Iôm in a room with 

people, I donôt say I relate it back to the novitiate, where everybody said the same 

thing and believed the same thing. But thereôs a little bit of thatðor maybe 

thereôs a lot of thatðwhether itôs the legislature, whether itôs the governorôs 

office, whether itôs a family gathering, whether itôs this group right here. I find 

that groupthink, which was a term developed first, I heard, in connection with the 
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Vietnam War, and that all these best and bright people went along. They called 

that groupthink. And then now we hear terms like peer pressure. 

 But I think weôre social animals, and the need to be bonded together is facilitated, 

is fed by, common understandings. And those common understandings are 

beliefsðand I donôt care whether itôs the New York Times or KQEDðthereôs a 

string of beliefs. And other people have different beliefs. You see that in foreign 

policy, and I could elaborate on that. But I donôt take things, generally speaking. 

If itôs a proposition, that if you say something and you put that into some termsð

itôs an assertion. Okay, but what? How do we know thatôs true? And thereôs a lot 

of that stuff. One of the things that interests me, did interest me, that people would 

say that brain science tells us. And they often use that phrase: research tells us. 

Itôs kind of likeðGod told me. I often plug in God for research, and it tells you 

that the brain, by three, youôve got to start preschool, kindergartenôs too late. And 

so Iôve looked at some of the studies, not in a deep way, but I came across a study 

that challenged that. And there is a professor that debunks that, and debunks the 

studies on which people rely, even though theyôve never looked at the study. 

 Iôm trying to connect the evolution of my way of looking at the world. And itôs 

not that Iôm sitting here doubting everything, because we accept things for 

granted. But Iôm impressed with how much belief there is. The New York Times 

editorial pages would be different than papers in Britain, say the Guardian. 

Thereôs just a lot of belief going on. I donôt care if itôs the Democrats, the 

Republicans, the Socialists, certainly the Communists, the right wingðthere are a 

lot of beliefs. And if you sit down and list their beliefs, theyôd say, ñNow, what 

can we prove?ò Youôll find itôs very little. And then you get down to probably 

look at the conflicts in the world that lead to these wars, and you say, ñWell, itôs 

about beliefs.ò In the First World War, Germany believed one thing, Russia 

believed something else, France believed something else, and pretty soon theyôre 

killing each other. So youôd say, ñWell, if weôd just get the facts right.ò Well, it 

may not be about facts.  

02-00:31:01  

Shafer: [laughing] Isnôt that what the climate deniers are saying? 

02-00:31:05  

Brown: Yeah, wellðtheyôre denying that which we have a lot of scientific evidence on. 

But I would say that the conflicts in the world, say the Russia-America conflict 

right now, thereôs a lot of belief about things, not just about forms of government, 

but interpretation of events. And so as the interpretations get more and more 

divergent, and people feel more and more strongly about them, and then they 

internalize certain emotions, the next step is killing people. I used to think, ñWell, 

weôre going to get to a point whereðgee, if we get over the Vietnam War 

everythingôs going to be fine.ò But it doesnôt appear that that pathway has been 

pursued by the countries of the world. 
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02-00:32:00  

Holmes: Governor, I wanted to ask a little bit more about your experience at the seminary. 

Maybe starting with what was your first impression that first year of life in the 

seminary? 

02-00:32:11  

Brown: My first impression was that it was a little awkward coming in. Most people all 

had their cassock on, and the thirty new men that came in with me, we didnôt get 

our cassock for, say, a week. And how you file into the dining room and do some 

of the things that youôre assigned to doðwash dishes or other kinds of workðit 

took a while to get into the routine. But within a week or two, it all felt very 

natural. And then a year later when the next crew came in, I could see that they 

were awkward. They didnôt quite get how to be at the table, because weôre in 

silence, and theyôd look aroundðyouôre not supposed to look around. Itôs called 

modesty of the eyes, or some people call it custody of the eyes. So youôre not 

supposed to. This is a whole other world, where your whole focus is interior. 

Youôre trying to establish a relationship with the spiritual world, with God, and 

not with the normal stuff that most people, that all people, deal with. So that was 

an impression of that. 

 It struck me as very medieval. There is a concept of the will of God. And the will 

of God was told to us as expressed through the rules, of which we had fifty-two 

rules, in a little rule book, and through the directions of the superior, Father 

Masterðthat was what heôs called, the master of novices. And so that idea that 

following the superior was following the will of GodðIôd never heard that 

concept before. In fact, I havenôt heard much of it since I left. But that is a 

fundamental concept, that the church carries on the tradition of Christ; that the 

Jesuits, under St. Ignatius, were formed by the church; that the Jesuits appoint 

superiors, and the superiors there are running things, wherever you are, in a 

novitiate or a college or something. And so itôs a very hierarchical program, and 

itôs tied in with divine sanction. So I found thatðand find thatðdifficult to 

accept. But thatôs what it was. And evidently, thatôs been around a long time. So 

there was a lot of practices, Catholic practices, that when you get into reading the 

Lives of the Saints or other materials on the church history, you find, ñOh yeah, 

this has been going on for a long, long time.ò But just in the normal education and 

growing up, we didnôt hear about that stuff, so that was a very different kind of 

world. 

 But it was an interesting world. The fact that a group of people were involved in 

something that was intellectually stimulating, spiritually challenging, was not 

boring in any sense. And if you think about it, the individualism of modern life is 

very powerful. And people try to overcome that by taking trips. You find a lot of 

the older people, they want to go to Rossmoor, or they want to be in a communal 

situation. So on the one hand, everybody wants their little private house; but on 

the other hand, they do a lot of things, like go to a noisy restaurant to be 

subsumed into this collective experience. So thatôs part of the power of this 

novitiate: itôs a collective experience. And because youôre wearing the same 
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cassock, the same cubicle you sleep in, the bell rings at 5:00am, the bell rings 

every 30 or 40 minutes to do something else. So youôre all doing it together, and 

that in itself is a veryðI donôt know if I would say exciting, but as an antidote to 

the extreme individualism and skepticism of the modern world, I would say that, 

obviously, was very welcome in my imagination. 

02-00:37:28  

Shafer: At what point did you begin to think maybe it wasnôt the life for you? 

02-00:37:31  

Brown: Well, after about three years, maybe a little before that.  

02-00:37:37  

Shafer: Like was there a moment? 

02-00:37:38  

Brown: No, not a moment. I began to read different things. After the novitiate, we started 

to get exposed to books. In the novitiate itôs only the New Testament. Not as 

often, but we also could read part of the Old Testament, and we read lives mostly 

of Jesuit saints. We have a book, I donôt know if I showed it to you, because I 

have it here, by [Alphonsus] Rodriguez, the Practice of Perfection. Thatôs what 

weôre reading. So you do that for two years, and then you walk across the 

building to what was called the juniorate, and this was like college. And they had 

a library with a lot of good books in it, so I started reading things like that. 

 And I donôt know when it was, but a guy cameðI think it was after I started 

thinking about leaving. But he came to visit my friend Peter Finnegan, because 

we could have visitors there. I didnôt have very manyðI think almost noneð

except my parents once a month. And this guy, his name was Neil, and he actually 

lives down the street from my nephew. But he was reading Albert Camus. I canôt 

remember whether I saw him or whether Peter Finnegan related it to me, but he 

talked about the absurd, that he elaborates in the Myth of Sisyphus, and that whole 

idea I found very exciting, the idea of the longing of the human heart for meaning, 

and the utter silence of the universe in return. And so, I took a liking to Camus. 

 There was another book that I got there called Spirit and Reality, by a man named 

Nicolas Berdyaev. And Nicolas Berdyaev was an Orthodox Christian, Orthodox 

Catholic, Russian, who was around Russia in the time of Lenin, but he left. He 

didnôt like Leninôs materialism, and he went to Paris. He died shortly after World 

War II, but he wrote a number of books, and I read two of them: Spirit and 

Reality, and one was Slavery and Freedom. Anyway, he was somewhat interested 

in the Holy Spirit, and the phrase, spiritus spirat ubi vult, or, ñthe spirit listeth 

where it wilt,ò is the way the King James Bible has it. And the spirit is this free, 

unconstrained divine presence, and he was focused in this book, and itôs a 

somewhat complicated book to say the least, but he also criticized Jesuit 

obedience and Jesuit asceticism. So here was a guy writing, and his writing 

seemed very fresh to me, seemed very alive compared to Rodriguez, which 

seemed very dead. So that was the beginningsðand I still have the book. Iôve got 
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a copy that Iôve kept with me, and Iôve gone back and tried to read. Itôs not that 

easy to read. But I think the very notion that this Russian was talking about 

Christianity, and doing so in a way that not only implied, but expressly required 

or described this freedom of the spirit that could not be constrained by blind 

obedience, which was the essence of the Jesuits. So that gave me pause. 

 Then I also came up with another bookðwhich I also have to this dayðcalled 

Man in Search of Himself [Manôs Search for Himself], by Rollo May, and he lived 

in the Bay Area. He was from New York, and this was an interesting book. And 

in the book, he talked about Erich Fromm and Nietzsche, and other people. But it 

was an exploration of awareness, and how most people were going through life 

without any sense of themselves, without any ability to really know what they 

feel. He was a psychotherapist. So between the Spirit and Reality and Man in 

Search of Himself, that did open up a moreða more open orientation toward 

things. And therefore, it made the Jesuit framework feel confining and not as real 

as it appeared a couple years before. 

02-00:43:20  

Shafer: So you decided at some point then to leave? 

02-00:43:24  

Brown: Yeah. 

02-00:43:24  

Shafer: Yeah, but you didnôt leave right away, right? You decided, but then you stuck 

around ð? 

02-00:43:27  

Brown: Well, I donôt know if I was deciding, soð 

02-00:43:30  

Shafer: And when you finally left, how did you feel about the decision? What did your 

parents say? What was that transition like for you? 

02-00:43:41  

Brown: Itôs hard to remember these things. Weôre talking decades and decades ago. Yeah, 

I told my father. His response wasnôt that clear. Now, Iôve read about it in the 

books where they quoted him. I did not get that at the time. He didnôt seemðI 

donôt know what I would sayðitôs just like he wasnôt sure, or something, almost 

like a slight. It seemed a slight negative, yeah, just slight, but not some empathetic 

response. And the leaving is difficult, because youôre in this bonded community, 

so itôs very anxiety provoking. So I definitely mulled it over for, I donôt know, 

several weeksðmaybe even a few months. Iôm not sure how long it was. 

 But when I left, I remember I went to the Jesuit provincial, Father Carroll, and he 

lived in the house on Lyon St. where [Dianne] Feinstein lives. Thatôs where the 

Jesuit house was, the provincialôs residence. And he gave me a little piece of 

paper and said, ñWhen I give you this piece of paper, now youôre not going to be 

a Jesuit anymore,ò and his little clock chimed about that time, I think, if I recall 
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right. I remember walking down the stairsðyou know at the end of the road itôs a 

dead end, rubs up against the Presidio, the eucalyptus trees and the fog and the 

dew, the moisture from the trees was there and evident. And as I walked down the 

stairs, thereôs a stairway you walked out. I thought it was like weôre leaving 

Communist China, because Iôd been in a totally controlled environment, and now 

it was totally open. So yeah, that was my experienceða real liberation kind of 

feeling. 

02-00:45:55  

Shafer: Hold that thought. Before we get to that, I want to kind of go back a little bit. In 

1958 you were still in the novitiate, right? 

02-00:46:03  

Brown: Yeah. 

02-00:46:03  

Shafer: So your dad is thinking of running for governor. Heôs attorney general. And if the 

accounts are correct, you try to convince him to run for the senate. 

02-00:46:15  

Brown: Well, I wrote him a letter, and the letter speaks for itself, and I havenôt read it in 

years, so I hesitate to comment on it. 

02-00:46:22  

Shafer: [laughing] Letters wonôt work on the radio though, yeah. 

02-00:46:25  

Brown: Well, if we had the letterð 

02-00:46:26  

Shafer: What do you remember about your thinking about that? How did you think about 

it? 

02-00:46:31  

Brown: Well, how did I think about it? Well, I thought about the senate as being more 

international, and I was a young Jesuit novice. Weôre thinking about the world. 

The Jesuits started, I think, around 1541, and within fifty years, theyôre all over 

the world, with universities and advising government ministers and what have 

you. So this is (a), itôs historical, itôs European, but itôs also very worldwide. You 

might call it global today. And so the governorship seemed more parochial to me, 

more mundane. What is a governor going to deal with? Compared to, you know, 

these are serious issuesðwar and peace, the large questions. Those are what 

interest me. And I think after my father was elected, Khrushchev came to 

California, and to Disneyland, and he came to San Francisco, and they had some 

kind of a dinner for him. And I wrote my father a few thoughts on what he should 

say to Khrushchev. Iôm interested in the Russians, so Iôm interested in 

Khrushchev as well as Berdyaev. 

 But this perspective is not the perspective of the governorôs office. As the 

governor, they want you to deal with bills, and they want you to deal with roads 
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and schools and water and taxes and crime. If you get out of that box, then youôre 

not doing what youôre supposed to. So Iôve always had a certain amount of 

tensionðI was looking at the world, thinking itôs very dangerous. We might blow 

it up. We certainly felt that way with the Cuban Missile Crisis, and in fact, we 

almost did blow it up, but I didnôt know that in 1958. 

 But I did know the world, and we spent a lot of time reading about the lives of 

Jesuits. Matteo Ricci went to China and made contact at the court there, in China. 

Francis Xavier went to India. And they were all involved in the politics of Europe. 

So thatôs interesting. Thatôs more of an international focus. You might think well, 

weôre sitting away in that mountaintop there, but the books weôre reading are very 

historical and very international, and because weôre not going to movies and 

weôre not going to TV and weôre not running around going skiing or something, 

the books and ideas have a lot more weight, and I noticed that, and I liked it. I 

really started reading more, because thatôs what you could do: read, think, and 

talk, and those are the big thoughts. Well, some people talked about little silly 

things, but I always would be talking about large issues, and Iôm still doing that.  

 [side conversation deleted] 

If I see somebody that thereôs some relationship to some issue Iôm interested in, I 

just launch right in, whether itôs climate change or prisoners or Russiansðbig 

issues have always been important. As a matter of fact, the novitiate dealt with 

much bigger issues than Santa Clara dealt with. At Santa Clara, youôre studying 

English, religion, ROTC, French. Okay, so thatôs pretty mundane. Now we go to 

the novitiate, weôre talking about saving the world. Not talking about saving San 

Jose, about saving the world, you know, India, China, Africaðthatôs a big 

thought. So thatôs kind of my orientation. 

02-00:51:13  

Holmes: Were you able to hear news about when your father was running for governor? 

02-00:51:18  

Brown: No, no. 

02-00:51:20  

Holmes: It was just maybe on the monthly visits? 

02-00:51:22  

Brown: No. Monthly visitsðwhich I was not interested in. I was very absorbed in this 

path of perfection, religious pathway. But I did know the evening that he was 

elected, they let me come and watch the television for fifteen minutes. Thatôs it. 

But we didnôt look at the outsideðwe werenôt interested, and the outside 

information was not pleasant. It wasnôt on what we were talking about. We were 

talking about virtues, prayer, meditation, contemplation, lives of the saints, the 

rules. Thatôs why I went there, thatôs what I was interested in, and thatôs what 

most of the other people were interested in. So the world, as we called itðthat 

falls away. Thatôs lower order.  
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02-00:52:25  

Holmes: Well, Governor, letôs talk about after you left the seminary and started at UC 

Berkeley, in January of 1960. Could you discuss that transition, because you went 

from being in a very closed seminary up in the Santa Cruz Mountains to a very 

large public university. What do you recall of that transition? 

02-00:52:50  

Brown: Well, first of all, I would say I donôt use the word transition. Itôs one of these new 

terms youôve developed. Not you, but itôs commonðrecent. But I do know that it 

was different. 

 [side conversation deleted] 

02-00:53:06 

Shafer: Actually, before you start, help us with some dates. When did you start at Cal? 

Was it January of 1960? 

02-00:53:12 

Brown: Yes. Sometime in January, mid-January. Well, I started there, and I went to see 

Professor [Gerson W.] Rabinowitz, who was the head of the Classics Department, 

and he evaluated my transcript from Santa Clara, which also contained the work I 

did at the novitiate, since it was affiliated with Santa Clara, and I had over ninety 

units. So I didnôt need too much more to graduate. In fact, I needed, I think three 

courses, nine units in classics, so thatôs what I did. So thatôs the first thing I did. 

And because I only needed nine units in my major, then everything else was 

optional. And I originally thought I wanted to be a psychiatrist, so I enrolled in 

chemistry and physics, but after about ten days I saw that was not for me, 

especially the lab. I was just not something I could really do. So then I shifted to 

psychology, and so I then took a couple courses in psychology, and I took other 

courses as well. 

 I got into the I-House [International House], had a room there. And they, of 

course, have a cafeteria, and so thatôs similar to Santa Clara, in that sense, sort of 

group dining, and I got to meet different people there. And yeah, it was very 

different. Berkeley was so vast. I kept thinking like itôs a supermarket, where you 

open the catalog and look at almost anything, and so that was a difference. It was 

interesting courses. I had a lot of interesting courses at Berkeley, and a lot of 

interesting conversations at the I-House. So it was quite a bit different, and it 

created a certain amount of anxiety. 

 But thatôs what it was, and then pretty soon itôs time for the summer. I guess that 

was 1960, that would be when the convention was, and so I roomed with a couple 

of guys, graduate students, and one of them lives about forty minutes from here. 

Heôs a farmer, and he was studying that stuff. And so did Frank Damrell, with me, 

so I met some people. And it was different, in that Santa Clara and the novitiate 

were all very focused. You take whatever you want. Go look in the catalog. Now, 

most people have majors, so theyôre constrained, and they have requirements, but 

I had done all that. Oh, I think I had to do a physical ed. course, so I took that, and 
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I had to takeðwhat else? Oh, I hadnôt had history, so I had to take a history exam, 

and I passed it. So I didnôt have to take a history course. Then I needed a math 

class, so I took a statistics class. I think I didnôt do very well in it, but I passed it, 

so that was all right. 

02-00:57:16 

Shafer: Why did you choose I-House? 

02-00:57:18 

Brown: My sister had gone there, and she talked about meeting interesting people from 

different countries, so that was good, so I liked that. But there was a lot of 

politics, you know, in Sproul Plazaðthe Fair Play for Cuba Committee. There 

was a group of students supporting farm workers, and I went with them to 

Stockton one day, and we picked strawberries for a morning. And then we met a 

labor organizer, the predecessor to [César] Chávez. Then we met with Dorothy 

Day the next day and she talked. Sheôs always on pilgrimage, going to different 

places, Catholic Worker houses, strikesðthat was her whole life, so that was 

pretty interesting. She was a pretty famous figure. She became more famous, I 

think. But I remember asking her, ñHow could I learn more about what youôre 

talking about?ò And she said, ñWell, read Paths in Utopia, by Martin Buber.ò So 

Iôve read Paths in Utopia twice, as a matter of fact, about utopian Socialism. So 

that was a pretty interesting experiment. And there was a lot of political 

discussion around the campus. It was exciting. It was not Free Speech Movement 

yetðthat came later. That came after I graduated from Yale. But it seemed like 

there was a lot of ferment there, just talking to the people at lunch and dinner, 

from different countriesðjust very interesting. 

02-00:59:25 

Shafer: What was it about the farm worker issue that caught your attention? 

02-00:59:29 

Brown: Well, just the fact of farm workers, and we were going to go there and see what 

their conditions were like. I donôt think I realized that Dorothy Day was going to 

be there as well, but she was. 

02-00:59:41 

Holmes: And you mentioned you metðwas it Larry Itliong, the head of the Agricultural 

Organizing Working Committee? 

02-00:59:50 

Brown: I think I met him later, when I lived in LA and we went on that march to 

Calexico. I joined it partwayðI think thatôs when I met Larry Itliong. Ch§vez 

didnôt start in ô60. There was a guy named [C. Al] Green, who worked for the 

AFL, and they were trying to organize the farm workers, and they were having a 

tough time. And they never did, until César came along. 

02-01:00:25 

Shafer: What was it like going to Stockton and picking strawberries? 
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02-01:00:31 

Brown: Well, it was hard work, and I donôt know that we really were sent out in a serious 

wayðprobably the growers were suspicious. And there were guys who were hard 

up, hard luck kind of people. I donôt know that these were migrants that we saw. I 

think these were more down-and-outers kind of, that would pick for a few hours 

and then quit. But we talked about it, and there was a group that went there from 

Stiles Hallðthat was the spot that it started from. Oh, this was the time of the 

HUAC [House Un-American Activities Committee] demonstration. I didnôt go to 

it, but some people from the I-House went there, and they talked about it when 

they came back. 

02-01:01:24 

Shafer: What were they exploring at that point, the HUAC commission? 

02-01:01:28 

Brown: They were just holding a hearing, as they did, although I think their hearings were 

probably winding down, but this was still a time when they took testimony, and 

then of course people, students would protest, and that caused a conflict, and they 

dragged them down the city hall steps. 

02-01:01:50 

Shafer: That was in San Francisco, right? 

02-01:01:51 

Brown: Yeah. 

02-01:01:53 

Holmes: And I believe it was called SLATE, which was the student political committee. 

02-01:01:57 

Brown: SLATE, right. Yeah. 

02-01:02:05 

Holmes: Did you have any interaction with SLATE or its affiliates? 

02-01:02:08 

Brown: No, no. 

02-01:02:10 

Holmes: There was no inclination to get involved in student government at that time? 

02-01:02:13 

Brown: No, no. Just studying, and talking to people, and taking it all in. 

02-01:02:21 

Holmes: You mentioned the political fervor there at Berkeley, which as you were 

mentioning, this was before the free speech movement. As the son of a governor, 

did thatð? 
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02-01:02:33 

Brown: No one knew I was the son of a governor, for the most part. Maybe at the 

International House, but not on the campus. 

02-01:02:41 

Shafer: You preferred it that way, I assume? 

02-01:02:44 

Brown: Well, I would have to announce it or something. Itôs just not something that 

shows up. Itôs not something people noticeðor didnôt notice, at that time. 

02-01:02:54 

Shafer: Different world. 

02-01:02:54 

Brown: Different world. They knew my father was the attorney general, at Santa Clara. 

But Berkeleyôs a lot more impersonal, or youôre not talking to very many people. 

Itôs a pretty small subset of people whose names you actually know and you talk 

to more than once. Thatôs one of the big differences. Itôs pretty impersonal, and 

then, certainly the I-House, where I met peopleðI did meet people there. In fact, I 

marvel that I took a class, we studied the play Alcestis, by Euripides, in Greek. 

And at the end of the semester, I didnôt know the name of anyone in my class. 

When it was over, people just walked away. So, I noted that. That seemed a little 

different at Santa Clara. We lived thereðwe were there in the evening, went for 

breakfast, and so thereôd be, I guess, three meals that weôd share together. 

Whereas, when you take a Greek class three days a weekðthere it is, and then 

youôre gone. But it struck me about the impersonal quality of the university. 

02-01:04:08 

Holmes: In regard to the political environment there at BerkeleyðI know a lot of the 

coffee houses around campus were places for a lot of political discussions. Did 

you interact in those kind of discussions? 

02-01:04:19 

Brown: Iôm trying to remember. I stuck mostly at the International House. There were 

some coffeehouses later, but that was when I came back. 

02-01:04:29 

Shafer: I want to ask you about an issue that you obviously have cared about your entire 

life, but which really emerged when you were at Cal with your dad, and thatôs the 

death penalty. I believe it was May of 1960, and you contacted your dad to talk to 

him about the pending execution of Caryl Chessman. Can you talk about that and 

why you felt so strongly about that issue? 

02-01:04:56 

Brown: Well, I guess Iôd never encountered anything quite so directly as an execution, 

and then Caryl Chessman, of course, was this famous character that wrote that 

book about his experiences. And as it turns out, he hadnôt murdered anybody, but 

he did commit a horrible rape, and heôd been there a long time. So he became 

somewhat of a heroic figure in the minds of a lot of people. Letters came from 
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Brazil and all over, I think even from the Vatican or something. So it just struck 

me that killing him, at that point, didnôt seem right to me. So I talked to my father 

about it, and he said, ñWell, I canôt do anything about it.ò I said, ñWell, you can 

ask the legislature to abolish the death penalty.ò So then he finally said, ñYeah, 

Iôm going to do that,ò which kind of surprised me. Now, at that time, I guess he 

didnôt have the idea of having an indefinite reprieve, he thought it was limited. 

 It was an awkward situation, because Caryl Chessmanôs lawyer, I think an ACLU 

attorney, had already applied to the Supreme Court for a recommendation of 

clemency, and they voted 4-3 to deny clemency. So the law is pretty clear, that if 

youôve been convicted of a felony before the murder crime, that youôre looking at 

the death penalty. You cannot be commuted by the governor. In fact, I asked the 

Supreme Court, on nine occasions, and they said no. So those people didnôt get 

commuted. These were life-without-parole types, although I did several hundred. 

So my father couldnôt do anything about it, and the legislature certainly didnôt like 

it. The legislature felt he threw the hot potato on them, and so they voted it down 

in committee. And I didnôt know any of that. Iôd been living this isolated life for 

almost four years, so I didnôt have the sense of the world of Sacramento, and the 

world of political beliefs. I just had one senseðwell, you canôt kill this guy. That 

doesnôt seem right. 

02-01:07:46 

Shafer: How long was the conversation? Like what do you remember about it? 

02-01:07:48 

Brown: I meanðnot that long. 

02-01:07:50 

Shafer: Was it brief? 

02-01:07:52 

Brown: No, it wasnôtðtwo minutes, and it was an extended conversation. 

02-01:07:54 

Shafer: And for your dad, was it more about the political considerations? Or was it 

moreð? 

02-01:07:59 

Brown: I canôt speakðyeah, well you asked me to get into his mind. I think it was about 

the moral aspects ofðhe probably knew this was not a death case. And, of course, 

today it wouldnôt be a death case under the laws of California. So it seemed like a 

senseless kind of execution, and today we would say it was rather senseless, 

although the people after he commuted himðafter he gave him a reprieve, 

thousands of letters showed up in the governorôs office, and we heard from the 

other side, which was pretty extensive. 

02-01:08:46 

Holmes: In the wake of that decision, your dadðwell, many believe that that hurt him 

politically. I think heôs booed at the Winter Olympics.  
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02-01:08:58 

Brown: It hurt him, but not so much as to enable Richard Nixon to win the election two 

years later. 

02-01:09:06 

Holmes: Thatôs correct. 

02-01:09:09 

Brown: So yeah, definitely at that time, it didnôt help. From a political point of view there 

was definitely damage. 

02-01:09:20 

Holmes: What was your view of that damage? 

02-01:09:22 

Brown: What do you mean my view? Whether I thought it existed, or whether I thought it 

was unfortunate?  

02-01:09:34 

Holmes: In regards to the damage. 

02-01:09:35 

Brown: Itôs kind of a reality. 

02-01:09:36 

Holmes: I guess youôre correct on that. I mean what was your perception. 

02-01:09:41 

Brown: You mean what was my reaction to it. 

02-01:09:43 

Holmes: Thatôs correct. 

02-01:09:47 

Brown: Thatôs a little different than a view, I would say. [laughter] Well, Iôm trying to 

remember. It definitely seemed like a big controversy. And yeah, I was surprised 

at the reaction, definitely. I was coming from another, simpler world, and it just 

struck me this was surprising in its intensity. 

02-01:10:20 

Holmes: To follow on that, did it give you a new appreciation for the position of your 

father as governor, in weighing in on these kind of issues? 

02-01:10:30 

Brown: I think I probably thought more about the issue. Do I think about how my father 

felt about life as governor? I might have, but I canôt remember if I did, imagining 

how he saw things. Thatôs a pretty sophisticated state of mind, which I donôt 

know that I attained in 1960. 
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02-01:10:58 

Holmes: Maybe in regards to his position as governor on these kind of issuesðyouôre 

coming at it from a moral standpoint, and that his job requires more complexities 

than just what he may morally believe. 

02-01:11:12 

Brown: Right, so whatð? 

02-01:11:17 

Holmes: Did this situation give you maybe a deeper appreciation for the position that put 

him in? 

02-01:11:23 

Brown: Well, I would say that the fierce negative response was surprising, so I got to see 

that, and obviously thatôs not a pleasant situation to see your father in that kind of 

negative, hostile public response. So yeah, I saw that. I mean, itôs different than 

wandering around with your eyes cast down saying Jesus, Mary, and Joseph. I 

mean, that was one world, and this is the world of outside and California in 1960. 

So I did see that, and I saw a lot more things, in the succeeding months and years, 

about how the world worked. 

02-01:12:14 

Shafer: Youôre going to hate this question, but if you had it to do over, would you haveð

knowing nowð? 

02-01:12:18 

Brown: Thatôs a counterfactual that I canôtð 

02-01:12:22 

Shafer: [laughter] I thought I would try. 

02-01:12:23 

Brown: Would I do it over again? Might not have, because it caused trouble. Well, 

certainly because it didnôt go anywhere. But I had no idea it would go nowhere, 

and I thought my father would probably know that. So thatôs a hard decision to 

understand, if he fully understood that there was no votes, then why would he do 

that? Yeah, so what were the options? You have a vote, get delayed by 

moratorium, or which we see nowðindefinite reprieveðbut somehow that didnôt 

come up. So thatôs very undevelopedðI canôt tell you why. Either he 

underestimated it, or at the moment didnôt think about it, or was overcome by the 

morality of itða lot of things. The trouble with the death penalty is that it has a 

finality to it, so you always are hesitant to pull the trigger, as it were, because you 

canôt unpull it. So thereôs not many things like that in what governors do, so itôs 

difficult to say. And I certainly didnôt understand the full gravity or the 

implications as I would now. 

02-01:14:01 

Shafer: You were about twenty-two, I think, at that point, and your dad was the governor 

of the state of California. 
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02-01:14:07 

Brown: Yeah. 

02-01:14:08 

Shafer: And you pick up the phone on an important issue that he probably understood 

maybe better than you did. 

02-01:14:14 

Brown: Well, I hope he understood it better than I did. 

02-01:14:17 

Shafer: And yet you convinced him to change his mind. Thatôs kind of extraordinary. 

02-01:14:22 

Brown: Well, it is. Itôs very extraordinary, but it happened. 

02-01:14:25 

Shafer: Do you think your argument was that, like whatð? 

02-01:14:27 

Brown: Well, my argument was great, obviously. Well, this is the argument if you can 

haveðif thereôs a chance to save somebody, you take that chance, and that 

chance was to let the legislature decide. That was the idea. Nowðhad I had the 

insight of Nancy McFadden, who could always read the legislature, or of [Jesse 

M.] ñJessò Unruh, who could count votes, as they say, which is an art of knowing 

what someoneôs going to do, in many cases better than the legislator himself or 

herself. I donôt know whether he would have done something that didnôt go 

anywhere. So he must have felt, in that moment, that he had a chance to do 

something. And that was good. I think it was very admirable. It was part of his 

moralðnot just moral, his human empathy for the underdog. I think itôs built in 

part on that he was a lawyer and a prosecutor, and I think he understood the case, 

and there was a bit of a lynch-mob mentality at that point. 

Oh, the lynch mob, I have to say, that victims feel the same way now. In fact, I 

have friends whoôve had people [in their lives who have been] killed, and they 

donôt want to see any kind of clemency. They feel it very strongly. So I guess 

until youôve had that experience, youôre focusing more on the death of the 

perpetrator rather than on the death of the victims, so thereôs two life experiences 

there that have to be understood together. 

02-01:16:19 

Shafer: Just for a moment, Iôm going to jump ahead a few years, because your dad did 

lose. Four years later he lostðor I guess it would be six years later at that point. 

And to quote [Frederick G.] ñFredò Dutton, is Humpty Dumptyðyou couldnôt 

put Humpty Dumpty back together again after the Chessman thing.  

02-01:16:39 

Brown: Although they did. Thatôs not true, he won substantially. Nixon was ahead 

substantially, double digits, I remember one poll, and he [Pat Brown] won, ran a 

very good campaign. But there were other things. The Vietnam War was heating 
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up, the Sproul Hall protests, the arrests of six hundred people dragged down 

Sproul Hall, the Watts Riots, not being in the state. Glenn [M.] Anderson was not 

all that decisive, although I donôt know how you would be decisive in the Watts 

Riots more than they were. So, the cycle turns. Eight years of what is exuberant 

spending all of a sudden becomes too much. The budget was only like a billion or 

two, and Reagan was able to exploit a feeling that wow, this thing was never this 

big. Well, itôs true it was never that big, because of eight years of Democrats. And 

under the previous governor, [Goodwin J.] Knight, there was a lot of deferred 

programs and needs, and my father started filling thoseðand he raised taxes on a 

number of items. So that wears down. 

 Now, after Reagan, then I got elected, so then what do you attribute that to? So 

thereôs a pendulum swing. You go from Bush to Clinton, Clinton to Bush, Bush to 

Obama, Obama to Trumpðthose are pretty different people, and so that happens 

in state government. There is a swing. So part of it is the individual, his 

personality and how heôs perceived in these stories that unfold, and then thereôs 

issues of the times. And then thereôs just a certain hope that whatever the 

problems are, they could be better under a thing called change. And change is a 

relatively empty term, but itôs something that people feelðdonôt even need a 

definition. ñTime for A Change.ò That worked well against the Democrats in 

1952, ñTime for A Change.ò So thatôs what happened. I think all those factors 

explain Reaganôs victory. 

02-01:19:37 

Shafer: The convention of 1960 was in Los Angeles, right? 

02-01:19:40 

Brown: Yeah. 

02-01:19:41 

Shafer: Jack Kennedy got nominated there. Did you say you went? 

02-01:19:44 

Brown: No, I did not go. 

02-01:19:44 

Shafer: No, you didnôt go. What do you remember about that though? 

02-01:19:49 

Brown: Well, I remember what we read in the papers, the certain chaos with the 

delegation going in different directions. And part of that was, I thinkðand I donôt 

know what it all came fromðbut I think my father tried to have the different 

candidates represented in the [California] delegationðStevenson, Kennedy, 

Johnson. But, of course, it turned out that it didnôt work so well, because then 

they split three different ways, and he couldnôt deliver it like Governor [David L.] 

Lawrence of Pennsylvania, or [Michael] DiSalle of Ohio, or [Robert B.] Meyner, 

I guess it was, in New Jersey. These people had a more eastern discipline and 

control, which probably never happened in California, and thatôs probably what 

happened. You can reflect on how much my father knew about it, how much he 
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was thinking one thing and the otherðwho knows. Youôd have to check his 

history to find that out. I donôt know. 

02-01:20:59 

Shafer: You know, a lot of young people of your generation were really drawn to public 

service because of JFK and the Peace Corps and other thingsðwhat effect did his 

election have on you? 

02-01:21:11 

Brown: Well, I thought he was an exciting candidate. No one since then has had the same 

charisma, the same presence. He was a very exciting person to encounter, and his 

speeches had a right measure of dignity and irony and humorðseriousness. A 

combination that I havenôt seen since. Maybe a little bit in Gene McCarthy. So 

what didðwell, I donôt know. I was going to law school and that was my focus at 

the time. Iôm very interested in the issues, but I wasnôt joining a lot of things. 

02-01:22:01 

Holmes: What do you recall from that campaign between Nixon and Kennedy? What 

stands out to you? 

02-01:22:08 

Brown: I think the debate. I think when Nixon talked about Truman swearing or 

something, and telling Kennedy he should do something about itðI kind of 

remember that. Quemoy [or Kinmen] and MatsuðI remember that, those two 

islands. Kennedy looking pretty good. I remember watching the debate. 

02-01:22:31 

Holmes: He tanned very well in Florida. 

02-01:22:33 

Brown: Is that what it was? 

02-01:22:33 

Holmes: Yes. 

02-01:22:35 

Brown: Yeah, well he was pretty pasty-faced otherwise probably. No, he looked good, 

and there was the excitement, the first thousand days, and [Arthur] Schlesinger 

and [Theodore C. ñTedò] Sorensenðthey promoted this thing, the whole 

Camelotðagain, after Eisenhower. So you had Communist Korea and corruption, 

and then Eisenhower came along, which was unusual, because he just wasnôt that 

partisan, and he tried to hand it over to Nixon. But again, it was time for a change, 

get America moving. There had been a recession in ô58, and Kennedy was very 

vigorous. And Nixon didnôt have the same charisma, even though he had a lot of 

experience. And he had that strange aspect to his presence, to his face and his 

personality. But then again, just a few years later, he wins. So thatôs the way these 

things go. 



 Oral History Center, The Bancroft Library, University of California, Berkeley 83 

 

02-01:23:43 

Holmes: Your father worked in support of Kennedy during that campaign. Did you get a 

chance to meet the Kennedys? 

02-01:23:50 

Brown: Yes, I metðTeddy came out to the governorôs office. I had time to speak with 

him. Itôs interesting, when Teddy came out I had a book on capital cases that I 

was thumbing through, and I showed it to Teddy Kennedy when he was waiting 

to talk to my father in the back office there. And then I met Jack Kennedy. He 

came down and gave a speechðI think his speech was in Oakland, late in the 

afternoon/early evening. It was very interesting to see. I noticed one thing, Jack 

Kennedyðsome woman came up to him and said, ñCan I have your 

handkerchief?ò And he, very dignified but firm, said to one of his aides, ñMy 

assistant will give you one.ò Yeah, but he wasnôt about to take out his 

handkerchief, so I always thought that was very self-composed. I also asked him 

about China, Red China. I said, ñWhy donôt you recognizeðare you going to 

recognize Red China or let China into the UN?ò And he said something about our 

vital interests, and I rememberðnow whatôs a vital interest? We hear about that 

often, vital interests, a very vague term that covers a lot of ground. 

02-01:25:25 

Shafer: How did it strike you, if at all, that you had opportunities to talk to the President 

of the United States? Your friends didnôt, I assume. 

02-01:25:35 

Brown: No, but, I donôt know how that would. You ask me did I reflect on that and say 

something or think something? 

02-01:25:47 

Shafer: Well, like boy, what a privilege. 

02-01:25:50 

Brown: Thatôs a level of self-consciousness that I donôt, I didnôtðI mean, obviously, I 

knew it was because my father was governor, and going to the governorôs 

mansions, and you were going to the governorôs conference. I met Eisenhower, 

Hershey, Pennsylvania, at a governorôs conferenceðbriefly, but nevertheless I 

got to meet him. Met Truman, met Stevensonðall these people came by. Met 

[Charles] de Gaulle at the Fairmont Hotel, but my father was doing the talking. I 

met Tito in Yugoslavia, so these were things you get to do. Thatôs just the life Iôve 

lived. 

02-01:26:38 

Holmes: Did you ever get a chance to meet Robert Kennedy? 

02-01:26:42 

Brown: No. Never met Robert Kennedy. But I have a book that he signed that Iôm told is 

very valuable. [laughing] 

02-01:26:54 

Shafer: In ô61 you graduate from Cal, and the commencement speaker was the governor. 
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02-01:27:01 

Brown: Right. 

02-01:27:03 

Shafer: Yeah, what do you remember about that? 

02-01:27:04 

Brown: I donôt. 

02-01:27:04 

Shafer: Nothing? 

02-01:27:06 

Brown: No. No, I canôt remember that. I think Clark Kerr was there giving out the 

degrees. It was a big crowd in the Memorial Stadium, so there were a lot of 

people there. I donôt think people were listening to the commencement. I donôt 

think the kids were that excited. 

02-01:27:25 

Shafer: How did you feel? 

02-01:27:30 

Brown: Well, itôs always a little embarrassing to have your father there talking, because 

itôs a little stressful. Heôs going to give me my degree? I probably would have felt 

that same way if heôd come to my school, which he never did. Oh, one time I 

think he came to Santa Clara, when Goodwin Knight was giving a talk. But you 

know, youôre in that vast sea of people. Itôs the whole school graduating. They 

donôt do that anymore. They break them up into different schools. Political 

science has their own graduation; English has their own graduation. I gave 

commencements at both, and theyôre just these littleðitôs not the same, the big 

one was big. So thatôs all. 

 Yeah, I donôt know. I should reflect on that more, when people ask me to give 

commencements, because the kids are not that interested. In fact, I gave a 

commencement at Berkeley, the Political Science Department, because I knew the 

professor that asked me, and sheôd had the same teacher I had, Professor Wolin, 

and I wrote out the speech and thought it through. But either it wasnôt given that 

eloquently, or the students had other things on their minds, but I donôt think 

students are that interested in commencement speeches. Now, maybe from 

Kennedy or from somebodyðSteve Jobs or something. But short of that, I think 

itôs very hard to give a commencement speech. I certainly donôt recallðother 

than just sitting in this big sea of people waiting to go up on this artificial stage, 

get my diploma, and get a picture with Clark Kerr and my father. 

02-01:29:29 

Shafer: You still have that photo somewhere, Iôm sure? 

02-01:29:30 

Brown: Noðitôs around somewhere. Itôs probably in one of my boxes. 
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02-01:29:36 

Holmes: Well, Governor you then, after your graduation from Cal, head over to Yale 

University for law school in, I believe, 1961. What inspired you to go to law 

school? 

02-01:29:51 

Brown: I couldnôt think of a better alternative. And that was not my original idea. The 

original idea was thinking of becoming a psychologist, but I soured on that idea. 

The reality of it didnôt, after meeting some psychologists and finding out about 

their work, it didnôt touch me that much. So law seemed fine, and Yaleðafter the 

first six months you could choose any course you wanted, so I thought that would 

be good. And Iôd been at Berkeley, so now to go to the Ivy League, and to study 

at Yale seemed like an intellectually exciting thing, which it was. 

02-01:30:37 

Holmes: What was your impressions of the school? 

02-01:30:40 

Brown: By the way, I should say that the notion of knowing in high school or college 

what youôre going to doðI didnôt have that experience. Although I did study to 

be a Jesuit. We were told at Santa Clara that we were getting a liberal education, 

particularly in English class, Fr. Perkins, we had a book called Reading for 

Understanding [by Fr. Maurice B. McNamee]. Not reading just for information, 

but reading for understanding. And we read essays by Mortimer Adler, by Robert 

Hutchins, who was the young chancellor at the University of Chicago, promoter 

of the great books. We read articles by John Ruskin, by Cardinal Newman on the 

idea of the university, and other essays and short stories. But the message was 

weôre getting a liberal education, weôre broadening our mind, and the idea of what 

job we were going to take was very secondary. Now, engineersðmaybe they had 

an idea; maybe people in business. Many of my friends looked down on people in 

business. That seemed kind of the easy path that you do that. 

 So I also saw Yale as a more liberal arts kind of school, but more professional, 

more concrete. Today people are very vocationally oriented. I meet people who 

came to work for me, I said, ñWhat did you study?ò They say, ñStudied 

communications.ò He studied communications, Mr. Evan [referencing to assistant 

Evan Westrup in room.] I said, ñWhy did you study communications?ò ñI suppose 

I thought I could get a job.ò Well, not himðbut somebody, somebody else said 

that. [laughter in background] So I just didnôt think of what I was studying related 

to getting a job. I thought my job was to broaden my mind, to learn the best 

writings on ideas in history and philosophy, and things like that. So that was a 

different world. And Yale was a very free place too, although it was rigorous. 

There were a lot of smart people there, very smart people. In fact, Iôve noticed 

that each school I went to the people seemed to getðwell, let me put it this way, 

the people who come out of Yale tend to be rather successful. And their wives 

tend to be rather successful. They found museums or theaters or hospitals and do 

all sorts of things, so yeah. I didnôt realize it, but Yale is at the epicenter of 

American power, or at least it was. 
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02-01:33:57 

Shafer: Yeah, and I know you met, probably, some people who were important in your 

life going forward from there, like [J.] Anthony Kline, Tony Kline. 

02-01:34:02 

Brown: Yes. 

02-01:34:05 

Shafer: How did you guys connect? 

02-01:34:07 

Brown: Well, I think he was in the same Entry, we called itðEntry, I think, Entry L. This 

was a residential hall right on campus, so he was one of the people who was there. 

02-01:34:21 

Shafer: Yeah, more so than at Cal did you find that you were engaging in campus life and 

the life of the school? 

02-01:34:28 

Brown: No, at Cal I was engagedðparticularly at the International House. There was a lot 

of things going on there. At Yale, of course you had the cases, you had politics, 

you had the New York Times. I didnôt read the New York Times, that was an 

experience I never had. But at Yale, oh yeah, read the New York Times every day. 

So that already orients me to the national/international issues. And of course, the 

Cuban Missile Crisis in October of ô62, we really didðI did, thought it was over. 

Maybe I should get to Vermont if itôs going to get worse. That was a real nail-

biter. And it turns out now, in retrospect of course, that the Russians had nuclear-

armed weapons, and had we made the wrong moves, we might have had a full-

scale nuclear war and killed billions of people. That might have happened. So I 

didnôt know thatðwe know so much more now how close we were to 

catastrophe, but even at that time it was pretty scary. 

02-01:35:45 

Shafer: You mention that with each successive school you went toðit sounded like you 

were about to say the people got smarter. [laughing] Did you feel intimidated at 

all when you got to Yale? 

02-01:35:56 

Brown: No. 

02-01:35:57 

Shafer: Not at all? 

02-01:35:58 

Brown: No, I felt that most of them were better than I was at their study habits and the 

way they attacked cases. They were good. Theyôd stand up in class, and they 

always knew quite a lot. 

02-01:36:13 

Holmes: What was your impressions of not just Yale, but also, the surrounding city of New 

Haven? The city is quite different than, say, San Francisco. 
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02-01:36:25 

Brown: Yeah, this is before, I think this might have been before redevelopment, or it was 

just in the middle of Mayor [Richard C.] Leeôs redevelopment. Heôd written a 

book onðno Dahl, I think, wrote a book on democracy, Robert [A.] Dahl, and 

New Haven was the model. But I didnôt spend a lot of time in the surrounding 

area. I didnôt have a car, and I was pretty much, you know, there at the school. 

Did a lot of talking. 

02-01:36:59 

Shafer: You did? 

02-01:37:01 

Brown: Yeah, a lot of listeningðbut a lot of talking. Well, itôs very interesting, all the 

different cases and criminal law, constitutional law, labor law, the conflicts of law 

among different states, psychology and the lawðall that. Psychiatry and the law 

actuallyðthatôs what it was. 

02-01:37:24 

Holmes: Was there a certain focus in law that you were gravitating towards at that time? 

02-01:37:28 

Brown: I liked labor law. I did like labor law. I took psychiatry and the law, and I had 

Anna Freud as the teacher, Sigmund Freudôs daughter. She and another woman 

taught the course. That was interesting. The only thing I can remember is that she 

said that men and women were different in this respect: that a woman could bond 

with a baby not her own, but men seemed to require their own physical child for 

them to really form an attachment. I donôt know whether thatôs true or not, but I 

remember her saying that, so itôs an interesting gender difference if it is such. 

02-01:38:10 

Shafer: It seems like psychiatry and psychology, thatôs really interested you in the course 

of yourð 

02-01:38:14 

Brown: Well, yeah, yeah, and we had another guy teachingðoh yeah, in psychiatry and 

the law they had Jay Katz and a guy named [Joseph] Goldstein. Jay Katz was a 

psychiatrist. I took two courses: one was criminal law, and the other was 

psychiatry and the law. But we had this question of, which was very interesting in 

criminal law: What is a crime? Who is a crime against? And also, insanity 

defense, which comes from the McNaughton [or MôNaghten] rule of common 

law. And then they had a couple that would change it, and itôs a little differentð

the McNaughton rule is: Did he know the difference between right and wrong? If 

you donôt, then youôre insane, the insanity defense will hold. The other one is: 

Did he do this crime as a result of mental illness? Now, the reason Iôm bringing 

this up is these matters, these topics, were always brought up and then they were 

dissected. How do you know if itôs a mental illness? What does that mean? 

Whatôs the causation there? And so the whole notion of the insanity defense was 

questionedðalong with everything else. 
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 The law school case method was to look at a set of facts from a case, and then 

explore the outer limits of what the rule of law could be. And one guy, Fleming 

James, who taught me procedure, he said that, ñYour task here,ò I think he might 

even have said the answer. ñIf you want to have an answer to the question here, 

itôs the range of arguments that an astute lawyer could make given the facts of this 

case.ò So thatôs a very different orientation. What is the rule in this case? Because 

youôre studying law. Whatôs the law? And the law is the range of arguments that 

an astute counsel could make. Now, someone who has an absolutist view of the 

world would be jarred by that, but I found it congenial to my somewhat skeptical 

mind. So itôs argumentative, and youôre learning that tradeðof making the best 

arguments you can. Of course if youôre a lawyer, you have a case, you have a 

client, youôve got to make the best arguments you can. And so cases were not 

viewed as: ñThe rule of this case isð.ò But rather, each case was an opportunity 

to explore possible ways of looking at the facts and interpreting them, so that fit in 

with my general intellectual development. 

02-01:41:23 

Shafer: Well, how do you think that whole orientation way of thinking about things, how 

did you take that with you from Yale into public service? 

02-01:41:32 

Brown: Well, I did exactly that. I look at the range of possible arguments or 

interpretations, and it is my experience that most people have an argument. But 

there was another teacherðI donôt want to bore you with all my teachers, but it 

kind of indicates that I remember my teachers. At least I remember some things. 

[Friedrich] ñFritzò Kessler was a teacher of contracts. He taught me second-

semester contracts my first year at Yale. He later went to Boalt Hall Law School. 

But he said, ñEveryòðhe had a German accent, which I canôt imitateðhe said, 

ñEvery rule has a counter-rule.ò So youôd read a case, and this is the rule. Then 

youôd read a case that was very similar, but it would have a different rule. And so 

that idea that every rule has a counter-rule, thatôs interesting to me. Thatôs 

significant. And I link it back to some philosophical axiom or notion. I donôt 

know whether it was Aristotle or Thomas Aquinas, or where the hell it came 

from, but the term is coincidence of opposites. So itôs a coming together of 

opposites. Itôs a little different than every rule has a counter-rule, but again, itôs 

similar, like in the Zen world that somethingðitôs not one; itôs not two. Thatôs a 

Zen saying, not one, not two. So what does that mean? 

 The goal at law school, I think, was to develop your understanding of how judges 

have written these opinions, so you could understand how legal arguments need to 

be made, whether youôre making them in a courtroom or advising a client. But 

you really begin to look into material, look into stories and fact situations, and see 

the full range of possible interpretations. And that sensibility, or that perspective, 

has grown with me. In fact, itôs even growing now, as I was reading a review in 

the last couple of days, a review of a book on Gandhi. It was in the Times Literary 

Supplement. And the author, I think made some points, and then the reviewer 

made points about that. And I was just thinking boy, there are so many books 
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written, and the books change over time, the perspectives on people change. So if 

theyôre changing over time, that means they could change right away. Itôs just we 

wonôt know it, or we wonôt express it for a while. 

 But that means if you get all the interpretations of peopleðtheyôll write books on 

Kennedy, theyôll write books on Johnson, on Clinton, or any other historical 

figureðtheyôre different biographies, and they donôt seem to ever finish. So 

where thatôs true over time, it should be true in time. So you could say whatever 

somebody is saying, there is probably a whole different configuration that you 

could lay out. And if thatôs true of writing about somebodyðwriting about me or 

talkingðitôs true about most things. So then you kind of start edging into 

postmodernism and deconstructionism, and those are fields that I donôt really 

spend much time on. But all these things seem to fit together as a way of looking 

at life in its complexity, and making sense of it, but not making sense of it by 

being simplistic or arbitraryðitôs this or itôs that. No, itôs this and itôs that, and 

probably several other things in between. 

02-01:46:00 

Shafer: Well, how do you arrive at the truth though? 

02-01:46:04 

Brown: Well, thatôs a good question. Thatôs what Pilate asked Jesus. What is the truth?  

02-01:46:10 

Shafer: Whatôs the answer? 

02-01:46:11 

Brown: [laughing] Well, you know, scientists donôt talk about truth. They talk about 

evidence; they talk about verification; they talk about the null hypothesis. But 

they donôt talk about truth. Truth is kind of a quasi-religious subject now, I would 

say. People talk about my truth, which is a very strange termðmy truthðand then 

you arenôt bringing it into relativism. So truth is what we think is, what the state 

of the world is. What did Wittgenstein say about whatever is the case, or whatever 

the world, all the facts? I canôt tell you what it is. But people have been trying to 

state that question for a long time. [Wittgenstein, in Proposition 1.1 of Tractatus 

Logico-Philosophicus, writes, ñThe world is the totality of facts, not of things.ò] 

 Certainly, we can say what error is, because we can then say, ñOh, we know the 

facts are different than youôre saying.ò I think we ought to be trying to avoid error 

and correct things as much as we can. But I think weôre definitely into 

approximation. Now, obviously, you know truth. If you pull a trigger, and youôve 

got a gun and a bullet, and you fire at somebody, theyôre going to die. Thatôs the 

truth. And so there are a lot of basic truths, but in between there are a lot of 

interpretations. Thatôs why the literate people love words like hermeneutics and 

symbiotics, and they love to complexify, and the point is that it has become very 

counterproductive. In fact, the whole liberal arts, I think, has suffered, and I think 

it was much simpler. Now, maybe everybody says that, but if I look at my 
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Reading for Understanding, itôs a lot simpler than some of the writings that Iôve 

come across recently. So I think truth is a good goal to pursue. 

02-01:48:27 

Shafer: You know, while you mention the Cuban Missile Crisis, and your dadôs reelection 

was right around that time, against Nixon. How much attention were you paying 

to that?  

02-01:48:38 

Brown: To what? To the election? 

02-01:48:39 

Shafer: To the ô62 election. Like what do you remember about that? 

02-01:48:43 

Brown: I remember the Hughes loan. Nixonôs brother got a loan from Howard Hughes. 

My fatherôs campaign made a big deal out of that. I think Dick Tuck put it in 

Chinese and followed Nixon through ChinatownðWhat about the Hughes loan? 

in Chinese. [laughing] I remember Nixon, I think did talk about capital 

punishment. Or maybe he gave a speech at Davis on that. He might have talked 

about Communism. Iôm not sure. But he once referred to the capitol as the 

statehouse, which now sometimes people use. But at that time, no one ever 

referred to the state capitol as the statehouse. Thereôs the executive mansion, 

which they now call the governorôs mansion. He seemed a little bitðnot using the 

right words, and I donôt know whether the electorate, they probably couldnôt have 

known that. 

 But for whatever it is, the campaign was pretty solid. My father was physically 

very energized. He lost some weight, and it all seemed to fall together. I didnôt 

know at the time, but no governor has ever been denied reelection for a second 

term in the history of California. Thatôs true, and that continues true today. 

02-01:50:26 

Shafer: Wow. 

02-01:50:28 

Brown: But I didnôt know that then. So that gives you a little bit of a boost there. And I 

think the reason for that is you have enough time to have some accomplishments. 

You have the legislature working with you, and whatever it is that caused you to 

defeat your opponent, gives you something to do that has some consensus behind 

it, and so you do it. So that works for four years. But now youôve been there eight 

years, and no one ever tried to run for a third term except my father, Earl Warren, 

and myself, and I ran twenty-eight years after the first time I left office. So after 

eight years, the things accumulate. And Earl Warren was running during World 

War II, and he was an unusual figure and bipartisan. So anyway, I think that 

played a certain role into it, because youôre the governor and things were good 

in ô62. 
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 We had the Cuban Missile Crisis. That kind of froze things in the campaign, and 

Nixon kind of liked to close strongly, and he couldnôt really do much because the 

Cuban Missile Crisis shut everybody up. I remember Tommy Kuchel was the 

Republican candidate for the Senate, an incumbent, and he flew back to 

Washington, and he put on his pilotôs helmet with the thing you strap over with 

little goggles up above his eyes, and that was a very goodðwhat we call a photo 

op today. We didnôt have that term then. But he flew back to Washington for that 

picture, and it was very effective. I think he was going to win anyway. So that 

was the campaign. I remember the debate, when Nixon said, ñAre you saying Iôm 

a crook?ò Or something like ñAre you saying I lie?ò I forget what he said. And 

my father didnôt really rise to the occasion. He didnôt respond. I thought Nixon 

got thatðthat was pretty good. 

02-01:52:38 

Shafer: What should he have said, do you think? 

02-01:52:42 

Brown: Well, I think he had to be more accusatory instead of backing off. But it proves 

that debates arenôt always that relevant, because how many people actually see 

them? These little moments, they can be big. I noticed that moment. But it just 

seemed to be a good campaign, because the water plan was popular, and the 

freeways, labor felt good. What became a problem was not yet a problem. And 

there was no dissonance, there was no Watts Riots, there was none of these 

social/civil rights activity, which didnôt turn into a pressure on the Democratic 

governor like it did in ô66. 

02-01:53:34 

Holmes: What was your impression of Nixon? Earlier you had said that it was a really 

hard-fought campaign. Your father came back to win byðI think about 300,000 

votes. 

02-01:53:45 

Brown: Three or four points, I think, three points, four points, something like that. 

02-01:53:49 

Holmes: But what was your impression of Nixon during the campaign? 

02-01:53:52 

Brown: Well, I always thought, you know, Tricky Dick. His face always looked a little 

strange. I remember meeting him at the Giants Stadium, and I thought his 

handshake was a little weak. I think he had a hot dog. I remember seeing the 

mustard. I donôt know whether it got onto his hand, but I still remember that 

mustard and the hot dog, and shaking his hand. But I met him several years later, 

and we had a very good conversation. And he did look quirky, but he seemed very 

insightful. And I think the turn to China was pretty bold. Of course the 

prolongation of the Vietnam War was scandalous and bad. Henry Kissinger thinks 

he had a better sense of strategy than any other American president. Thatôs what 

Henry thinks. Hard to say, because he took over, and he said he had a secret plan, 
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then he kept the war going, went right to the end there until after him. So, but I 

understand you canôt retreat.  

Bush, the second Bush, some evidence, not conclusive, of some kind of weapons 

of mass destruction allowed him to go in and pulverize Iraq or bomb them and 

disrupt and all that came out of that. So the tolerance for some kind of setback is 

very low, even if you have to blow the world up. I think thatôs a very somber 

thought, that the ego or the face, maintain face, whatever you call that in America, 

thatôll have to be. So if the Chinese want to push us somewhere, the Russians may 

have to respond, because of this psychological quirk. And if we respond, we may 

kill billions of people. So Nixon didnôt want to say, ñOkay, we did lose in 

Vietnamðwe get the hell out of there.ò But if heôd said, in ô69, ñThis is a dumb 

war. Iôm getting out.ò I donôt know if the Vietnamese wouldnôt let him or he 

didnôt want to have that defeat. So it was better to kill, I donôt know how many 

hundreds of thousands of people, rather than have that appear to be what actually 

happened. Now is not as clearðexcept to people who carefully look at it. 

02-01:56:44 

Shafer: Weôre going to take a break in a little bit, give you some time off to have lunch or 

whatever. But youôve talked about Vietnam. How big an issue was it while you 

were still at Yale, and what was your impression of it? It was Kennedyôs war, and 

then it was LBJôs war. 

02-01:57:11 

Brown: I think I remember President Kennedy talking about Laos, and that was a 

problem. In ô62, there was a picture of my father bowing down to some Laotians, 

and it turned out the picture was doctored, and the campaign made a stink about 

that. I donôt know that it was Nixon, but it was some part of his extended 

campaign operation, or some independent. So Laos was an issue. I remember 

Indochina and the Viet Minh and the defeat of the French. I just remember 

advisors going in there, and I didnôt think that was a good idea. So I wasnôt for the 

Vietnam War from day one. After Johnsonôs big victory, I think somebody wrote 

an article for the New York Times, a more conservative author and said, ñThis is 

going to take about 500,000 troops, which is what it took.ò Well, it took that, but 

it didnôt work. So I guess that would have been whenð1964/65? I do remember 

there were some Vietnam protesters at my fatherôs campaign headquarters in ô66. 

Yeah, they showed up, but it wasnôt news. 

02-01:58:49 

Shafer: There was the whole domino theory. You just didnôt buy into that? 

02-01:58:53 

Brown: No. 

02-01:58:55 

Holmes: Or the Gulf of Tonkin resolution? 

02-01:58:57 

Brown: When was that? That was ô65? 
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02-01:58:58 

Holmes: 1964. 

02-01:59:00 

Brown: Is that ô64? So I would have been back at Berkeley then. I remember the 

atmospheric testing was an issue, and that was a big issue. Edward Teller at a 

debate, I think, with Linus Pauling, and he was for itðdidnôt say it was a 

problem. I remember the Kennedy speech at American University, and that was 

very impressive. Iôve gone back to read itðit is impressive. You never hear a 

speech like that today. 

02-01:59:32 

Shafer: What was the focus of it? 

02-01:59:34 

Brown: That we all breathe the same air, our children want the same thing, so weôve got 

to stop these weapons, stop this testing, stop these terrible weapons. Youôd never 

hearðitôs not even thinkable today that somebodyðvery eloquent. So then to 

Vietnam, and Johnson was not as attractive as Kennedy. His, when he spoke, he 

didnôt have the eloquence, didnôt have the charm, from my point of viewðand I 

donôt think he did. So then that war really started heating up. I got active with the 

California Democratic Council in August of ô67ðI donôt think Vietnam was an 

issue. 

02-02:00:26 

Shafer: Yeah, weôll come back to that. 

02-02:00:27 

Brown: I donôt think it was an issue in ô66. 

02-02:00:30 

Shafer: It was right around that time that you went to Central America. 

02-02:00:33 

Brown: Yeah. 

02-02:00:34 

Shafer: You went to Mexico City, I think, and then you went elsewhere. Why did you go 

down there? 

02-02:00:39 

Brown: I wanted to learn Spanish, and I thought I might not have another chance. So I 

thought between working with the California Supreme Court and going to work in 

a law firm, I should spend four or five monthsðand I did. I traveled all over 

different towns. 

02-02:01:00 

Shafer: What do you remember about that? Did it make an impression on you? 
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02-02:01:07 

Brown: Well, I stayed in Mexico for a month, then I went to Central America. And I went 

to Nicaragua. Thereôs no Sandinistas at this point that I knew of. We heard, when 

we went to El Salvador, that fourteen families ran the place. It was all tourism 

kind of stuff, and I went with the Advertising Council, to the five Central 

American countries. Then I went down to Venezuela, and one of my friends had a 

cousin there, and so I stayed at their house. Then I went over to Colombia, and 

then down to Chile where there was a Chile-California program, so I did 

something with thatðnot very much. And then I circled back and got back 

around, I think, March or April of ô66. 

02-02:02:11 

Shafer: One big thing we havenôt asked you about, Governor, is the assassination of 

President Kennedy. 

02-02:02:16 

Brown: Yeah. 

02-02:02:17 

Shafer: You were at Yale at that point? 

02-02:02:18 

Brown: I was at Yale. 

02-02:02:20 

Shafer: Yeah, what was that like on campus? What do you remember about it? 

02-02:02:24 

Brown: I remember I was in a class on the Uniform Commercial Code, when the teacher 

dismissed the class. And it was shocking, of course, and I went down to 

Washington. I donôt think I went outside, but I watched it on television. My father 

was there and a couple of other people. They flew to Washington. But I remember 

they talked about it on television all day, and that gets a little tiring. But it was 

very moving, obviously, very moving. No president had been assassinated, that I 

can think of, in that time. So yeah, it was unbelievable. It had a big impact. I canôt 

say it changed my life, but it was a major event for those few days. I didnôt stay 

around the campus. I went to Washington. 

02-02:03:33 

Shafer: And why did you go down there? 

02-02:03:35 

Brown: Because my father was going back there, and I thought Iôd go be part of the 

ceremony or be part of the process, closer to the process. 

02-02:03:48 

Shafer: How did it make you feel about the world? You know, like suddenly this guy who 

was so charismatic and articulate and inspiring is suddenly gone. 



 Oral History Center, The Bancroft Library, University of California, Berkeley 95 

 

02-02:03:59 

Brown: Well, I donôt know what I can say about that. Yeah, itôs always shocking that 

someone that young and vital is gone. I think these things have longer-term 

consequences. So at the moment, thereôs the funeral, and that famous horse and 

the boots backwards, and the little son there saluting. All that was very 

memorable and very dignified, and so was Jackie. So that world seems very 

removed from where we are today, for our president, for our presidentôs wife. 

Even the stories that have been written about Kennedy have turned darker than 

was the case then. So it was, I think, a very high minded, almost glorious 

momentðthat I certainly felt. And then it was over. 

02-02:05:10 

Holmes: Governor, in the years after John F. Kennedyôs assassination, there was many 

theories and discussions around the assassination itself. As a man who thinks 

outside the box, who doesnôt always take the typical story or questions it, what 

was your reaction to these various theories that were thrown about? 

02-02:05:33 

Brown: I donôt know that I thought about that. Thereôs OswaldðI remember watching on 

television when he was shot by [Jack] Ruby. I remember Mel Belli went down 

there to defend Ruby. I donôt know if I talked to him or not, but I heard him talk 

about it. I was not a conspiracy theorist. A lot of these things have come out later, 

which we didnôt know about. You know, Oswald went to the Russian embassy, 

and thereôs this stuff with the Mafia in New Orleansðthereôs a lot of smoke 

around there, but we didnôt know any of that then. 

02-02:06:22 

Shafer: Do you think the fact that Earl Warren was the head of the commission that 

investigated it, did that give you more faith, do you think, in the findings? 

02-02:06:29 

Brown: I think it was the fact Kennedyôs dead. That was it. It wasnôt the precursor of 

some invasion or some foreign intervention. So I donôt know that I thought any 

more about it. 

02-02:06:48 

Holmes: Well, Governor, before we take a break we just wanted to also ask, in 1964, 

during spring break, you went down to Mississippi? 

02-02:06:58 

Brown: No, in ô63 on spring break. 

02-02:07:00 

Holmes: Oh, was it ô63? 

02-02:07:02 

Brown: Yeah. Well, but the Mississippi summer was in ô64. 

02-02:07:04 

Holmes: In ô64. 
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02-02:07:05 

Brown: That was a year later. 

02-02:07:07 

Holmes: Okay. Can you discuss your impression of when you went down there. You also 

talked with the governor as well? 

02-02:07:14 

Brown: I did. I did that for my own personal safety, since it definitely felt dangerous. 

There was a guy named Bill Higgs who gave a speech. So I said, ñWell, Iôd better 

come down.ò He said, ñCome down to visit.ò So me and another Yale law 

student, Ozzie was his name, we went down there, and we visited a few places. 

He was filing a couple of lawsuitsðI think I might have helped him with a 

lawsuit, which was kind of the purpose for going. I remember being in Greenville, 

I think. He was a lawyerðmaybe a lawyerðand there were only three lawyers, 

black lawyers, in the whole state. And this guy, I remember he pulled the shades 

down, and I think he served some Pepsi Colaðand I think he even served some 

bourbon. But this is before [Michael] Schwerner and those guys got killed. But it 

definitely felt like we were in a very dangerous foreign country, and thatôs why I 

went to see the governor, just to say, ñHey, Iôm here. Donôt do anything to me.ò 

And he called my father, and he told my father, ñGet him out of here.ò Soon 

thereafter I went to New Orleans, and flew back to New York, and then to Yale. 

 But I think you really had a senseðI had a senseðIôm trying to be concrete about 

it, but there was fear. You were really kind of watching out when you met with 

people. I believe I met with Medgar Evers. He hadnôt been shot yet. I didnôt meet 

with [James] Meredith, but I did meet Evers. Itôs just a normal kind of town, but 

the division between black and white was so strong. And the denial of votesðI 

was focused on the denial of voting rights. There was no voting, essentially. This 

is before ô64, when you had the freedom delegations, so this is a year ahead of 

time, and thereôs nobody else down there. I went there because it seemed like, 

ñBoy, this is a piece of history.ò I had to see this for myself. And yeah, that was 

the mood, at least what I sensed to be the mood. 

02-02:10:01 

Holmes: How did this impact yourðI donôt want to use the word viewðmaybe a deeper 

understanding of the civil rights movement? Before then, it was maybe what you 

saw on TV or what you read in the newspaper, but to actually be there in the 

South. 

02-02:10:18 

Brown: Yeah, well it was quite shocking the way it was. And of course we go back to 

Yale and another kind of life. We had an African American guy there who was 

studying to be a lawyer. He was very active in this, and yeah, there was a lot of 

things. I remember him telling me about Emmett Till. I didnôt know who Emmett 

Till was, but he did. Emmett Till died in ô56, and I was in law school in ô61. I 

must have heard about it fairly soon thereafter. But heôd talk about, in the South, 

that there were black farmers that had horse-drawn plows. He said itôs like a 
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hundred years ago in the United States of America, kind of making that point: 

ñWhat the hell is going on here?ò So that was a perspective I hadnôt heard before.  

 But Iôll tell you, I did have the feeling that this is something that I, as an outsider, 

I wasnôt going to affect. It was going to take the people who were there, because 

it was just so alien, and we drop in, we leaveðweôre not going to affect anything. 

So then I came back, came back to Yale, and we talked about law and whatever 

we talked about then. 

02-02:11:50 

Shafer: Did that seem like a safe refuge, in a way, from the world at that point? 

02-02:11:55 

Brown: Well, school always is. Itôs an artificial environment, where ideas and casesðfor 

me, itôs very stimulating, because the professors are smart. Not all of them, but a 

good number of them are pretty eloquent, and theyôre interesting. Itôs not the 

normal conversation. Spending a week at Yale, going to law school, is not like 

your normal week, because everybody is very intelligent, and theyôre exercising 

their intelligence on subject matter that is interesting and challenging. So it 

doesnôt get any better than that, from my point of view. 
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Interview 3: March 18, 2019 [in the afternoon] 

03-00:00:25  

Holmes: This is Todd Holmes, with the Oral History Center at UC Berkeley. Todayôs 

date is March 18, 2019. We are sitting down with Governor Jerry Brown for 

his third session in the oral history, and I am accompanied today by our 

partners at KQED: Scott Shafer and Guy Marzorati. Governor, thanks again 

for sitting with us today. 

03-00:01:00  

Brown: Sure. 

03-00:01:02  

Holmes: Iôd like to pick up where we left off and maybe talk about leaving Yale Law 

School to clerk with California Supreme Court Justice [Mathew O.] Tobriner.  

03-00:01:17  

Brown: Mathew Tobriner. 

03-00:01:20  

Holmes: How did this opportunity arise? 

03-00:01:25  

Brown: Well, I visited Matt Tobriner. He recommended me to Yale Law School, so I 

got to know him prior to his recommending. I went and had lunch with him. 

Heôs an old friend of my fatherôs. They go back to the Russ Building on 

Montgomery St., where they had their law offices in the 1930s. I canôt tell you 

howðI might have just called him, or something. I donôt know how it 

happened, other than the fact that I knew him and Iôd met him, and I think a 

law clerk was somethingða clerkship is something you think about at Yale. 

03-00:02:06  

Holmes: And how do you recall your experience? What stands out to you in that 

clerkship? 

03-00:02:13  

Brown: I had to do a lot of writing every week. You prepare memoranda for the judge, 

basically for their weekly conference on whether or not to take a case or not. 

And also you can be called upon to help write opinions. But Mathew Tobriner 

did a lot of his own writing, so I wrote, but he wrote, obviously, more. And I 

would say that I got more experience writing there than Iôd ever done before. 

That was the number one time, for me, for writing. And of course in those 

days, we had those old typewriters. And so we typed it on yellow paper. 

Thatôs how it all went. So that was a very, very important experience in 

writing.  

And I got one lesson from Mathew Tobriner. He always wanted me to change 

the passive to the active. He didnôt like the passiveðand Iôve always learned 

that, that if you really want to be clear, you put it in the active voice. If you 

want to be a little less clear, then maybe the passive is appropriate. 
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03-00:03:34  

Shafer: Mistakes were made. 

03-00:03:34  

Brown: Yeah, mistakes were made, yeah. [laughter] So that was very good. And I got 

to read a lot of cases, and I wrote the memo. The most famous memo I 

probably wrote was, without question, the case of one man, one vote, which 

was presented to the courtðand not something that people in Sacramento 

were thinking about. But the Supreme Court had already ruled on one man, 

one vote, and so this was a case where someone from Los Angeles challenged 

the composition of the state senate and said that too had to be one man, one 

vote. And I said yeah, youôve got to take a look at this. But I was the firstðI 

wrote that down and came up with that, and they went along with it. 

03-00:04:30  

Holmes: Were there other cases that you recall working on during your clerkship? 

03-00:04:39  

Brown: Some search-and-seizure cases, I think. We had a case every week! So a lot of 

them. Yeah, I did search and seizure, consent to a search, or viewingðseeing 

in plain view the contrabandðthose are some of the cases I remember. 

03-00:05:12  

Shafer: While you were clerking, were you also studying for the bar, or did that come 

after? 

03-00:05:16  

Brown: I was studying for the bar. I think I took off a little while and studied for the 

bar. Then I flunked it, and then I took off again, went to Sacramento, studied 

for the bar and passed. 

03-00:05:30  

Shafer: A lot of people have flunked the bar. Were you surprised that you did? 

03-00:05:32  

Brown: No. In fact two members of my class at Yale flunked the bar that year. Or was 

it from Yale? Somebody from Harvard did, yeah. And another guy from Yale 

did. 

03-00:05:46  

Shafer: What was it like studying? What do you remember about studying in the 

governorôs mansion?  

03-00:05:51  

Brown: Well, I remember studying at theðI forgetðthe Mayfair Hotel across from 

the German-American Hall, which was the culinary academy. I stayed at that 

hotel, and I found it pretty boring and pretty difficult to pay attention to the 

notes. And the classes werenôt bad, the review classes. In Sacramento, I didnôt 

take a review course. I just reread the notes that I already had, and I got a little 

bit of help from a lawyer who worked at the Department of Corporations. And 



 Oral History Center, The Bancroft Library, University of California, Berkeley 100 

 

that helped. He was a bar coach or bar-exam teacher, and he helped. It only 

took a few times, and I got the idea pretty quick. 

03-00:06:40  

Shafer: Did your dad try to give you any advice about the bar? [laughing] 

03-00:06:44  

Brown: No. No, the bar changesðthereôs too much change. 

03-00:06:47  

Shafer: Yeah, yeah. Was there anybody clerking with you that you became close to 

that you stayed in touch with? 

03-00:06:55  

Brown: Richard [M.] Mosk was a clerk then. He was there. I think the guy who 

clerked with me was a guy named [David H.] MelnickðI donôt think Iôve 

seen anything of him since I left. Heôs a lawyer in San Francisco. 

03-00:07:15  

Shafer: And when you were doing the clerking, did it help shape your thinking about 

what kind of law you wanted to practice? 

03-00:07:25  

Brown: Not particularly. No, that wasnôt clear in my mind at that point. 

 By the way, I was in a car pool. Frank Damrell was there, and he was working 

for the attorney general. And then the next year, ô65, Tony Kline came, and he 

was there for a few months. And then we had a guy named Paul Halvanick, 

who I made a judge. He was working for the attorney general, living in 

Berkeley. And then we had another guy namedð[Demetrios P.] Agretelis, 

Demitri Agretelis, and I appointed him a judge [in Alameda County]. So I 

basically, I appointed three members of the car pool out of five. One wasnôt a 

lawyer. But we commuted, and different people would take their car for that 

week, so we shared and it worked very well. So that was interesting to 

commute. I always wondered why people werenôt commuting, because it was 

so easy. And of course itôs cheaper, because youôre only paying the tolls and 

the parking fee once a week. You divide it up. So if you have five people, itôs 

one-fifth each, every week, for five weeks. 

 As far as the lawðI like criminal law, but I didnôt want to go into the 

prosecutorôs office nor the public defender. I looked at labor law. I 

interviewed with [Stephen P.] ñSteveò Reinhardt, and one other firm, and then 

Tuttle & Taylor. And I met [William A.] ñBillò Norris, who became a federal 

judge later, and through him I decided to go to Tuttle & Taylor, which was a 

firm of only about thirteen or fourteen, but then it went up to about seventy. It 

became a very prominent firm in downtown Los Angeles. 



 Oral History Center, The Bancroft Library, University of California, Berkeley 101 

 

03-00:09:32  

Shafer: When you were studying for the bar, at the mansion, did you get to see your 

father working more closely than you had? 

03-00:09:37  

Brown: A lit tle bit. There were dinners; there were conversations. There was the 

famous meeting with Jess Unruh. They were arguing about whoôs going to run 

for governor, and that was an important meeting for me, just listening to 

themðit was very exciting. And because of that, my interest, it was so 

spontaneously stimulated that I thought at that point, ñYeah, this is something 

Iôd like to do.ò I like to think right then and there I said, ñYeah, I think I like 

politics, and I think Iôll find a way to run for governor.ò So I decided right 

then and there, because the study for the bar exam is not very exciting. Itôs 

rule bound, youôve got to do a lot of memoryðitôs drudgery, itôs not 

interesting. I mean it could be interesting, if as you master the material it gets 

interesting. But then the excitement, the drama of these campaignsðand then 

there were other things that came up, like news stories that I would hear about. 

So I got a little view of the governorôs office, and I talked to some of the 

people in the office. 

03-00:11:03  

Shafer: What do you remember aboutðor you described it, I think, as an argument 

with Jess? 

03-00:11:08  

Brown: Well, it was just talking. Unruh wanted to run for governor, and my father 

said noðthat the party needed him. So each one was expressing their views. I 

donôt know that the content of the conversation was interesting, but just 

something about the intensity, or maybe just the subject matter, interested me. 

And not interested me just intellectually, but it had a certain emotive feel to it, 

impact. 

03-00:11:43  

Shafer: And these are two powerful men, obviously, going head to head. 

03-00:11:47  

Brown: Right. Well, they were just by themselves, sitting there, on the first floor. 

03-00:11:54  

Shafer: Yeah, what was your impression of Unruh? 

03-00:11:57  

Brown: My impression of Unruh was: heôs a tough character. Maybe a little mean, 

very smart. I didnôt know him that well then. He was fighting with my father. 

I came to understand the legislature fights with the governor. Itôs a part of 

what the process is. But when I was governor, I had a chance to meet with him 

on a couple of occasions. So he was a lot older than I was and a lot more 

formidable. But I remember speaking with him at Frank Fatôs in a booth, and I 

thought to myself, the man was very quickðI mean unusually. I donôt know if 

thereôs anybody that Iôve met since that was that quick. Maybe Willie Brown. 
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But Unruh had an incisive quality that I can see why he would emerge as the 

leader. He was intimidating, but he was insightful. 

 And what I most noticed and marveled at was thatðand I canôt remember the 

incidents, but he wanted me to do something for him. I did it. But then in 

talking about it, he was able to frame the encounter in such a way that it 

looked like he was doing me a favor, even though I was the oneðor whoever 

the other person wasðdid him the favor. And at that time I saw how, in this 

legislative encounter, struggle, itôs all about negotiationðitôs not all about, 

but one of the skills is negotiation, and I think Unruh was highly skilled in 

that. 

 Now, he was tough, and his image was not as good as it could be or it might 

have been. But he was a guy from Texas, went to USC after World War II, 

and he rose to the top because of, I think, his just brute intelligence, and 

emotional intelligence, and real drive. So, I donôt meet too many people like 

that. 

03-00:14:27  

Shafer: So as you were listening to that conversation that the two of them were 

having, who would you have sided with? I mean, who made the better 

argument, do you think? 

03-00:14:40  

Brown: I canôt remember the content. I really just found the encounter very 

fascinatingðnot fascinating, exciting. And thatôs not an analytic description, 

itôs just a statement or a description of my state of mind. Even though politics 

in itself is not always attractive to me, because it is the same old rhetoric and 

itôs not the most visionary undertaking in the mundane give and take and 

detail that you have to indulge in, but I thought that was exciting. So, there 

were other things that were interesting. Hearing my father talk with [William 

E.] ñBillò Warne on the water plan. So it was interesting, but itôs kind of a 

blur right now, because I was studying for the bar. Iôm a student, Iôm not in 

the life of Sacramento, didnôt know anybody. 

 So there it was. I just studied and would come down and have dinnerðmy 

father had dinner at home. We had a woman there, a maid, that did the 

cooking, and it was a perfectly fine house. Thatôs why I never know what the 

hell people are talking about when they said itôs a fire trap or unlivable. I 

know when I told Maria [Shriver], I said, ñMariaðyou ought to live there. Itôs 

great!ò she was shocked, and my wife was shocked. But then when I looked 

atðyou know, the water above the first floor wasnôt there, the toilets werenôt 

working. They let it goðforty years, run down. It shows youôve got to keep 

places up. But it was still quite a place. I remember, I donôt know whether it 

was when I was there for the summer, but there were dinners that they had, 

and I found thoseðI mean, it seemed like a perfect thing to do. And thatôs 

why I moved back in, because I could see that was really an opportunity for 
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the governor to make relationships and to have impact, to the extent that the 

meetings and socializing can do. 

03-00:17:21  

Shafer: Itôs interesting that that one conversation that you overheard really sparked 

your enthusiasm, and you knew then that politics is what you wanted. And itôs 

interesting, too, that you decided you wanted to be governor, because just a 

few years earlier you were trying to convince your dad to run for the senate. 

But it was thisðyou wanted to be governor. Thatôs what you wanted to be. 

03-00:17:42  

Brown: Well, the governor was there. [laughing] If heôd been a senator, it might have 

been a different story. Also, the path to governor was a little easier. Another 

Democrat, Tom Lynch, was the attorney general, and he lost, and I could see 

the path to the secretary of state. The guy had been there since 1942, Frank 

Jordan. So I said well, thatôs viable. Either he can be beaten, or he wonôt be 

around. So I figured I could do that. It seemed doable, practical. 

 I donôt do this all the time, but I get ideas. Iôm going to Santa Clara, Iôm going 

to join the Jesuits. Iôm going to Yale, or Iôm going to LA. That was a big 

discussion in the car pool, ñWhat the hell are you going to LA for?ò I said, 

ñLAôs where itôs at.ò In fact, there was a play, or maybe a novel, entitled, 

What Makes Sammy Run? Do you know that one by Budd Schulberg, maybe? 

03-00:19:00  

Shafer: Hmm, donôt know. 

03-00:19:00  

Brown: You might look it up. Yeah, Iôm going to make it big in LA! Thatôs the 

money, the mediaðthatôs where itôs at. Now, I knew that because my father 

used to live there during the summer and would carry on political activity 

during the summer. And a lot of the powerful people behind him were from 

LA. Now, San Francisco and Silicon Valley have become more powerful, but 

in those days it was savings & loan and other kind of people down in LA that 

made it. So it is unusual. In fact, itôs hard for me to even believe that I said, 

ñOkay, yeah, Iôd like to be governor.ò And I donôt knowðI may even be 

making it up, because weôre talking about 1965. Thatôs a long time from now. 

But I also remember when I got my mother to give me the shares to this ranch, 

I said, ñOkay, Iôm going to restore the Mountain House,ò so that was 1998. 

And now youôre shooting in Mountain House III. So I do things like that, not 

through a process, not through a stakeholder process. Right, Evan? We donôt 

do too many stakeholder processes. We probably should have. [laughter] 

03-00:20:27  

Westrup: We did a number. You didnôt always know about them. [laughing] 

03-00:20:30  

Brown: Yeah, I think thatôs very important. People often ask me whatôs your process? 

Someone said the other day, ñNow that youôre not the governor three months, 
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have you experienced closure?ò Whatever the hell that might be. [laughing] 

Or I think you asked, ñHow is your transition?ò You know, like thereôs 

something called a transition. It sounded like an initiation into the Eagle 

Scouts or something. Iôm not quite sure what it is. But the reality is not as 

framed with such exactitude or formality. And I experience things in a flow of 

life and experience and feelings and ideas and opportunities. So thatôs why 

these questions to give order to life always strike me as a little 

overdetermined. 

03-00:21:38  

Shafer: [laughing] Apologies. I want to just be sure I understand what youôre saying 

about that conversation with Jess Unruh. 

03-00:21:43  

Brown: Yeah. 

03-00:21:45  

Shafer: So was it pretty much then that you saw the path to being governor was 

through the secretary of state? 

03-00:21:51  

Brown: I canôt remember. I had my eye on the secretary of state for a long time. 

[laughing] I used to look at the ballot pamphlet when it came out, because 

elections wereðmy father was always running for something, so I would 

notice the election, the primary and the general. And I noticed the ballot 

pamphlet always had Frank Jordan, secretary of state, with the great seal. I 

always thought that was such a great titleðsecretary of state. And then, at 

some pointðI canôt tell you whenðI thought well, Iôve got a good name, 

Edmund G. Brown, and [if] I put secretary of state under it, thatôll be a good 

path, and it was. That was the idea. And a lot of it is luck, because I was the 

only Democrat. There was no lieutenant governor Democrat, there was no 

attorney general Democratðat that time. So it was a unique opportunity, and 

because the office had been, essentially, in the hands of two people since 

1913ðFrank Jordan and his father, with a slight interregnum of a guy named 

Peek, Paul Peekðthere were a lot of things not done. And so it opened up the 

opportunity on the elections, and particularly the campaign reporting, which 

basically wasnôt very strong at that time. 

03-00:23:21  

Shafer: Yeah, weôll come back to that story. Yeah. 

03-00:23:21  

Holmes: Well, Governorðwe do want to talk about you entering politics, but before 

we get there, I wanted to talk a little bit about your dadôs governorship. 

03-00:23:30  

Brown: Yeah. 
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03-00:23:30  

Holmes: How deeply were you engaged? I know you had a lot of your own things 

going on, but how much were you engaged with his two terms as governor? 

03-00:23:44  

Brown: Itôs hard to say. I went to a few governorôs conferences. I came up to 

Sacramento probably for some family dinners. Maybe Thanksgiving or maybe 

Easter, Christmas, because thatôs where they lived. They lived in the mansion. 

Thatôs where everything took place. Of course the legislature was out of 

session then, so I wouldnôt be involved really. Iôd sometimes come up with an 

idea or two. But the governorôs [office]ðitôs organized, with all these 

professionals and departments and agencies, so those things run in their own 

universe. 

 During the campaign things are a little more open. There are campaign rallies 

and things. I did a little get out the vote in ô62 in San Francisco, came home 

from Yale. I think I was doing a pretty good get out the voteðI remember 

where I did it, in LA on Bixel St. And I remember going to this one old 

apartment house. I had my little list and knocked on the door, and I think this 

couple must have been in bed, ñHey, youôve got to come out and vote.ò But I 

didnôt think that probably happened. Then somebody else, I knocked on the 

door andðñOh yeah,ò they didnôt respond too much. I might have gotten one 

person to go vote. And so that gave me a certain skeptical view of get out the 

vote, because I could see how hard it was, even for the son of the governor, 

totally motivated, to move people who otherwise had not decided to vote. So I 

was involved to that extent. 

 I was down in LA shortly after the Watts riots. I think I was in the hotel which 

was called the Town House. Now itôs the Sheraton, on Wilshire, where 

[Warren] Christopher met with my father and formed the idea of the McCone 

Commission, and he suggested [John A.] McCone. That was Christopherôs 

idea. So I listened. Not a lot I could add to that, and I went and visited San 

Quentin at some point, and Vacaville. I think I visited the juvenile facility as 

well, but I was doing that for my own understanding, my own learning about 

the system. Because at that point, when I wanted to be a psychologist, I 

wanted to go see how the group therapy programs worked in prison, and so 

thatôs what got me to that. 

 But as far as a role in theðyeah, for whatever reason, I donôt think I was that 

active in the campaign. Thereôs not much of a role. I mean youôre either 

raising money, youôre putting out press releases, youôre doing scheduling, 

youôre going from event to eventðthen youôve got to pick one of those, and 

youôve got people doing that. 

 It turns out in my campaigns we did have a lot of volunteers. And in 

presidential campaigns thereôs such a need for getting all around to a lot of 
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rallies. But in gubernatorial campaigns, particularly now, itôs mostly media, 

press releases. Although now, itôs less press releasesðnow itôs tweets. 

03-00:27:43  

Holmes: Your father addressed a lot of issues during his two terms as governor. One 

was the California State Water Project. 

03-00:27:50  

Brown: Yeah. 

03-00:27:51  

Holmes: The addendum to the Central Valley Project that was started in the 1930s. Do 

you have any thoughts on that? It was, on one hand, it was a massive 

undertakingðbillions of dollars passed in bond. 

03-00:28:05  

Brown: $1.9 billion, I think, which is a lot of money in todayôs dollars. 

03-00:28:10  

Holmes: Sure. It was a lot of money, especially in in 1959.  

03-00:28:17  

Brown: Well, the budget wasnôt even $1.9 billion, I think. 

03-00:28:21  

Holmes: [laughing] Yeah. What were your thoughts in regard to the state water 

project? 

03-00:28:26  

Brown: Well, I think he voted on that when I was still in the seminary. I think that was 

1959. A lot of his more important initiatives: the taxation, [California] Master 

Plan [for Higher Education], Clark Kerr and all that, I think that was done 

while I was in the seminary. Iôve read about the master plan and how they 

negotiated with the state colleges, but that was just more of a label, a title. 

And the same thing with the water plan. This water planðitôs not obvious, 

and you really have to go study it, the pumps and the channels, and all the rest 

of it, and all the different tributaries and the water rights. And I donôt think I 

realized that the California Central Valley Project has a pipe, and the 

California Water Project has a pipe. Iôm not sure how long they parallel each 

other, but thereôs a lot to that. And once it was done, then they started building 

it. It was a campaign statement. It was something that was done because it was 

needed. My father felt strongly about that. But after it was over, it was just 

something you talk about, the great water plan. And then after he was done, 

nobody talked about it. It was very little talked about. 

03-00:30:00  

Holmes: You also brought up the master plan. Both projects are huge undertakings, and 

even decades later, are looked at as California leading the way in these type of 

government-sponsored projects that benefit the state. Later on in your political 
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career, did your fatherôs undertaking of these kind of large projects also open 

up your horizons? 

03-00:30:31  

Brown: Iôm not sure. 

03-00:30:34  

Holmes: About other large projects? 

03-00:30:36  

Brown: I mean a projectðtheyôre all about the same size on television. 

03-00:30:43  

Holmes: [laughing] Thatôs true. 

03-00:30:43  

Brown: And thatôs the only time you know about them, unless youôre going to go sit 

there and follow the canal. And the water [project]ðit was a controversy 

during the time of obtaining the votes. And I remember during the Kennedy 

election, when Kennedy lostðalthough I think he was ahead on election 

nightðhe lost on the absentees, where the bond won. And my father was very 

excited about that. It barely won. So that was a political issue, but I didnôt 

fully grasp the significance. 

 The Metropolitan Water District, what the hell is that? And this little guy with 

a hat, Joe Jensenðhe was like [Jeffrey] Kightlingerðhe was the manager. 

And that was a big deal! The Metropolitan Water DistrictðI didnôt really 

know what that is. Itôs a big umbrella organization with a lot of water 

districtsðvery important. So they wanted the water. Then a lot of these 

growers wanted water, but I didnôt know any growers, so itôs a bit remote. It 

sounded importantðit was important! It still is, and weôre still fighting about 

it. But itôs complicated, and itôs expensive and has a lot of facets. Thatôs why 

it has taken so long on the completion, with the tunnels. Theyôll spin wheels 

for another couple of years on that. 

 Well, my father did get the bond, and he got the bond with the power of the 

Department of Water Resources to make the decisions without the legislature. 

Now, I donôt know whether that was in the bond or the Porter-Cologne [Water 

Quality Control] Act, but they said the legislature didnôt really have a say in 

the water plan. So that was off-budget, as it were, and they just did it. So 

thatôs why that system worked pretty well. 

 But these issuesðyou know, whatôs hot? The Rumford Act [California Fair 

Housing Act] was a big thing, in ô64, the fair housing. I remember going 

down to LA, and there was a housing tract that a guy I was staying with had 

said, ñCome on down.ò I was in LA at that time, so we were going to go 

protest. I went down with him. I think it was at like 92nd and Avalon. And I 

remember a young couple, and they said, ñDonôt do this. This is the only place 

we can afford, and this is our house, our dream house,ò whatever the hell, and 
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she had a baby in her hands. I remember I could see the anguish on the part of 

the people who wanted the neighborhood isolated, segregated. But we 

protested, so that was that. 

 And then when ô64 came along, Unruh said to my fatherðmy father, I 

remember him saying to meðñThat Unruh. He licks his finger and puts it up 

to the wind, and he said, óPat, itôs not time for this.ôò And my father said, ñOh 

no, this is the right thing.ò So he did it, and then it passed overwhelmingly. 

And this was the beginning of the [Samuel W.] Yorty Democrat or the South 

Gate Democrat, which at that time were mostly white people, they werenôt 

Latinos like they are today. And they were right on the edge, facing the 

African-American population. So that was a big deal, Prop. 64. Now, that was 

memorable, although that was in November, I was in South America in 

November, or maybe I was just leaving. So that was a big vote.  

 Unruh thought my father went too far. Then the people voted for it. And both 

the California and the Supreme Court found a way to invalidate it, the same 

way with [Proposition] 187. But you wonder what the Court would do today. 

But today, itôs something thatôs accepted, although people are talking about 

housing. They donôt talk about segregation, they talk about marginalized 

groups, they talk about the affordability crisis, they talk about the schools. So 

that was a big problem, and itôs still a problem in one form or another. But life 

was a little simpler then. You know, you just do the right thing. 

 But then the initiativeðthat was the beginning. So you not only had the 

initiative to kill fair housing, then you had the initiative to bar health and 

education for immigrants, undocumented immigrants. Then you had Prop. 13, 

then you had the one on affirmative action [Proposition 209]. then you had all 

these crime bills. Capital punishment passed a couple of times. In fact, there 

have been nineteen initiatives imposing more draconian penalties in one form 

or anotherðitôs eighteen or nineteen, and three now, in recent years, going in 

a more lenient direction. 

 So I think ô64 was a breakup there of the Democratic coalition. It was a 

beginningðcivil rights wasnôt as prominent. Of course we hadnôt had the 

environmental movement yet. We didnôt have the womenôs movement. The 

Democratic Party was a more coherent group. But still, Republicans managed 

to win, even though the Democrats were more unified. [laughing] 

 I donôt think I was that active in thatðnot in ô64. I got out, I was studying for 

the bar. Letôs see, in November I would have finished for the bar. I was 

working in the court. And thatôs kind of the world, and it was called the kidôs 

world or a young adultôs world. So thatôs why I always think that younger 

people tend not to vote. Their lives are exciting. Theyôre exploring, and lifeôs 

opening up, and they donôt want to sit around and read newspapers and get 

into these issues of one party yelling at the other party. So I was not as 

activeðthe only thing that drove me into politics was the Vietnam War, and I 
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joined the activists in the Democratic Party, called the California Democratic 

Council, and that was in ô67. 

03-00:38:14  

Shafer: Yeah, weôll get to that soon. I want to ask you about something else from 

1965, which was the beginning of the grape strike, and C®sar Ch§vezôs rise, I 

guess, within the farm worker movement. 

03-00:38:26  

Brown: Yeah. 

03-00:38:27  

Shafer: What do you remember about that? I know you had worked with another farm 

labor leader earlierð? 

03-00:38:33  

Brown: I didnôt get involved in that until later, maybe ô67, ô68. I knew a woman who 

took food up to the farm workers every week, and there was this march to the 

border. That might have been ô68, maybe ô69, Iôm not sure. Thatôs when I got 

involved in that. 

03-00:38:58  

Shafer: A little later on, yeah. 

03-00:38:59  

Brown: Yes. 

03-00:39:02  

Shafer: Okay. Letôs maybe talk about 1966? 

03-00:39:04  

Brown: Yeah, the law firm was a pretty busy time. It was challenging. It took time to 

get all that stuff done. 

03-00:39:13  

Shafer: The election of your dad versus Reagan. Having been at Berkeley, and he 

made BerkeleyðReaganðsort of the centerpiece of his campaign against 

your father. Going into that election, did you think your dad could win or 

would win? 

03-00:39:31  

Brown: No, I didnôt think he could win. I didnôt think he could win before I went to 

South America, and I expressed that view, but he said, ñSomebodyôs got to 

run.ò He was not a man that liked to ruminate and reflectðand maybe I like to 

do that too much, but that question was closed. I donôt know what the factor 

was. When I was at Berkeley, that breaks through the noise. When you take 

six hundred kids and have the [California] Highway Patrol and drag them 

down the steps of Sproul Hall, that sends a message. There is a problem, 

otherwise, why are you doing this? So you donôt have to think about it. Itôs an 

iconic signal, messageðand not a good one, from the point of view if youôre 
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the chief executive and order is supposed to be your responsibility. This was 

disorder. And then, of course, we had the Free Speech Movementðthey had 

obscenities on signs. 

 And then you had the stuff of the welfare abuses. I think if you check, welfare 

starting the first year of Kennedy, maybe later, it really increased, more than 

two times, even though the economy was growing. The welfare rolls grew 

significantly, because some of the legal changes, they loosened up, and so 

there was a welfare growth. And then the Watts riots, and all that specterðso 

when youôre the incumbent, thatôs bad news. When youôre the change man, 

like Ronald Reaganð. He was always impeccably dressed. His suits were 

pressed, his hair was properly trimmed. And he was a matineeðI donôt know 

if he was an idol, but he was a matinee figure that could easily slide in. So he 

was something they didnôt quite know what to do with. 

 That was the political environment, a pretty tough environment to beat. And 

of course no one had made a third term. In fact, no Democrat had made a 

second term. Like second terms only started somewhere around Hiram [W.] 

Johnson, [he] was the first governor to get a second term. [Earl] Warren had 

three terms, but Warren was sui generisðhe was his own kind. So that was a 

tough uphill battle, a third term. 

03-00:42:40  

Shafer: How did your family, how did you, how did your dad react to the loss? 

03-00:42:43  

Brown: Iôm sure he didnôt. Itôs never easy losing but he had a pretty remarkable 

buoyancy. He bounced right back. He had a good sense that he called his Irish 

sense of humor. So I remember that night he was feeling down, so that was 

poignant. But he got going, and did things, talked to people, got some law 

business going, and he was pretty dynamic, pretty active. They said about my 

father, and his brother, that they were go-getters. That was the phrase: go-

getter, and he didnôt stop just because he lost. I think it was kind of hard to 

pull away. He had a more literal belief in the democratic agenda, as it were. 

And I kind of see different sides of these issues and programs, and see some 

of their paradoxical consequences. But he really felt that what he was doing 

was right. And he felt, in later years, that Reagan was wrecking the 

government and putting the government down. And government, for him, was 

a good word. And government for Reagan was not a good word, and it 

became, even for Clinton, not a good word. 

 So I see these things asðyou know, theyôre waves. The tide comes in, it goes 

out. And the wave of government enthusiasmðmy father called it responsible 

liberalismðI think Fred Dutton gave him that term. Well, responsible 

liberalism, that didnôt work in 1966. They didnôt want liberalism, and they 

didnôt want to take responsibility for all these things that my father thought 

were important. So the water plan didnôt count, master planðthat was the 
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sense of disorder in getting things back on track, when things worked in 

California. That was the Reagan idea for governor, and it was, I think, the 

Reagan idea for president. 

03-00:45:08  

Holmes: What were your impressions of Ronald Reagan? 

03-00:45:12  

Brown: I had lunch with him right after I was elected secretary of state. He served a 

hamburger on a tray, and a Coke, and we talked. Distant. It was really like 

being in the presence of a movie star. He wasnôt like just chatting. It wasnôt 

normal political talk. He was a little distant, and you felt the formality of it all. 

But he certainly looked the role. He played the role, he was the role, quite 

exactly. And I donôt know what he was like as a human being. They say he 

was very friendly and was good to people on an individual basis. I know he 

had this notion that freedomðI remember listening to a speech that he gave in 

the governorôs race, that if we donôt stop socialism or the forces of what, anti-

Americanism, the people who are in the coal mines, slaving away, will never 

forgive us. So he had these dramatic waysðthey were dramatic, but they 

werenôt threatening to the people he was winning over. So he spoke inðand 

this is not the best word, but itôll have to sufficeðhe spoke in more generic 

terms. He didnôt talk about bills or numbers. It was always large issues, and 

youôd have to look at what he said. He was a good storyteller, he had a good 

sense of humor. I think he was a good writer, had a good way with words. I 

also saw him talk after he became governorðI donôt know if I mentioned, I 

went to Carl Greenbergôs retirement dinner at the Century Plaza. 

03-00:47:25  

Holmes: Remind us who that is? 

03-00:47:25  

Brown: We havenôt talked about that. 

03-00:47:26  

Holmes: No. 

03-00:47:28  

Brown: Carl Greenberg was the political editor of the LA Times. A name that everyone 

in your position would know. [laughter] But like everything else, in time 

everything passes. So he was there, my father spoke and gave his talk, and 

then Reagan spokeðsomething about Hollywood, being an actor, the stars, 

the dream. I canôt remember it, but it was a beautiful speech. It wasnôt long, I 

just remember the word stars and Hollywood and maybe the word dreams. 

And so that was exciting. Just listening to him was excitingðI thought, 

anyway. Other people didnôt. Democrats didnôt like the sight of him. 

 But he had that image, and then later as president, the ñMorning in America.ò 

You could see that it was morning in California, from his cinemagraphic 

rhetorical presentation. So that was interesting, and he had a sense of humor. 
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He was against withholding, and then he had to adopt withholding. So he said, 

my feet are in concrete. He said the sounds you hear are the cracking of 

concreteðor something. Good sense of humor. So then he went for 

withholding.  

03-00:49:12  

Shafer: Withholding beingð? 

03-00:49:14  

Brown: Withholding the income tax. They didnôt withhold before Reagan. So he had 

something. His ideological antipathy to the Russians was pretty strong. He 

used the word evil empire. Itôs a strong phrase. And yet, after talking with 

George [P.] Shultz, and I presume others, he decided he could work with 

[Mikhail] Gorbachev. I think [Margaret H.] ñMaggieò Thatcher liked 

Gorbachev too. So they [Reagan and Gorbachev] had their meeting in 

Reykjavik, and I guess he was prepared for that. That may have been the last 

meeting between a Russian and American president where they talked with 

such congeniality. 

 So whatever it was, he certainly was rigid when it came to a lot of democratic 

political ideas. But in the overall storyðand of course hisðhe cut the taxes 

and built a pretty big deficit up, a huge deficit. He started that. Built up a lot of 

military, and came in there with Caspar Weinberger and the Committee on the 

Present Danger, and he really fanned the flames of fear. I donôt know what 

impact, but it had some impact. But anyway, he could pivot. In the same way, 

but different, Nixon pivoted to China after making a career of attacking Red 

China. ñWho lost China? [Dean] Acheson, Trumanòðthat was Nixonôs game. 

So, theyôre very different men, but they were able to be effective on some 

things. And other things they did, particularly the deficit and the unions; he 

certainly was not friendly there at all. And so Iôd contrast that with the 

polarized environment that weôre finding now. 

03-00:51:35  

Shafer: In ô66, it seems like your father thought that Reagan would be the easier of the 

two. 

03-00:51:43  

Brown: Some people around him must have thought that. 

03-00:51:45  

Shafer: He didnôt? He wasnôt sure about it? 

03-00:51:47  

Brown: Maybe he was. I mean certainly the people around him did, because they were 

thinking [George] Christopher, mayor, solid guy. Was he a lieutenant 

governor, Christopher? Iôm not sureð 

03-00:52:00  

Shafer: No. 
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03-00:52:01  

Brown: No, he ran for lieutenant governor. But by that kind of traditional calculus, 

Christopher had a strong biography, but they didnôt calculate the mediagenic 

quality of Reagan, the visuality, and also the sound of campaigns, that Reagan 

mastered. So they didnôt understand thatðand also that you donôt have to be a 

professional. I guess they didnôt have an actor beforeðalthough we did have 

George [L.] Murphy. He was elected in ô64, I believe, right? 

03-00:52:44  

Shafer: Yeah. 

03-00:52:44  

Holmes: Yeah, to the senate. [John V.] Tunney beats him in ô68. 

03-00:52:51  

Brown: No, but he was beat by [S.I.] Hayakawa. 

03-00:52:54  

Holmes: Not Murphy. 

03-00:52:54  

Brown: Murphy beat somebody. Oh, Murphy beat [Pierre] Salinger, and Salinger beat 

[Alan] Cranston. So Salinger was the Kennedy [press secretary]ðright there 

in Camelot. Youôd think he was really someone. He wasnôt; he didnôt look 

that good. He was a little overweight and a little short. He didnôt look like 

Reagan, who was a man of great statureðin looks, anyway. So yeah, the actor 

won in ô64, and the actor won in ô66. So now you can have Trump, you can 

have other people. So itôs open now. Weôre into this new media world, and I 

think Reagan was one of the pioneers. 

03-00:53:40  

Shafer: What did you take from Reagan? Did you look at him and did you learn 

things? Youôre obviously very different people. 

03-00:53:47  

Brown: Well, I learned that Democrats who leave deficits and spend too much money 

lose elections. At least that happened in one instance, because he was 

pounding away on the mountain of debtðhe had a specter. And of course, in 

some literal way itôs all very silly, because the budget was a billion or two, 

and now itôs $200 billion. Now, depending on whether youôre talking about 

the general fund or the overall budget, but that was the mood. These are 

moods. These are widespread shared beliefs, and he was able to flow with 

those beliefs and make his mark in that context. And other people, for 

whatever reason, donôt pick up on that contemporary belief system, but he was 

pretty good at it. His moment was then, at that moment. But he also had the 

histrionic ability. The acting ability was pretty good. 
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03-00:54:51  

Holmes: Well, itôs interesting too, considering that if you look at when Reagan left 

office, he also left a mountain of debt and also raised taxes during those eight 

years. 

03-00:54:58  

Brown: Well, he did raise taxes. Taxes werenôt the bogeyman for Republicans they are 

now. I remember Tom Quinn told me once that Sam Yorty told his father, 

who worked for Sam Yorty, that people donôt mind taxes. I canôt remember 

the context, but I remember the statement. And I think taxes are always a 

problem, but theyôre nothing like the article of faith that they have become for 

Republicans. It is almost their keyðbigger than some of the religious issues. 

In fact, tax now is a religious issue. In fact, all issues are religious: abortion, 

gay marriage, climate change, taxesðtheyôre all evil in some profound way 

that was never the case on normal issues. So thatôs what happened on that. 

Yeah, I think that idea youôve got to watch spending. 

 And I didnôt know, as I do now, that the business cycle is so regular and so 

inexorable, because it goes up and it goes down. I donôt know why this wasnôt 

obvious to everybody. Since the time of Reagan weôve had a lot of recessions 

and a lot of recoveries. So if you chart that, you can see the regularity. And we 

know, from finance analysts, that the deficits are much bigger now than they 

would be under Reagan. Reaganôs deficit, I thought, was $500 million on a 

$24 million budget. But it turned out that he didnôt have a deficitðhe was 

already in a recovery. And thatôs the problem with the budget. The budget is a 

moving target; itôs a moving reality. 

 So I took over in January. That budget was put together in December, and 

they make a forecast. I forget what it was, but I would say, ñWhoa, tax 

revenues donôt look good.ò But over the next year, they started pouring in, so 

we had a $5 billion surplus, and we didnôt know that we had that, because Iôd 

reserved a couple billion for property tax relief, so that doesnôt show as 

surplus. But when my property tax solution failed, then that money that was 

held aside went back into the deficit number, and the thing popped up to 

around $5 billion, and thatôs how it grows so quickly. Thatôs how itôs growing 

now. It grows very quickly until it stops growing. And [George] Deukmejian 

had the benefit of a recovery and a very large job creation, and then it fell 

apart in the recession that [Pete] Wilson experienced, which was very big and 

very challengingðand he had to raise taxes. And then the same thing 

happened to [Gray] Davis, and the same thing happened to [Arnold] 

Schwarzenegger. And I thought it would happen to me, but it didnôt. 

03-00:58:14  

Shafer: Yeah, you had good timing. 

03-00:58:16  

Brown: That was very good timing. Both Deukmejian and I were fortunate that it was 

basically recovery all the way. 
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03-00:58:27  

Shafer: Letôs talk about your move to LA, 1966 was it? What year did you move 

down to LA? 

03-00:58:35  

Brown: ô66, to be in my fatherôs campaign. 

03-00:58:37  

Shafer: Yeah, and so you worked at Tuttle & Taylor? 

03-00:58:39  

Brown: Yeah. 

03-00:58:40  

Shafer: How did you choose that law [firm]ð? 

03-00:58:42  

Brown: Sixth and Grand. Well, Bill Norris. I knew Bill Norris. He worked on my 

fatherôs campaigns. He was vice president of the state board of ed., so Iôd run 

into him. He came in to talk to me when I was a supreme court law clerk, and 

I said fine, Iôll come down and interview. I did, so he made an offer. 

03-00:59:02  

Shafer: What did you think of working in a law firm? 

03-00:59:07  

Brown: I liked it. I wanted to learn about business. I didnôt know anything about 

business, so that was my chance. We defended businessesðnot defended, 

more, we did some litigation, but a lot of it was business, securities filing. We 

had to file with the SEC. You had to check everything out and make 

disclosures. It was tedious. Itôs not my normal cup of tea, but the people were 

honest, they were hard working. And probably my greatest experience there 

was I wrote my first memorandum. Iôd been writing memoranda for thirteen, 

fourteen months in the supreme court. This was twenty-five or twenty-seven 

pages, and Bill Norris sat me down and he started crossing out. By the time he 

finished, we were down to seven pages. I couldnôt believe it. It was a shocker, 

because nobody had ever given me that level of editing. And that left a very 

strong impression. I thought these were put together pretty good. But no, so he 

just crossed it out. So, that affected how I did things for the rest of my timeð

and still, as governor. I view a lot of things that are the equivalent of twenty-

five pages, and theyôre worth, at best, six pages. And thatôs kind of what I 

experienced most of theðnot most of the timeðthe overwhelming time of 

people presenting things. 

03-01:00:51  

Shafer: Well, you were known for your short state-of-the-state speeches. 

03-01:00:54  

Brown: Well, but I was taught by a guy who went to Stanford, was at Stanfordð

Warren Christopher, smart guy. Thatôs what he thought. He was a federal 
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judge, and he was a clever guy. He was a good lawyer. He was a top lawyer 

by far.  

03-01:01:16  

Shafer: So you moved to LA, and youôd said a while ago that you saw that LA was 

where it was atð 

03-01:01:27  

Brown: Oh, from a political point of view. 

03-01:01:29  

Shafer: So say more about that.  

03-01:01:30  

Brown: Well, Iôd go to fundraisers during my fatherôs ô66 campaignðwell, I guess I 

lived down in LA. I lived at his place on Muirfield Road He rented a house 

there, and so I stayed there during the campaign, probably when I came back 

from South America, from March through the election, through the end of the 

year. Well, I already had the law firm there, but it just seemed like more 

exciting. San Francisco, this is before, you know, the Grateful Dead and the 

Jefferson Airplane. This hadnôt happened yetðI think. Yeah, ô64ðno, itôs not 

around yet. So LA seemed more exciting to me. 

03-01:02:18  

Shafer: Was it like partly the Hollywood thing? 

03-01:02:21  

Brown: No, not the Hollywood thing. More of the business, the political. This is 

whereðwell, Unruh was from LA; Gene Wyman, my fatherôs fundraiser, was 

from LA; [Lew] Wasserman was from LA. People that I met through him 

were in LA. 

03-01:02:39  

Shafer: [Howard] Berman-[Henry] Waxman. 

03-01:02:41  

Brown: Well, they came later. 

03-01:02:42  

Shafer: A little later. 

03-01:02:43  

Brown: I didnôt know about them then. 

 [side conversation deleted] 

03-01:02:51  

Shafer: Yeah, so 1968, big year. LBJ decides not to run, and you got connected with 

Gene McCarthy. 



 Oral History Center, The Bancroft Library, University of California, Berkeley 117 

 

03-01:03:03  

Brown: Yeahðwell, yeah. 

 [side conversation deleted] 

03-01:03:13  

Shafer: Well, we were talking about 1968. The war, obviously, was heating up and 

protests were heating up. Lyndon Johnson decided not to run for reelection. 

But before we get to the presidential campaign, were you eligible to be 

drafted?  

03-01:03:38  

Brown: Well, I was eligibleðletôs see, they didnôt draft you after twenty-six, so I was 

twenty-seven when I graduated. I had a deferment to go to law school, and 

thatôs the only deferment I had, was law school. Of course when I was in the 

seminary, I also had a deferment. So yeah, no one got drafted out of law 

school that I remember. 

03-01:04:05  

Shafer: Did you ever think what you would have done if youôd been drafted? 

03-01:04:06  

Brown: No. I hadnôt thought about it. 

03-01:04:08  

Shafer: No. It never came up. 

03-01:04:08  

Brown: Never cameðwell, it didnôt happen. But I remember when I was in Chile, at 

somebodyôs house on some evening, there was a guy named Maurice Zeitlin, 

who was a teacherðactivist kind of character. And he was saying how the 

CIA, theyôre bombing this and bombing that, and how bad Vietnam was. I 

remember thinkingðthe guy is a little extreme. So that was a thought in my 

mind. At least I heard that. Then, when I got backðthis would have been the 

early summer of ô67ðso I think, it wasnôt the Tet Offensive yet, but they 

were bombing. 

 [side conversation deleted] 

03-01:05:22  

Brown: I just went to law school. I think thatôs 2-S or something, and I was twenty-

seven when I got out. So, thatôs the last I heard of it. I didnôt have a deferment 

after I left law school, but they werenôt drafting at that age. 

 I remember I called up John [L.] Burton or somebody from CDC [California 

Democratic Council]ðmight have been somebody else, I canôt remember. 

But they had a convention, and the CDC was an activist wing of the 

Democratic Party. Alan Cranston was an instrumental guy, and they were 

instrumental in my fatherôs nomination in ô58. And so they were having a 

convention, and I proposed a resolution to stop the bombing and start talks 
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with North Vietnam. I donôt know what it said, but we worked out a 

resolution. I think there were two resolutions. One further out than mine. And 

we had a bunch of people, and I spoke on it, and it was just kind of cease 

bombing/start negotiations. Thatôs what it was. And so it passed, and I gave a 

talk. 

 That was August, and out of that came the peace slate ô68, with [Gerald N.] 

ñJerryò Hill and a lady named Jo Sedita. And so that got formulated, and we 

put the peace slate on the ballot. Iôm not sure whether McCarthy was part of 

that peace slate, or whether we endorsed him later, but the peace slate 

signatures qualified. I remember going down and appearing at the registrar, 

and it was in the newspaper. We qualified. And then McCarthy was coming 

around, and we picked him. It was very exciting. He lost in New Hampshire, 

but did pretty well. And then, it looked like he was going to win Wisconsin, 

and then Johnson pulled out, and then [Robert F.] Kennedy jumped in, and 

then it got more muddled. So I was in the McCarthy campaign. 

03-01:08:01  

Shafer: What was it about McCarthy that you liked, besides the antiwar position? 

03-01:08:05  

Brown: Well, first of all, he was the antiwar candidate, before Kennedy. So that gave 

him a certain purity, clarity, persuasiveness. And I liked his speeches; he was 

eloquent. He spoke in a very high-minded way, kind of akin to Stevenson in 

some ways. Bobby was a little more razzle-dazzleðjust a different kind of 

speaker. McCarthy was a little cool, and people remarked on that. And I liked 

him; I got to know him. He had a reporter named Shana Alexander that would 

show around, and weôd sometimes have a drink after one of his speeches. He 

did a lot of talking, and it was fun to talk to him. Heôd been studying for the 

priesthood briefly. 

 So the peace slate was all very exciting, going against Johnson. But somehow, 

when he got out, he didnôt realize it, but after a few days or weeks it became a 

very different kind of race. And then with Kennedy, it became difficult, and 

Bobby was able to win Californiaðand that was that. I was there on the night 

of the assassination. I was at the Hilton. Thatôs where McCarthy was. In fact, I 

was sitting next to Robert Lowell when we heard that Kennedy had been shot. 

So that was another downbeat, as far as politics is concerned. 

 And then we went back to the convention, and I was an alternate delegate, 

alternate Kennedy delegate, which wasnôt much of a role. But I spent time 

talking to McCarthy, talked to some of the other people. I didnôt get involved 

in the activities down on the ground, in the park. I had a friend of mine, who 

was filming there. I met him, and I can only remember he said, ñElectoral 

politics sucks.ò And he was doing a film. Of course, he moved to Canada and 

never came back. In fact, Iôm still in touch with him, but I havenôt seen him in 

years. So then I came back, because the convention didnôt seem too 
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satisfactory at that point. But there was going to be a Humphrey vote, and 

there it was. 

03-01:10:54  

Shafer: And your father was supporting Humphrey at that point? 

03-01:10:55  

Brown: Yeah. 

03-01:10:56  

Shafer: You and your dad had a disagreement about the war too, right? 

03-01:11:01  

Brown: We did a show where we took either side. Of course, it was very easy, because 

Iôm on the outside; heôs on the inside, and Johnson was very nice to him. So, I 

can see now that Iôm an incumbent, that thereôs a very different positioning 

than when you just come out of the wilderness and you start saying things. Itôs 

easier. 

03-01:11:28  

Shafer: [to Holmes] So do you want to talk about the first campaign? 

03-01:11:32  

Holmes: Actually, yeah, in a minute, but I had a follow-up question in regard to your 

fatherôs support for LBJ, and then later Humphrey. 

03-01:11:40  

Brown: Right. 

03-01:11:41  

Shafer: Some reports were saying that he thought that this splitting, this support for 

McCarthy was helping the Republicanôs chances. 

03-01:11:50  

Brown: He never said that to me. See, a lot of people make comments based on 

plausibility. You can say well, Democrats are divided. Thatôs helping the 

other guy. Well, thatôs a general statement. But empirically, is that true? Did it 

happen? And I can tell you it didnôt happen. 

03-01:12:17  

Holmes: How would you compareð? 

03-01:12:18  

Brown: Because thatôs a political-science comment. My father was not a political 

science kind of thinker. He was a down-to-earth politician. Heôd be more, ñDo 

what you think is right,ò or something. That would be more of his point of 

view, not some political calculation. 

03-01:12:39  

Holmes: Before we move on from the ô68 campaign, what were your observations or 

even your own feelings about Kennedy and McCarthy going head to head in 
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these kind of elections? Because in many respects, a lot of people would say 

they held the same positions. 

03-01:12:59  

Brown: They were very different though. Kennedy appealed to more working-class 

minorities, Hispanic, African American. Kennedy won Indianaðthatôs a 

tough state. McCarthy won Oregon, a little whiter state. Kennedy was a little 

more working classðwas able to appeal to the more of a working-class type. 

McCarthy was a little more highbrow. So yeah, he probably didnôt connect 

with that part of the electorate, as witnessed by the results. But it was still a 

close election. And McCarthy, I would say, got some of his votes from the 

conservative areas that were not very pro-antiwar. Like I think he carried Kern 

County, and I havenôt looked to see some of the other places. But I would bet 

that people knew that Kennedy was the Democrat that if you were a 

conservative, you didnôt likeðeven a conservative Democrat, of which there 

were a number. 

03-01:14:24  

Shafer: Do you think, looking back on it, you could see the beginnings of a racial 

cleavage within California? 

03-01:14:35  

Brown: Oh, you could see that in Prop. 14 in 1964. 

03-01:14:41  

Shafer: The housing. 

03-01:14:42 

Brown: The fair housing. Yeah, so that was four years before. And even in the Reagan 

election. 

03-01:14:51  

Holmes: You mentioned Kern County. Do you think also, with Robert Kennedy, 

because of his early support of Chávez and the farm worker movement 

thatð? 

03-01:15:00  

Brown: That might haveðmaybe that was it. Could be. There werenôt many Latino 

voters then, like there are now. 

03-01:15:09  

Shafer: I think the first political position that you had was you were appointed to the 

LA County Delinquency and Crime Commission. 

03-01:15:18  

Brown: Right. 

03-01:15:20  

Shafer: You were appointed by Kenny Hahn, I think. 
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03-01:15:21  

Brown: Right. 

03-01:15:22  

Shafer: [An LA County] supervisor. Was that an issue that you had a particular 

interest in? 

03-01:15:30  

Brown: I have an interest in criminal justice, but it was obviously something toð

actually, it wasnôt the first position. My father appointed me, in December 

of ô66, to the narcotic evaluation advisory. It was an advisory board to the 

Narcotic [Addict Evaluation] Authority, I think in Norco or Corona, where 

they had an institution for civil committed addicts. And they had a special 

board, and that board existed until after I was governor. I wasnôt on the board 

itself. I had an unpaid position for just advisory. So that was the first thing. 

That didnôt amount to much, but I met [Raymond K.] ñRayò Procunier, who 

later became the head of Paroles [Board of Parole Hearings, appointed by Pat 

Brown], who later became the head of [California Department of] Corrections. 

We had a meeting in the prison. I donôt know how many meetings I went toð

not very many. But I got a sense of things, and that was helpful, because Iôd 

visited prisons before. This gave me another chance at that. 

 The Crime and Delinquency CommissionðI didnôt think of it in political 

terms. It was something to talk about, and what did I have to offer, so that was 

something. And gangs were an issue, delinquency, which I didnôt understand 

at the timeðI understand nowðthese committees have limited impact, 

limited reach, limited authority. But I went to the meetings, and I think a 

former trade negotiator, Hillðnot Hill, but she was a Republican type, and 

she was on the board, and she was pretty good. Not Norma. She was a trade 

negotiator, I think, under Reagan. But anyway, so it was interesting. I did that, 

and that was instructive. These were all opportunities to learn about how 

government worked, what this process was, and so I was trying to understand, 

just how does the political government process work? Most people donôt 

really have an idea of what it is, but after you sit on a few commissions, work 

in a few campaigns, you begin to get a sense of what this activity is. 

03-01:18:18  

Shafer: And seeing it maybe up close, as a member of the commission, did it give you 

sort of aðI donôt know what the right word isðnot inspire you necessarily, 

but did it make you feel like, government matters. Itôs important, it does 

thingsðor did it seem like kind of make-work in a way? Because you said it 

wasnôt really going to have much of an impact. 

03-01:18:36  

Brown: Well, I didnôt know what it would do, but I learned things. Itôs hard to tell. 

These advisory commissions, they do reports, and supervisors listen. Itôs part 

of their political outreach; government just canôt be in a room. Itôs got to have 

connectivity to the electorate, although the connectivity is very thin and very 
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shallow in that sense. But I was interested both because it was something that 

I was able to do and say I was in, and it was interesting, it was on crime. 

Crime was a big deal. Reagan ran on crime, I think. So I thought that was a 

good position to be connected to. 

 I wouldnôt say that it had a big impact either way, but it was valuable in the 

sense that it gave me a window into that county criminal justice system. And 

also, I had a chance to talk to Kenny Hahn, who had been my fatherôs friend. 

But I got to talk to Hahn, and he was definitely a character out of the old 

system. You know, he talked: ñHereôs my black representative, hereôs my 

Catholic representative.ò He had all these bodies, all these people, that were in 

charge of these various ethnic populations and voting blocks. So that was a 

pretty overt inclusion of your political constituencies, that I thoughtðwell, he 

didnôt make any bones about it, and in an old-fashioned way. Today, theyôre 

doing the same thing, under the rubric of inclusivity and diversity. He didnôt 

have either of those words, but he knew he had to have links, he knew he 

needed his blacks and his Mexican Americans and whateverðhis pastors, and 

he did it. 

So the reason I say thatðwhen I went in to get sworn in, he walked me down 

the hall and pointed at the pictures of all these various people. Heôs in charge 

of this group, heôs in charge of another group. It seemed old fashioned at the 

time. I wonôt say unsophisticated, because it was sophisticated at one level. 

But it wasnôt sophisticated as you would see in a UCLA graduate seminar, 

where people would talk with much more high-blown language. This was just 

his gut-level understanding of how you get elected in the city of LA. 

03-01:21:52  

Shafer: What did you take from that? 

03-01:21:54  

Brown: Well, I thought he was a little bit of a caricature, to some extent. But then you 

knew he won, so I donôt know what toð 

03-01:22:06  

Shafer: That wasnôt lost on you. 

03-01:22:09  

Brown: No. But he was old fashioned. It wasnôt something Iôm going to do. I wouldnôt 

do it that way. I wouldnôt talk aboutðyeah, it seemed a little not right, to say, 

ñOh yeah, this is my black liaison,ò or something. You want to pretend youôre 

kind of open to everybody and somewhat colorblind, but making sure youôre 

covering all your bases. I think we like to be a little more dexterous in our 

maneuverings. He was just simple and right out there. So there was an honesty 

and a transparency that has been made more difficult by all the political 

correctness, the rules of all this behavior. You can do this, but you canôt do 

that. I think weôve added on a lot of taboos and rules in the last forty years, all 

in the guise of improving public trust. But it hasnôt done that. It hasnôt made 
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the process any easierða little bit in some ways, but not really in too many 

ways. Not much. 

03-01:23:25  

Shafer: You mentioned that Reagan had gotten elected, of course, on this sort of clean 

up Berkeley, and there was concern about crime. And Reagan was definitely 

sort of a tough on crime kind of guyð 

03-01:23:36  

Brown: And I donôt know that it was about issues either. It was like thereôs a chance 

for something new. Maybe in todayôs terms weôd call him a shiny new object, 

and that seems to be very important. That hope springs eternal, and hereôs 

somebody we havenôt seen. Heôs talking good, heôs looking good, and he can 

bring together all the contradictions and make them sound not contradictory. 

And thatôs what he was able to do, and he kept that going for most of his 

governorshipðfor all of his governorship, I think.  

03-01:24:11  

Shafer: At the same time, I think Sam Yorty was sort of a tough-on-crime mayor of 

LA, right? Is that fair to say?  

03-01:24:19  

Brown: Well, he was there with Police Chief [William H.] Parker. It was Parker, and 

thatôs what they called himðhis last name. The LAPD were tough. They 

didnôt have the same size as other cities, I understand they had a smaller 

police force, but they made up for it by their tough policing. And so Yorty 

backed the police, and they would align against my father from time to time. 

So maybe thatôs another reason I thought of LA as being of some power. 

03-01:25:03  

Shafer: But I guess my point was going to be that there you are suddenly on this 

commission, this crime commission and youôre in this environment ofð 

03-01:25:10  

Brown: A big anticrimeðyeah, thereôs a big law and order, definitely. Itôs hard to 

remember now, itôs been so long ago. But that was the idea, to try to deal with 

that, come up with ideas. 

03-01:25:23  

Shafer: I guess what Iôm wondering isðyou were obviously thinking about running 

for office, at that point, very much? 

03-01:25:28  

Brown: Yeah, I was, yeah. 

03-01:25:29  

Shafer: And you were thinking: hereôs an opportunity for me to meet people and make 

a name for myself and to be able to say, when I run for office, I did this on 

this commission. So how did you think about what you might do on that 

commission that might help you? 
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03-01:25:43  

Brown: Well, you know, I was looking for problems to solve: ñOh my God, these 

gangs are getting out of control. Weôve got to crack down on it.ò I wasnôt sure 

how I was going to do it. I didnôt know. But I certainly thought that I could do 

something, but it wasnôt clear to me. And obviously, itôs an advisory 

commission, so you tell the supervisors. But you highlight problemsðyou 

exposeðso I knew that was a possibility. You could highlight gang activity. 

This was a time, by the way, when predators, young predators, theyôd say, 

ñThese characters were incorrigible people. Weôve got to lock them up for a 

long time.ò It wasnôt three strikes. That came in the 1990s. But they were in 

the beginnings of the law-and-order mode, which didnôt exist during early 

Reagan, didnôt exist in my fatherôs time, didnôt exist, I donôt think, under 

Knight and Warren. So this was part of that. 

 And Yorty was a political character. He originally had been a left-of-center 

Democrat as an assemblyman, and then he became a conservative Democrat. 

So he got more conservative. I think he got elected on separating the garbage. 

I donôt know if youôve read that. But yeah, he was going to stop this 

separation of garbage. That was one of his issues, against [Norris] Poulson. 

And then, of course, when he was running against [Thomas J.] Bradley, it 

added a real racial element, but I donôt think he had that in the beginning. It 

became an opportunity. You know, in politics, itôs like a market. And you 

have opportunities, and you either seize them or somebody else seizes them, 

but you canôt stand still. Somebody else will jump. So itôs like Bobby 

Kennedy. He waited, but then McCarthy jumped in. 

03-01:28:03  

Shafer: Thatôs a good transition, I think, to your running for Community College 

Board of Trustees maybe. The legislature separated out community colleges 

from K-14. 

03-01:28:12  

Brown: Yeah. 

03-01:28:13  

Shafer: So how did youðand obviously that wasnôtðyou didnôt think that was going 

to be your final stopping point. [laughing] 

03-01:28:17  

Brown: No. 

03-01:28:18  

Shafer: How did you see that? 

03-01:28:20  

Brown: Well, itôs very interesting. I had met this guy before, maybe in the McCarthy 

campaign. I later made him a judge. I was down in the hotel, down there in 

downtown, the old hotelð 
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03-01:28:46  

Gust Brown: That must have been The Biltmore? 

03-01:28:48  

Brown: The Biltmore, the Biltmore. And I donôt know, I was walking out of a 

meeting. We had some meeting. Bill Norris had a meeting called Committee 

for California. I donôt know if that was itðmay not have been. But anyway, I 

met this guy, and he shook my hand. And I said, ñWhat are you shaking my 

hand for?ò And he said, ñWell, Iôm running for office.ò I said, ñWhat are you 

running for?ò ñIôm running for the Community College Board of Trustees.ò I 

said, ñWhat the hell is that?ò He said, ñWell, itôs this new board weôve got in 

LA.ò Hmm, pretty interesting. So I walked out and I said, ñHey, thatôs what 

Iôm going to do,ò so I did it. Just that simple. 

03-01:29:26  

Shafer: Yeah, and you and 132 other people I think, right? 

03-01:29:30  

Brown: Yeah, because it was a new board. So politicians love to go where thereôs no 

incumbent. I think it was 134 counting myself. 

03-01:29:39  

Shafer: Yeah, I think youôre right. So that was your first time you were on the ballot, 

right? 

03-01:29:45  

Brown: Right. 

03-01:29:47  

Shafer: So how did you think that through? 

03-01:29:49  

Brown: How did I think it through? 

03-01:29:51  

Shafer: Yeah, I meanðhow you were going to present yourself on the ballot, how you 

were going to campaign? 

03-01:29:57  

Brown: Well, first of all, I went to my friend Richard L. Maullin, who Iôd met in 

Bogota, Colombia, who died last week, and he was at RAND, and he 

introduced me to this guy. And I got a little bit of knowledge about program 

budgeting. I had a little interest in education. And I had a little skeptical view 

of education as well as a deep appreciation for it. But so I got a few ideas. 

Weôre going to make the budget connect with the policy of the program as 

well as the money. So I did have a little bit of substance there. And I didnôt 

have much money. I went through my fatherôs campaign list, and I raised 

$15,000 for the primary and $15,000 for the generalðapproximately $30,000. 

So I did one mailing. I did a few radio ads, and I had maybe twenty billboards 

that said, ñBrown, Trustee,ò or something like that. And that was it. Now, I 



 Oral History Center, The Bancroft Library, University of California, Berkeley 126 

 

donôt know, but I was Edmund G. Brown, and it was alphabetical, so I was 

pretty early up. And my father had only been governor three years before, I 

probably had 95 percent name ID, so that helpsðI came in first. 

 By the way, that not only worked then, but it worked several years later [in 

1998]. When I ran for mayor of Oakland, I came in first. And there were 

eleven other candidatesðtwo Latinos and nine African Americans. And 

people said how are you going to win in this city? I said, ñWell...ò I did. 

[laughing] I knew it looked pretty good, because something that most people 

donôt realize is that voters like to have a familiar name, somebody they know 

something about, as long as itôs not negative. So that obviously made a big 

difference in those elections. 

 I had no idea whether Iôd come out first [in the trustee election]. I had no idea 

how it would work out. It turned out that a guy named Kenny Washington, an 

African-American guy, same name as the famous football player, he came in 

somewhere in the top fourteen. And then we ran off, and then we had seven. 

And of the seven elected, it was Kenny Washington and me, and then there 

were fourða group of four very conservative people, including [Michael D.] 

ñMikeò Antonovich and two other people that became assembly people, 

conservative Republicans. And one guy whoôd run for congress against 

George [E.] Brown and lost. So thereôs fourða block of four conservatives, 

and they did whatever conservatives do, campaigning in South Gate and all 

those other places there. The school district had a lot of conservative areas: 

Burbank, Glendale, and that kind of thing. It was bigger than the city. And 

then a guy named Wyatt, and Wyatt was kind of an independent, and weôd 

worked together.  

 Now, how they electedðitôs all very mysterious to meðone of their 

conservatives didnôt make it. So thatôs why Iôve got a healthy appreciation for 

how itôs difficult to really understand elections, and what makes what happen, 

particularly in these little ballot races when youôre covering a territory almost 

as large as LA County. Not quite as large, but going from Bellflower all the 

way up to the Antelope Valley. Thatôs a lot of territory. So how the hell do the 

voters know? Well, they somehow figure it out, and the conservatives were 

able to communicate their message. But my name ID and Kenny 

Washingtonôs name IDðand then Mr. Wyatt, he was a former military man, 

maybe thatôs how he won. But there we were, there are the seven members of 

the board, so thatôs how it all happened.  

03-01:34:50  

Holmes: What do you recall of the political environment in the Los Angeles area 

during that time, particularly around education. I know you had the blowouts 

in LA high schools during ô68. 
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03-01:35:01  

Brown: Yeah, that guy who chained himself to the door, that Mexican-American guy. 

Do you know what his name was? He was a teacherðSaul, SalðI forget his 

name. [Salvador B. ñSalò Castro]  

03-01:35:16  

Gust Brown: Is it Rubenð 

03-01:35:18  

Brown: Ruben Salazar? 

03-01:35:19  

Gust Brown: Yeah. 

03-01:35:19  

Brown: No, I think he was killed. He was killed. 

03-01:35:21  

Holmes: That was an LA Times reporter.  

03-01:35:25  

Brown: This was a guy who wasðno, they were marching. There was some 

marching. This was, I guess, before busing. I donôt knowðwas this busing 

yet? No. 

03-01:35:41  

Holmes: This would be ô69. You also have student activism as well, both high school 

as well as your community colleges. 

03-01:35:46  

Brown: Yeah, but the activism at the community collegesðthatôs pretty invisible. 

Youôre talking about LA. Itôs so big, it just doesnôt make it in the LA Times 

and it doesnôt get on television. So there was a lot of noise, a lot of things 

happening, but I donôt know what the mood was. The mood was what, 

in ô69ðweôre talking about Vietnam then. And then after Iôm elected, thereôs 

Kent State. I remember that. Thereôs Ch§vez boycott of lettuce; thatôs an issue 

the conservatives didnôt likeðboycott lettuce in the cafeteria. We had a 

resolution. They of course voted that down. Yeah, it was kind of a board that 

interfered with the management rather than provided any particularly positive 

guidance, because none of them were educators. They didnôt know anything. I 

mean, they knew things as a citizen, but there they wereðvery political. And 

three of themðwell, myself, [Robert C.] ñBobò Cline, and Marian La Follette, 

and Antonovich, all ran for office. So these are springboards. Youôve got to 

start somewhere, and school boards often are, to city council, to legislator, and 

beyond. 

03-01:37:11  

Shafer: To what extent were you, in that election, testing the brand, the Brown brand? 
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03-01:37:17  

Brown: Well, first of all, I never thought of myself as a brand. Thatôs a new concept. 

We used to, in those days, have things called companies. Now we donôt have 

companiesðwe just have brands. And that is because weôre more attuned to 

the label, to the image, to the name, rather than the thing named. So itôs not 

the people. It isnôt the building. Itôs not even the product. Itôs the Gap, itôs 

Amazon, itôs Oracleðitôs the brand, right? And that kind of is another way of 

talking about name identification. So the name is getting a little bit unhooked 

from the reality. 

 So I would frame it a different way. I was running because I knew this was 

about 35 percent of the statewide electorate. So obviously, I thought I could 

expose my presence to the voters, and theyôve got to know who you are. So 

thatôs why I decided to run. At one point I had thought about running for 

congress, in the seat that Glenn [M.] Anderson ran for, and we did a pollðwe 

didnôt do a poll. We looked at this particular seat, and I noticed that Sam 

Yorty did pretty well against my father. And based on that, I decided not to 

run. I canôt remember what the voting was, but I think he might have beaten 

my father thereðitôs that Long Beach, Lawndale, Hawthorne kind of place. 

So I was thinking of that. But then the fundraisingðhow was I going to do 

fundraising? So the junior college board soundedðno, I could handle that. Itôs 

not as good as being in congress, but itôs good enough. So I jumped, and I did 

it. I did know at the time that I was going to run for secretary of state. Clearly. 

I knew I was going to run for governor, so this was just the pathway I chose. 

And it was a pretty clear path, and I followed it and was successfulðin some 

ways, relatively simple. 

03-01:39:56  

Holmes: What was the role of your father in the campaign? 

03-01:40:00  

Brown: Well, the role of my father was he had his name, and he had been governor of 

California up until January of ô67. And I was running in the primary in March 

of ô69, so thatôs not too much longer. So thatôs number one.  

Number two, he had his fundraising list, and those are the first people I called. 

I got it from his accountant, his campaign accountant, Jules Glazer, and so we 

started there. I donôt think he had a lot of adviceðit wasnôt my fatherôs cup of 

tea. My father had been governor, heôd been attorney general, heôd sued 

Arizona. He was interested in the water plan, higher education, roads, 

freewaysðthis was the meat and potatoes of his responsible liberalism, or 

what he thoughtðhe saw government as helping and doing important things. 

This junior college board thing was off to the side. He wasnôt thinking name 

identificationðI donôt think he was thinking that. So he wasnôt that interested, 

nor was he that interested in secretary of state. I think he thought I should 

have run for state senate or something. But of course state senate might have 

been harder, because a lot of people might have been known in a senate 
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district, but they couldnôt have the reach from Sacramento to San Diego. That 

you only could do if you had a name, which I had. 

03-01:41:45  

Shafer: And so really, that election was in part, I would imagine, you were testing 

whether the Brown nameð? 

03-01:41:51  

Brown: No, I wasnôt testing. 

03-01:41:52  

Shafer: No? 

03-01:41:53  

Brown: I was advancing. Testing, youôre saying that maybe it wouldnôt work. 

03-01:41:59  

Shafer: Well, I guess your father had just lost, so was there some sense that maybe the 

Brown nameðpeople are tired of Edmund G. Brown. 

03-01:42:08  

Brown: I canôt remember. I donôt know what my thinking was, whether it was 

testingðI donôt know whether thatôs relevant. I must have thought it was a 

good-enough chance that I should do it. And the chances of losing were not 

great, and if that did occur, it wouldnôt make too much difference. But I 

thought the junior college board, education, that seemed likeðI have a whole 

lot of ideas on education and always have. Even to this day itôs interesting. 

 The community collegesðIôve appointed people there. We have an online 

university, very innovative, so weôre doing a lot of things. I wasnôt thinking of 

this at the timeðI was really thinking more of the political, but now I see the 

community colleges as very important. And the notion of going to Santa Clara 

and spending $65,000 seems very odd to me, unless youôre extremely affluent, 

because you can do the same thing virtually for $12,000, because you can go 

for free. Youôve got to live at home, and two years later youôre on your way to 

UC if youôre any goodðor a state college. But you donôt have that rah-rah 

Old Blue, or whatever the hell it is. But this is a very expensive luxury right 

now. So I donôt think I appreciated how valuable the community colleges 

were. 

 We had different controversies there. They wanted to create a central police 

forceðthey used to have it by campus, so I termed this the supercop, and I 

opposed it, but I lost. They liked the supercopðthe conservatives did. 

03-01:44:12  

Shafer: Knowing that you were going to be running for secretary of state and then 

governor, did you champion things that you thought you could parlay? 
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03-01:44:22  

Brown: Well, I donôt know, parlay makes it sound like a poker game. [laughing] A lot 

of it was just how it struck me. I didnôt want to centralize policing. Iôve had 

that same feeling, that you have to be careful about how much coercive 

authority we let loose in the society. And we wanted to memorialize the Kent 

State killings, and of course the conservatives didnôt like that. And the boycott 

lettuceðthat was political. 

 Oh, yeah, and theyôd always be taking trips, and I voted against a lot of trips. 

And now, I might not even be right about that, because academia is all about 

taking trips, going to conferences and giving papers. When they came out at 

the end of the meeting, theyôd have pages and pages of conventions. I said my 

God, we donôt need this, and Iôd vote against a lot of them. But I supported 

the teachersô union, which you might say is politically sensitive. It was the 

American Federation of Teachers. What else? Oh, I opposed their purchasing 

new wooden desks, because I thought the expenditure was excessive, even 

though it was only $25,000, but I thought our metal desks were adequate. We 

didnôt need new wooden desks, that was my thought. I was kind of the fiscal 

watch dog, which just came naturally. But also, I was aware of the ô66 

campaign and how the bloated state government was a problem. I was aware 

of that. 

 But even today, and I guess itôs just part of the way I see things, and the way 

my wife sees things, because weôre careful. Just spending for the sake of 

spending is not something I think is a good thing. Itôs not one of my habits, 

and government has a tendency to overdo things, because youôve got the 

purse, and you just keep spending away. Thereôs a lot of substantive reasons 

against that. 

 But I do think that in exuberant times, doing a lot of spending, if the economy 

goes down, and instead of a big surplus you have a big deficit, people will 

look to your various items of spending. And things that donôt look that 

necessary will be viewed as part of the problem of why we have such a big 

deficit, even though most of that problemðby farðis the economy, the 

market system. But nevertheless, as a leader, youôre not positioned well if you 

are exceedingly exuberant prior to the downturn. I would say that was 

certainly not something that Davis and Schwarzenegger got right. Of course, 

Reagan spent a lot. His budget went up more than my fatherôs and more than 

mine, but he was always fighting. But fighting more on welfare, fighting one 

segment of the spending. Whereas Iôve tended to fight most of the segments, 

except where I think itôs worthwhile: tunnels, trains, climate change. 

03-01:48:14  

Holmes: Well, and on that note, many have discussed your time on the board of 

trustees as a mixture of fiscal conservatism and also being a social liberal, and 

this is something that has carried on throughout your political career, these 
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two characteristics. Do you think thereôs an influence, particularly of fiscal 

conservatism, from your time in the seminary? 

03-01:48:40  

Brown: Could be, yeah. Probably, but I think itôs more of growing up through World 

War II rationing. We never had any hardships. We had ration cards, when 

there was not enough butter and meat and milk and potatoes. But there wasnôt 

much in the stores. And you didnôt have balloons, because the rubber was 

used for the jeeps, and you didnôt have caps because they told us you couldnôt 

have this during wartime. So I remember that. And we didnôt have all the 

building. You didnôt have all these houses being built. And I thought that was 

the normalðso my awareness, born in ô38, in ô42 Iôm four, ô45 I guess Iôm 

seven. Iôm kind of noticing things. Thereôs not a lot of stuff going on. The 

Doelger homes hadnôt been built yet. Marin County was the country, down the 

peninsula was the country. So it was a more static world. You didnôt go out to 

dinner. There werenôt a lot of cars on our block. We grew up on Magellan 

Ave. A few, but not many. You go there today, you can barely get by, thereôs 

cars on both sides. So I guess the excess, and then tied in with Vietnamðthat 

was all just spend more, throw more at it. Watergateðthere was a lot of 

excess. And then we had the inflationary epidemic. Nixon in ô69, ô70, ô71ð

that was a little more inflationary. 

 So there were external reasons why a certain prudence in spending, along with 

the Jesuit notion. They had a notion in the novitiate called tantum quantum. 

Tantum means so much; quantum means how much? And so the notion was, 

as they explained it, how much is necessary, so much should you take. Donôt 

take any more than is needed. Donôt take any less, but donôt take any more. So 

that doesnôt quite fit the capitalist model of excess. You buy what you donôt 

need with money you donôt have. That seems to be the model. Certainly the 

federal government, thatôs the model. The seminary certainly had some 

impact, but I think it built on my own sensibility and my own experience. 

 You know, growing up, we didnôt have ice cream except on birthdays, or 

maybe now and then. Itôs not that we couldnôt afford it, itôs just this hyper-

amazing existence that we now have, with anything, and everything, and 

moreðthatôs foreign. Thatôs a new development of our national culture and 

economy. And of course, since the economy is 65 percent consumer spending, 

if the consumer doesnôt spendð. In fact, Iôve often had the idea that the worst 

threat to our market economy is if people have long, enduring relationships, so 

that all of a sudden divorce stopped, okay? Every time thereôs a divorce, 

thereôs now two households where there used to be one, and all of a sudden, 

that would cut the market massively. [laughing] So we depend on this 

proliferation of relationships, of spending, of needs. So I have that, that goes 

around in my headðand thatôs all. So luxury does feel a little uncomfortable 

to me. 
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03-01:53:02  

Shafer: Weôre going to wrap up in a minute, but I want to just ask you about one thing 

before we go. Because when we start tomorrow, we can start with the 

secretary of state race, I think. But where were you living in LA? Were you in 

Laurel Canyon at that point? 

03-01:53:16  

Brown: No. I was on Sunset and Lucile, the second house in and the second floor of a 

two-story building. I was next to Tedôs Grocery Store. And thatôs where I was 

when the moon shot occurred, when a man landed on the moon, and Kennedy 

had Chappaquiddick. I think those were the same weekend, so I remember 

that. My apartment was $85 a month when I moved in, and I never met my 

landlord. I got the apartment from the friend of a friend, a girl that I knew. It 

was her sister, and she moved out, so I moved in. I had a $75 a month 

apartment, and I moved up to $85, two bedrooms and a balcony. Now, thatôs 

probably a pretty fancy neighborhood, Echo Park. So thatôs where I lived, and 

then later I moved to a more respectable apartment later, when I was running 

for secretary of state. And then after I was secretary of state, I bought the 

Laurel Canyon [house]. 

03-01:54:32  

Shafer: The reason I ask, is because I want to ask you about sort of a seminal event 

in ô69, which was the Manson murders, the Tate-LaBianca murders? 

03-01:54:42  

Brown: 1969ðwhen was that? What month? 

03-01:54:45  

Shafer: It was in ô69. I donôt remember the day or the month. We can figure that out, 

but it wasðI think it was in the spring or summer? [others speaking off-

microphone] It was August.  

03-01:54:58  

Brown: August ô69, so I was already on the junior college board. 

03-01:55:01  

Shafer: Yeah, What do you remember about that? Had you heard anything about the 

Manson Family before this? 

03-01:55:09  

Brown: Oh, they caught them pretty soon after that. Yeah, well no, I hadnôt heard 

about them. No. It was pretty horrendous what the hell had happened. Yeah, 

that was a big event in LA, definitely. And that certainly intensified the 

concern about crime. So yeah, I canôtðthat wasnôt quite in myðwhat I was 

doing.  

03-01:55:46  

Shafer: Did you know people that were, you knowð? 
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03-01:55:47  

Brown: No, didnôt know anybody connected to it. I later came to know Vincent 

Bugliosi, and helped him a little bit in his campaign, but he lost. Very close. 

Iôve gone back to see him, so I did know about that. But no, other than that. 

03-01:56:11  

Shafer: Okay. I think thatôs good. Weôre good for today? 
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Interview 4: March 19, 2019 [in the morning] 

04-00:00:04  

Shafer: Itôs Tuesday, March 19, [2019]. Weôre at the ranch in Colusa County with 

Governor Jerry Brown and Todd Holmes. Iôm Scott Shafer here with Guy 

Marzorati, Dan Newman, Queena Kim, and this is whatðsession four. So, we got 

through the 1960s, pretty much, yesterday. And so we want to pick up with your 

decision to run for secretary of state. And it sounded like thatôs something youôd 

thought about for a while, but tell us about the thinking that went into that. 

04-00:00:47  

Brown: I donôt know exactly when I thought about that. Probably, well, a few years 

beforeðI canôt tell you exactly when. I think I said it yesterdayðthat there was a 

long-time incumbent that wasnôt going to be there for a long time, that might be 

vulnerableðor might not, as the case may be. That seemed to be an office that 

would have less competition, and therefore would be easier to win, and yet would 

still be a statewide office, and one in which I thought I could do good work in. 

 And I was very interested, particularly in the campaign disclosures, which I first 

came into contact with when I began to file my report after the junior college 

board election, and I noticed that the reporting requirements were very lax, that 

you could use abbreviations. And as I looked at other committee filings or at 

names, like Good Government Committee, with no addresses, it was totally 

obscure and certainly not transparent. So that gave me the idea: I read parts of the 

Code of California, and I noticed the secretary of state had the responsibility to 

take all these reports. And certainly, I presumed that that meant that he should 

make sure that theyôre accurate. So that idea became part of the interest and what 

I intended to do. 

 So, and also at that point, Frank Jordan died. And Reagan did not appoint a 

popular assemblyman by the name of George [W.] Milias. Instead, [he] elevated 

the deputy, [Henry Patrick] ñPatò Sullivan, and he wasnôt running. So there was a 

field. I didnôt know that before I started running, because I started before that. I 

wanted to get into statewide office, and that was the pathway. 

04-00:03:41  

Shafer: Iôm curious. Did you look at other offices, like did you evaluate all the other 

statewide offices? 

04-00:03:46  

Brown: No, noðyou talk in terms of brand testing and evaluation, and thatôs not the way 

I experience political decisions. I mean you look at them, and things seem 

obvious or not, and then you make decisions based on what your objectives are, 

what your desires are. So I donôt think itôs as formulaic or as structured as your 

question might imply. 

04-00:04:17  

Shafer: Well, Iôm just thinking about your strategic thinking.  
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04-00:04:20  

Brown: Well, I donôt know. I didnôt even have the word strategic thinking back in 1969 or 

1970. Itôs about running for office and winning, and doing whatever you said you 

were going to do.  

04-00:04:43  

Shafer: You mentioned, Governor, that you were reading the election code, and of course 

sort of, you started digging intoð 

04-00:04:50  

Brown: Yes, I did. 

04-00:04:50  

Shafer: Yeah, so tell us moreðwhere did you do that? How did you do that? 

04-00:04:54  

Brown: I just picked upðI was at a law firm, just picked upðgo to the shelf. You go to 

the codes of California, and thereôs probably two volumes on election code. You 

take out the index, and you look through it, as any lawyer would do. So I looked 

up all the sections that dealt with campaign reporting. And I did further research 

as I went along and found out that California first adopted its Purity of Election[s] 

Law back in the 1870s. It was modeled on an English law. So I knew about that. I 

donôt know when I came to know about it. I brought a lawsuitða [California] 

Supreme Court case, Brown v. Superior Court. I brought it in the superior court, I 

lost, I took it on appeal to the supreme court. I argued it myself, and I won in a 

unanimous decision, that held that the campaign disclosure laws required the 

reporting, by name, of donors to a ballot-measure campaign. Now, this was in 

November of 1970, so Iôve skipped ahead to the election, so maybe Iôm a little 

ahead of myself there. 

04-00:06:23  

Shafer: So you argued that after you got elected?  

04-00:06:27  

Brown: Yes, I brought the lawsuitðmaybe, probably after I was elected. But in terms of 

the campaign, which was interesting. It was a pretty simple campaign. But I did 

go around the state. Tom Quinn helped me. I met him during the junior college 

campaign, and so did Richard Maullin, and there wasnôt a lot of attention. I think 

John Tunney was running for the senate. That was the more glamorous raceðby 

far. And so this was a quiet undertaking, and the only thing really of interest was 

that the son of the former governor was running for secretary of state. So other 

than that, it was pretty mundane stuff. People had not run for these offices, like 

controller and treasurer, in the normal political way. They werenôt the actions they 

became laterðpeople wanted to be controller and then run for governor. The only 

office that was a stepping stone was attorney generalðand maybe lieutenant 

governor. 

04-00:07:39  

Shafer: And of course there was no term limits, so that was part of it too. 
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04-00:07:40  

Brown: There were no term limits. People would get those jobs, and theyôd keep them a 

long time. 

04-00:07:44  

Shafer: Yeah. Do you remember, when you sat down with Tom and Richard, what did 

they talk to you about, in terms ofðas you thought out that race? 

04-00:07:54  

Brown: I canôt remember. Basically, you have to make as much news as you can thatôs 

favorable, in as many media markets, as often as you can. And you raise as much 

money as you can, which is rather modest. Itôs pretty simple business. I know 

today people complexify it with a lot of consultants, but at the end of the day, itôs 

very simple. You have a candidate, you have an electorate, and you communicate 

by whatever means you can afford. 

04-00:08:27  

Shafer: Easier when your name is Edmund G. Brown, Jr.? 

04-00:08:29  

Brown: Obviously. Or if your nameôs Tunney, or if youôre a movie starðall thatôs 

helpful. Or if your father was president. All these things help, this is from Adams, 

whose grandson was president. I think the Harrisonsðdidnôt we have two 

Harrisons as presidents? So, yeah, this is an old story. 

04-00:08:55  

Shafer: You said you tried to make news, you went out and you made news. How did you 

do that? Do you remember? 

04-00:09:05  

Brown: Well, Iôm going to do it by writingðby press releases, which Tom Quinn was 

very adept at. And I think those might be in the archives of the secretary of state. 

But we put out a lot of press releases, and would write them by fixing on a lead of 

some kind that would be catchy, and Tom and Iôd work that out. Even while I was 

secretary of state we released more press releases, that I still have available. And 

he and I would do that, talk on the telephone, and work out ideas. 

 And where do you get the ideas? You get the ideas from the news. Tom had a 

news service, City News, and it came over in rolls. And the AP or the UPI would 

roll out. And so youôd read the right thing, and youôd clip out stories. And then, 

even though the story might not relate to something that I wanted to talk about, it 

would be the form of what could be a story. Senator So-and-So called for 

something. Well, then I could take that out and say, ñI call for something, or 

Brown called for something.ò So the news, which I didnôt understand then as 

much as I do now, is a predictable process, and the news people are tightly 

constrained. Most of them donôt realize it, but theyôre somewhat robotic in their 

slavish adherence to the news of the day. So that if you want to make news, you 

have to ride on the news of today, or today we might say the tweet of the day. 
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There, things were a little more primitive. We werenôt as sophisticated, but that 

would be the idea. 

 I may be mixing up my governorôs campaigns. Yeah, probably the secretary of 

stateôs campaign. But we could go to San Diego, and the same day you could go 

from San Diego to Los Angelesðmaybe even to San Francisco. And you could 

take the same story, and the term was relead it. So youôd take something from 

four paragraphs down, and you move it up to the top paragraph. But you keep a 

similar story, and then you wait till maybe a different guy is on the desk. 

[laughing] And so then you get that story out, and it runs again. Now, how often 

those things ran, and whether Iôm accurately statingðwell, I am actually stating 

what happened, but as to what the actual impact is, that would take a deeper 

analysis which nobody has made, and I doubt if they ever will. But that was the 

general idea, to try to make news in different media markets. Thatôs the way 

people looked at the counties. And you go into the small onesðFresno had 

media, as did Santa Paula, Santa Barbara, as did Monterey. Rarely did we go to 

Imperial County. 

04-00:12:33  

Shafer: How did you get around between cities? 

04-00:12:34  

Brown: Drive or fly. Take an airplane. They had more planes in those days. I think you 

had regular service to Fresno. You still do, but I think there were more planes in 

those days. I went to Lone Pine once. I think that was in the governorôs race. A 

guy flew me in his plane. Thatôs the only time Iôve been to Lone Pine. 

04-00:12:55  

Shafer: You looked at the codes, and you realized that this had been a sleepy office for a 

long time. What did you see when you looked at thoseð? 

04-00:13:07  

Brown: Well, I also saw that my father had written an opinion. Well, there was a case 

against my father as attorney general, and the case held that you didnôt have to 

report things accurately. And then there was an opinion that my father wrote, 

which basically made that point. And in fact, that was prior to the caseðI think, 

Warden v. Brown. It came out of Oakland, a court of appeals case. And then there 

was this prior attorney generalôs opinion, which doesnôt have my fatherôs name on 

it, but it was during his tenure. So I asked him about it. I said, ñWhatôs this 

about?ò And my father said, ñWell, I talked to Governor Warren about how we 

report things, and Governor Warren said this is how we do it in California.ò 

04-00:14:05  

Shafer: And that was that? 

04-00:14:05  

Brown: That was that. And so now we have voluminous regulations and fines. But if 

youôd ask me, is it more honest? Iôd want to reflect long and hard on that 

question. 
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04-00:14:20  

Shafer: Weôll come back to that. 

04-00:14:24  

Holmes: Governor, what was your fatherôs reaction to your plan to run for secretary of 

state? Because as we were just talking about, the office itself was sleepy. It was 

largely looked at by many as a paper-pushing backwater or, kind of the state clerk 

ð 

04-00:14:38  

Brown: Well, I donôt think thatôs accurate. It was not looked upon by manyðvery few 

people looked upon it. In fact, Iôm probably one of the few people, but not the 

only one. There was a guy who was a lawyer. Iôm trying to remember his nameð

Schlei, [Norbert A.] Norb Schlei whoða blessed memory. Norb Schlei ran for 

secretary of state during the time my father was running against Reagan, and he 

had the same ideaðor he had the idea first: to run for secretary of state and be the 

only guy elected. And he got more votes than my father, but it didnôt work. It was 

a sweep. So only [Thomas C.] ñTomò Lynch was left. But Norb Schlei was a big 

corporate lawyer, a serious man from a law firm in Los Angeles, and so that 

validated the idea as well. No one probably remembers thatðnot even Dan 

Newman remembers it. Norb Schlei was the pathfinder because he talked about it 

in a bigger way. 

 Well, first of all, the last guy to run, in 1958ða guy named [Enrique] Henry 

[ñHankò] L·pez won, and he was the only one that lost. So everybody won, 

except Henry López, and people always felt there was certain discrimination 

about that. And then in ô62, Frank Jordan won again. So the memory does not go 

back far enough to remember when the secretary of state was some kind of a 

controversial or well-known office and people didnôt particularly think about it, 

because it was just essentially corporate filings, maintain the trademarkðit was 

more like a county clerk, and elections were handled by a registrar of voters or 

county clerks. 

04-00:16:52  

Shafer: And so as you thought about it and looked at the code again, what possibilities did 

you see? 

04-00:16:58  

Brown: Well, I saw the possibilities of enforcing the campaign law, and that already was a 

breakthrough thought. Because the secretary of state was often sued, so there were 

cases against Jordan that you can see in the casebooks. But heôs always a 

defendant, somebody suing on a law to invalidate an initiative or something like 

that. In fact, thatôs mostly what it is. And Iôd read some of those cases. At Yale 

Law School, I read all the ballot-measure cases, I believeðall the cases that 

challenged ballot-measure elections. And I would come across the name Jordan, a 

case called Epperson v. JordanðI remember that case. There were many others. 
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 So now, what I proposed to do was to have the secretary of state as the plaintiff, if 

necessary, and making candidates report their contributions. And when I sued, I 

sued as Edmund G. Brown, Jr. But it wasnôt clear whether I suing in my personal 

capacity, or as secretary of state? And the reason I did that, I wasnôt sure that the 

secretary of state had the authority to bring lawsuits. And the general rule was in 

order to have that authority, you have to have a duty under law, and the only duty 

under law was receiving campaign documents. But the question that was not 

determined: did the secretary of state have a right to reject, or demand in some 

way, that the campaign filings be of a certain quality and completeness? That 

question had never been raised since the beginning of the law, as far as I know. 

And I looked at a lot of cases, because it was part of my Brown v. Superior Court. 

And a fellow that looked at it, [Daniel Hays] ñDanò Lowenstein, was the lawyer. 

We wrote the brief. He wrote the brief, principally. But so then the Supreme 

Court ruled that I did, in a footnote, that I had the capacity to bring a lawsuit, and 

that was the first time that was ever stated. I was already secretary of state by 

then. 

04-00:19:35  

Shafer: So you really envisioned changing the office from like a passive office to a more 

proactive one. 

04-00:19:40  

Brown: Right. 

04-00:19:42  

Shafer: Yeah. Essentially, you made the secretary of stateôs office a combatant with 

politicians. 

04-00:19:52  

Brown: Right. 

04-00:19:54  

Shafer: So how did that go over? 

04-00:19:56  

Brown: [laughing] Well, it didnôt go over well with politicians. It left a lingering distaste 

among many incumbents, and there was always this tension between diplomacy 

and news. In order to make news, you need something more strident. To be 

diplomatic and work with your colleagues, you need things that are more 

respectful and accommodatingðand so that was always the tension that I 

experienced. 

04-00:20:33  

Shafer: How did you resolve that tension? 

04-00:20:38  

Brown: In different ways at different times, but we definitely made news. [laughing] And 

when you tell people, particularly when I was secretary of state, and say you have 

to report all this. I developed a rule book on how a campaign report should be 

filed. The assembly and the legislature took away my office, but I already had a 
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downtownðI just moved from Beverly Hills to downtown, so that wasnôt a 

problem. 

04-00:21:12  

Shafer: They took it away as punishment? 

04-00:21:12  

Brown: Yeah. And they tried to stop me. They had a big meetingðWillie Brown, and 

they all came in, and they were quite exercised about the whole thing. 

04-00:21:24  

Shafer: Yeah. How did you feel about that? 

04-00:21:25  

Brown: Well, itôs unpleasant. Itôs always unpleasant. It was unpleasant when I vetoed the 

state budget and had to go into the Democratic caucus and listen to the emotional 

outrage of the people. Itôs not just a disagreement, I guess in todayôs lingo you 

might even call it a microaggression. And I would call it that because the people 

who work on the budget, they identify with that, their productðthatôs them. So 

when I reject it, I reject them, and they feel aggrieved at that. But they got over it. 

And I worked at the diplomacy. I donôt know that I ever quite got over the first 

eight years, because (a), I came in aggressively in this political reformism, which 

is not congenial to the long-term incumbents, and (b) I was so much younger than 

everybody else. And they knew a lot, and they knew the ways of the legislatureð

ways that I had not been part of or familiar with. 

04-00:22:39  

Shafer: Youôre talking about when you were governor. 

04-00:22:40  

Brown: Yeah. Or secretary of state. I once went to a guyðSenator [Alfred H.] ñAlò 

Songðand I was looking for more things to do, and thereôs a statute on consumer 

protection. Itôs a very powerful statute, that allows the attorney general, and any 

local city attorney or district attorney, to bring an action under [California] Civil 

Code Ä 17200. And I thought, ñWell, I think the secretary of state ought to be 

included in the list of people that can bring those lawsuits.ò So I went to Al Song, 

and he was not too excited about that, but we put it into a bill. It only got a couple 

of votes. And now I could see how powerful this isðand itôs an instrument that is 

abused, and I saw that as attorney general. Where zealous people go out and sue 

businesses, and they get funding for their office. So they collect tens of millions 

of dollarsðin aggregate, well over a hundred million in fines, from the 

enforcement of laws that arenôt always that clear. And I never could make up my 

mind: was the attorney general abusing this law? Or were the companies not 

doing everything they should do, and was the punishment appropriate? And I still 

have that question. 

04-00:24:13  

Holmes: Governor, you announce your candidacy for secretary of state in March of 1970. 
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04-00:24:18  

Brown: And thereôs a column in the LA Times on that. Did you read that? 

04-00:24:21  

Holmes: Yes. 

04-00:24:23  

Brown: Itôs by Carl Greenberg, I think. 

04-00:24:24  

Shafer: Yeah, we have it in the pile of stuff here. 

04-00:24:27  

Brown: Yeah, I think thatôs Carl. That was the guy whose retirement I went to. 

04-00:24:29  

Holmes: And in that candidacy you threatened to refuse to certify any election of a 

candidate who fails to fully report campaign donations, as we were just 

discussing. 

04-00:24:41  

Brown: Right. Thatôs what I would say is a lead. 

04-00:24:46  

Holmes: I was curious, because in some respects youôre somewhat playing right into that 

theme that we saw Ronald Reagan make during his governorship, like the citizen-

politician fighting against the career politicians. 

04-00:25:03  

Brown: Well, that seems to be an effective strategy. 

04-00:25:06  

Holmes: Did that come into your calculation? 

04-00:25:07  

Brown: What? The comparison with Reagan, or just the citizen-politician? 

04-00:25:10  

Holmes: The citizen-politician. 

04-00:25:11  

Brown: Well, that was his term. Thatôs a Reagan term. And he was using that, obviously, 

to contrast with my father, who was the professional politician, and he kept saying 

Reaganôs an amateur, and that underscored what Reagan wanted to portray 

himself as. And youôre asking me what?  

04-00:25:33  

Holmes: Did that factor into yourð? 

04-00:25:34  

Brown: What factored in? 
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04-00:25:34  

Holmes: Did the citizen-politician, the combating the career politicians, factor into your 

strategy? 

04-00:25:43  

Brown: I mean, itôs pretty obvious to me youôre using language that doesnôt quite tally. 

Obviously, if you have an office that nobody even knows what they do, and 

youôre running for itðso there has to be some reason. And if theyôre not 

reporting, and you have a lot of examples of completely vague and not amply 

disclosed contributions, and then if you say, itôs my job to collect it. And, ñOkay, 

whatôs the enforcement?ò ñWell, Iôm not going to certify your election.ò Now, 

thatôs an arguable positionðbut thatôs a position. 

 You could run to say what a nice fellow I am, and these are my two dogs, and 

what have youðand some people do that. And I remember talking to my friend 

Peter Finnegan, he was running for supervisor. And I looked at his brochure, and 

it had his wife and two kids. And I said, ñPeter, thatôs not going to cut it. Youôre 

going to have to have a position here. What do you have to say about Mayor 

[Joseph L.] Alioto? What do you want to say about city hall? But just you, your 

wife, and your two kids? Thatôs not a theme that is going to touch the voters.ò 

 So this was a more succinct way of saying I would be serious about enforcing the 

law. Now, how that would have worked out, obviously I would have said to the 

people, ñFill out your campaign report.ò And we did send out a letter to 134 

candidates, most of whom were not incumbents, [instructing them] to file reports. 

A lot of the losing candidates never bother to file. But yeah, that was a strong 

statement. Youôd have to read whatever happened to that in the follow-upðI 

donôt know. But I did write the collaboration with Common Cause and the 

Peopleôs LobbyðProposition 9, the Political Reform Act of 1974 [ed: this created 

the Fair Political Practices Commission]. So a lot of that was followed through. 

And that was a bold assertion. 

04-00:28:05  

Holmes: I guess what I was also getting at is that Reagan made a statement in his political 

career, that he was going to combat, if you want to use that colloquial term ñthe 

old boysô network,ò the way things were done in Sacramento. 

04-00:28:18  

Brown: Yeah, but lookðwhen youôre an out, the game plan is to get the ins out, and to 

get the outs in, however you want to state it. And Reagan put it one way. Thus it 

ever is. If you look at my fatherôs kind of campaign poster that I have, running for 

DAðI think it was 1939ðit says, ñnew and competent.ò Itôs newðshiny new 

object. Thatôs very important, whether itôs president or dog catcher. Even though, 

I would say, that experience can be very, very important. 

04-00:29:03  

Shafer: Maybe a different way, and I donôt know if this isð? 
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04-00:29:04  

Brown: Well, I think I answered that, didnôt I? Sure, I mean youôre either on the side [or 

the other]. Now, think of it as a football game. Youôve got USC on one side, and 

Notre Dame on the other side. Theyôve got different flags, they cheer for different 

plays. Thatôs the way it is. So obviously, when you run, you donôt say 

everythingôs wonderful. You say, ñTime for a change!ò And then you have to 

establishðwhat do you mean, time for a change? Well, you can attack the old-

boy network. And when I ran in ô92 for president, I was a lot more aggressive 

than thatðtoo aggressive, I would say. So thatôs the dilemma. You have to be 

within the tradition, within the framework, which Reagan did, in a way much 

more than Trump. So Reagan was the establishment, but he was able to identify 

my father as part of the problemðand it isnôt just government. Government 

becomes part of the [problem]ðthese become metaphors. Just like the 

RepublicansðObamacare became, itôs a metaphor, because oh, this was this 

problem, and the Republicans got all riled up about it. But was it really 

Obamacare, Affordable Care Act? Or was it just the propaganda, feelings about 

Obama, feelings about the world, feelings about social change, and you have to 

speak in more concrete terms. This is not theoretical physics here. This is 

concreteðthis is a human undertaking and stories are what itôs about. 

04-00:30:58  

Shafer: I wonder, you know, your dad, of course, lost in 1966. And thereôs been a lot said 

about his desire to maybe try it again, to take Reagan on. Can you tell us about the 

family discussions around that, versus you runningð? 

04-00:31:14  

Brown: Okay. So first of all, youôve heard these politicians say, ñI have to talk it over 

with my family.ò I have no experience of that. I never heard my father talking to 

my motherðshould I run?  

 [side conversation deleted] 

04-00:32:05  

Shafer: You said talking it over with your family, you had no experience of that. 

04-00:32:08  

Brown: I didnôt. I mean, maybe my father and mother when they were alone with the door 

closed talked about running for things. But I have a feeling that my mother 

appreciated my fatherôs work and role, and thatôs what he did. He ran for office 

and held office. I donôt ever remember him talking to me about it, or talking to my 

sisters. You know, ñShould I run, girls?ò But I do remember him, not talking 

about it. First of all, these kind of in-depth conversations werenôt the kind of 

things we hadðthis wasnôt a political science course. So yeah, I think he 

questioned secretary of state. I think he, at one point, if I remember correctly, 

said, ñWhy donôt you run for the state senate if you want to run for an office?ò 
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04-00:33:06  

Shafer: From an oral history that your mother did with Bancroft, she was talking about 

this, maybe the conversation she was having with your father, she says, ñIf you 

think that two Browns can be elected on the same ticket, youôre crazy.ò 

04-00:33:20  

Brown: Oh, thatôs about him running for governor? 

04-00:33:21  

Shafer: Yes. 

04-00:33:24  

Brown: Yeah, I donôt know. He didnôt seem that serious. I think he mentioned it, but it 

was more in a non-serious way, to me. He didnôt say, ñYou know, Iôm really 

thinking about this.ò Itôs moreðhe was in a business, he was starting to make a 

little money and he didnôt have a lot of money. He was beaten pretty solidly, so I 

donôt know, maybe he was more serious. And also, I think you maybe tell 

different things to different people. Maybe you imagine, you know, you could run 

or something. People say to me, ñWhy donôt you run for president?ò They say, 

ñOh, youôve got to run!ò [laughing] I go, ñYeah, itôs probably a good idea.ò I 

mean you might just say thatðand I donôt know, so thatôs my mother telling it, or 

maybe he said something to her. Thatôs possible. But it wasnôt like a big 

competitionðitôs me or you. As far as I know, that never occurred. 

04-00:34:28  

Shafer: Yeah, doðso you were talking aboutðyou looked at the codes. You saw the 

potential for the office, the disclosure was a big part of that, and Iôm just 

wonderingð? 

04-00:34:36  

Brown: I saw that after I saw my fatherôs campaign treasurer fill out my campaign report 

for junior college board. And instead of using names, he scrambled them all and 

used initials, like Jay Smith, and he scribbledðin fact, some of it was just write 

them like names in a circle. I canôt remember exactly. But that struck me. I said, 

ñHow do you do this?ò He said, ñThatôs the way we do it.ò And so I thought, 

well, that doesnôt seem right to me. Thatôs when I started investigating it, and 

thatôs how I got onto that question. 

04-00:35:10  

Shafer: When you say it didnôt seem right to you, what do you mean? 

04-00:35:12  

Brown: Well, I mean you read the code! It says report the name of the donor and the 

amount, and it was pretty clear that you had to do both, and they somehow 

separated. So heôd put a total amount at the bottom, but he wouldnôt put the 

amount next to the donor. 

04-00:35:29  

Shafer: So it was useless to the public really. 
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04-00:35:32  

Brown: Well, the whole thing is a bit use[less]ðI mean, itôs all written for the newspapers 

to write stories, and they always write the same stories like they found it out. But 

all they did was read the campaign reports. And it does deter people from doing 

crazy things. 

04-00:35:49  

Shafer: So, Iôm just wondering the extent to which that idea, of forcing politicians to fill 

out their disclosure forms in detail, and properly, and all thatðhow much of that 

was your own personal conviction? And how much of it was likeðI donôt want to 

say political expedience, but you saw that asðversus seeing that as a good issue. 

And it could beðthey could both be true. 

04-00:36:12  

Brown: No, I thought it was a good issue, because people were concerned about it. It 

seemed like an obvious violation of the law. It couldnôt, to me, be any clearer. It 

says, ñreport the donation.ò But they didnôt report the donation in any sense of the 

word that made sense. I thought it was important, the role of secret money in 

politics. This is a legitimate point, that I really thought was important and did 

corrupt the process. So yeah, I was onto that. And then, I got into this idea before 

Watergate. Because Watergate was what, ô73? 

04-00:37:02  

Shafer: Reagan was ô72, I think. 

04-00:37:03  

Brown: Yeah, okay, Iôm running in ô70ðI was elected in November of ô70, and I guess I 

spoke about it before then. So I thought it was very important, and then Watergate 

made it even more important, at least temporarily, till other things came along. 

04-00:37:26  

Holmes: Governor, if weôre looking at l970, and on this same topic, you have Jess Unruh, 

who changed his name for the election. I think he dropped the e [from Jesse], but 

was also known as Big Daddy, who was notorious for these very kind of 

campaign donations and the funneling of money into the political system that you 

were discussing. And then, on the other hand you also have Reagan, who was 

better known, and particularly at this time, for what they called the kitchen 

cabinet, his business advisors, who funneled a lot of money into his campaigns 

and played a large role in his administration. Did that also factor in as well? 

04-00:38:06  

Brown: Also the Fox Ranch, that Reagan got some kind of deal on that. At least thatôs 

what I thought. I mean money is a big thing. Money talks, and it influences 

elections in a way that is contrary to the textbook idea of what a democracy is 

supposed to be about. So obviously, it was an issue that not a lot of people were 

talking about. In 1970, I donôt think anybody was talking about it. The guy from 

Shasta County, back in the 1870s, that passed the campaign disclosure law thatð

it kind of, it went away. No, the role of money and the size of the money, I think, 

itôs changed over time. Itôs not a topic thatôs been of great interest.  
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 Thereôs a federal judge [John T. Noonan], who wrote a book called, Bribes: The 

Intellectual History of a Moral Idea. Now, thatôs an interesting book. So he points 

out all the practices that happen. But itôs something thatôs always been 

condemned, and corruption now, in parts of the world, is very severeðMexico, 

parts of Europe. Itôs pretty intractable and corruption often accompanies the 

decline and fall of governments. So it is a real cancer. On the other hand, absolute 

purity is, in a capitalist system, where moneyôs the currency of the realm. Money, 

itôs about money. People really think about itðhow much money can I make? 

What does he want to get paid? Itôs very important. So in our capital economy, 

itôs an ever-present tension, but itôs real. 

 [side conversation deleted] 

04-00:40:34  

Shafer: So, where were we? Oh, disclosure. At some point, either after the election or 

during, were there politicians who said, ñJerry, canôt you just lay off?ò 

04-00:40:56  

Brown: Well, I think in the campaign, as I recall, we sent out video. We were going to 

send it out, and we were going to name a couple senators. And we showed it to 

my father, and he absolutely blew a gasket. He said, ñYou canôt do that.ò So we 

pulled it back, and we toned it down. 

04-00:41:17  

Shafer: These were two incumbents? 

04-00:41:18  

Brown: Yeah, incumbents. 

04-00:41:20  

Shafer: Were they Democrats? 

04-00:41:21  

Brown: Yeah. 

04-00:41:24  

Shafer: And youðbut you, if your dad hadnôtðyou were ready to go with it? 

04-00:41:26  

Brown: We were ready to go with it, and as I said, thereôs always a tension. Tom Quinn 

wanted to make news. He was a news guy. I was a more political guy, so I always 

said, ñGee, I think we ought to tone this down.ò So I toned down a lot of things, 

because this is the tendency, even prescinding from politics, itôs hard to have a 

sharp, incisive mind, and itôs hard to have a sharp, incisive sentence. Relatively 

rare, I found out. In my entire life itôs rare. So, to get through the clutter, even in 

1970, you needed to call attention, in a very succinct, catchy, memorable way that 

touched a chord. Thatôs what you had to do, and we did that. Not as much as Tom 

Quinn would have liked. [laughing] Because I had to tame him down all the time. 
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04-00:42:34  

Shafer: Do you remember what the slogan for the campaign was? 

04-00:42:36  

Brown: No. I donôt know if we had a slogan. Did we? 

04-00:42:39  

Shafer: Time for a change? [laughing] 

04-00:42:40  

Brown: No, I donôt know, was there a slogan? Youôd have to go look at the campaign. I 

donôt think there was a campaign slogan. There was an ad Iôve seen that we put 

out. It was a print ad, but it was much calmer. That was a very mild ad. 

04-00:43:02  

Shafer: I can imagine some people thinking Patôs son is really self-righteous with all this 

stuff. 

04-00:43:12  

Brown: Well, you always think that, but corrupt people think that too. They donôt like 

that. You have a continuum here, and people who were doing what theyôre not 

supposed to, would not like anybody who calls them to account. On the other 

hand, you can get on your high horse and be pretty obnoxious and overbearing. 

So, like everything else, wisdom is the middle path. 

04-00:43:38  

Shafer: Do you think you ever crossed a line? 

04-00:43:40  

Brown: I donôt know if I did. Youôd have to give me an example. Cross what line? I 

mean, we have many linesðwhatôs the line? The legal line? The ethical line? 

04-00:43:52  

Shafer: Well, it sounds like that videoðyou thought the video was over the line. 

04-00:43:56  

Brown: My father did. I donôt know that it wasðI think it was accurate. No, we didnôt do 

anything that wasnôt accurate, but not everything that is accurate is prudent. 

Because it might create more backlash or more political opposition. So this is not 

about just truth and error, good and evilðitôs also about being effective. And in 

politics, you do need allies, so you can only burn a certain number of bridges, and 

you have to build a far greater number of alliances. Which, by the way, to make 

news is not to build alliances. News is its own thing. Itôs based on shock, man 

bites dogðnew, thatôs what it is. But not everything that is new is good. Or, 

certainly not everything that is new makes everything that is, and people that are, 

feel good. 

04-00:45:01  

Shafer: Did you feel, because hypocrisy can be deadly for a politicianð 
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04-00:45:04  

Brown: Yeah. 

04-00:45:04  

Shafer: Did you feel, as you were running, and then when you became secretary of state, a 

certain obligation to make sure that you were sort of setting the bar in terms of 

disclosure, and that kind of thing? 

04-00:45:15  

Brown: I think I disclosed everything. I did disclose everything. I didnôt think of 

hypocrisy. I donôt think that came up. I did think, when I became secretary of 

state, I noticed that in Frank Fatôs [Restaurant], the lobbyists would often host the 

various elected officials. And the way they hosted them, theyôd come by and say, 

ñIôm your host tonight,ò and theyôd put their business card on the table, and then 

that was paid for. So I barred that in Proposition 9, and I thought that was an 

abuse. You might call it the gravy train. On the other hand, you can go so far. I 

think in the White House, the president has to pay for his own meals, and then 

whatôs a personal meal and whatôs a presidential meal? I think they take it to a 

point thatðI donôt know. Who paid for Winston Churchillôs brandy every day 

during World War II? [laughter] So I think to discern the proper path, I certainly 

did not understand, in 1970, what I understand in the twenty-first century, after 

having looked atðover decadesðat various political actions and reactions. 

04-00:46:51  

Shafer: You mentioned Willie Brown a couple of times yesterday, and Iôm wondering if 

you can think back to a conversation you had with him, if there was one, where he 

saidðbecause he came from a different point of view on this stuff, I wouldð 

04-00:47:06  

Brown: Not originally. When he first went to the legislature, he proposed a bill that 

lobbyists would have to wear large badges that identified them as lobbyists. 

04-00:47:16  

Shafer: Thatôs what John Cox said. 

04-00:47:19  

Brown: Thatôs what Willie Brown said, and itôs in the LA Times if you read the clips. 

Have you seen it? 

04-00:47:23  

Marzorati: Yeah, yeah. Itôs also in the biography too, on Willie Brown. 

04-00:47:29  

Holmes: And his oral history as well. 

04-00:47:31  

Brown: So youôre not reading Willie Brownôs oral history, obviously. 

04-00:47:33  

Shafer: Not yetðBasic Brown: [My Life and Our Times], is that the one? But, so he 

changed at some point? 
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04-00:47:40  

Brown: Or evolves! Look, this is a situational world. The world isðthe world of 

Eisenhower is not the world of Clinton. Things change over, certainly over 

decades, and they even change over years. The world of campaigning without 

televisionðthe 1950 campaign didnôt have television, ô54. So that may have put a 

premium on making relationships with labor unions, with newspaper editors, with 

fraternal organizations like the Elk and the Moose and the Knights of Columbus. 

And so those are relationships, and you build relationships by having meals 

together, having a drink together, having a cigar together, going on a trip together, 

and the question is who pays for those? 

 So in the more rarifiedðand I say rarified if I can put quotations on thatð

environment today, then all thatôs illegal. And to some extent, you donôt need to 

do those things, because you donôt need the relationships as much. You need 

money, and you need mediaðand you communicate. Now, you do build your 

things, and you find work-arounds. Things just change. You can use words in 

1950 that you canôt use in 2000, so weôre constrained by the flow of fashion and 

fad, and you ignore it at your peril. 

04-00:49:40  

Shafer: So, you mentioned that your budget got cut. That was sort of like payback to you 

from the legislature. 

04-00:49:45  

Brown: Yeah, but it didnôt matter much because I had a very lean budget anyway. 

[laughter] I didnôt need very much. 

04-00:49:52  

Shafer: How did you found out they were cutting your budget? 

04-00:49:52  

Brown: I donôt know. They told me, or something. But it was a gesture, it didnôt really 

have any impact. I mean, how do you cut the secretary of state? We have 

functions. You have to follow the corporate financeðall the financing documents. 

Security interestðif you want the equivalent of a mortgage in property or 

inventory, youôve got to file a piece of paper of record, and thatôs with the 

secretary of state. So then we have a little bit of electionðyouôve got to file the 

campaign reports. You canôt take away the filing cabinets. And what do we have? 

We had a few lawyers. They didnôt take those out, the election lawyersðonly a 

couple. That time we had a couple. I only had two exempt positions. I think the 

secretary of state has many, many more now. 

04-00:50:43  

Shafer: But I mean clearly, they were trying to send a message. 

04-00:50:46  

Brown: Oh, they were sending a message, yeah. I guess in todayôs jargon itôs signaling. 

04-00:50:53  

Shafer: [laughing] And did you get the signal? 
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04-00:50:56  

Brown: Well, not particularly. No. It may have been for internal consumptionðwho 

knows what the message is. Maybe the message is the speaker showing heôs 

protecting his members. But maybe heôs constrained. I donôt know what Bob 

Moretti was thinking. Heôs not alive today. But he might have been thinking I 

canôt do too muchðitôll look bad. But I have to do something for my reputation 

and for my house, as they call it. So I donôt know. We rented a place, a buildingð

it was a private building. The rent was not any higher. In fact, it was a little lower, 

but of course it was to an outside party. Then we just went down to the old Sierra 

Building, and that was fine. 

04-00:51:47  

Shafer: So there were other things on the ballot that November. John Tunney beat George 

Murphy. Reagan got reelected. How would you describe the political environment 

that year? 

04-00:52:03  

Brown: The political environment in ô70? I think violence. Is that the Weathermen by 

1970? Campus unrest. A group of students blew up a computer in Fresno. There 

was other violence. So disorder was out there, definitely. That was still part of the 

landscape. 

04-00:52:34  

Shafer: How do you think that affected what voters were looking for? 

04-00:52:36  

Brown: Certainly, you do not want to be a soft on crime, wishy-washy character. So that 

was the environment then. 

04-00:52:57  

Holmes: In the race between Reagan and Unruh, what do you recall about your view of 

that race, meaning did you think that Unruh had a chance to beat Reagan? 

04-00:53:04  

Brown: No, noðin fact, when he came within 500,000 votes, that was considered pretty 

good. The only thing I remember from that campaign is that Reagan marched up 

the driveway of Henry Salvatori, and called out Henry Salvatori in some way. 

04-00:53:21  

Holmes: Unruh did? 

04-00:53:22  

Brown: Unruh did, to Reagan. But it was tough. Reagan was a star, and there was this 

mood. In 1970, Nixonôs still popular probablyðyeah, he certainly was popular 

against [George S.] McGovern two years later. It was hard for a Democrat, I 

think, even though the Democratic registration was very high. 

04-00:53:52  

Holmes: When you were, in that general election, I think one of only two or three 

Democrats that were elected? 
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04-00:53:57  

Brown: To what? 

04-00:53:59  

Holmes: In 1972 statewide office. 

04-00:54:03  

Brown: I think the onlyðoh, Tunney was elected. And maybe Tom Lynch, as attorney 

general? 

04-00:54:09  

Holmes: Wilson [C.] Riles, I think. 

04-00:54:10  

Brown: Wilson Riles was an independent, and who was the attorney general? Oh, I think 

[J.] Arthur Younger was elected. Yeah, Tom Lynch did not run. So yeah, the only 

statewide elected was myself, except for Wilson Rilesðthatôs a nonpartisan 

office [state superintendent of public instruction]. 

04-00:54:28  

Holmes: A final question on Unruh: when we look at this campaign, heôs trying to wage a 

populist campaign against Reagan. And heôs trying to shed, I think, many years of 

rumorsðor at least speculation about his behavior when it comes to lobbyists and 

the inner workings of Sacramento. Do you think, or did he ever speak to you, 

about your campaign against campaign finances? 

04-00:54:57  

Brown: I canôt remember. I didnôt have much contact with him. I had a little contact with 

the Tunney campaign. That was in LA. But I donôt remember much contact with 

Unruh and Reagan. I had very little. 

04-00:55:10  

Shafer: How did John Tunney strike you? 

04-00:55:14  

Brown: Well, he was a friend of Teddy Kennedy. Very upbeat. He was very attractive to 

the folks, particularly in Hollywood. He had a lot of support there. So he was a 

more glamorous candidate. 

04-00:55:37  

Shafer: Did he seem substantive? 

04-00:55:38  

Brown: I couldnôt tell. I mean he was sufficiently glamorous that that was the 

overwhelming impression. But vigorous, dynamic. He was a good candidate. 

04-00:55:52  

Shafer: So you win, and you get sworn in on January 4, 1971, and Earl Warren swears 

you in. How did you come to thatðhow did you decide to have him do it? 
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04-00:56:05  

Brown: Well, I knew who he was. I thought that would be quite historic, memorable. My 

father knew Warren. They had become friends. So why wouldnôt he? If you could 

have Earl Warren swear you in, why would you say, ñI would rather have the 

clerk of Sacramento County.ò Or who would you say? A judge? 

04-00:56:39  

Shafer: Your father. 

04-00:56:41  

Brown: Well, I didnôt even think of that. See, normally you had judges swear you in. A 

judge swore in my father, Chief Justice [Phil S.] Gibson swore him in as attorney 

general. I think we have a picture of that. So it seemed to me that you have a 

judge. Well, if you have a judge, you could have the chief justiceðwhy not have 

the chief justice of the United States? So that was my thought. But it wasnôt a big 

show. It was a very modest. By todayôs productions, it was pretty simple. I think 

it was in one of the rooms in the capitol. There werenôt a lot of people there, I 

donôt think. But certainly, there wasðmaybe a hundred, a couple hundred. 

04-00:57:24  

Shafer: Was there press there? 

04-00:57:26  

Brown: Yeah, there must have been press. But I donôt know if you read the next day in the 

[Sacramento] Bee, I donôt know if you see anything. There must have been. 

Because the swearing in is usually the governor. So yeah, Iôm sworn in on the 

same day, I was sworn in. So the governor is the story, is the news. 

04-00:57:46  

Shafer: Do you remember your first conversation with Governor Reagan as secretary of 

state, or that early relationship, like what was that? 

04-00:57:52  

Brown: No, I just called himðI think I went in and talked to him about my budget. I 

wanted to expand it to include a few election lawyers or somethingðsomething 

like that. I think I only talked to him once. 

04-00:58:07  

Shafer: The whole four years? 

04-00:58:07  

Brown: Yeah. 

04-00:58:08  

Shafer: Really? 

04-00:58:09  

Brown: Well, thatôs more than governors normally talk to secretaries of state. 
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04-00:58:13  

Shafer: [laughing] And then, of course, Watergate happens. And I donôt know if we want 

to jump ahead or not, to Proposition 9? 

04-00:58:24  

Brown: Oh yeah, that was ô74. Thatôs four years later. There were a lot of lawsuits we 

brought. Brought a lawsuit against Nixonôs notary public, [Frank] DeMarco [Jr.], 

for falsifying his income tax returns. And we had a hearing, and took away his 

notary public. In fact, he did falsify the returns. He did sort of take advantage of a 

tax exemption that had expired. Very crude violation of the tax law. Tom Quinn 

uncovered thatðI never verified it, but Tom Quinn claims that somehow he was 

able to find the typeface of the typewriter, and that typewriter was not made in the 

time when the tax law was operative. Now, thatôs what he saidðwhatever it was, 

they figured it out somehow. So that was a lawsuit. 

 I also filed a claim with the Federal Communications Commission, to ask them to 

provide free timeðfive minutes each night, on all stationsðfor major candidates. 

And I also asked the postal service to provide a certain number of free universal 

mailings. Those filings, for all I know, are still there in the archives. Theyôve 

never been acted upon, but they were good ideas at the time. That was before 

social media.  

04-01:00:04  

Shafer: You were basically sort of flexing, using the office in a way that it hadnôt been 

used before. 

04-01:00:07  

Brown: Right. 

04-01:00:10  

Shafer: And to what you told us yesterday, that you decided when you were listening to 

your father and Jess Unruh talk, that you decided you wanted to be governor? 

04-01:00:19  

Brown: I think thatôs when I decided. You know, it was a long time [ago], so the mists of 

time are getting denser. But thatôs what I believe. 

04-01:00:32  

Shafer: I mean at some point, I imagine that you and Tom were thinking okay, how are 

we going to parlay thisðno, you donôt like that word, it sounds like a poker 

game. But how are you going to use this officeð 

04-01:00:43  

Brown: Parlay, I think thatðisnôt that a racing term? 

04-01:00:44  

Shafer: ParlayðI donôt know. I thought yesterday you objected to it. 

04-01:00:49  

Brown: No, I didnôt. You didnôt use the word parlay yesterday. 
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04-01:00:49  

Shafer: [laughing] Oh, I didnôt? 

04-01:00:51  

Brown: No, you didnôt. Did you remember hearing him sayð? 

04-01:00:55  

Marzorati: Parlay, yeah. 

04-01:00:53  

Brown: What? 

04-01:00:53  

Shafer: Yeah, I did. 

04-01:00:54  

Marzorati: You have to pick a couple winners in a row to win. [laughter] 

04-01:00:58  

Brown: Yeah, whatever. I donôt know what parlay means. 

04-01:01:00  

Shafer: [laughing] Weôll get the transcript. 

04-01:01:00  

Brown: Thatôs why I donôt know what it means. [laughter] I think it means racing. No, we 

knew about my running for governor before I was sworn in as secretary of state. 

So, yeah, our whole orientation was make sure that was the path I was on. 

04-01:01:16  

Shafer: Say more about that. How did you have thatðwhat did you talk about? 

04-01:01:20  

Brown: I mean I canôt recount a conversation from more than forty years ago. But we did, 

in the office, that which the office had a legal obligation and right to do. And in so 

doing, we certainly got a lot of attention. And we traveled around, and thatôs 

where we put out press releases. And as I remember, Iôd deliver a release myself. 

Iôd go to the LA Times, drop it off, go up to UPI, go up some backstairs and drop 

off the release. Thatôs how you had to drop things off, you just didnôt send them 

out electronically. So we did that, and youôd have to look at the number of 

releases. But my impression was that we had the eighteen-year-old vote. I think I 

filed an amicus brief on thatðmight have filed an amicus brief on the Spanish 

ballot. We did a number of things. And we went to political meetings, went to 

county clerk meetings, talked with the county clerks. 

04-01:02:39  

Shafer: Did you feel like you were building bridges to, you know, constituencies at that 

point, like labor? 
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04-01:02:44  

Brown: Yeah, I would think so, to African Americans. The guy who owned the black 

paper in LA [Los Angeles Sentinel]ð[Leon] Washington [Jr.], Mr. Washington. 

He and his wife [Ruth] had that paper. I would go down and visit them. Yeah, we 

went to different newspapers around the state. 

04-01:03:15  

Shafer: So with some of these lawsuits that you filed, did you writeð? 

04-01:03:17  

Brown: There was more of a media programðold fashioned. Go to the different counties, 

because the media wasðbecame more and more important. In the old days, youôd 

have to go to all these places and even in 1970, you still had to go to a local media 

market. But you were going to the media. You werenôt going to the county clerk. 

Whereas my father had said his whole idea was you go visit the editor and the 

judge and the county clerk, of each county. But of course each of these counties 

was so small that itôs a different perspective today. 

04-01:03:58  

Shafer: How you decide which cases to, you know, file an amicus brief or to file a 

lawsuit? 

04-01:04:02  

Brown: Yeah, because they were related to the secretary of state. They were germane to 

the job. I didnôt just pull something out of the air. It had to be related to what we 

were doing. 

04-01:04:15  

Shafer: And one that you could get in the news with, I assume? 

04-01:04:19  

Brown: Well, if it was noteworthy, it was newsworthy. I mean itôs difficult to do 

something important in a totally obscure way. That would be kind of a form of 

political mortification that I think is inconsistent with the calling. 

04-01:04:39  

Shafer: I wonder, in the ô72 electionðyou werenôt on the ballot of course. But there were 

a number of issues, including Prop. 22, which was an anti-UFW initiative. It 

would have banned boycotts. 

04-01:04:52  

Brown: Oh yeah, we worked on that. I helped exploreðthere was some fraudulent 

signature gathering, and I held a press conference and exposed that and the farm 

workers were very happy about that. 

04-01:05:10  

Shafer: And hadðdid they come to you and suggest that, or howð? 

04-01:05:12  

Brown: Yes, yes. I think at some point in time Iôd gone to La Paz and visited Ch§vez. 
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04-01:05:19  

Shafer: Yeah, what was he like? 

04-01:05:22  

Brown: I thought very impressive. I saw him first in my fatherôs house on Muirfield in 

the ô66 campaign. He just walked through the room. He had a plaid shirt on. At 

La Paz, it was one of these places with a lot of fervorðnuns and young people 

and everyone very much in the cause. So it has that spirit of common endeavor, 

kind of a kibbutz/novitiate kind of feeling, which I am drawn to, so I liked that. I 

remember sitting around on the rug drinking herb tea with him and a number of 

his associates. He just had a wayðthere was a charisma there. Undoubtedly. A lot 

of people just donôt have charisma. I donôt want to compare him to Mother 

Teresa, but Mother Teresa had charisma too. Simple of dress, simple of manner, 

very direct. Now, C®sar, I canôt tell you all the differentðhe had had a soft voice. 

But the fact that he wasðthe Madonna, the flag, the huelga [strike], the whole 

movementðit was a movement. And so that was very attractive, because I 

thought they were doing something. You have the most oppressed workers, and 

they were lifting them up, and they were doing it not in a bread and butter trade 

union way, but in a movement way. So, yeah, I was very impressed by that. 

04-01:07:22  

Holmes: When was the first time that you met César Chávez? 

04-01:07:27  

Brown: I guess when I went to La Paz, when I was probably seeking their endorsement 

for secretary of state. 

04-01:07:37  

Shafer: Oh, and what was La Paz? 

04-01:07:37  

Brown: La Paz is where the farm workers had their headquarters. Outside of Bakersfield. 

04-01:07:42  

Holmes: Itôs a town. 

04-01:07:43  

Brown: Thatôs where C®sar is buried. 

04-01:07:45  

Shafer: I thought he was buried in Delano. Maybe not. 

04-01:07:47  

Brown: No, Delano is where they started, but they went off to this former sanitarium and 

established a whole operation. 

04-01:07:51  

Holmes: Itôs up in the Tehachapis. 
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04-01:07:56  

Shafer: To what extent did you see him, and that movement, as kind of an emerging 

political force in California? 

04-01:08:06  

Brown: Well, he had a lot of followersðhe had people all over the world. They had 

people boycotting in Canada and London, the longshoremen refusing to unload 

California produce. He had this marchðI donôt know if I, I donôt think I met him 

on the march, but I was there. And Tunney, I think, came to that marchðand 

Mondale, down to Calexico. It was a crowd. I donôt know, five hundred, a 

thousand people? I donôt know, maybe five hundred, but it seemed like a long line 

of people, walking several miles along the road, you know, carrying banners. 

Well, thatôs not something I encountered before. So yeah, I found it interesting. 

No, more than interestingðit was moving. He was somebody of conviction, moral 

purpose, with all the ritual and emotion and feeling that is far different than just 

working on legislation in Sacramento or going to your political rally. This had 

more of a religious feel to it. 

04-01:09:32  

Shafer: A cause. 

04-01:09:34  

Brown: It was a cause, and there werenôt a lot of causes. Thereôs the civil rights 

movement. There was the farm worker movement, whichðI saw the two as 

similar. 

04-01:09:44  

Holmes: Governor, they marched to Sacramento in 1966. 

04-01:09:47  

Brown: Yeah. 

04-01:09:48  

Holmes: When your father was running. I think your father was down in Los Angeles, 

spending Easter Sunday with the family.  

04-01:09:57  

Brown: Actually in Palm Springs. 

04-01:09:58  

Holmes: Yes, Palm Springs, youôre right. 

04-01:10:02  

Brown: At Frank Sinatraôs house. I guess that would be a reportable transaction under 

Proposition 9. [laughter] 

04-01:10:10  

Holmes: He was not there to meet with them on Sunday, and Chávez made news about 

that, and we were just talking about news. Was there a lesson for you learned in 

seeing that? Because Democrats were very slow to support the movement until 

probably 1968. 
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04-01:10:32  

Brown: Well, first of all, it wasnôt too popular in a number of places where there were 

farmers. Chávez was not a force that was welcomed by the farming community, 

so you had to chooseðand politicians donôt like to choose. They like to add, not 

subtract. So I assume my father was hesitant to be in that divisive role. And he 

was someone, through the water plan, who had a lot of farmers who liked him. I 

donôt know how many that would be by todayôs calculations. It might have been 

smaller than he thought, but he did have a constituency. And so he just said Easter 

was a time to spend with the family. Thatôs what he told meðand he said that, 

and we talked about it. I thought that he should have been there. I thought that 

then. Now, Iôm not sure. 

04-01:11:26  

Shafer: Why the differentð? 

04-01:11:27  

Brown: Well, Iôm just thinking from his political point of view. Now, he probably could 

have embraced the movement, because the movement was growing, it was part of 

the Democratic Party, but it was very antagonistic to the growers. It was labor and 

capital. The Mexican farm worker versus the non-Mexican grower. And thatôs 

very divisive. On the other hand, the farm workers didnôt have any rights. They 

had the short-handled hoe. They didnôt have unemployment insurance. Soðit was 

a cause. I mean I can see why he would conclude that, from a political point of 

view. I mean you are in politics, and you try not to do thingsðyou try to avoid 

things that lose you votes. I mean, that is a fact. This is a game of numbers. If you 

get fewer votes than your opponent, then you lose. So you can never ignore any 

action that would move votes against your position. And I donôt think any real 

politician ever does, no matter what they say. 

04-01:12:53  

Shafer: Iôm wondering, you know, looking backðit sounds like now you can see why 

your father did what he did at the time. And Iôm wonderingð? 

04-01:13:00  

Brown: Yeah, it seemed like that was the cause, and he should have been with that. And I 

donôt think I experienced how people felt about the farm workers. When I became 

governor, no legislator in the valley would be seen with me. And that was actually 

the [California] Agricultural [Labor] Relations Act, but they did not want to beð

when I wanted to come into town, they avoided me. So this was a polarizedð

thatôs what they said, and thatôs what they did. And I donôt know whether it was 

the same in ô66, but it wasnôt quite that bad, and I probably didnôt even appreciate 

that. But it was a drawing of a line. 

04-01:13:45  

Shafer: I guess what Iôm getting at is you wereðwhen you were in college and when 

youôre in the seminaryð 

04-01:13:48  

Brown: Yeah, yeah. 
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04-01:13:49  

Shafer: And when youôre studying for the barðyou were pretty idealistic, I think, and 

maybe you feel you still are. Like you tried to get your father to stopðyou tried 

to stop an execution. And Iôm just wondering, lookingðare there a lot of issues 

where you look back now and you sayðyou understand better what he did than 

you did at the time? 

04-01:14:10  

Brown: Well, letôs say understandðhow much can you understand if youôre sitting in an 

isolated mountain top talking to no one except fellow Jesuits, and reading nothing 

except the Bible and Jesuit biographies, and talking about a life of perfection? 

How much does that equip you to deal with labor relations or workersô 

compensation or pensions or highways or racial matters? I mean it did give you 

some moral guidelines. But the world of politicsðthere is a prudential issue here. 

I mean, if you are right and the other guy is wrong, and then ultimately you go to 

war. And when you go to war, you have to kill people. So thatôs not good either.  

 But it would be very difficultðI think about that. How would World War I have 

been prevented? Could Russia have looked at the ally Serbia, and it was being 

invaded by the Hapsburgs, Austria. They said, ñWeôve got to come to their aid 

because theyôre our orthodox brothers.ò I suppose that was a moral issue. That 

was the right thing to do. And then the Frenchðoh, weôve got an alliance. Thatôs 

the right thing to do. And the Germans say weôre allied with Austriaðand Iôm 

sure they thought it was the right thing to do. Well, fifteen or twenty million 

people were killed after that. And George [H.W.] Bush thought it was right to 

bomb Baghdad. That was a morally correct position. But we didnôt have ISIS 

before that. So you have to beware of the consequences of your actions, whatever 

labels you affix to them. 

04-01:16:12  

Shafer: Weôll maybe take a little break in a second, but I want toðmaybe just one other 

thing aboutðbecause it became important on the ballot, Prop. 20, which was the 

coastal commission act [California Coastal Zone Conservation Act of 1972], 

yeah. 

04-01:16:20  

Brown: Right. 

04-01:16:22  

Shafer: What do you recall about that? What was your position on it? Did you think it was 

a good idea? How did youð? 

04-01:16:29  

Brown: Yeah, it sounded like a good idea. I didnôt get actively involved in that. There was 

a lot of opposition from business. I remember a guy named Alan [G.] Sieroty, I 

think, who was active in it. So yeah, I didnôt know exactly what it was, but I knew 

they were protecting the coast. But I came to understand the Coastal Commission 

in greater detail years later. So I tried to focus on what I was doing. And my job 

was, in 1972, well, I was getting ready to run for governor. I met a guy named, he 
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was the senator from Siskiyou County, way up there in, I think, Yreka. Senator 

Collier, Randolph [E.] Collier. The Silver Fox. And so I would be popping off on 

one issue after another, and he came up to me and he said, ñYouôre talking,ò I 

canôt remember the exact words, but the effect, the sum and substanceðñYou talk 

about a lot of issues. Let me tell you something. Every time you take a position, 

youôre going to lose votes. So think about it, and donôt take a position on 

everything.ò [laughing] I donôt know when he told me that, but I would have to 

say those are wise words. 

 Now, if you take no positions, then youôre nothing. If you take nothing but 

positions, youôre all over the place. So you are creating an impression, and the 

impression is made up of your actions and your words, and so you have to be 

conscious about that. You canôt be justðoh, ñIôm here, and Iôm doingòðjust 

thinking about the first level. You do have to see it in the larger picture. I think 

most politicians instinctively have a sense. In fact, most of them are too cautious, 

I would sayðtheyôre very cautious. 

04-01:18:56  

Shafer: Risk averse. 

04-01:18:57  

Brown: Iôd say theyôre very risk averse, on things like the gas tax and the cap-and-trade 

billðthey werenôt jumping onðin fact, most of these bills that we passed, it was 

hardðhard pulling. 
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Interview  5: March 19, 2019 [in the afternoon] 

05-00:00:00  

Shafer: This is the beginning of session five. Scott Shafer with Todd Holmes and 

Governor Brown, and weôre up here at the ranch in Colusa. Soð1973-74. Youôre 

starting toðthinking about running for governor. 

05-00:00:13  

Brown: Yeah. 

05-00:00:15  

Shafer: There were others who wanted to run, and did run for governor that year. You 

know, how did you assess the field when you looked at who was running, what 

the climate was? It was post-WatergateðNixon was resigning that year. 

05-00:00:30  

Brown: I donôt know about assessing the field. The main focus was on what I was doing 

in the campaign. You look at other candidates, and you read polls, and think about 

this one and that one, but thatôs more of a journalistic approach. You know, letôs 

assess the candidates. Well, each candidate is thinking about himself and where 

heôs going. [laughing] And what he has to do, and what his problems are. Soð 

05-00:01:03 

Shafer: You didnôt sort of size up the other Democrats? 

05-00:01:07 

Brown: Well, I mean instinctivelyðI size up things and I have a political mind, and so 

any kind of political phenomenon is something that is drawn to my attention. But 

yeah, I donôt know what that would mean. I mean, obviously, [Joseph L.] Alioto 

was a dynamic character, a very forceful speaker, and he was very charismatic in 

his own way.  

05-00:01:35 

Shafer: Well, maybe more so the climate, you knowðthat era. The country was going 

through a lot of turbulence. Reagan was done. Heôd done two terms. Like how did 

you see this as a good time for you? 

05-00:01:50 

Brown: Well, there wasnôt an incumbent, and I was the only statewide officer. I think it 

was a good time. I canôt remember if we took some polls, but I think I showed 

good enough. That was just a trajectory. It doesnôt work the way you think it does. 

You know, I was secretary of state; I want to run for governor; Iôm running for 

governor. [tapping on table for emphasis] What does it take? Letôs do it. So 

thereôs a lot of just operationalðraise the money. Thatôs endless. Go from one 

place to the other, traveling around, scheduling very, veryð 

05-00:02:30 

Shafer: Routine. 
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05-00:02:31  

Brown: No, very intensive, very activity filled. So sitting around ponderingðI guess 

thatôs political talk. You know, letôs sit around in a bar and talk about the 

candidates. But the candidate is more interested in advancing his causeðor her 

cause. Thatôs the way I experienced it. Or at least the way I remember it. 

05-00:02:52  

Shafer: Yeah, and how did you think about advancingðlike what was your path? 

05-00:02:56  

Brown: Well, the path is all very simple. You have to make news, raise money, and avoid 

mistakes. This is simple stuff. [laughing] Not simpleðwell, a good part of the 

political environment is already given. Itôs thrown in front of you, and then you 

enter it. So you donôt alter what people are thinking. Oh, you do a little bit, but 

thatôs it. You go someplace, you give a speech. What are you going to talk about? 

In fact, I think I gave one written speech at town hall. I think I quoted that famous 

essay on the closing of the frontier. Tom and I spent time writing it, and I just 

found that a written speech takes a lot of work, and it doesnôt make any difference 

to the press release. And I kind of marveled at thatðfirst of all, even the speech 

itself. In those days, we could get a press release out and printed by AP, or 

sometimes the other newspapers, and then that would be the same as giving a 

speech. But we had to go to places. And I guess there wasnôt that much coverage 

to begin with, except for secretary of state stuff. Itôs hard to get coverage, even 

then. Now harder even, todayðeven harder. 

So I remember what Tom said. He says youôve got millions of voters. So the 

candidate knows two hundred people, five hundred peopleðtwo thousand? 

Meets, shakes handsðfive thousand, ten thousandðsome number like that. 

Okay. Thereôs millions and millions and millions more. The only way to get to 

them is through some mass media, which is newspaper stories, radio 

programming, televisionðor you pay for it, in a thirty-second ad. Or you might 

write a letter. Thatôs it. And therefore, the most important thing is you need to 

have enough money to do that. And thatôs what all campaigns are now built on. 

Although that alone doesnôt do it, because there has to beðthe candidate and the 

time have to fit, and thatôs something that you donôt invent. You fit the time, or 

you donôt. 

05-00:05:33  

Shafer: Well, talk about that. How did you fit the time, do you think? 

05-00:05:38  

Brown: Well, I mean I was a reformer. We had Reagan there for eight years. He was a 

Republican, so I was different. I was the change. So the political reform was 

something, but it wasnôt enough. You know, in the primary, because the ballot 

measure was on the ballotðand once that passed, that issue, I think, faded. And at 

the same time, the election got a lot closer, so it became Democrat/Republican. 

And then [Houston I.] Flournoy could attack on harvest-time strikes, public 

employee strikes, capital punishment, this and that. So yeah, a lot of the issues 
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were not favorable to me, I would say. The political reform was, in the primary. 

But in the general, it then shifted. And Nixon pardoned by Ford, threw the 

Republican candidates backðFlournoy back, even though he had nothing to do 

with it. But after that wore offðand it did appear to wear offðthen it got closer 

and closer. So it was a close election, and it wasnôt clear how to run that election. 

05-00:07:01  

Shafer: Talk about Prop. 9 [Political Reform Act] becauseð 

05-00:07:04  

Brown: Prop. 9, I want to emphasize, was strictly up till June. Then it passed, is over. And 

as we know, one thing about news is it rots fast. Itôs like a ripe fruit in the sun. Itôs 

gone by the afternoon, or what weôd say, by the news cycle. So you have to 

constantly be moving. And that particular issue, which I hadnôt really thought 

about that much, really did disappear. There was probably some residual in 

peopleôs minds, but it wasnôt the decider when it came to Flournoy. 

05-00:07:43  

Shafer: How did Reagan, Governor Reagan, feel about Prop. 9? 

05-00:07:47  

Brown: I have no idea. 

05-00:07:50  

Shafer: He didnôt react, as governor? 

05-00:07:51  

Brown: I donôt know. Is there any written evidence of what he said or thought? 

05-00:07:56  

Shafer: Well, I think heðit was around that time that he pushedð 

05-00:07:58  

Brown: He probably didnôt, he didnôt endorse it, I donôt think. 

05-00:08:02  

Shafer: It was around that time he pushed for making the secretary of stateôs job 

nonpartisan, and maybeð 

05-00:08:05  

Brown: He didnôt push very hard. Well, he couldnôtðthe Democrats controlled the 

legislature. He pushed for that, but it was a bit halfhearted, I thought. 

05-00:08:21  

Shafer: Talking about the times, and there was a lot of turbulence. You were very young. 

You were thirty-six, I think, when you were running. How did you see thatðas an 

advantage, a liability, something you had to overcome? 
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05-00:08:33  

Brown: Yeah, a little bit something to overcome, a little young. The other candidates were 

more experienced. So yeah, the whole question of experience becomes an issue 

that obviously everybody wants to know. 

05-00:08:51  

Shafer: Did you see it as like, well, on the one hand Iôm inexperienced, but on the other 

hand, Iôm young, and thatôs dynamic and new and different? How did you see 

that? 

05-00:08:57  

Brown: I was talking on more of the things, more of the political reform in the primary. 

And then issues did become difficult in the general but the idea of thinking about, 

ñOh, Iôm young, Iôm not young,ò I donôt know what you do with all that. Itôs 

winter, itôs fallðokay. It is. So, I donôt think that goes anywhere. 

05-00:09:24  

Shafer: Looking back on it, do you think it was an advantage? Orð 

05-00:09:29  

Brown: I donôt know about that. Why would that be relevant? What if I were ten years 

older? I didnôt look that much different ten years later. Iôm not sure. Thatôs an 

interpretation of one aspect of a candidacy. It is what itðitôs there. 

05-00:09:50  

Shafer: Yeah, talk about, if you would, that your campaign headquarters on Sunset. 

Where was it, what was it like in thatð? 

05-00:09:57  

Brown: It was abuzzðit was lots of activity, a lot of people, like typical gubernatorial 

campaigns. A lot of fun. A lot of meetings. A lot of constituency groups coming 

in. But again, the most part was media. You have to reach the millions and 

millions of people, and you canôt do that knocking on doors. You can only do that 

through news, or through the purchase of advertisements. And thatôs what we 

didðmake news, raise money, buy ads. 

05-00:10:35  

Shafer: What kind of people did you attract as volunteers, do you remember? 

05-00:10:40  

Brown: No, some of them, we had a group from Immaculate Heart College showed up. 

Some of them are still my friends. Some Latinos went on to become leaders in the 

labor movement, or become legislators or businesspeople. So you know, it was 

just a wide group. Iôd have to get the roster out and kind of go over it. 

05-00:11:15  

Shafer: But I mean because of Watergate, did youðI mean a lot of people were just 

turned off to politics. But did you feel like itð? 
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05-00:11:20  

Brown: I think thatôs another one of those little memes. Most people are not interested in 

politics. Well, not most, but a lot of people arenôt. And then some people are. And 

young people, you know, if I go speak on a campus, then some of them would be 

excited and say, ñGee, this would be fun. Letôs do it.ò And campaigns are one of 

the more open institutions. They donôt fingerprint you when you come in, they 

donôt do a backðat least we didnôt, do background checks. Donôt check your 

grades, donôt find out do you have a degree in something? And people come in 

and they could do almost anything. Research, work in press, work in scheduling, 

drive people, secondary scheduling, help build crowds. So thereôs a lot you can 

do. And people with skill came in. Jodie Krajewski [Evans] came in, and she 

helped raise money. She was good at that, and she was very young. And you get 

right in there. If you were goodðif you can raise money, or if you can write a 

press release, you would just go right to the top, I would think. Now, maybe other 

campaigns are more rigid. But they tend to be kind of open. If anything, they 

usually have too many people in them, and I tried to keep it fairly modest in size. 

Because every dollar you spend on an organization, youôre not spending on the 

media. 

05-00:13:06  

Shafer: So that was the main thing, the TVðand radio. 

05-00:13:09  

Brown: Well, if youôre thinking of communicating with eight or nine million people, is 

there another way? You can go get a megaphone and stand down on Pershing 

Square and start yelling, but (a), it wonôt be effective, and (b), nobodyôs going to 

hear you. So there is only one road, and itôs called news and moneyðand the 

candidate, and his or her intelligence and values and charisma. But those are the 

mechanics. In football, youôve got to get the ball from where you are to the other 

guyôs goal line. Thatôs what youôve got to do. So when youôre there, youôve got to 

get the voteðor people donôt know who the hell you are, to vote for you, not for 

the other guy. Thatôs it. A subset of voters is very informed. And then as it goes 

down the spectrum, they get less informed. But theyôre all affected, one way or 

the other, by a campaign. 

 Itôs my viewðthis is not an archival factoidðbut I would just say that 

campaigns, in many cases, although not all, are just the candidate, the issues, and 

the other candidate. Sometimes you win because the other guyôs so bad. 

Sometimes you win because youôre just what is wanted at that time. And then 

other times, you get these very clever campaign advisors and consultants, and 

they help you shape a campaign. But I would say thatôs sometimes, but not 

always. 

05-00:15:03  

Shafer: Did that happen with you? 

05-00:15:05  

Brown: Well, I donôt know that we had campaign consultants. 
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05-00:15:08  

Shafer: What about Tom Quinn? 

05-00:15:10  

Brown: Well, he worked in the campaign. He was employed by the campaign. That was 

his job. 

05-00:15:18  

Shafer: But he was part of like image making, and that kind of thing? 

05-00:15:21  

Brown: Well, he wrote press releases, and he also directed the campaign. Yeah, he was a 

campaign manager. Thatôs a little different. Consultants offer advice, and I donôt 

want to get off onto that whole story. But it was a simpler structure. And the only 

people that were professional were the cameramen, and they did the 

commercialsðand the pollsters, I think, for the most part. Is that it? Maybe the 

mail house. But today, if you take Meg Whitmanôs campaign, there were over 150 

employees, so itôs getting layered and hierarchical. And governmentôs getting like 

that, so thereôs a lot of layering. And I think we had a flatter organization, 

simpler. It was Tom Quinn, Richard Maullin, myself.  

05-00:16:20  

Holmes: Governor, thereôs always a lot of talk about coalitions, when we look at party 

politics. When your father ran in 1966 to when youôre running here in ô74, I guess 

the coalition of the Democratic Party had shifted quite a bit. What were your 

observations on thatðthe coalition, if we want to use that termð? 

05-00:16:44  

Brown: Well, coalition sounds like the British government. You have a coalition of the 

liberal party and the conservatives. Now youôre talking about an electorate, where 

people arenôt in a parliamentary hall cutting deals. So the party was different. You 

had Earth Day. You had something called the environment. You had the assertion 

of black power, of civil rights. That became something different, so that it was 

simpler than in Trumanôs day, or even the ô58 campaign. Yeah, there is more of a 

fragmentation, and today itôs even much more so. 

 I kept thinking of the black/brown coalition. Thatôs what Tom Bradleyðhe had a 

guy, Maury [Maurice Weiner] that was one of his advisersðand their whole deal 

was to get the Mexican Americans and the African Americans working to elect 

Tom Bradley. And I guess that was embryonic of whatôs going on today. You 

know, thatôs kind of a social-science way of looking at it. And campaigns are 

getting very micro targeted, but I donôt think we thought in micro-targeting 

termsðswing voters. I didnôt know about the swing voter. 

 We knew about the voters in South Gate that had voted against fair housing, and 

voted for Sam Yorty in the primary, that there was a conservative Democrat. And 

Yorty got about 43 percent of the vote, as I recall. So thatôs a factor, so youôre 

always thinking, ñWell, how do we get to people in South Gate?ò Because youôre 

not going to win if you lose all of what were called the Yorty vote, youôre not 
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going to get elected, so somehow you have to get that vote. And that gets 

complicated when these things get divisive, and you get issues like abortion and 

cross-town busing, and things like that that politicians do like to avoid. And when 

youôre from a particular district, you champion one side or the other. But when 

youôre running statewide in a very diverse state, you tend to want to be more 

generic, and then that has its own challenge. And so, obviously, Iôve followed in 

that tradition, as do all candidates who turn out to be elected. 

05-00:19:27  

Shafer: Coming back to the primary for a minute. Prop. 9ðyou embraced it, you 

supported it. And I think your two opponents, [Joseph L.] Alioto and [Robert] 

Moretti, did not. Did you use that, do you rememberðagainst them? 

05-00:19:40  

Brown: Well, I donôt know if theyðI think [Jerome L.] Waldie endorsed it. [John F.] 

ñJackò Henning, from the AFL-CIO, denounced itðin terms that have turned out 

to have some truth to them. But did I use it?  

05-00:20:00  

Shafer: To differentiate yourself. 

05-00:20:01  

Brown: I canôt remember. Well, obviously, I would use that. But whether I took an ad 

outðuse it how? Use it in a speech to two hundred people? Or use it in an ad that 

goes to two million people? I hate to be so picky, but details matter, as to what 

weôre talking about. You have a lot of conversations. When youôre in a campaign, 

youôre going every day, talking politics. And yeah, the fact that we lost the 

endorsementðthat highlighted political reform. I was on the good side. 

05-00:20:38  

Shafer: And I can imagine, in an election like this during the middle of Watergate, where 

you would use it to say look, these guys are part of the old system. 

05-00:20:46  

Brown: Well, I donôt know that I attacked them as much. I donôt think our ads attacked 

themðIôm not sure. Someone would have to go back and look. I think this attack 

is more recent. Well, I mean it comes back. Itôs been around in California a long, 

long time. But the goal was to get known and win over a majority of the voters. 

And a year before I started, I think I remember seeing a poll, I was around 35 

percent, and when the vote came in, I was around 35 percent, a year later, after all 

the activity. So thatôs my point, that things get fixed. I represented a certain 

loyalty, fondness for the Brownðthe memory, the Brown memory, the name, 

kind of. Maybe the political reform, maybe youngerðit was a combination of 

those factors. 

05-00:21:48  

Shafer: Did youðyouôve mentioned TV a few times, and I donôt knowðyou may not 

remember exactly what the slogan was, but you know, how did youðI know 
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youôre not going to like this word, but how did you likeðpackage yourself. How 

did you convince all these voters? 

05-00:22:01  

Brown: You should go collect the films, and go look at them. You can see for yourself. 

05-00:22:06  

Shafer: Well, weôll do that. But Iôm justðwhatôs your recollection? 

05-00:22:11  

Brown: Well, in a very attractive way, I thought. Although Iôve listened to some of the 

ads, and the voices get a bit distorted, so they seem a little bit hollow to me right 

now. But I think thatôs the sound. The sound doesnôt last long on recordings. Did 

you know that? Have you heard things from thirty years ago? 

05-00:22:29  

Shafer: Yeah, it deteriorates. 

05-00:22:30  

Brown: Big time. Iôm sure political reform was part of the primary, I would think. 

Obviously, that was a big defining issue, I would think. But itôs hard to remember. 

Iôve had a lot of these campaigns. Iôve done a lot of ads. Yeah. 

05-00:22:52  

Shafer: So Tom Quinnðthereôs a quote from Tom in the LA Times, and Iôm not sure 

quite what the date is, but hereôs what he said, ñWe wanted,ò looking back on the 

campaign, ñWe wanted to avoid any discussion of substance. We found obscure, 

boring issues, and talked about them. Jerryôs real ideas were dangerous.ò 

05-00:23:15  

Brown: Thatôs Richard Maullin, isnôt it? 

05-00:23:17  

Shafer: It was Tom Quinn, I think, in the LA Times. So what is heð? 

05-00:23:20  

Brown: That was at a conference. Thatôs, again, the political campaign manager talking, 

you know, like heôs in chargeðwhich really isnôt true. The candidate is the one 

that runs the campaign, for the most part. That was an overstatement of the 

obvious point, that strikes at harvest time and giving public employees the right to 

bargain, which would imply the right to strike, or capital punishment, were not 

winner topics, so you do want to avoid that. So, thatôs the avoidance of 

unnecessary controversy. Now, the ads were meant to be exciting, meant to be 

memorable, not to be boring, but to not being a flame throwing, extreme 

candidate. You could go into a debate or something and say, ñLook, Iôm standing 

here, and I tell you, if Iôm governor, weôre going to have strikes from Stockton to 

El Centro at the height of harvest, and that fruitôs going to rot, unless C®sar 

Chávez is an equal bargaining agent with the farmers of California.ò You could 

say that, right? But youôd be a damn fool. 
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05-00:24:50  

Shafer: Not a winner. 

05-00:24:52  

Brown: Well, why would you even say it, anyway? Itôs not even diplomatic. The whole 

notion of collective bargaining was framed in terms of a secret-ballot election of 

choices. So, I think, looking back, I had a lot of the ideas in this campaign. I donôt 

want to say all the ideas, but most of the ideas.  

05-00:25:20  

Shafer: What were the onesðwhat are the ones youôre most proud of. 

05-00:25:25  

Brown: These are not things youôre proud of. Itôs all situational. When youôre at a dinner, 

talking to your wife twenty years ago, what is the thing youôre most proud of? I 

mean, thatôs a silly question. 

05-00:25:39  

Shafer: Or what kind of ideas are you talking about? 

05-00:25:42  

Brown: A lady, Mary Ellen Leary, wrote a book called Shadow Politics, or something. Do 

you know that book? [Phantom Politics: Campaigning in California] 

05-00:25:45  

Holmes: Yes. 

05-00:25:47  

Brown: Youôve read it, or looked at it? 

05-00:25:50  

Holmes: I have. 

05-00:25:51  

Brown: Okay, thatôs what that whole book was about, right? And the book was kind of 

boringðit was boring. [laughter] She was a very nice lady, a friend of my 

fatherôs. She had dinner at our house one time. But she was upset there wasnôt 

enough substantive debate. But, itôs hard to have a substantive debate in a press 

release. Thereôs, well, all I can tell youðthe question is what am I most proud of. 

This is not a business of walking around patting myself on the back, ñBoy, am I 

proud.ò Of what? You know what I mean? Itôs a very exciting, engaging 

activityðpolitics, campaigning, and serving in office. And it certainly has always 

struck me that Iôm doing something valuable and importantðand thatôs it. Thatôs 

what we, thatôs what they call, in Buddhism, a gaining idea. Itôs extra. Youôve 

added itðyou donôt need that. Just sit, you know? The rivers flow, the mountains 

are here. So, campaigning, governing, weôre just here. Weôre doing it. And there 

could be a moment that is aðbut also, being proud, see that, to me, connotes 

gloating or some kind of vanity, that strikes me as not virtuous or notðand 

almost leading to problems. 
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05-00:27:38  

Shafer: Well, you just said that you thought of most of the good ideas, so I thought, you 

know, what were they? 

05-00:27:44  

Brown: Well, whatever ideas there were, they were good because they won! Theyôre 

certainly the ideas in the secretary of stateôs campaign. Those were my ideas. We 

had the idea of, I think if you look at that first press release, clean skies and good 

schools. What was the third one? Energy. I think it was Governor Cuomo who 

said, ñYou campaign in poetry, and you govern in prose,ò so thereôs a little poetry 

there, I would guess. But they did hint where we were going. I did stuff on 

education, I did some on clean air. Dramatic, more movesðmore state 

intervention to reduce air pollution than any other state, and then that evolved into 

doing something about climate change. So talking about clean air, coming out of 

the smog of LAðthat was an important idea, and that idea lived. 

 We also had an ideaðit really wasnôt my idea. It came from Ken Gostein, whoôs 

now dead. He was a reporter from little minor magazines. He was an unusual 

fellow who just showed up somehow. And we proposed train systems, from 

downtown LA to the San Fernando Valley, and to San Bernardino, and to Long 

Beach. That all came to be, and Iôm still promoting trains. So trains and clean air. 

Those are two important ideas that Iôve promoted. I donôt think the campaign did 

that many substantive issues, if you go back and see the commercials. I donôt 

know if they exist anymore. 

05-00:29:50  

Holmes: Thereôs television archives. 

05-00:29:52  

Brown: Have you ever looked at them? 

05-00:29:54  

Holmes: Not from this campaign specifically, no. 

05-00:29:57  

Brown: So I think that, as they say in the law, res ipsa loquitur. The thing speaks for 

itself. So I think it would be good to look at that. But also, youôve got the 

newspapers, but those are just the stories of the moment. I donôt know if there was 

that much press. Remember, I was ahead by, in some polls, fifteen points, sixteen, 

seventeen, something like that. So do I want to call attention to the opponent? 

[laughing] Even the Warriors, when theyôre ahead, do they keep shooting? Like if 

they were behind? No, right? And does any candidate? I donôt think so. I mean 

candidates may say that, or a political scientist may say that, or a journalist may 

say that. But generally speaking, itôs a contest, and you have a winner and a loser. 

So when youôre aheadðnow, you have to be careful. If youôre ahead and you 

donôt say anything, pretty soon the other guy starts saying things, and you start 

slipping, because people think thereôs nothing there. So you have to be mindful of 

that, and I think I was.  
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05-00:31:05  

Holmes: Governor, it seems that you were also, as you were just describing, somewhat 

following Randy Collierôs advice, ofð 

05-00:31:15  

Brown: Not as much as some people would think I should have. 

05-00:31:18  

Holmes: The four key areas of education, environment, economic growthð 

05-00:31:23  

Brown: By the way, when you look at contemporary candidates, and I know this is not 

what this is all aboutðI wonôt mention any namesðbut people who have taken a 

lot of positions over their lifetimes, they can run into trouble. And if they had 

taken fewer positions, they might have gotten just as far but be in a better 

position. Well, thatôs the voice of experience. Randy Collier was the longest-

serving state senator, over thirty years, so he had his thoughts. But I did pop off 

on a lot of issues. 

05-00:31:55  

Holmes: So looking at these four areas: education, environment, economic growth, and 

political reform. In addition to those, did you also speak in regards to the 

Agricultural Labor Relations Actðwith the UFW and farm laborðduring the 

campaign? 

05-00:32:18  

Brown: Iôm not sure. Iôm not sure. Iôm sure I saidðnot clear. Youôd have to look at the 

record. You know, thatôs the whole thing, even when youôre elected. How many 

issues can you put before the legislature?  

05-00:32:40  

Holmes: Well, because you did pass that the following year, in 1975. 

05-00:32:45  

Brown: Yeah, well, right. But did I run and say I was going to pass a gas tax? No. In fact, 

in doing the gas tax, a lot of legislators didnôt want it. And should I have had a 

press release? Would that have been the more upright thing to start? Iôm running 

for governor, Meg Whitman, and yes, Iôm going to doðwell, I said you wouldnôt 

have any tax without a vote of the people, so I couldnôt have done it in the first 

four years. I didnôt say that for the second term. This is an art as well as a science, 

and people who have never practiced the art may not understand all the 

ingredients that go into doing a good job. Anyway, so I must have said something 

about farm workers, but I donôt know that I highlighted that. 

05-00:33:42  

Holmes: Well, that was my question, because I know there were some statementsðI think 

theyôre more press releases, but I think they were delivered by the UFW more 

thanð 
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05-00:33:49  

Brown: About what? 

05-00:33:51  

Holmes: About the Agricultural Labor Relations Act. 

05-00:33:53  

Brown: Well, we didnôt even know what that was at that time. Thatôs a whole story, by 

the wayðthere are books written on this topic. C®sar Ch§vez didnôt even want a 

labor relations act, but he was pushed in that direction by [George] Meany and the 

AFLðat least some people say that. That whole story of the function of law and 

how it works, itôs a very important question. I did ally with the farm workers. I 

took away the short-handled hoe right away, and I signed a bill in my first year 

and said at my state-of-the-state speech that we should have collective bargaining 

for those who work in the fields. I did say that, but whether I said that precisely 

before, Iôm not sure. 

 And by the way, those arenôt issues. Issues are the news of the day. You have to 

understand: the American media, the Western media in general, is very 

constrained by news of the day. Now, I may be overstating that, but thatôs the way 

it strikes me. And so you have to roll with the news. And I donôt know that 

agricultural relations wasðitôs maybe an issue in Fresno or Stockton, but it 

wasnôt in most other places, in the big media markets. 

05-00:35:23  

Holmes: Well, I mean we can get to that, but it wasðthey were waging national boycotts 

forð 

05-00:35:27  

Brown: They were. 

05-00:35:28  

Holmes: Since ô68. And by the 1970s, it wasð 

05-00:35:32  

Brown: So the question is are you for boycotting grapes, yes or no? Yeah, I probably did 

avoid that question. Are you for boycotting lettuce? I said we should not buy non-

UFW lettuce for the cafeterias of the junior colleges. I said that. So I always 

wanted to be measured, and because this is not a college oratorical contest, where 

youôre there to excite the audienceðyouôre there to communicate your position, 

what youôre running for, why youôre running, but to do so in the most effective 

manner, and thatôs what every candidate does. And the game of the reporters is 

always to get you to say something that you shouldnôt say, if votes is what youôre 

trying to get. Now, a reporter can say, ñWell, votesðyou shouldnôt try to get 

votes, and you should try to say something that I want you to say, or that I think 

would be hard for you to say. Or Iôm a sadist, and I just enjoy your squirmingòðI 

tend to think thatôs also part of a journalistic mentality. 
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 But nevertheless, the democratic system is not perfect, and the campaigning is not 

a perfect correlate with the governing. George Bush said that in some way he was 

going to do something about climate change, and as soon as he was elected, he 

switched that off, because thatôs where the Republicans were. So like it or donôt 

like it, it has a long storied history in modern American politics. 

05-00:37:22  

Shafer: You mentioned the 2020 election, in passing. Beto OôRourke, last week, said that 

he was born to run this race for president. 

05-00:37:33  

Brown: Yeah. 

05-00:37:35  

Shafer: Do you feel that at all, lookingðat the time, did you feel like thisð? 

05-00:37:28  

Brown: That sense of destiny is not a storyline that grabs me. Born toðyeah, I mean I had 

a lot of advantages, and I think I benefited from those advantages. But when you 

say born to, that could be interpreted that itôs your destiny. And if itôs your 

destiny, thereôs a certain metaphysics behind that. Did God ordain this? Is it built 

into the structure of the physical laws of the universe? Is it some cultural 

configuration? Or is it just a feeling that you have? Or something else.? Youôd 

have to ask him. Thatôs an interesting question. But I would never say, ñI was 

born to be governor.ò Definitely, that strikes me as a very alien thought. 

05-00:38:36  

Shafer: Californiaôs a big state, and youôve talked a lot about the importance of mass 

media, but there is traveling around and shaking hands. Of course as you got 

older, you campaigned in different ways. 

05-00:39:02  

Brown: Yeah. 

05-00:39:03  

Shafer: But in ô74, what did you like most, and least, about campaigning? 

05-00:39:09  

Brown: I think I liked most of it. There wasnôt anything I didnôt particularly like. I had fun 

going on trips, going to small townsðparticularly going to these small towns. 

They were fun. Yeah, I think the whole thingðit was exciting. 

05-00:39:30  

Shafer: The glad-handing and all that stuff? 

05-00:39:32  

Brown: Itôs not glad-handing. If people come up to you, they want to see you, talk to you, 

itôs obviously flattering to your sense of yourself. Whatôs not to like? Have you 

ever had hundreds of people pushing to shake your hand? And if they did, Iôm 
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sure you wouldnôt say, ñOh no, Iôm sorry. Please stand back.ò [laughter] So no, I 

donôt think itôs bad at all.  

But Iôll tell you I tend to think that a lot of this activity, so called touching the 

flesh, is just for the cameras. Even the so-called rope line, for the president. Thatôs 

a camera phenomenon, because itôs such a small subset of the electorate. So I find 

that a little questionable. I do. Yeah, so in that sense, maybe I didnôtðwell, itôs 

also maybe the enthusiasm too. The enthusiasm builds, it spreads. People say, ñI 

went to a rally. It was exciting.ò Yeah, thatôs true. 

 These cell phone photos have really taken over a major part now. You used to be 

able to talk to people. Now, for the most part, they want to get that picture. And to 

get it, it often will take five or six seconds. So that means, if you see ten people, 

thatôs a minute just taking those ten. So before youôd shake hands, go down the 

line. Itôs of the evolutionary process of campaigning. And in general, I think it 

was pretty good. But I did feel performing for the media was difficult. So thatôs 

why, when youôre being observed, itôs hard to not be conscious that youôre being 

observed. And if youôre being observed, youôre not fully engaged in what it is 

youôre engaging in. So I think thatôs a challenge that Iôm sensitive to. 

05-00:41:40  

Shafer: Yeah. Hereôs aðthis is a quote from one of the articles in September of 1974. It 

says, ñBrown promises to pursue a constitutional amendment to merge the senate 

and the assembly.ò And then thereôs a quote, ñJerry Brown has been,ò this is from 

the senate president pro tem, James [R.] Mills, I think, at the time. 

05-00:42:05  

Brown: Jim Mills, yeah. 

05-00:42:06  

Shafer: Jim Mills. [reading aloud] ñJerry Brown has been attacking the legislature since 

the beginning of his campaign, and it seems apparent he intends to continue. Itôs 

time for him to stop, if he wants to develop a close working relationship with the 

legislature.ò Does that ring true?  

05-00:42:20  

Brown: Yeah. Yeah, obviously. [laughing] You canôt keep attacking the legislature and 

working with them. Butðthose are ideas. I donôt know where that idea came 

from. So maybe I overstated it when I said most of the ideas. There were a lot of 

ideas that came in from different sources. So thatôs a reform idea. When youôre 

trying to figure out a reform, you know, do the Political Reform Act, everything 

Iôd thought of, and other people had thought of, and Common Causeðit was in 

the initiative. So now, whatôs the next one? Well, create a unicameral legislature. 

Both houses are kind of redundant. One used to represent the more rural areas. 

But it doesnôt do that anymore, after one man, one vote. So yeah, I donôt knowð

what is your question? 

05-00:43:09  

Shafer: Well, I guess, did you feelð? 
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05-00:43:10  

Brown: Is your question do I think heôs right, and Iôm wrong? 

05-00:43:15  

Shafer: Did you feel, given who you were as secretary of state and the times and 

Watergate did you feel like it was to your advantage to be seen as running against, 

you know, the government? 

05-00:43:26  

Brown: A little bit. Well, a little bit. Right. Thereôs an element of that. You know, Clinton 

ran against the government, and Reagan said, ñGovernment is not the solution, 

government is the problem.ò So that was in the air. That was the environment, and 

since Iôve been around a while, Iôve seen different things get in the air. And 

government is the problem, was a meme that they got hold of. They also got hold 

of the window of vulnerability, that the Russians had more missiles. It turned out 

to be completely untrue. So thereôs a lot of things, true and untrue, that become 

common wisdom. And just like news of the day, you canôt deviate from the 

common wisdom as a mainstream candidate. 

 It is an error, Iôve thought, to talk too specifically about the mechanics of 

government. And itôs also an error to talk too much about Democrat versus 

Republican. In California itôs always been a more centrist program. Earl Warren 

always was trying to bridge the gap between Republicans and Democrats. My 

father tried that. He said, ñI want to be governor in the tradition of Hiram 

Johnson, a progressive Republican, and Earl Warren.ò So yeah, that was the spirit. 

 Now, the legislature periodically runs through these scandals, and theyôre up 

there, and itôs just the way it is in democracy. I donôt care whether youôre in 

Brazil, or whether youôre in some country in Europe, the Ukraine, where you have 

endemic corruption. This legislative body is fodder in media circles. See, weôre 

talking ô74: you had the Arab oil embargo; you had the Vietnam Warðwhat did 

we lose, fifty-five thousand, and the Vietnamese lost at least two million? That 

was pretty seriousðthat was government. That was the best and the brightest. 

Then we have Nixon, and we have Watergate, and we have the manipulation of 

the CIA and what have you. And then you have all these other things about 

government. 

 So yeah, since government is more and more part of our lives, government is 

going to be more and more part of the problem. And people felt that, certainly 

in ô74, because, well, the price of gasoline went up, the president was impeached, 

and we lost the first war in history. So thatôs going to make people feel pretty 

restive about government. And thatôs true today, being in the Afghan war for now 

going on seventeen years, people are going to say wait a minute. This is a big 

problem. And that wentðI think a lot ofðbehind Trump. If youôre asking me 

does anybody talk about government as the problem? In one form or another, they 

do that. 



 Oral History Center, The Bancroft Library, University of California, Berkeley 176 

 

 Now, my father didnôt talk about that, and Nixon didnôt talk about that when he 

ran for governor. That was their era. But weôre in a different time, and people 

think definitely of the government. Reagan could say, ñIôm here from 

Washington, and Iôm here to help you,ò or something, and everybody laughs. So I 

donôt know if they would have said that a hundred years ago, nor would they have 

said that during the Depression, so itôs just one of the memes that weôve got to 

live with. 

05-00:47:39  

Shafer: When that was happening during the campaign in ô74, did you think, ñWell, if I 

win, when I win, Iôm going to have to work with these guys, and Iôd betterð?ò 

05-00:47:47  

Brown: Well, yeah. Well, I started working with them. I had some legislative 

endorsements. Not many, three, but they were powerful. But I think this idea of 

government, nothing works. And we have that today: the schools donôt work, 

health care doesnôt work, canôt afford to buy a house, too much crime in the 

streets. So democracy feeds on this discontent, and it is escalating. So I think 

thatôs normal. 

 I donôt think I shied away from activism as a leader in government. I mean, there 

were always things we did. And Henry Ford [II] came out to California my first 

year and spoke to Tom Quinn, who was then the head of the Air Resources Board. 

He [Ford] complained California was going to mandate a significant reduction in 

sulfur emissions, and he asked us not to do that, but we did it anyway. So thatôs 

government, coercively pushing for a certain objective thatôs in the public 

interest. So yeah, government is very important, and I believe itôs important. But 

at the same time, people think itôs a problemðbut they want it to do something. 

So there are a lot of contradictory streams and elements that you have to negotiate 

as a leader of this thing, government, which has so many different shapes and 

forms.  

05-00:49:28  

Shafer: At that time, I think you were hanging out withðdefine hanging out the way you 

wantðNatalie Wood, Shana Alexanderð 

05-00:49:39  

Brown: Let me tell you, Natalie Wood and Shana Alexander have nothing in common. So 

hanging out with them, in regard to politics? 

05-00:49:49  

Shafer: Well no, just personally, as part of your personal life. 

05-00:49:53  

Brown: So whatôs the question? 
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05-00:49:53  

Shafer: I guess as a bachelor running for governor, you had opportunities to you know, 

have dinner or lunch or whatever, with whoever you wanted to. I mean did you 

feelð? 

05-00:50:07  

Brown: Not whoever I wanted to. Thatôs a big overstatement. But more than the guy down 

the street. First of all, Natalie Wood was somebody that someone introduced me 

to. I did go out with her a few times. Shana Alexander was someone who 

followed McCarthy and was a person who would sit around, as Iôve mentioned 

before, and weôd talk about politics and other things. She was a sophisticated 

person. I think her father was a music producer, or something or other. Anyway, 

she was interesting. And McCarthy enjoyed her company, and I enjoyed both of 

their company. Maybe three or four times, when there were rallies in California. 

So those two events seem very different to me. 

05-00:50:49  

Shafer: I guess part of the context of the times too was, you know, drugs. People were 

partying. LA was veryðthere was a lot of glamour, it was glitz, you know, and 

you were in that world, right? Iôm just wondering, did you see yourself as part of 

it, or apart from it? 

05-00:51:14  

Brown: What world? See, that world already isðthatôs a construct, if I ever saw one. 

Yeah, thereôs millions of people living in Los Angeles, and more in California. 

Yeah, in the world, being a part ofðI didnôt think of myself as being a partðor 

not a part. I was just going about my business. Iôm a lawyer at Tuttle & Taylor, 

Iôm secretary of state, running for governor, talking to people, trying to make 

friends, raise money, look good, do goodðkeep going. So ñthis being a part ofò is 

a way somebody writing a book or a treatise about some era, and youôve got to fill 

in with that kind of imagination. But as an actor, as a player, down there on the 

field, youôre blocking and tackling and running. Youôre not thinking about well, 

whatôs going on in the stands? Thatôs my metaphor explaining that, yeah. [Shafer 

laughs] Youôve got to get down on the field. And youôve never been on the field. 

You donôt want to know what itôs like on the field. [laughing] 

05-00:52:42  

Shafer: Um, did you use drugs at all? 

05-00:52:44  

Brown: No. 

05-00:52:45  

Shafer: Never? 

05-00:52:47  

Brown: No, Iôm not going to say all of my habits, of which are not perfect. But itôs not a 

topic that Iôve indulged in. And Iôve gone this long, and I donôt intend to change it 

now. 
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05-00:53:01  

Shafer: Okay. What else? [laughing] I want to ask you about another thing that was going 

on in that time frame, which was Patty Hearst. Patty Hearst was kidnapped in 

1974, fromðyou know, she was in San Francisco, got kidnapped, newspaper 

heiress, went missing for a good part of the first year you were governor. How did 

you think about that, how did that play intoð? 

05-00:53:30  

Brown: I have no idea how I thought about that. And thatôs a very interesting question. 

How do you think about it? I think, but how I think, thatôs another question. I 

think I followed the story. It was very interesting. Symbionese Liberation Front, 

the burning building, Patty Hearst. The picture with a machine gun. Yeah, that 

was all very interesting. But Iôm not sure how I would think about itðI mean as a 

what? I donôt even know where to go with that question. Are you saying that you 

can extract some social meaning from that, or some cultural conclusion? I donôt 

knowðyou can say different things. You can talk about her father and the times. I 

donôt know, but those are very sophisticated thoughts, that certainly didnôt come 

into my head. And what year was this? 

05-00:54:21  

Shafer: Yeah, ô74. 

05-00:54:22  

Brown: In ô74, Iôm running for governor. Iôve got to worry about Alioto, Flournoy. I 

raised millions of dollarsðeverything else is kind of out there. Itôs way out there. 

Itôs a newspaper story. It was news of the day, and it went on for days. 

05-00:54:40  

Shafer: Years, a couple years. 

05-00:54:41  

Holmes: And to piggyback on that, could you discuss the change you saw in the 

counterculture during that time, which I think dovetails with the Patty Hearst 

kidnapping? Because we went from having, say, activists in civil rights or even 

hippiesðif we want to use that termðagainst the war to, by the early 1970sðas 

you mentioned earlierðthe Weather Underground, heavy drug use, and even 

violence coming into that. What were your observations on the changing of 

activism during that time? 

05-00:55:20  

Brown: Well, now youôve conflated a lot of things, for sure. 

05-00:55:26  

Holmes: Iôm a historian. Iôm pretty good at that, Sir. [laughing] 

05-00:55:28  

Brown: Conflating. Hippies and antiwar, those are a little different. I remember when I 

was in Berkeley, and some girl talked about the hippiesðand she met hippies in 

Mexico, or something. I think I heard that term in ô64, and I said, ñWhat the 

hellðwhatôs a hippie?ò But thatôs the first time I ever heard that. The first time 
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ever heard the term beatnik, I was in the novitiate, and the assistantðFather 

Meehan was his name. He was the assistant to the master of novices, said, 

ñThereôs this beatnik movement. Theyôre talking about chewing razor blades.ò I 

remember being kind of interested in this. This is kind of interesting. What is this 

all about? Hippie, I didnôt know what to say.  

 [break in recording] 

05-00:56:12  

Brown: What was the last question? 

05-00:56:14  

Shafer: We were talking about counterculture, hippies, and all that stuff. 

05-00:56:20  

Holmes: Yeah, the changing of activism, from say the mid-1960s to by the time that youôre 

running for governor,ðthis turning of say civil rights activism to violence, to the 

Weather Undergroundðactivism had certainly changed. 

05-00:56:39  

Brown: Yeah, and then I was in a prettyðyou might say conventional path. Antiwar 

through the peace slate, ô68, on the ballot in ô68, running for the Los Angeles 

Community College Board of Trustees, running for secretary of state, running for 

governor. These are very mainstream activities. You donôt run around with a 

feather on your head, or a bandana, or earrings or somethingðat least you didnôt 

at that time. And the people I hung out with are people who were related to what I 

was doing in some way. This is not an avocation. You know, ñOh, letôs go run for 

governor!ò It doesnôt work that way. This is what you do! This is the activity. 

And you get up in the morning, and before you go to bed, this is what you think 

about. And thatôs what I thought about, and thatôs how I got to be governor at the 

age of thirty-six. So you canôt go wandering off over here or there. I saw things. 

05-00:57:54  

Holmes: Thatôs what I was asking, more about your own observations. 

05-00:57:57  

Brown: But I didnôt see much. I wasnôt in San Francisco, so I missed that. I came down to 

LA, left in October of ô65 from San Francisco, and didnôt go back to live there 

until the end of ô88. I think I was in Elysian Park once, and they had kind of a 

little ñbe-inò of some kind, and there was a couple lying under a blanket having 

sex or something. Thatôs probably the most hippie-ish thing that I personally 

observed. And there was a few psychedelic shirts and tie-dyes, and that kind of 

thing. 

 But running for office is a discipline in itself. You go from starting at the starting 

line. Itôs quite strenuous, so thatôs what you do. Itôs politics. Itôs office holding, 

itôs partiesðDemocratic parties. I would go to events for Technion, or the 

Hebrew University, at the Hilton Hotel. I remember once going there whenðwho 
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was the prime minister in ô74? The Israeli prime ministerðbut anyway, it was 

actually the fall of the Shah. That was later. It must have been about 1980. 

05-00:59:32  

Shafer: That was, yeah, it was ô79. 

05-00:59:36  

Brown: Who was thatðwho was the prime minister in ô78? 

05-00:59:40  

Shafer: Menachem Begin, maybe? 

05-00:59:42  

Brown: Menachem Begin, probably. Was that Menachem Begin? [ed. note: Begin was 

Prime Minister of Israel from June 1977 to October 1983] Yeah, I think he was 

there. Yeah, it was Begin. I remember passing by him and talking about Iran, and 

he said the Shah was such a good man, such a friend of Israel. I just remember 

that, sitting there at the dais behindðkind of talking in his ear. Thatôs what I 

extracted from Menachem Begin. [laughing] That the Shah was a friend of Israel. 

 So thatôs a far cry from the Jefferson Airplane, which I never saw, or even the 

Grateful Dead. So yeah, it was more something you read about. But then, in LA, I 

donôt know if LA was the same way as San Francisco. LA was a little more 

diverse. Yeah, I mean I was in Laurel Canyon. I met Mama Cass once. I stopped 

by her house during the day. But that was that. 

05-01:00:48  

Shafer: It seems like, almost like you were in the eye of the storm, in a way. Thereôs all 

this cultural and political upheaval going on, and to hear you describe it, youôre 

saying, ñWell, I was focused on running for governor.ò 

05-01:01:03  

Brown: Well, I read the LA Times every day. And so I had a running commentary. When 

youôre talking about the campaign, thereôs nothing more important than winning 

in November. So do you think things that arenôt going to help you win are all that 

interesting? You know, I wasnôt going to football gamesðor maybe I went to a 

movie. I donôt know. I doubt it. I mean, this is what you do. Maybe itôs kind of 

hard for you to think about it, but itôs a full-time job. And then if you donôt have a 

family, you donôt have a wifeðwhat else is there to do? I donôt want to just come 

home and turn on the television or something. Got to get out there and make hay, 

make friends, raise money, talk to people. Thatôs what you do. Maybe thatôs a 

revelation. But itôs very exciting, by the way. Very exciting. I found it such. And 

certainly not boring. 

05-01:02:01  

Shafer: What is it thatôs exciting? 

05-01:02:03  

Brown: Just the wholeðit is exciting. Now why it is exciting, Iôll have to leave to 

philosophers and psychologists. 
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05-01:02:13  

Shafer: Yeah. I want to ask you about a moment in the primary in that yearð 

05-01:02:18  

Brown: By the way, I could maybe elaborate. It seems like two plus two equals four. This 

is important. The governorship of the largest state in the unionðthatôs not 

chopped liver. And the issuesðevery issue that government deals with. And then, 

the problems and being asked these impossible questions. So it keeps you on your 

toes. Itôs exciting. Itôs anxiety provoking, and itôs certainly engrossing. I think that 

should describe why it would be something that one would be drawn to. But 

whether drawn to exciting or not, this was the path I was on. So it wasnôt like a 

job in the brokerage business down on Spring St. waiting for me. You know, there 

wasnôt a winery that I was going to operate. There wasnôt a law firm that I wanted 

to join. So there wasnôt anything else. This was what I was doing. 

05-01:03:27  

Shafer: No plan B. 

05-01:03:28  

Brown: No plan B. 

05-01:03:29  

Shafer: Yeah. I want to ask you about a moment in the primary. I think your opponents, 

Alioto and Moretti, were wanting to debate, and I think you were maybeðI donôt 

want to characterize it, but maybe not that eager to debate? 

05-01:03:42  

Brown: Kind of like Feinstein today. How many times did she debate? Once, right? 

05-01:03:47  

Shafer: And it wasnôt really a debate, butðyeah. 

05-01:03:48  

Brown: Yeah, okay. Soð 

05-01:03:50  

Shafer: So it was a strategy, maybe? 

05-01:03:52  

Brown: No, well who says that debating is a requirement for being governor? Thatôs 

justðthatôs aðthatôs a construct. Itôs a thought. 

05-01:04:02  

Shafer: But itôs become tradition. 

05-01:04:06  

Brown: Not for winning candidates. A lot of losing candidates like debates. And maybe 

other candidates like debates. Kennedy/Nixonðthat was a good series of debates. 
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05-01:04:18  

Shafer: But what I was going to ask you aboutðI think you were doing consecutive press 

conferences, in 1190, at the capitol. Morettið 

05-01:04:26  

Brown: Oh yeah, Moretti barged in. Yeah. 

05-01:04:29  

Shafer: What happened? 

05-01:04:30  

Brown: I donôt knowðhe was there, we had a little impromptu debate. 

05-01:04:35  

Shafer: I mean he barged into your press conference, orð? 

05-01:04:37  

Brown: So what else is new? Whatðso what are you saying? Should I be aggrieved? I 

mean what does that mean? We were in a contest. Why not? Heôs trying to make 

some newsðthatôs news. You guys love that. The reporters love that. So 

obviously, I understand it. But then, heôs there, so now youôve got to have a little 

debate. 

05-01:05:00  

Shafer: You didnôt feel like, sort of, you know, sandbagged? 

05-01:05:03  

Brown: What does that mean, sandbagged? I mean youôre in a contest to be governor of 

the state. All is fair in love and war. You know, hopefully itôs all legal. But people 

do stuff. 

05-01:05:17  

Shafer: Did you kind of admire it in a way? 

05-01:05:19  

Brown: No. Didnôt admire itðdidnôt like it, particularly. But I thought well, that was 

clever. I could see it. I donôt think you understand. I mean weôre in a contest, and 

people are running around and itôs a contact sportðand this was a pretty mild 

campaign, for the most part. I do remember one thing Moretti said. He said 

something about, if I couldnôt get around to meet everybody else, my next thing 

Iôd like is for everyone to meet you. And I said, ñWell, Moretti, youôre not that 

good looking.ò I do remember that comment. 

05-01:06:00  

Shafer: What did he mean by that? 

05-01:06:01  

Brown: He meant that I was not pleasing to the voters. And I donôt know whether he 

meant he was pleasing to the voters, which I didnôt think was the case. I think my 

campaign, the language, the topics, was alien to his world that had served him 

well in his rise in politics. So he identified his thoughts with the thoughts of the 
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larger electorate. And so he said, oh, if we just get all these ideasðprobably 

because if you just talked to everybody, Iôd win. Which I think was pretty far off, 

and maybe was, itôs showing that he wasnôt in touch with the electorate, as it is. In 

touch with the legislatureðand it is a club and a close-knit group, and you have to 

have a close-knit group to be very effective. So the very skills and emotions that 

work in the legislative body, can be very counterproductive for the electorate, as a 

whole. 

05-01:07:11  

Shafer: You were quite a debater in high school. 

05-01:07:13  

Brown: Not really. I was a debater. I wouldnôt say quite a debater. 

05-01:07:18  

Shafer: You were a debater in high school. [laughing] 

05-01:07:20  

Brown: Yeah, well, Iôm being accurate. 

05-01:07:21  

Shafer: Yeah, so did you, was there a part of you, that you, in the campaign, either in that 

momentðwhere you wanted to debate? You wanted to sort of show him? 

05-01:07:29  

Brown: No, I wanted to win. So these are all means to an end. [laughing] Debating is a 

stressful kind of undertaking any way you look at it, particularly in a high school 

debate. You had eight minutes, then you had your rebuttal. And no, actually, I 

find it very interesting, and that was exciting. But the trouble with a debate is you 

can say something stupid, or you can look weak, or you can look awkward, so 

thatðitôs not a controlled environment. Political handlers would never allow 

things like that to happen again. So, there it was, it was a moment, it was a 

spontaneous moment, at least for með 

05-01:08:18  

Queena Kim: Do you remember that moment? Is it something you can visualize? Were you at 

the lectern?  

05-01:08:23  

Brown: I canôtðI havenôt thought about it much. 

05-01:08:25  

Kim: Yeah, itôs just not a big searing memory. 

05-01:08:28  

Brown: Itôs not a big searing memory. I mean, if you ask me what is a searing memory, 

Iôd have to reflect on that. Actually, looking at the elk on my hill out here is a 

memory. Theyôre not there now, but they were there. A few days ago there were 

about nineteen of them up on that hill. 
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 [break in audio] 

05-01:08:45  

Brown: All right. Searing moments! Thatôs good. Have you had a searing moment? Thatôs 

my searing moment. 

05-01:08:51  

Marzorati: It happened right there in [Room] 1190? He just walked right in? 

05-01:08:54  

Brown: He [Moretti] walked right in. That was life. Now weôve got everything all 

guarded and protected. 

05-01:19:00  

Kim: Where isðwhat is 1190? 

05-01:19:02  

Brown: Thatôs just the room. 

05-01:19:03  

Shafer: Thatôs a conference room in the capitol, just down the road from the governorôsð

down the hall from the governorôs office. 

05-01:19:09  

Brown: I donôt want this all to be so subjective. Donôt you want more the historicalðyou 

werenôt asking all these questions of my father. I donôt knowðI didnôt read it. 

These are just ponderings. 

05-01:19:28  

Shafer: Heôs one of the strands. Well, itôs your take on your life. 

05-01:19:32  

Brown: By the way, I read a book on historiography. I got it from my grandniece who 

teaches at Michigan. She gave me a book on theory and history, and I got the key 

word in history: temporality. [laughter] You see, these are all social sciences. You 

have anthropology, you have sociology, and you have history. Whatôs different 

about history? Temporality, right? Itôs the times, the sequence over time. 

05-01:10:05  

Holmes: Yeah, change over time. 

05-01:10:06  

Brown: I didnôt know that before, when itôs so obvious. Did you know that? 

05-01:10:09  

Shafer: No. 

05-01:10:10  

Brown: So thatôs what interests me. Then when I heard that, when I picked that book upð

and then they have things like the social turn, and then the cultural turn. Thereôs 

such a language that didnôt existðyou asked me about rock and roll. Iôm more 

interested in language, that is now new, that didnôt exist beforeðand that people 
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use as though this is an obvious description of reality, and not many years ago, 

well, this didnôt even exist, this term, right? Thereôs a lot of theory, and itôs 

breaking down. The social sciences are deteriorating, degenerating, into more and 

more abstract theory about the theory about the theoryðand it isnôt very concrete. 

And graduate school is a complete dysfunction, because everything you learn 

disables you from teaching undergraduates. Because youôre learning things that 

people are not going to want to learn, because you have to keep new. Your 

doctorate has to be a new thesis, right? 

05-01:11:34  

Holmes: Mm-hmm. 

05-01:11:36  

Brown: What happens if there is nothing new in the world? Well, there would be no 

newspapers, I guess. 

05-01:11:41  

Kim: Weôd be out of a job! 

05-01:11:45  

Brown: So a lot of this is just make-work for college graduates. But weôve got to do 

something. This is your welfare, and then you have all the people who do the real 

work, with their hands. And you guys are just spinning little webs of silliness. 

[everyone in the room laughs] [interruption in recording]  

 [break in audio] 

05-01:12:04  

Brown: I have to amend what I said about charter schools. I mean I know Iôve read books 

about homeschooling. It seems like the ability to shape the lives of your children 

yourself, without a paid intervener, in some kind of institution, sounds like more 

liberty than not. But a lot of people would recoil at the ideaðand Iôve never done 

it. But it does take a certain type of person. And itôs just different people. The 

next-door neighbors have turkeys. They were slaughtering turkeys yesterday, and 

one of their helpers is a friend of theirs, and she came up. She had a one-year-old, 

so they have five children, and theyôre doing independent study at home through a 

charter school, so theyôre in fact doing homeschooling, five people. But how 

many young ladies do you know who have just had five children, because the 

oldest is only eight or nine, ten or something. 

05-01:13:15  

Shafer: The governor is just blown away. 

05-01:13:18  

Brown: Blown away, but itôs just interesting to me. Thereôs a lot of people, particularly 

around here, who do physical work. They work with their hands, and they fix 

fences, they chase after cows. Thereôs a guy on a machine that went up there, heôs 

probably going to put salt in for the cows, whatever. So theyôre outdoors, and 

theyôre doing stuff. Thatôs very different than going to the office and writing 
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about it. Thereôs a guy named Ivan Illich, who was a friend of mine, and he wrote 

a book called, Deschooling Society, which I was very excited by. And I read 

another book by Paul Goodman. He wrote the book, Growing up Absurd, which 

everybody read at one timeðwhich youôve never heard of. 

05-01:14:00  

Shafer: Never heard of it. 

05-01:14:01  

Brown: In the 1960s, very well-known guy, very well known. He wrote a book, which I 

came across at the Yale bookstore called, Compulsory Miseducation, and you can 

imagine what thatôs about. So Iôve always thought alternatives were a good idea. 

But they canôt be on a very widespreadðyouôve only got a million people in 

homeschooling, and there are 60 million kids in the country. 

05-01:14:27  

Shafer: Getting to the election of 1974, so itôs you and Houston Flournoy. 

05-01:14:37  

Brown: Houston I. Flournoy, yeah, I think it was. 

05-01:14:42  

Shafer: Yeah, whatðwhat do you remember from that campaign? 

05-01:14:47  

Brown: I remember we had a debate in Irvine, worked pretty well. 

05-01:14:53  

Shafer: What were his, like, strengths and weaknesses did you think? 

05-01:14:59  

Brown: His strength was I think he had some of the issues on his side, but he certainly 

didnôt want public-employee unions to be striking the government. I think that 

was not popular. You put it to a referendum. He was older. Itôs just the 

Republican brand was more solid, I think, in ô74, except for the fact that it wasnôt 

so solid because of the Nixon impeachment. Had Nixon been a success, it might 

have been a very different election. There would have been no Watergate.  

05-01:15:42  

Shafer: Was he on the defensive because of that, do you think? 

05-01:15:45  

Brown: He was. I mean the campaign was; I donôt know if he personally was. Well, they 

got caught up in that. Yeah, with the Ford pardon, that becomes the news of the 

day. And thatôs it, over and over again. Soðand he was a Republican, so that was 

a problem. And he was very obscureðhe wasnôt that well known. He got elected 

in the Reagan landslide, so he lucked out. He lucked in, and against me he lucked 

outðor didnôt luck out, but he got thrown out. It was a very close election. He 

was gaining, according to the polls that we took. We took daily polls at that time. 
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 So what do I think? We would try to put out a press release before each debate, 

about a point I would make in the debate, to try to make sure our point got 

captured by the news or the television. And that seemed to work. And thenð

yeah, what was there? He would say his little talking points. I kind of found it 

difficult to find what my real points were going to be. I think he had government, 

too much government, big government, taxesðjust the same approachðmaybe a 

little more so than Reagan. And that was still popular at that time. It was still 

popular, because Deukmejian and Wilson won on essentially that same message.  

05-01:17:33  

Shafer: How many debates did you do? 

05-01:17:37  

Brown: I think we did six. 

05-01:17:38  

Shafer: Six? 

05-01:17:39  

Brown: I think we did six. Yeah, they werenôt all of the same type. But on radioðyeah, 

we did, and we did some debates in the primary, so I debated. So this whole idea 

of we donôt want Brown to say anything, well, in a debateðof course the key is 

you donôt want to make a mistake. Was it Gerald Fordð1976, so that came 

laterðbut he said Poland wasnôt behind the Iron Curtain. Is that the biggest thing 

he made a mistake in? You know, you canôt remember a nameðanybody here at 

this table could forget a name, but it [a mistake] becomes bigger than life. So 

yeah, people donôt want to make a gaffe, so you are being controlled, except 

being interesting and provocative at the same time. Thatôs the challenge. So I 

think we talked about stuff. He asked his questions. 

 But you know, there is a tension. The press are doing their job under the First 

Amendment. I want to give all the deference to that that is appropriate. [laughing] 

But thereôs also, in the more recent idiom, the idea of clickbait, and so the reporter 

doesnôt just want to get information to the electorate, although thatôs what he puts 

in his head. But he also wants to get news, and get something flashy and first. So 

everybodyôs trying to promote their particular cause, even though thatôs not the 

way itôs framed. 

 But I think the journalists asked a lot of questions. I answered a lot of questions. I 

remember the first question, the day of my press conferenceðsee, you probably 

didnôt read that story. That was opening the first day, my press conference in LA. 

05-01:19:45  

Shafer: The first day of your being governor? 

05-01:19:48  

Brown: No, campaign. Was it the primary, or the general? I think it was the primary. 

Anyway, the story, if I recall right, it was written by Richard ñDickò Bergholz, 

not that I remember all these little things. [laughing] But I do! Well, that story, I 
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have some interest in, because Iôd sent him my press release, which I havenôt 

readðI donôt think Iôve read it in forty-five years. I would combine all the 

agencies that dealt with the environment into one agency, and the ones in energy 

in another agencyðwe kind of said that. It was a press release kind of idea. But I 

didnôt know, institutionally, how that was going to work. In fact, I had a relatively 

thin grasp of all that, but I liked the idea of it! Here we have all these different 

departmentsðthey should all be unified. Itôs called government reorganizationð

actually, a very boring topic, and one we did some of. 

 But Bergholz said to me, ñNow, you say youôre going to reorganize these energy 

departments, environment, all into one department. Now tell me, what is the first 

step that you would take to do that?ò And I said, ñThe first step, whatð?ò I 

suppose Iôm going to pick the telephone up and call somebody? Call a meeting? 

Iôll be damned! I couldnôt figure out whatôs the first step. And my face got a little 

red, and I thought: I really blew that one! I didnôt say it quite as openly as Iôm 

saying it now, but that stumped me. 

05-01:21:39  

Shafer: What did that tell you? 

05-01:21:40  

Brown: Well, I donôt know what it told me then, but it would tell me today that I should 

have had a more developed idea, or I should have had a better verbal way of 

handling it. And the way I learned to handle that in later debates, as I got a little 

more adept at this, we used the concept of pivot. So step back, restate the 

question, and then take off on your own aspects. 

 So how we would reorganize it? How you would do that? My first thought was, 

ñWell, Iôd have all the relevant parties in the room, and we would talk about it.ò 

But I think what he means is how would the geothermal department be matched 

with somebody in the Department of Water ResourcesðIôm not sure. So the truth 

is, I didnôt know enough about the departments, and of course in a campaign, the 

people who areðlike Tom Quinnðknow less than I do. And we knew more than 

anybody else. But unless youôre there, and weôre not there, because thatôs 

Sacramento, and what are you going to do? Call up Reaganôs department heads? 

Or you could call some analysts, and we could have. But that isnôt relevant. In a 

campaign, youôre rushed for time, youôve got to get it out, it sounded good. It 

isnôt a bad concept. Consolidation certainly is better than fragmentation. Itôs kind 

of a tautology. Itôs obvious. 

05-01:23:27  

Shafer: Well, kind of show too likeðyou werenôt for bigger government, you were for 

maybe more efficient government? 

05-01:23:33  

Brown: Well, yeah, bigger government wasnôt on the table, in any event. But you had to 

be for something. Youôve never run for governor, but if youôre running for 

governor, you say, ñNow, what the hell am I going to do?ò Well, how do you find 
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that out? Oh! Well, if youôre running for governor, you must know. Well, I must 

know, why? Why? Well, maybe I know now. Iôve been sixteen years as governor, 

four years as attorney general, and four years as secretary of state. But if you ask 

me some thingsðand a lot of things I donôt know aboutða lot of things! In fact, 

almost nobody knows very much about government, and the number of people 

who do are very limited. There are a few staffers in the legislature. 

 But, so, yeah, I didnôt think of that question. It seemed like a reasonable proposal. 

I donôt know how Bergholz came up with that question. ñWhatôs the first thing 

youôd do?ò Maybe that was a good question. Whatôs the first step youôd take? I 

mean the first step is so simple. I guess it did illuminate the fact that I didnôt have 

a plan. I guess thatôs what it did. Do you have a plan of how youôre going to make 

the skies bluer? Find out how heôs going to do that? Well, Iôm going to appoint 

Tom Quinn to the Air Resources Board, and heôs going to figure it out. 

05-01:25:00  

Shafer: Well, I wonder if you think like, sort of that these ideas in the campaign are less 

about what youôre going to do, and more about who you are? 

05-01:25:10  

Brown: Well, they are related to what youôre going to do, because you canôt say Iôm going 

to open an embassy in Moscow. You canôt do that, so you have to talk about what 

government can do. So I think thatôs a good question to ponderðwhatôs the first 

thing you would do to bring that about? I donôt even think it was in the paper, by 

the way. He made some veiled reference to it, and if you read the story, he pooh-

poohs it a little bit, but it wasnôt a harmful story. So that was that, at least I still 

remember it, not that Iôve been thinking much about it. But whatôs interesting to 

me is I still might have a hard time answering that question. And you know, Iôve 

been governor, successfully, for sixteen years. So you would have to say well, 

you donôt need to be able to answer that question to be an effective governor. We 

know that now, empirically. But probably a little bit of extra researchðand we 

didnôt have that many people. Weôre just outsiders. We didnôt have all these 

peopleðmaybe Dan Newman would have done a little more research. [laughing] 

05-01:26:26  

Shafer: Given you some talking points. [laughter] 

05-01:26:30  

Brown: So think about whatôs the first thing youôd do? [laughing] I would really like to go 

back and get that question, but we donôt have a transcript, and it didnôt show up 

that much. But anyway, itôs a hell of a question to ask an opponent and what you 

donôt realize is if you just start talking, the TV will just play it, and you just kind 

of motor on. Thatôs another way to do it. So, there is knowledge, thereôs tactics. 

05-01:26:57  

Holmes: Governor, can you talk a little bit aboutðespecially here in the general election, 

which I think dovetails with the story you were just retellingðabout the advisors 

in your campaign? I believe you had Warren Christopher? 
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05-01:27:12  

Brown: A little bit. 

05-01:27:13  

Holmes: Stephen Reinhardt? 

05-01:27:15  

Brown: Yeah. 

05-01:27:17  

Holmes: And then also someone, I think who was with you for quite a while, Jacques 

Barzaghi? 

05-01:27:22  

Brown: Yeah, yeah. 

05-01:27:23  

Holmes: Can you discuss a little about them and their role in the campaign? 

05-01:27:28  

Brown: Well, Christopher, I think talked to Tom more than he talked to me. And I think 

he might have advised us on the debates. And he was the kind of a guy that youôd 

run an idea by, and you could feel confident of him. Reinhardt was a labor lawyer, 

and he did something pretty damn impressive. He got the culinary endorsement 

for me. How the hell he did that, I donôt know. But they endorsed me, not Alioto. 

Now, I guess they did it because they thought I was going to win, and they wanted 

a winner. But after it was there, they never really asked me anything. 

05-01:28:18  

Shafer: For anything, you mean? 

05-01:28:20  

Brown: Not for the workers. I think Herman Leavitt, known as Blackie at that time, a few 

years later wanted to be on the racing commission, so I didnôt appoint him. But 

that was it. I signed a few bills, but he didnôt lobby me on the minimum wage or 

anything that related toðtoday thereôd be a lot more. But he got the endorsement, 

so that was pretty important. Steve talked a lot with Tom. Jacques was a guy 

whoða sister of an old girlfriend of mine said, ñOh, youôve got to meet this 

character.ò And they were making a movie, and he was an assistant director, and 

they said, ñHeôs a very clever guy.ò So he came along, and he had a good sense of 

commercials. He had a different sense, different insight. 

 So we had Tom, who had his newsðmake it not as explosive, but make itðdonôt 

worry about the senate, donôt worry about anybody else, just news, youôve got to 

make news. Richard was a political scientist, had a PhD, and heôd have his view. 

Sometimes Iôd agree, sometimes I wouldnôt. And then Jacques, he would maybe 

have a different idea. And then I had all these different opinions, and then Iôd 

have my own idea, and then weôd argue about things, and so thatôs how that 

worked. 
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 I remember what weôd argue about. I remember we made a commercial, and we 

had one commercial we filmed, and it was the lighting that had me turning around 

or somethingðJacques liked that commercial. And I said, ñThat looks pretty 

dramatic. I kind of like that. The lighting made me look veryðI donôt knowð

[laughing]. It was a very interesting commercial.ò But Tom, he said, ñThis is 

awful! This is a terrible commercial.ò So I didnôt do it, so itôs just kind of a risk 

averseðvery important to hear what could go wrong, and then avoid it. I kind of 

look at the down side and say, ñOkay, now, how do we stay away from that?ò 

And so then, either Tom would say something wasnôt good, Jacques would say 

somethingðand they often were very different. So yeah, it was interesting.  

And he had a sense that I thought was good. He didnôt really listen to the words. 

He wanted, you know, in a speech, he wanted to know what was the impact? Heôd 

worked in movies with [Jean-Luc] Godardðat least he said he did. I never saw it. 

And then he came over here. So, that idea was kind of a new thought. Itôs not your 

words, and I tend to be kind of word conscious. But itôs the impactðwhatôs the 

impact on the audience? So he would kind of note that, and he might say, ñYou 

know, that didnôt work,ò or something. So that was helpful. It was nice to have a 

diversity of opinion, and those threeðthey were around a lot, and they chimed in 

a lot, so thatôs kind of the way it worked. I guess other people had consultants. I 

donôt know who made our commercials. I think maybe we didð. I donôt know 

where they are today. They were friends of Richard Maullin. 

 So thatôs how that workedða lot of this stuff is media. This is putting on a 

performance every day, and a lot of your performances donôt go anywhere. So 

you both want to attract, win over, and avoid bloopers or blundersðso thatôs the 

name of the game. And itôs hard to go through a campaign without blundering. 

Itôs hard to go through the governorship without stepping in something, and for 

some reason, this last eight years there werenôt any blunders that I know of. 

Thatôs very unusual. 

05-01:33:00  

Shafer: You must have learned something the first time, maybe? 

05-01:33:02  

Brown: Well, I learned something, and Iôm pretty knowledgeableðand imaginative. And 

I do think, although Iôve repeatedðmy question, whatôs the first thing youôd do? 

 One of my advisorsðthis is why I have a little bit of a jaundiced view of 

advisors. Wilson [A.] Clark, [Jr.] was a smart guy, kind of a boy wonder in the 

energy-environment field. I donôt know that he went to college, but he wrote a 

very fine book on alternative energy. [Energy for Survival: The Alternative to 

Extinction] It was cold in the Midwest, and he said, ñYouôve got to order 

California gas to be sent through the pipelines to the people in the Midwest.ò He 

wrote that up, and so I had a press conference. And I said, ñToday Iôve ordered 

that the gas linesðthe Southern California gas company send this gas,ò whatever 

it was, PG&E. And Dan Walters raised his hand and said, ñGovernor, the PUC 
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ordered that yesterday.ò [laughter] So my face, once again, got rather red, and that 

was a screw-up. So, but of course Wilson Clark didnôt appreciate the niceties. 

They went, ñOh, hereôs something the governor ought to do. Itôs a good idea.ò 

And they have their own idea of politicsðand thatôs the governor is going to look 

good, or whatever was in his mind. He is just one of the, as we sometimes say, the 

little people, trying to come up with things. 

 And so, based on that, more than probably Bergholzôs question, I did develop a 

healthy concern and skepticism for things that could go wrong. And I couldnôt put 

a lot of confidence in what people told me, because Wilson Clarkðno one knew 

more about energy than he did. We could write good plausible press releases, 

Tom could, but that didnôt mean that he could figure out this thing. There are 

things that youôve got to think about, youôve got to turn around in your mind and 

see it like a kaleidoscope, and look at it. So thatôs how I learnedðthat is a 

characteristic of how Iôve governed. I donôt know how common it is, but I donôt 

care who that person is. I always say, ñNow, wait a minuteðwhat is the basis of 

that?ò ñOh, well, I read it.ò ñWell, you read it where?ò You try to eliminate error 

that can put error in my mouth as I speak it. And yet at the same time, we did a lot 

of things, so it wasnôt that I was paralyzed by doubt or skepticism. 

 I think thatôs a very important part of how I governed, and itôs also part of the way 

I tried not to get on all these issues. You know, how many issues can the system 

take? How many issues can the legislature take? How many issues can your 

image, your persona, if youôre all over the place? If you notice, a person like 

Reaganðsomething I could learn from Reagan. Reagan had a unified image. 

There was something about the guy. I mean he was not just against government, 

but he was for America, a better America, an America where we didnôt have 

bloated government and welfare queens, and we didnôt have the evil empire. He 

was able to speakðit wasnôt a hundred things you thought of when you thought 

of Reagan. And yet, when youôre in the legislature, they passed twenty-four 

hundred billsðthey introduced twenty-four hundred bills. They dropped twelve 

hundred on the governorôs desk. And then to talk about them, youôve got to think 

about them. And then youôd begin to speak like that, and no one knows what the 

hell youôre talking about, and itôs all very mechanical. So it is important, so I am 

conscious of that. There were, remember, a lot of good things. But thatôs why, and 

now maybe Iôm rationalizing, but I do think you can only do so many. Now, we 

did a lotðreally quite a lot. I think, historically, I think itôs more than anybody. 

05-01:37:40  

Shafer: And weôre going to get into that. 

05-01:37:42  

Brown: Yeah, we will, but Iôm now thinking of the process by which we did that. I both 

was hesitant, cautious, but bold in some ways. The term that somebody used, that 

I liked, ñDonôt be like a dog that barks at every truck that comes along.ò You 

know, save your bark. 
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05-01:38:10  

Shafer: Pick your trucks carefully. 

05-01:38:12  

Brown: Yeah, but theyôre all exciting, and the mediaôs going to put a microphone and say, 

ñWell, what do you think?ò And the tendency is you donôt want to sayðwell, Iôve 

got to have an idea. Iôm not stupid. And likeðwant to hide. But if you have an 

idea about everything, and this reporter is not worried about destroying your 

public personality, because he needs his clickbaitðor whatever we might have 

called it twenty years ago. 

05-01:38:35  

Shafer: Governor, I sense a lot of hostility to the media. [laughing] 

05-01:38:39  

Brown: None, no, but I have the sameðthatôs another point. [Shafer laughs] You interpret 

honest conversation with hostility but thatôs just science. Thatôs inquiry, as 

opposed to advocacy, and most people live in advocacy. But I think the preferable 

path is to live in inquiry. 

05-01:39:04  

Shafer: Hereôs an inquiry. Why do you think that theðyou were ahead for that whole 

election? 

05-01:39:09  

Brown: I was ahead with a diminishing lead. 

05-01:39:12  

Shafer: Yeah, and so what was that about at the end? Why did the leadð? 

05-01:39:15  

Brown: First of all, what is that about? What is the behavior of millions of Californians 

who I donôt know? Youôre asking me a very sophisticated survey research 

question, which obviously, I donôt have the answer to. 

05-01:39:29  

Shafer: Do you have a hunch? 

05-01:39:30  

Brown: A hunch? A hunch is what? A hunch is worth nothing. Yeah, and I used to have 

more opinions about these things. But the more I know, the more I know there are 

variables that are not easily encountered. Itôs hard to tell. 

 First of all, I may never have been that much ahead in any realðwell, I was 

ahead, thatôs what the polls said. But what was the strength of the approval, and 

what was it based on? Youôd have to look at the polling, and youôd have to 

knowðare these Republicans who just went back to their normal being a 

Republican, voted for Flournoy? Tom and Doug Fagan would be writing press 

releases talking about campaign reform of one kind or another. And I did a 

number of the releases. But the lead, I couldnôt see it. It didnôt move the crowd. 
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And so I, when I speak, I have to engage the crowd in such a way. And it justðit 

always felt like I was running out of things to talk about. And what was there to 

talk about, really? A Republican says, ñWeôre not going to renew taxes, and weôre 

going to lock them all up. And weôre not going to let those unions take over our 

government, much less take over our food supply.ò You know what I mean? 

Thatôs an aggressive forward-moving line, but that is not available to whatever 

the Democrat was. 

 So somehow we had to be progressive; we had to uplift the downtrodden. We had 

to help all these constituencies, but we couldnôt encroach upon the conventional 

sensibilitiesðand we couldnôt raise taxes. Thatôs a box. And you can talk about 

the environment. First of all, that wasnôt that interesting. What are you going to 

talk about? Well, clean air. Weôll have good schools. What are you going to talk 

about? Are you going to pay the teachers more money? How are you going to do 

that? There was a big issue, Serrano v. Priest, and that was the case that equalized 

spending among school districts. And to equalize [spending] you werenôt going to 

lower districts, you had to raise them. Well, the raising all districtsðand they had 

ones in Emeryville, Beverly Hills, that were outliers, because of the value of 

propertyðbillions. So they say what are you going to do about that? And where 

was the money? And you have to just dance around the issue. Now, we did find 

an answer to that, which I found later when I was governor. 

 But why we lost [support]? I think, itôs hard to tell. I was better known. I think the 

primary had more news. I think I was a moreðthe name, itôs probably something 

to do with, you know, with Nixon and Ford and the idea of giving the pardon. 

People didnôt [think] it was right. A lot of people. And I think that the Flournoy 

issues had more traction at that time. But now, do we know that for sure? No. And 

did I know a lot at the time? No, I know more now. So Iôm saying things to you 

now that I didnôt realize in the same way during the campaign. In fact, it was a 

surprise to me. Weôve gone down in the polls. Well, weôre still ten points ahead, 

and then a couple of days laterðnow weôre seven points ahead. And then the day 

before the [the election], weôre like three points ahead, or even, so that was not a 

helpful message. 

05-01:43:39  

Shafer: And I think it was the closest governorôs race since ô46, right? 

05-01:43:43  

Brown: What was it, 1.7? 

05-01:43:44  

Shafer: 2.9. 

05-01:43:45  

Brown: Oh, 2.9? 

05-01:43:46  

Shafer: 2.9, I think. 
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05-01:43:47  

Brown: Well, 2.9 is not bad. [Shafer laughs] So thereôs been a lot of closer elections than 

that. Tom Bradleyôs was only what, 0.3? 

05-01:43:55  

Shafer: Yeah. You were not married then. Andðwhich is somewhat unusual, I guess. 

Most candidates tended to be married. 

05-01:44:04  

Brown: Except Grover Cleveland. [laughing] 

05-01:44:07  

Shafer: And James Buchanan. 

05-01:44:08  

Brown: Oh, I didnôt know about James Buchanan. 

05-01:44:09  

Shafer: Yeah, he was a bachelor. 

05-01:44:10  

Brown: And he founded the Democratic Convention, you know. 

05-01:44:14  

Shafer: Grover Cleveland? 

05-01:44:15  

Brown: He started the idea of the Democratic Convention. No, I thought Buchanan didð

maybe he did. I canôt remember.1 

05-01:44:21  

Shafer: Oh, he was mayor of Buffalo. Iôm from Buffalo. 

05-01:44:23  

Brown: Oh, thatôs why. 

05-01:44:24  

Shafer: [laughing] But anyway, to come back to my questionðand there were, rumors 

were spreading that you were gay. 

05-01:44:32  

Brown: Yeah. 

05-01:44:33  

Shafer: And Alioto at one point said you were effeminate, and then he said, ñCome out of 

the closet and debate,ò kind of hidden messages.  

 

1 The first Democratic National Convention is said to have developed among President Andrew 

Jacksonôs ñKitchen Cabinet,ò and was promoted in 1831 by the presidentôs supporters. The 

convention was held on May 21, 1832. 
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05-01:44:42  

Brown: That was a concern, at that time. Obviously. 

05-01:44:46  

Shafer: Howðwhat kind of concern? 

05-01:44:49  

Brown: What do you mean what kind of aðnot winning, thatôs all. Thereôs only one 

concern in this race, okay? Donôt get arrested, and win. [laughing] Now, Iôm 

putting it a little too bluntly, but this was not a time when gay was a popular topic. 

In fact, when I met with some gay activists in San Francisco, we met in the 

basement, and it was a very quiet meeting. Nobody knew about it. This was not in 

the mainstream, not even in the Democratic mainstream. So we figured Alioto 

would play that, and you imagine in the worst-case scenarios, that this could be a 

problem. Thatôs all. So you try toðwhat can you do about it?  

05-01:45:47  

Shafer: And you thought that could be like a deal killer, or something, with voters? 

05-01:45:51  

Brown: A deal killer. No, this is about an image, which people who donôt know who the 

hell I am, hear and read about things, and they either like me more or like me less, 

and vote. Thatôs the way the system works. So this would be, in the minds of 

some voters, not a trait that would incline them to vote yes. 

05-01:46:11  

Shafer: And how did your campaign counteract that? 

05-01:46:13  

Brown: Well, there was no way to counteract it. Oh, we could go throw stuff at Alioto, 

and they did some primitive opposition research. I mean pathetic compared to 

what they do today. 

05-01:46:36  

Shafer: What did they have? 

05-01:46:41  

Brown: They have all of these campaign reports and storiesðnothing, not like it is today, 

where they go back and get property tax recordsðit was utterly amateurish. And 

so you had the Look story on Alioto. 

05-01:47:01  

Shafer: That was sort of implying that he wasð 

05-01:47:04  

Brown: Moretti had certain deals. Why did he get this contribution from the racing 

people, or what about this? I know after the campaign, at that UC symposium, 

Quinn and maybe Maullin, but certainly Quinn, they would say, ñOh yeah, we 

had dossiers, and we were going to do this.ò It was primitive research, from 

public records, that we didnôt use, in part, because it wasnôt that effective. And 

what was it? You look at all that researchðI threw it all away, years laterðbut 
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thereôs not much there. And even Aliotoðwhat is there? He won the suit against 

Look. So that was that. I think they overstated that case, that Tom did, for 

whatever reason, because news is always a little bit exaggerated. I always notice, 

like an AP story, you say something that has certain qualifications. But then when 

the AP translates it, itôs sharper. Itôs more black and white, because youôve got to 

get the news. Youôve got to get the mind, and got to get in. Tom had worked in 

Chicago, a very hot town. It was very tough on the mayor, and so thatôs kind of 

the way it was. 

 And there was the other problemðgoing negative has its own risks, because there 

are all these people that liked Alioto. I mean, he got 18 percent, and Moretti only 

got about 11 [percent], I think, so they werenôt that much of a threat. And there 

wasnôt that much materialðnow today, you take something, and if you have 

enough money, you make a mountain out of a mole hill. Or as some people say, 

you take a thread and you weave a rugðand that can be done, à la Willie Horton. 

So you donôt need a story that carries itself, but you can, by the context, do quite a 

lot of damage. But we didnôt have that money, and we didnôt have that 

sophistication. We had an agreement on not spending, so we were not spending a 

lot of money. No sides were. Things just werenôt that much money in those days. 

People didnôt think they could spend all this much money, and donors didnôt think 

they should give all this much money. 

05-01:49:58  

Holmes: Governor, by the time youôre running in 1974, the Democratic Party, the one you 

grew up seeing, that your father operated in, had splintered into a number of 

different factions, or at least in comparison to perhaps what we observe 

historically. 

05-01:50:17  

Brown: Well, Iôm sorry, but it was factions before. In Southern California, you had the 

Stevenson/Paul Ziffren crowd, and you had the Unruh/Carmen Warschaw 

groupðyou had different elements. 

05-01:50:32  

Holmes: The Burtons in San Francisco. 

05-01:50:34  

Brown: They came a little later, but yeah.  

05-01:50:37  

Holmes: In running this campaign, how did you overcome some of these factions? Was 

that part of the calculation, or were you just running your campaign and seeing 

where the chipsð 

05-01:50:50  

Brown: More of the latter. What do you do about that? You just avoid dividing people by 

saying things that divide people. Thatôs why they always think politicians talk 

funny, speak with a forked tongue. Theyôre trying to get people to vote for them 

who, if in one room, would probably fight with each other. So if youôre only 



 Oral History Center, The Bancroft Library, University of California, Berkeley 198 

 

going to get one group, thatôs not politics. Thatôs factionalism. Thatôs activism. 

But the less glorious route, of majoritarian elections and governance, is something 

else again. 

05-01:51:36  

Holmes: Would you say that it was more or less difficult in 1974 to do that than say, to 

speak from, again, your own experience, in 1970? 

05-01:51:45  

Brown: 1970? It was easier. Well, it was easier for me. What are you trying to compare? 

05-01:51:55  

Holmes: Just to see the change over time, sir. Would you say that there were more factions 

to navigate in 1974, than perhaps in earlier times, in the Democratic Party? 

05-01:52:10  

Brown: Uh, Iôm not sure. You had building trades, you had different unions. You had 

regionalðnorth and south, urban and rural. Iôm not sure of that. It certainly seems 

a lot more fragmented todayðand we are more fragmented. Multicultural, weôre 

breaking up into tribes. I always thought when Timothy Leary had the Human Be-

In at the Polo Grounds, in 1967, said something about the fact that weôre going to 

retribalize. And I said, you know, thereôs a lot to that, and weôve been 

retribalizing ever since. [laughter] Thatôs the way I saw it. But so, it wasnôt so bad 

in ô74. What was bad, for a Democrat, was that the mood was not for government. 

Now in ô74, I donôt know exactly why that was, but there was still a conservative 

mood. You know, look at these states, like Alabama or Missouri. Missouri used to 

elect a lot of Democrats, and then theyôve become very conservative, so these 

moods take over. We used to have a Democratic governor in Utah, and today 

youôd find that not likely. George McGovern was elected from South Dakota. So, 

the mood is not stable, and politics isnôt aboutðthank Godðthese life-and-death 

questions. You know, Shiites and Sunnis, or Hutus and the Tutsis. 

I mean those things end up inðor the Bosnians, Muslims and the SerbsðI mean 

thatôs warfare. So itôs not satisfactory that our politics have a certain banal 

quality, a certain rubbed off the edges, but itôs better than war. That is the 

alternative. If everybody is going to go to the barricades, saying my issue is life 

and deathðwell, that means Iôve got to shoot you, or youôve got to shoot me. So 

politics is more of a game than that, and itôs a game that also creates a 

government that is accepted as legitimateðat least it has up until now. How long 

that lasts, thatôs another question. 

 But so, I donôt think ô74ðthe issue was not the fragmentation of the Democratic 

Party. The issue was the emerging majority of the Republican Party, as well 

described by Kevin Phillips, and earlier described in the analysis of the 1964 

election in California by Howard Elinson, and I think in his PhD thesis, which Iôm 

sure youôre aware of. [laughter] He wrote on South Gate. He was a partner of 

Michael Berman, Howard Bermanôs brother, and they were the first people, that I 

heard of, that talked about the importance of what they called the South-Gate 
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Democrat, and that they were for some economic issues the Democrats were 

associated with, but they didnôt like the social. And then you had all that Vietnam 

Warðwhere the guys working on buildings wore their American flags, and they 

didnôt like the antiwar protestors. So that war thing was a real division. But that 

wasnôt the big division in ô74. It was just the rising concern about issues that 

favored the Republican, the conservative view of things. 

05-01:55:24  

Shafer: I want to ask you a question about post electionðso you win by about 3 

percentage points roughly, and thereôs a quote in the New York Times Magazine, 

where you told your father, ñI almost lost because of you.ò  

05-01:56:37  

Brown: That was Mr. [Richard] Reevesôs quote. Itôs an incomplete quote. 

05-01:56:43  

Shafer: Whatôs the complete quote?  

05-01:56:44  

Brown: The complete quote is something to the effect thatðwhether I said it before or 

afterwardsðI won because of my father, and I almost lost because of my father. 

So thatôs the point. But Reeves had a theory that I was a very clever politician, but 

a very unlikable politician. He had kind of the Moretti view, although Iôve talked 

to him since then, and heôs a pretty good writer. But that whole thing of 

father/son, that kind of Freudian narrative, I donôt thinkðthere are differences. 

But I meant it, and I can remember saying that. I was a little surprised when they 

viewed it that way. I was trying to be a little ironic, and a little self-deprecatory, if 

you really listen to the idea. That the name certainly was a big factor of getting 

there, so thatôs what I was saying. It was close, and maybe it wasnôt my father. 

Maybe it was just the Democratic ideas. Those issues that Flournoy could jump 

on, which were similar to Reaganôs. 

05-01:58:06  

Shafer: About big government? 

05-01:58:07  

Brown: It isnôt big government, itôs bloated government. Itôs welfare spending, itôs 

Trumpian, that is some of the same thoughts. Itôs that some people are working 

hard all day, and then they look at other people that are not working as hard, and 

thereôs resentment there. So, and then thereôs fearðand there is fear of big 

government, when government is into everything. I mean I think this is not an 

illegitimate concern, and that I share that concern. I mean this rush to 

institutionalization is not something that excites me. 

05-01:58:52  

Shafer: What do you mean by that? 

05-01:58:53  

Brown: Well, thatôs to get your child just as quickly as you can to a civil-service 

bureaucracy, to be shaped by endless ever-changing rules, as opposed to being 
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brought up in your family or your neighborhood. They want to get it in the 

institution, and then they want to measure, according to many metrics, and they 

want to put it in a computer called CALPADS [California Longitudinal Pupil 

Achievement Data System], and that data will follow you, every year, until after 

you graduateðand probably beyond, to see how successful your later life has 

been, and they can then judge preschool based on that. And theyôre going to spend 

endless sums of money, until thereôs a recession, and then theyôre going to cut all 

the programs back. 

 Thatôs why maybe I like homeschooling, because peopleðñOh, well, weôre 

taking care of our kids.ò Not everybody can do that, but the idea that the 

governmentðitôs a dangerous idea. Maybe in Scandinavia it works because itôs a 

very small, homogeneous culture. But in a culture of great difference, trying to 

run everything through the government machineðand maybe itôs better than I 

think it is. I was brought up differently. In our Catholic school, we were on the 

lookout for the government, the secularism, and we wanted to be in a good 

Catholic school where we learn the truth, as opposed to those other places. So I 

have a little bit of that us and them. Weôre usðwhat is that, yeah, that us and then 

thereôs the world, and the world is this place which is really screwed up. So that is 

a little bit of how I frame that in my mind. 

 So yeah, first of all, government costs a hell of a lot of money. And to do 

everything would takeðwill take massive tax increases. And we know every time 

you do that, it works for a while, but then it doesnôt work. I mean they donôt have 

labor governments in England; they donôt have labor governments in Germany; 

they donôt have a labor government in France. And they didnôt have a labor 

government in Spain until six months ago, and thatôs hanging on by a thread, and 

we donôt have a labor government in Brazil. Thereôs a rhythm here. And so thatôs 

why, I think, keeping within certain boundariesðand that makes it hard because 

certainly today, unlike ô74, the demands on the Democratic Party candidates are, 

if totally embraced and financed, would require massive increases in taxes, even 

though people say just the rich, and oh, weôll takeðand then people wouldnôt do 

that. It would never happen. But so then thatôs kind of the imaginary, itôs like the 

Trump imaginary has things that will never happen, the Democrats have 

somethingðnot similar, but analogous. 

05-02:02:07  

Shafer: This is going to seem really out of left field. But on election night, when you won, 

there wasðone of the performing groups was a barefoot Sufi choir from 

Berkeley. And Iôm justð 

05-02:02:20  

Brown: Yeah, the Sufi Choir. 

05-02:02:21  

Shafer: Yeah, whatðwho were they? 
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05-02:02:22  

Brown: Iôd met them before. Iôm interested in SufismðIôm interested in things like that. 

So their bare feetðhave you ever seen, been to, never been to a dance show? 

Have you been to an Indian dance show, usuallyðIndian from India, they often 

have bare feet? I guessðthatôs not unusual. 

05-02:02:48  

Shafer: Yeah, in Hawaiian dancing they do that too. 

05-02:02:52  

Brown: The Sufis are a very exuberant, colorful group. Itôs a subset of Islam, goes back to 

the eleventh or twelfth century, and I came into contact with Sufism, and I found 

it interesting, and I met the choir. [William] Allaudin [Mathieu]ðthe head of it, I 

put on the Arts Council. Heôs quite a good guy. Heôs a noted musicologist. So 

yeah, and I liked the sound of it. 

05-02:03:25  

Shafer: I guess I asked about it because itôs not að 

05-02:03:29  

Brown: Well, itôs betterðI could have had a jazz band, I suppose. But if you ask me, I 

would rather listen to the Sufi Choir. 

05-02:03:35  

Shafer: Exactly, and it signaled that you were a different kind of candidate, I think. And 

you mayðyou may reject that notion. 

05-02:03:45  

Brown: I also had a big sign on the wall that said, Age Quod Agis. Did you know that? 

05-02:03:48  

Shafer: No. 

05-02:03:49  

Brown: It was a big banner, and thatôs the slogan of the Oakland Military School, and 

thatôs what they said in the novitiate, age quod agisðthatôs the Italian 

pronunciation. And what that means is do what youôre doing. Do what youôre 

doing. So youôre drinking a glass of water? Drink the glass of water. [rapping on 

table for emphasis] If youôre putting down a pavement over thereðdo that. The 

same with all these other things.  

05-02:04:14  

Shafer: What does that meanðwhat did that say about governing? 

05-02:04:17  

Brown: Well, it says more about living, which is to fully attend to that which youôre 

doing, and donôt be so divided and scattered, which is becoming increasingly 

difficult in a scattered world.  

05-02:04:43  

Shafer: And was that a conscious thing, or was that, you knowð? 
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05-02:04:46  

Brown: It was my idea. It wasnôt Tom Quinnôs idea; it wasnôt Maullinôs idea; it wasnôt 

Jackôs idea. I liked the Sufi Choir. In fact, I went once to a place where they were 

doing Sufi dancing. I liked it. I likedðjai rom is what they were singing, and they 

would keep repeating that, so thatôs all. 

05-02:05:08  

Shafer: So you say it was your idea, and you thought it was a good ideaðwhy? 

05-02:05:12  

Brown: First of all, I won, and I could do it. And it added a certain, I donôt know, 

mystique, a certain spirit. I am aware of the oppressive banality of the everyday 

politics, the repeating of the same speech, the performing. And now we have this 

later stuff about how everybody is so great and amazing, which is very 

unhistorical. People didnôt talk about how everybody was great and amazing. 

There was a little bit of praise, but nothing like the super-praise we get today. So 

thatôs a fresh, human, artistic, real piece in the celebration, so I thought thatôs the 

way I would do it. And I had them there at my prayer breakfast too. In the 

Chronicle, the great Chronicle, with all its multiculturalism, seemed to be 

shocked. But that shows a certain intolerance and a certain lack of understanding 

of different cultures, so this would be an early example of insensitivity to a 

different way of doing things. I thought Iôd create a good feeling. I had a good 

feeling, so I figured others would too. I think the sound was good. You should 

listen to it on your phoneðgo check it out. [laughter] 

05-02:06:53  

Shafer: Did you feel like you were pushing the envelope a little bit? 

05-02:06:56  

Brown: No, no, because itôs a campaign, then itôs over. It is not news. It is not going to go 

anywhere, and it didnôt. 

05-02:07:02  

Shafer: Is it surprising to you that here we are, all these years later, talking about it? 

05-02:07:06  

Brown: Well, itôs surprising because nobodyôs talked about itðyouôre the first people 

whoôve brought it up since 1974. In fact, nobody brought it up. A little bit at the 

prayer breakfast, because that was in the morning, so that fits in a little better with 

the news cycle. But a campaignðyou know what happens in a campaign. The 

returns start coming in at ten or eleven, so the Sufi Choir is after the newsies are 

in bed. [laughing] I thought it would be good for the people. 

05-02:07:33  

Shafer: What do you mean? 

05-02:07:35  

Brown: Motivating the people there. 
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05-02:07:38  

Shafer: Do they have instruments? What kind of instruments do they play? 

05-02:07:41  

Brown: They have some instruments. Itôs dancing. 

05-02:07:57  

Shafer: Governor, we talked yesterday about the letter that you wrote to your father. 

05-02:08:03  

Brown: Yeah. Youôve got it? Can we read it? 

05-02:08:04  

Shafer: Yeah, would you read it? Yeah. 

05-02:08:13  

Brown: Yeah, I think there is an excerpt. Oh, I donôt want to read it. You can read it. You 

want me to read it into the record, as it were? 

05-02:08:19  

Shafer: Yeah, yeah. 

05-02:08:20  

Brown: Why?  

05-02:08:21  

Shafer: Well, because, in the end, this is going to be a producedðitôs not going to be just 

you talking. Itôs going to be produced with other people, and with music, and 

itôsð 

05-02:08:29  

Brown: Will you have the Sufi Choir? 

05-02:08:32  

Shafer: Maybeðwe absolutely will. [background talking and commenting about the Sufi 

Choir] 

05-02:08:37  

Brown: Theyôve got records, call [Allaudin] Mathieu. Peter Coyote knows how to get 

hold of him. Heôs in Sebastopol. 

05-02:08:51  

Shafer: The fact that theyôre barefoot will be lost on the radio audience. 

05-02:08:55  

Brown: I never even thought of that. That never even came to my attention. And I think 

theðbare-chested, that was what they might have known, because thatôs news! 

Thatôs clickbait. 

05-02:09:08  

Shafer: Early clickbait. [laughter] 
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05-02:09:11  

Brown: Everybody is in the business of grabbing eyeballs todayðgot to grab attention, 

grab votesðso the politicians, ñYou politicians are always trying to get votes. We 

newsmenðweôre only trying to get news.ò So thatôs why we work together. 

[laughter] 

05-02:09:30  

Shafer: Itôs symbiotic. 

05-02:09:31  

Brown: Anyway, thereôs an analogy there, which I think a little self-reflectionðand some 

reporters, thereôs a guy they were talking about at the campaignðanyway, the 

guy who wrote aboutðI donôt even know if I can see this, oh yeah, with my 

glasses. 

 [Side conversation deleted] 

05-02:09:46  

Brown: I can edit this right now and tell you what youôll use. All right, you want the 

whole thing? Letôs see: [reading] ñThe basic question seems to me to boil down to 

this: Where will you have the best opportunity of doing the most for God and 

country, which two ends are necessarily the same? As senator, you would have 

six uninterrupted years, untroubled by election entanglements, to devote to your 

work. You would be the only senator, of the majority party, from the biggest state 

in the union, if the population continues to grow at the present rate. If you are 

really interested in national health insurance, and flood/calamity insurance, capital 

punishment, and other sundry plans that you have talked to me about in the past, 

youôd do far more to further these ambitions as one of our national leaders. To 

wit, a senator. In my opinion, if you are ever to emerge from local politicsðby 

that I mean California politicsðyou will have to do it pretty soon. The question 

you must answer is where can I do the most in solving these problems? Will I be 

able to do more as a senator or as a governor? When you come right down to it, I 

canôt say much about your political future, except that you have a duty to God and 

your neighbor and your religion, upon which your decision ought to be made in 

accordance with. Please excuse inaccuracies in this brief analysis, as I have only 

experienced them far away from the political scene. With love, Jerry. P.S. My 

advice; make a retreat, and ask Godôs help. You canôt do it all alone.ò  

05-02:11:21  

Shafer: Does that bring back any memories for you? 

05-02:11:23  

Brown: No. [laughter] No, not really. Itôs interesting, a little formal. Not as chatty then. 

05-02:11:37  

Shafer: How old were you? 

05-02:11:39  

Brown: Eighteen or nineteen. 




